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PREFACE.

EOGRAPHICALLY, the Province of Ontario may be con-
sidered as the heart of Canada. Her navigable lakes and
rivers are the arteries that vitally connect the Atlantic sea-

board to the great provinees of the west, while they afford a

convenient and valuable means of transportation to her own
trade and commerce.

The development of her natural resources has been steady. The field
and the forest are vielding of their best to the touch of the specialist; the
fisheries and the mines are beginning to show to the explorer and capitalist
the magnitude of their all but exhaustless wealth; while the new land of the
north offers millions of fertile acres to the enterprising hushandmen who
may seek homes on its virgin soil.

The old and the new are combined. The great northland known but
yesterday as ‘‘New Ontario,’’ is to-day the scene of bustling mining camps,
and progressive towns, of railway extension and the manifold activities of
sleepless business enterprise—lavishing its untold wealth on the fortunate
ones, and holding out inducements ‘‘beyond the dreams of avarice.”” The
southern or old counties, that more than a century ago yielded to the axe
of the United Empire Loyalist and the British immigrant, have long out-
grown the pioneer stage. The well-tilled field, the laden orchard, the com-
fortable home; the busy artisan, merchant and manufacturer, alike bespeak
long-established conditions. Public duty has kept pace with individual
advancement. The liberty of the subjeet, civil and religious, and the rights
of property are held in high regard. Democratic government is tempered
by wise counsel and directed to the public good. Learning has flourished,
its institutions are generously supported by the people, and a high standard
of intelligence prevails. The amenities of social life are extensively prac-
tised; the people are essentially hospitable, peace-loving and well-behaved.

Ontario, thus happily circumstanced, has a story, interesting and
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important, a story of the fading past too; for not only does she share with
Quebee in the romance of the early Canadian days, but she has many stir-
ring chapters that are peculiarly her own, In the shelter of her primeval
forests, by her streams and lakes, and on her fertile plains, the Indian
hunted, fished and eultivated his corn. To him the missionary came, and
purchased the land with the price of his martyr blood for a coming civiliza
tion. Feud and foray, tribe against tribe, trader against trader—pawns to
greater interests on the chessboard of nations, furnish ineident and event to
which the commingling of human passions lend a never absent pathos

The great fur trade marks a period of exploration, progressing

through confliet and struggle to times of remarkable development and

prosperity

The sufferings and serviees of the United Empire Loyalists receive
considerable attention, for to these pioneers Canada, and especially Ontario,
owes a deep debt. They laid the foundations of the provinee and left to
posterity the priceless heritage of loyalty, patriotism and untarnished honor,
as well as an example of personal character distinguished for its moral
fibre and strength

From the organization of the provinee as Upper Canada, down to our
own time, the leading political events have been followed, necessarily briefly,
yet, it is hoped, nothing essential to the continuity and comprehensiveness
of the narrative has been omitted. The demands of space, obvious in a

work of this seope, will explain the congestion of data to be noticed on these

Every source of information open to the writer, has been placed under
tribute freely, acknowledgment of which will be found in the text. Special
thanks are due to Professor W. G. Miller, Toronto, in conneetion with the
chapter on the mineral resources of Ontario; and to Captain E. J. Cham-
bers for that on its military development. The assistance of Mr, J. Stewart
Carstairs, B.A., Toronto, was also most helpful; and to him I am under
obligation for the kindly, and all too flattering personal reference which

closes the biographical sketches in the second volume

ALEXANDER FRASER.
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THE HISTORY OF ONTARIO

CHAPTER 1

POSITION AND EXTENT—PHYSICAL FEATURES.

I\ the early times the Provinee of Quebee embraced the region
of Upper Canada and the States of Michigan, Wisconsin,
Illinois, part of Indiana and Minnesota, the country east
of the Wabash and north of the Ohio. By the Treaty of

Paris, 1783, Canada lost the territory south of Lake Erie

as far as the Ohio and all west of Lakes St. Clair and Huron, as far west
as the Mississippi River

The southerly and southwesterly houndaries now consist of the River
St. Lawrence, Lake Ontario, the Niagara River, Lake Erie, the Detroit
River, Lake St. Clair, the St. Clair River, Lake Huron, the Sault Ste. Marie
River and Lake Superior. The international boundary follows the centre
line of the various lakes and rivers, with certain deviations, intersecting
the northerly shore line of Lake Superior at or near the mouth of the Pigeon
River, on the 48th parallel of north latitude, from this point westerly it
follows the Pigeon River, a chain of lakes and rivers into the Rainy Lake
and River, ete., on to the northwest angle of the Lake of the Woods. Thence
along a line drawn due north until it strikes the middle line of the course
of the river discharging the waters of the lake called Lac Seul, or the Lonely
Lake, whether above or below its confluence with the streams flowing from

the Lake of the Woods, towards Lake Winnipeg; and thence proceeding

1
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eastward from the point at which the before mentioned line strikes the
middle line of the course of the same rviver (whether called by the name of

the English River, or as to the part below the confluence by the name of

River Winnipeg) up to Lac Seul or the Lonely Lake, and thence along the
middle line of Lae Seul or Lonely Lake to the head of that lake; and thence
by a straight line to the nearest point of the middle line of the water of
Lake St. Joseph; and thence along that middle line until it reaches the foot
or outlet of that lake ; and thenee along the middle line of the river by which
the waters of Lake St. Joseph discharge themselves to the shore of the part
of Hudson’s Bay ecommonly known as James Bay; and thence south-
easterly following upon the said shore to a point where a line drawn due
north from the head of Lake Temiscamingue would strike it; and thence
due south along said line to the head of said lake; and thence through the
middle channel of the said lake into the Ottawa River; and thence descend-
ing along the middle of the channel of the said river to the intersections by
the prolongation of the western limits of the Seigneuries of Rigaud, such

midchannel being as indicated on a map of the Ottawa Ship Canal Survey,

made by Walter Shanly, C.E., and approved by order of the Governor-
General-in-Council dated the 21st July, 1886; and thence southerly follow-
ing said westerly boundary of Seigneury of Rigaud to the southwest angle
of the said Seigneury; and thence southerly along the western boundary of
the augmentation of the Township of Newton to the northwest angle of the
Seignory of Longuenil; and thence southeasterly along the southwestern
boundary of the said Seignory of Longueuil to a stone boundary on the
north bank of Lake St. Frances at the cave west of Point au Baudet, such
line from the Ottawa River to Lake St. Franees being as indicated on a plan
of the line of boundary between Upper and Lower Canada, made in accord-
ance with the Aet 23 Viet. ch. 21, and approved by order of the Governor-
General-in-Council, dated 16th March, 1861. The province may be divided
into seven natural areas, more or less distinet in their physical, geological
and topographical features

1. The Lower Ottawa District.—This district is an agrienltural area,
occupying the country lying between the Ottawa and St. Lawrence Rivers

as far west as a line drawn roughly between Brockville and Perth and a
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point on the Ottawa River lying a little to the north of the mouth of the
Madawaska River. It presents a generally level surface; the height above
the sea at the confluence of the Ottawa and St. Lawrence Rivers is about
sixty feet, and at the Chaudidre Falls on the Ottawa near the City of Ottawa
about 118. From those levels the district rises near its northwest boundary
to about 400 feet above the sea. The average elevation may be placed at
from 200 to 300 feet above the level of the sea. There are large areas of
swamp, capable, as a rule, of being readily drained. On the whole it is an
area of good fertility. The Ridean Canal passes through the central por-
tion, a large part of its more southern and eastern area is drained by the
South Nation River, which rises near the St. Lawrence River in Edwards-
burg Township, flowing northeasterly into the Ottawa in Plantagenet

Township. The strata of this distriet are lower silurian overlaid with drift

deposits and other more modern superficial aceumulation.

2. The Gananoque and Northern Townships District.—This seetion,
lying immediately west of that just deseribed is of a different character, It
forms a narrow belt of more or less broken and rocky land, extending along
the St. Lawrence River between Brockville and Kingston, but in its
northern and northwestern extension it widens and covers a large area. In
its southern prolongation, it crosses the St. Lawrence River into the State
of New York and forms the wild region of the Adirondacks. North of the
St. Lawrence River it extends over Leeds and Renfrew and embraces the
Northern Townships of Frontenae, Addington, IHastings, Peterborough,
Vietoria and Simeoe counties, its southern boundary striking the Georgian
Bay near the mouth of the Severn River. From this point it forms the
shores of the Georgian Bay to beyond Killarney. Its northwestern bound-
ary is to some extent a merely conventional line running from the latter
point to near the head of Lake Temiscamingue. The average elevation of
the district is about 700 feet above the level of the sea. Lake Nipissing,
its largest body of water, lies at an elevation of 665 feet above the sea, but
the ground to the north and south of the lake is considerably higher. The
maximum elevation is probably 1,000 to 1,100 feet above the sea level. The

distriet is a rugged country of erystalline rocks, high ridges, and hills, and

deep swamps and valleys. The soil is rich and productive, and in places
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large areas of fertile land are found. It is a land of lakes, rivers and
streams. Nearly all the rivers which drain the rich and fertile portions of
the older Ontario here find their source. It contains within its limits
immense areas of valuable timber, pine, hemlock, spruce and the deciduous
trees, oak, maple, bireh, beech, elm and ash. The general direction of the
river valleys is that of southwest. The principal rivers which have their
source within the above area are: the Gananoque, which flows into the St.
Lawrence, and which furnishes power to drive all the factories in the thriv-
ing town of Gananoque; the Napanee River, which flows into the Bay of
Quinte near Deseronto, the various falls on which are utilized by mills and
thriving industries as at Yarker, Thompsonville, Newburgh, Napanee Mills
and Napanee. From Napanece to Deseronto the river is navigable for
steamers drawing eight feet of water. The Salmon River, which falls into
the Bay of Quinte at Shannonville; the Moira which discharges into the
3ay of Quinte at Belleville; the Trent River and its tributaries, the largest
river within the area, and which is now being canalized for a six and one-
half feet navigation. An immense quantity of water power will be available
along the Trent as soon as access can be had to it, a portion of which only is
now utilized at Trenton, Campbellford, Hastings, Peterborough and Lake
field. Flowing easterly into the Ottawa River are the Mississippi, Madawaska,
Jonnechére, Petewawa, Mattawan, Jocko, Metabechewan, Montreal and the
Blanche. Flowing westerly into the Georgian Bay are the Severn, which
drains the Lake Simecoe basin, Moon or Muskoka which drains the large
area of Muskoka Lake; Seguin, Shawanagan, Magnetewan, and the French
An almost innumerable number of minor streams are to be found, and lakes
of greater or less extent abound throughout the entire area. Within the
limits of this distriet lies Algonguin Park, a forest and game preserve; the
beautiful distriet of Muskoka, the tourist’s paradise, aptly characterized as
the Highlands of Ontario, and the wonderful Lake Temagamingue.

3. The Lake Ontario Scction.—In this district there is a rich agricul-

tural area, underlaid by limestone, shales and other sediments

ry rocks. It
ranges along the shore of Lake Ontario. Its eastern and northern limits are
bounded by the erystalline region embraced in district No. 2. Tts western

boundary is the high escarpment which runs from the Niagara River near
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Queenston, at first a westerly direction to the north of Hamilton, then
northward and northwesterly to the Georgian Bay by Dundas, Georgetown,

Bellefontaine, and Orangeville to the north part of Nottawasaga, and from

thence northwesterly by the Blue Mountains, ete., to Cabot’s Head on the
Georgian Bay. From the latter point eastward the district forms the shore
of the Georgian Bay to near the mouth of the Severn River. It thus in-
cludes portions of the counties of Frontenae, Addington, Hastings, Peter-
borough, Viectoria, Simecoe, Peel, Halton, Wentworth and Lincoln, with the
whole of York, Ontario, Durham, Northumberland, Prince Edward and
Lennox. Numerous lakes, of which Lake Simcoe is the largest, lie within
this district, and especially along its northern edge. The Trent, which rises
in the Laurentian country of the north, and flows through a series of lakes
into the Bay of Quinte, leading to Lake Ontario, is its most important river.
Other streams which flow into the Bay of Quinte are the Napanee River,
Salmon River, Moira River. Into Lake Ontario direct are the Humber River
and the Credit River, besides a number of smaller erecks. In its surface
features the district presents but few marked inequalities of land. The
ground rises gradually from Lake Ontario (245.38 feet above the level of
the sea) to a series of ridges and table lands running in a generally east and
Is,

boulders and clay. The highest elevations are about 1,000 feet above the

west direction. These ridges are composed of drift materis gravel,

sea level. The highest region in Albion and King Townships has an eleva-
tion of about 1,000 feet above the sea level, but becomes gradually lower
to the east. Near the village of Stirling, in Hastings County, it
averages about 750 feet above the sea level, Lake Simecoe to the north
is 719 feet above the sea, and Balsam Lake, the northern part of
which lies in the ecrystalline boundary, has an elevation of 839 feet
above the sea. Stoney Lake lies at an elevation of 771 feet above
the sea, Melmont and Rice Lakes are approximately 600 feet above the sea
level. Seugog Lake, in the midst of the drift ridges, lies at an elevation of
800 feet above the sea. The strata of the district consist essentially of lower
Silurian formation overlaid by glacial and post-glacial deposits. Within the

district the extent of forest is limited to that left by the farmers, sufficient

in most cases to supply fuel and fencing material.




HISTORY OF ONTARIO.

. Evie and Huron District This section of country, occupied
throughout by comparatively undisturbed limestones and other Silurian
and Devonian strata, with overlying drift elays, sands, and more recent
superficial surface deposits, is a rich agricultural area. It lies immediately

west of the Lake Ontario distriect. On the south the distriet is bounded by

Lake Erie, on the west by Lake ITuron. The ater portion of its area is
an elevated tableland from 1,000 to 1,400 feet above the level of the sea.
Along its northern edge the ground rises in places to an elevation of 1,600
feet above the sea, but it slopes gradually to the level of Lake Erie on the
south (371.50 feet above the level of the sea) and towards Lake Huron on the
west (580.2 feet above the sea level). Its surface, exeept where eut by
river valleys, is remarkably even and presents a marked contrast to the
rest of Ontario, in the absence of lakes. It is traversed, however, by many
important rivers, and especially by the Grand River, falling into Lake Erie,
the Thames into Lake St. Clair, the Maitland and Saugeen into Lake
Huron. The eastern and northern escarpment is also cut through by numer-
ous small streams. Generally, the watersheds of the rivers and ereeks of
the distriet may be said to be eultivated lands, the proportion of forest being
rather lower than in any of the settled regions of the province. The strata
of the district consist, in its more eastern portions, of middle and upper
Silurian representations, with various Devonian formations in the western
end. The deep deposits of drift material, as evidenced along the valley of
the Grand River, are peculiarly subject to erosion, hence the river earries
in flood time an immense quantity of sand, gravel and boulders, wearing the
banks and filling up the flats. In the western peninsula is found the
natural gas and oil formations. Near Niagara and along the shore of Lake
Erie the celebrated peach and grape growing regions lie, the quality and

flavor of the fruit of the vieinity being unsurpassed.

5. The Manitoulin and Other Islands.—This section is in its geographi-
cal and topographical features very similar to the Lake Erie and Huron
sections.  The eastern end of the Grand Manitonlin Island is Laurentian
rock ; the middle and western the higher limestone of the Niagara, showing

beautiful fossils of the coral and like ages. The northerly shore line is a
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bold high escarpment, shelving off to the level of the lake at the south. The
island is well timbered and the soil is fertile.

6. The District of the Upper Lakes.—This region may be described in
general terms as extending over the entire northwestern portion of Ontario,
extending along the north shores of Lake Huron and Superior and the
mternational boundary as far west as the western boundary of the provinee.
On the east it is bounded by a conventional line extending from a point just
west of Killarney to a point near the head of Lake Temiscamingue, on the
north by a more or less irregular line w hich follows the height of land from
near Lake Temiscamingue to Lae Seul on the northwesterly boundary of
the province. It forms for the greater part a densely wooded but rugged
and mountainous region, broken by numerous bodies of water and underlaid
throughout by erystalline rocks of the Laurentian and Huronian series.
Over the floor of the erystalline rocks by which the vast region is under-
laid, drift clays, sands, gravel and boulders, and post-glacial sands and
clays, and other more recent aceumulations are spread in many localities.
Although the country is newly opened for settlement, yet in places there are
large areas of valuable farming land. Along the Sault branch of the
Canadian Pacific Railway, in the vicinity of Thessalon and other points,
there are thriving and prosperous farms which rival the older Ontario.
Again in the valley of the Rainy River is an extensive tract of rich and
fertile soil, and considerable areas of good land are found southwest of
Thunder Bay and along the line of the C.P.R. between Port Arthur and
Rat Portage. It is, however, a forest region and embraces the southerly
slope of the watershed of the upper lakes within its limits. Here is the
natural region for extensive forest reserves. The surface of Lake Huron is
580.2 feet above the level of the sea, and that of Lake Superior 600.48 feet
above sea level. From these levels the ground rises more or less abruptly
to an average height of 1,000 to 1,500 feet above the sea level, with points
of considerably greater elevation. The height of land, which, roughly
speaking, forms its northerly boundary although shown as a ridge on the
maps, is rather a plateau, the rugged hills lie on the slopes approaching the
summit. Almost innumerable lakes abound throughout the section. The

rivers are large and important streams, the most notable of which are, the
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Spanish River, the Missisagua, the Michipicoten, the Magpie, the White, the

Nipigon, and the Kaministiqua. Lake Nipigon is the largest lake in the

district and lies at an elevation of 852 feet above sea level,

7. The District of the James Bay Basin—This extensive area lying
north of the height of land which separates the waters of the St. Lawrence
basin from those of the Hudson Bay, extends from the eastern boundary
of the province to the western and includes the great clay belt which
will be deseribed at some length later on. The district is one of large lakes,
and many of them, and the rivers are numerous and important. The
southerly edge of the basin lies at an elevation of approximately 1,500 feet
above sea level and gradually falls to the sea level at James Bay.

The lake acreage, in detail, is interesting, and, as is furnished by the
20

census of 1891, is as follows: Abitibi (part), 211,680 acres; Bald, 1,
Balsam, 11,200; Buckhorn, 9,280; Cameron, 3,680; Couchiching, 12,000;
Deer, 4,240; Dog, 38,910; Eagle, 81,820; Erie (portion in Canada),
3,211,950; George (portion in Canada), 7,040; Huron, including Georgian
Bay (portion in Canada), 9,171,840 ; La Croix (portion in Canada), 14,850;
Long, 48,000; Manitou (Manitou Island), 24,580; Mille Laes, 66,350 ; Mud,
8,400; Muskoka, 34,609; Namakan (portion in Canada), 12,490; Nipigon,

1,107,200; Nipissing, 211,200; Ontario (portion in Canada), 2,385,292;

Panache, 22,730 ; Pigeon, 9,600; Rainy (portion in Canada), 166,495 ; Rice,

16,998; St. Clair (portion in Canada), 164,275; St. Francis (River St

Lawrence, part), 15,260; St. Joseph (part), 78,400; Saganaga (portion in

Canada), 13,520; Seul (part), 125440; Simecoe, 173

53; Seugog, 24,986 ;
Stony, 12,000; Sturgeon (English River), 67,760; Sturgeon (Vietoria
county), 11,200; Superior (portion in Canada), 7,153,856 ; Temagaminque,
57,960; Temiscamingue (part), 33,280; Wahnapitae, 28,880; Lake of the
Woods (part), 847,720,

A glance at the map of Canada shows how advantageous is the position,
geographically, oceupied by Ontario among the great provinces of the
Dominion, It is practically surrounded by navigable waters, while its

surface abounds in lakes and rivers rendering travel es

sy and pleasant, and,
with the net-work of railways (about 7,000 miles), conferring on trade and

commerce the inestimable advantages of convenient and inexpensive trans-
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portation, the handmaiden of industrial prosperity. An unequalled system
of inland waterways is formed by Lakes Superior, Huron, Erie and Ontario,
with their connecting rivers and deep water canals, and the outlet of the
great St. Lawrence, to the sea, along the full course of which a magnificent
shipping is borne.

As now defined Ontario extends over a little more than ten degrees of
latitude and over more than twenty degrees of longtitude. Its southern
border in Lake Erie is to the south of the 42nd parallel, and its northern, at
Fort Albany, on James Bay, is traversed by the 52nd, a distance of
more than seven hundred and fifty miles, while the distance from Point
Fortune, on the Ottawa River, the eastern starting point, to the western
boundary on the Winnipeg River, is about a thousand miles. This gives a
large area, containing an acreage of 166,951,636, or 260,862 square miles,
land and water, the land being 141,125,330 acres, an area larger than the
German Empire. It lies on a latitude agreeing, generally, with that of
France, Italy and Spain,

GEOLOGY AND MINERALOGY.

According to the commonly aceepted theory, the earth and the other
members of the solar system were at one time in a fused or molten condi-
tion ; hence, the first rocks formed on our globe (through the cooling of the
molten mass) belong to the class known as the igneous or heat-formed rocks.
These rocks are still being formed (as shown by voleanoes) through the
cooling of fluid matter which rises from depths in the interior of the earth
through fissures in the erust to or towards the surface.

As the first formed igneous rocks lost heat and became cooler, the water
vapor which existed in the atmosphere surrounding the heated earth grad-
ually condensed and was precipitated, forming, it is believed by some, a
mantle of water which completely covered the rocky material. As the cool-
ing went on, shrinkage and deformation of the heated earth took place,
producing an unevenness or warping of the surface of the rock matter, and
causing it to projeet here and there through the overlying watery envelope.
These projections of the rock material were the first land surfaces of the
carth, and formed isolated islands at a few points over the surface of the

watery envelope or primeval ocean. One of the first of these islands, or
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continental shields, to be formed, occupied a large part of what is now the
Province of Ontario. At this early time, this land surface was by far the
largest of its kind in the Western Hemisphere

On the exposure of this land surface above the waters, it was acted
upon by agents of destraction, generally, air and water, and was broken
down, just as rocks are broken down at the present time, into sand, clay
and gravel deposits, thus giving rise to newer rocks, which being composed
of fragmental material are known as the clastic or fragmental rocks

If we look at a geological map of Ontario, that is a wide map which
shows the distribution of the rocks at the surface of the earth, we can
readily trace this history of the evolution of our land surface. A line
drawn directly northward from Lake Ontario to James Bay passes, half way
to the northward, over what is known as the height of land, which separates
the waters flowing south and eastward into the St. Lawrence from those
flowing northward into Hudson’s Bay. This height of land, and a consider-
able part of the surface, both southward and northward of it is made up

of the older rocks. Further southward along the eastern shore of Lake

Huaron and along Lakes Erie and Ontario, there is a newer series of rocks,
consisting of ordinary limestones and sandstones, which have been formed

by the breaking down of the older height of land series. Near the shores

of James Bay, northward from the ght of land, there is a similar series

of rocks, which have been deposited on that northern side of the original
rocky surface

These older rocks of the height of land extend westward along the
shores of Lakes Huron and Superior to the Manitoba boundary, and in faet

oceupy a great part of the Province of Ontario. In some places they and

the later limestones, sandstones and other rocks are covered by a mantle of
loose elay, sand and other material of comparatively recent age.

In order to give a clear description of the rocks of various ages, it is
necessary to give definite names to them. These names are often confusing
to readers who have no technical training. If, however, they are considered
from a proper point of view, they should not be more confusing than are
names which are used in connection with human history. For instance, in

the latter subject, we may speak of the Age of Greece or of the Elizabethan
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Epoch; similarly in geology, we speak of the early or anciently formed
rocks as the Archean or Azoie rocks. These are the rocks which were formed
in the first period of the earth’s history and are now exposed over the
greater portion of the northern part of the province. Then, the later
formed rocks which we have referred to as being exposed along the more
southern of the Great Lakes and also along James Bay, are given the name
of the Paleozoie rocks, because associated with them we find the remains of
the oldest known life forms (palaios ancient and zoe life).

The accompanying map of part of Ontario shows the distribution of
these great groups, and the tables gives the names of their sub-divisions.
They are named in deseending order, as follows, from the youngest to the
oldest (pp. 12-13).

It will be seen that the names of a number of these sub-divisions are
self-explanatory; the name Laurentian having been first applied to the
rocks of the Laurentide hills in Quebee Provinee, and the name Huronian to
the rocks on the north shore of the Georgian Bay; the names Cambrian
and Silurian were first applied to rocks in Wales, while certain rocks which
were first studied in Devonshire were given the name Devonian. The sub-
divisions of the Silurian and Devonian have names which are derived
largely from New York State, where rocks of this class are found which
extend across into Ontario. The Cambrian, Silurian and Devonian can be
recognized in all parts of the world by the presence in them of the remains

of characteristic life forms.

This brief outline of the origin and distribution of the rocks of the
provinee, will, it is hoped, give the reader a sufficient knowledge of them
for the purpose of understanding the following brief description of the
mines and mineral resources of Ontario,

It may be stated at the outset that the mineral resources of the pro-
vinee, considered as a whole, are somewhat unique in character. Most of
our readers know something of the character of the animals of Australia.
It has been shown that these animals belong to a past age and differ greatly
from the more modern and more highly developed forms of other conti-
nents; similarly, many of the economic minerals which we have in Ontario
differ from those found in most other countries. For example, the metals

and ores of the great mining regions of Western North America oceur in
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much newer rocks and belong to a later period of the earth’s development;
henee, it is not surprising that they should differ greatly from the group
worked in Ontario. The following table shows the production of minerals
in this provinee for the years 1895 and 1905 respeetively. This table serves

two purposes. It exhibits the great progress which the mineral industry has
made during the last ten years and it also shows the great variety of
minerals produced in the provinee. It may be added that Ontario produces
the greater part of the world’s consumption of the comparatively rare sub

stances, nickel, eobalt and corundum. Other rare economic¢ minerals and
metals which are produced are, mica, graphite, platinum, palladium
The following table of mineral production shows the inerease from

1895 to 1905

1895 1905
Gold , $ 50281  § 99,885
Silver 1,372,877
Cobalt 100.000
Nickel 104,861 3,354,934
Copper 160,913 688,993
Platinum metals 258,116
Lead 9,000

Iron Ore

Pig Iron

Steel

Arsenie

Brick, Common Clrviavssrss  FORDOD 1,937,500
Tile, Drain o i 220,000
l'ile Roofing N T LT NE 6,200

Brick, Pressed and Terra Cotta........ 178,270 234,000
Brick, Paving FOL SN e SRR 54,000
Building and Crushed Stone........... 138,000 700,000
Caleinm Carbide. , . . ..oiviiirininnnnns 156,755
Cement, Portland. . . ........ 114,332 1,783,451
Cement, Natural Roek................ 45,145 10,402

Corundum T T L T LY oo s 152,464
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Feldspar p PR e vesse $ 29968
Graphite SE O KEAN P N E I BSER RSN 9,825
Gypsum AT AP S G P $ 20,066 4,118
Iron Pyrites T O TR 21,885
Lime SRR S SR B ENAE 280,000 124,700
Mica. . sabaesmbis LB RART A LS 2,900 30,446
Natural Gas d .oy vianes 282 986 316,476
LT T R g e AR 1,200
Petroleum and Produets............... 1,804,424 898,545
Pottery a6 SRR S 108,000 60,000
Salt e s AR TN e 188,101 306,783
Sewer Pipe e AT 133,159 225,835
Tale % . BEse RN NE 2,240

$5,170,138  $17,854,206
For elearer understanding the minerals and rocks of economic import-
ance may be classed and referred to under the following headings:
1. Metals and their ores

2. Grinding and polishing materials (abrasive materials

3. Materials used to withstand heat (refractory materials
. Minerals used as pigments (paint materials)

5. Minerals used for decorative purposes

6. Minerals used in chemical manufacture

7. Minerals used in agriculture,

8. Fuel and illuminating materials.

9. Materials for brick, pottery and glass

10. Stone and cement

11. Waters,

12, Miscellaneous, e.g., rock salt, ete.

The mineral produetion of Ontario compared with that of many older
countries and those with larger population is small. That is owing largely
to the fact that there is no coal industry in the provinee, all the rocks, with
the exception of the loose surface deposits, having been formed before the

coal period. Although there is, thus, as yet a comparatively small mineral
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output, the comparative table for 1895 and 1905 given above shows that the
production is growing rapidly

Considering the first group, metals and their ores, in the classification
given, it is a striking fact that although many countries lead Ontario in
total mineral produetion, that provinee stands pre-eminent as a producer
of the important metals nickel and cobalt, the only serious competitor in
the production of these two metals being the French penal colony of New
Caledonia in the southern Pacifie.

The nickel deposits in the vicinity of Sudbury cover a large extent of
territory, and one of them which has been developed is, as regards size and
value, elassed among the great ore bodies of North America. The nickel
industry at Sudbury began in the late eighties and now forms the backbone
f the province’s metal industry. At the time the industry was begun the
uses of nickel in eoinage and for plating, and so forth, were limited. Some

years ago, however, it was discovered that a small percentage of nic
added to steel greatly inereased its toughness. Now all the navies of the
world are employing nickel-steel for armor plate, and the demand for
nickel has greatly increased. Nickel-steel has also important applications in
the construction of eertain kinds of machinery

The metal cobalt resembles nickel rather closely in some of its pro

perties, and if it were not for its comparatively high price, selling at about

30 a pound, while nickel sells at one-fifth that price, eobalt could be used

to replace nickel in coinage, in plating, and for other purposes. A small
quantity of cobalt is frequently used with nickel in plating, producing
a more silvery surface than does nickel. Cobalt plating does not tarnish
so readily as that of nickel. The great use of cobalt is, however, as a color-
ing agent in glass and pottery. When fused with glass it gives a beautiful
blue color to it, and has been employed for this purpose since pre-historie
times. The cobalt deposits discovered in 1903 in the District of Nipissing,
330 miles north of Toronto, have now become world famous, not so much
owing to their content of cobalt as to the fact that the great majority of
the veins carry high values in silver together with lesser values in nickel
and arsenic. The value of the silver shipped from these deposits, which are

situated in what is now generally known as the Cobalt mining area, was
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over $3,500,000 in 1906, These ores, containing values in silver, cobalt,
nickel and arsenic, are unique, in so far as is known in North America.
Owing to this fact the methods employed in refining the ores are as yet
somewhat erude and costly. Within the next year it is believed from
arrangements now in progress, that suitable plants for the extraction of all
the contents of these ores will be erected in Ontario.

Up to the present time the chief production of copper in the province
has come from the Sudbury nickel ores, the two metals being intimately
associated. Small quantities of gold and of the rare metals platinum and
palladium, the former of which is now more valuable than gold, are also
obtained in refining the Sudbury ores.

The iron ore industry has not as yet reached large dimensions in the
provinee, although judging from the extent of the iron formation—similar
to that of the great iron producing States of Michigan and Minnesota,
which have the greatest iron deposits known in the world—in the northern
distriets of Nipissing, Algoma, Thunder Bay and Rainy River, there seems
to be little doubt that Ontario will become a great producer of iron ore.
The iron ranges, as they are called, consisting of the formation mentioned,
have an extent of several hundred miles. On one of these ranges at Michi-
picoten, on Lake Superior, iron mining has been conducted on a compara-
tively large scale during the past few years. Deposits have been opened
on what is known as the Atikokan range, west of Port Arthur. Another
large deposit, 25 miles north of Sudbury, will, it is beiieved, become an
important shipper during the present year. The iron mines in the south-
eastern part of the provinee, in the Hastings and Frontenae region, which
were formerly worked, have been lying quiescent for a number of years.
These deposits are different in character from those of the northern region,
but will likely be of importance in the future. Within a period, the end
of which can be foreseen, the richer parts of the great iron mines on the
south shore of Lake Superior will be exhausted, and then smaller mines and
lower grade ores will be more in demand.

The following iron smelters are now in operation, namely : Deseronto,

Hamilton, Midland and Sault Ste. Marie. Another is in course of erection
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at Port Arthur, while two or three are projected at other points. Nearly
all the iron ore now smelted in Ontario is imported from the United States,

Owing to the great number of miles of railroads which are to be built in
Canada during the next few years, iron and steel will be in great demand.
Hence every effort will be made to develop the iron mining industry. That
deposits will, in all probability, be discovered at various points on the
northern ranges when more detailed work is done on them, is the opinion
arrived at by mining experts.

The metals iron, nickel and cobalt, resemble each other in the fact that
they are all magnetic—each when in the metallic form is attracted by the
magnet. They are known as the three magnetic elements. We have seen
that Ontario now leads the world in the production of both cobalt and
nickel, and that the provinee is likely also to become one of the great iron
producing countries of the world. It might be asked whether this associa-
tion of the three metals in Ontario is accidental or whether there is an ex-
planation for it. The explanation seems to be that these metals here are
found in the old rocks, the Archean, which are not so important in any
other part of North America which has been developed as a mining field.
The great mining fields of the United States, with the exception of the Lake
Superior region, are underlain by newer rocks than those in the mining
areas of Ontario. Hence it is not surprising to find that their metallic pro-
ducts are different and that Ontario has no competitor on the American
continent, in nickel and cobalt, at least.

The production of metals other than nickel, cobalt, iron, copper and
silver in Ontario is comparatively small. Gold has been produced in a
number of districts—Hastings, Wahnapitae, Webbwood, Michipicoten and
at points in Thunder Bay and especially in Rainy River, between the
eastern and western boundaries of the province. The production is now,
however, small owing partly to exploiting and other causes for which the
industry should not be held accountable. Lead and zine are both being
mined in small quantities in the Hastings-Frontenae region. Rare metals,

such as molybdenum, have been worked on a small scale.
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OtHER MINERAL INDUSTRIES,

These will be dealt with briefly in order to economize space, although
to the greater part of the population they are of more importance than the
metal industry.

Formerly lathes were extensively employed in the shaping and grind.
ing down of the parts of machines. Now, however, wheels built up of abra-
sive materials, of which corundum is the best, replace the lathes to a large
extent. Producing as we do the greater part of the nickel which is used
in the manufacture of nickel-steel, a substance which is destined to be
largely used in the construction of machinery, it is fortunate that the pro-
vinee is provided with great deposits of corundum in Hastings and Renfrew
counties, from which is now obtained practically all of the substance that
is consumed in the world. This important corundum industry has been
built up during the last eight years.

Of refractory substances, or those materials which are used to with-
stand heat, the province produces graphite, used for lining furnaces, and
for other purposes, mica or isinglass, used in stove parts as well as being
indispensable as an insulator in electrical machines. Both graphite and
mica are produced in the Frontenac-Renfrew region, and in the output of
mica Ontario stands among the first three of the world’s producers.

Minerals used as paint materials, among which are the earthy oxides
of iron and certain compounds of other metals need but slight mention,
Cobalt, as already shown, can be classed with these materials. Compounds
of arsenic are also of importance. In the Hastings and Cobalt areas are
found deposits which are unexcelled among known deposits anywhere as
regards the amount of arsenie they eontain. The oxide of arsenie is also
used in the plate glass industry and for other purposes.

Among decorative materials, the province has promising outerops of
marble, granite and other rocks, together with certain mineral substances
such as the beautiful blue sodalite, which take good polish. Important gem
stones have not as yet been found in the province, although varieties of
certain minerals have been eut for use in ju\\'(;lery.

The chief mineral mined in Ontario for use in chemical manufacture

is iron pyrites. It is employed in the manufacture of sulphurie acid, which
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has such important applications in the arts, and has been produced for
some years in Hastings county. The deposits of the mineral are widespread
in Ontario. Deposits have been developed or partly developed in the dis-
tricts of Nipissing, Algoma and Rainy River.

The minerals and rocks found in Ontario adapted to use in agricul-
ture include apatite or mineral phosphate, gypsum and shell marl, Apatite
was at one time extensively mined in Frontenae, and adjoining counties,
and shipped to Europe. The discovery of lower grade, but more cheaply
mined, deposits in the Southern States, however, destroyed the industry in
Ontario. Little phosphate has been mined in the provinee for some years
except as a by-product in association with mica. Gypsum has been mined
for agricultural and other uses along the Grand River in Haldimand
county. Shell marl is not of much economic importance outside of its use
in the manufacture of cement.

Mineral fuels and illuminating materials include coal, petroleum and
natural gas. As already stated there is no coal industry in Ontario. Lignite
of inferior quality occurs north of the height of land in association with
superficial deposits of recent age. A coal-like substance is found occasion-
ally in veins and in other forms of deposits in the Archean and other rocks,
but is different in origin from ordinary coal, being derived, it is believed,
from the distillation of mineral oils which have exuded in former ages
from depths upwards through eracks and fissures.

Petroleum has been pumped for forty years or so from numerous wells
in the Paleozoic rocks of Lambton county. The production of petroleum
has been Ontario’s most constant mineral industry. During more recent
years important petroleum wells have been sunk in Essex and other parts
of the Erie and Huron peninsula,

Natural gas, which is found under similar conditions to petroleum,
has been produced steadily for years from the Port Colborne and other fields
lying adjacent to Lake Erie.

When the Palezoie region, lying immediately south of James Bay, is
rendered accessible by railways and other means, it is likely that gas and
oil areas similar to those along the north shore of Lake Erie will be

discovered.
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Of the brick, pottery and glass industries that of brick is by far the
most important. Almost every neighborhood in the settled part of the
provinee has its brick yard. In the vicinity of the larger cities the industry
gives employment to many men, and there is considerable capital invested
in it. Up to the present the clay industry has been responsible annually
for about ten per cent. of the value of our whole mineral output. Clays,
of recent age, suitable for the manufacture of ordinary brick, are widely
distributed in the provinee. Near Toronto the shales of the Hudson River
formation are used for superior grades of brick, and in the vicinity of
Milton the shales of the Medina are employed at the important brick works,

The pottery industry has not made much headway in Ontario. Clays
and other material used for better grades of ware are imported. The more
common grades are made from ordinary clay.

Ontario produces one mineral, namely, feldspar, which is extensively
used by pottery manufactureérs. The deposit from which the mineral is
produced is in Frontenac county. The output is shipped to the United
States, where it is ground for use, there being no mills for this purpose in
the province. The Frontenac deposits now produce an important part of
the mineral used by the large potteries of the United States.

The glass industry, like that of pottery, has not become important from
the mineral point of view in Ontario, most of the raw material being
imported from the United States.

Among rock products employed for large structural works the two
most important are stone and cement. Practically only the common kinds
of stone are quarried in Ontario. That used for monumental and other
purposes is nearly all imported. The cement industry is, however, reaching
large dimensions. Formerly the raw materials employed in the province
for the manufacture of Portland cement consisted of clay and marl. Lime-
stone is now replacing marl, e.g., at Belleville.

Mineral waters are made use of at Caledonia, St. Catharines, Preston,
Chatham and at other places in the provinee,

Among miscellaneous mineral materials are several substances such as

salt, tale and fluor spar, which are produced in the provinee. The prin-

cipal salt works are in Goderich and its neighborhood.
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Tae CLIMATE.
The climate of Ontario varies considerably, with the locality. To the
north and northeast of Lake Superior, in the part of the province which
forms the northern watershed of that great lake, very low temperatures are

often recorded, but the dryness of the atmosphere lessens the discomfort

of living which would otherwise be felt. In this respect the experience is
similar to that of the settler in Manitoba and the great provineces of the
Western plains. As a rule the snow does not disappear from the woods
until the beginning of May, when summer makes a rapid advance, and four
months of superb weather follow. In the valleys of the Ottawa and the
Upper St. Lawrence there is a moderately cold winter, but a singularly exhil-
arating bracing atmosphere makes even a zero temperature by no means
unpleasant. Signs of spring are not wanting early in April, and by the
beginning of May foliage is well advanced, and then follows a warm sum-
mer. The whole of this region is, between the middle of May and middle
of September, included between the same isotherms as the greater portion
of France, and after a protracted autumn, winter sets in again before
December. The mean annual temperature of Montreal, which is farther
north than Ottawa and in a line with the northern shore of the Georgian
Bay, is 41° 8, and St. Petersburg, Russia, 38° 7; a comparison of the annual
curves of the two places is interesting. The mean for January at Montreal
is 5° lower than at St. Petersburg; in February it is but 1° lower, and then
the Montreal curve rises steadily above the other until in August it is 6°
higher; after this the two curves draw together, and by December are
coincident. In that portion of the provinee which lies east of Lake Huron
and north of Lake Erie and the western portion of Lake Ontario, the
winters are by no means severe, and the summers are seldom oppressively
hot; this being due to the tempering influence of the lakes by which this
part is surrounded. In the western counties the April mean temperature
corresponds nearly to that of southern Scotland, and in May the mean
temperature of the whole district is slightly higher than for the south of
England. The temperature conditions during the summer months may, as
in the Ottawa and St. Lawrence valleys, be compared to those of France;

the normal temperature for July ranging between 66° and 72°, September
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and October are generally delightful months and seldom does snow remain

on the ground until well on in December, except on the high lands of the i
interior and northern counties. The territory which lies immediately east ; I |
of the Georgian Bay, the district of Muskoka, at an elevation of 640 feet !

above the sea, abounding in small lakes, possesses a wonderfully bracing

atmosphere, which, with a very high percentage of bright sunshine and a
pleasant temperature, has made this region a much frequented summer
resort. The annual precipitation of the entire provinee lies between thirty
and forty inches, which is fairly evenly distributed throughout the year;
in summer, however, the rain generally falls in thunderstorms and cloudy
and wet days are of rare oceurrence.

FLorA AND FAUNA.

The climatic amenities are illustrated in the rich variety of the flora
and fauna of the province. Writing on the flora, recently, Professor i
Macoun gives this distribution: That part north of the Canadian Pacifie I
Railway and north and west of Lake Superior, has a flora in no respect !
different from that of the boreal sections of Quebee and the Maritime Pro- |‘ | {

|

vinces. Along the Ottawa and the St. Lawrence, from Montreal westward,

the country gradually improves in climate, and corresponding to this change i r
the flora takes a more southern aspect, and trees, shrubs, and all herbaceous
plants not hitherto seen become common. In the vicinity of Toronto a 13
marked change takes places and Scarboro Heights and the Humber Plains
seem to be the gathering ground for many species that do not occur in a
wild state farther to the east. Yonge Street, Toronto to Lake Simecoe, which i
was the great northern highway one hundred years ago, is still a divisional
point for various reasons, but in none more so than in a botanical sense. i)
West and south of this line a new forest with new shrubs and herbaceous h
plants meets the eye of the botanist and tells him with unerring certainty |
that he has entered on a new field for his labors, and if he be a practical {
4 man he will soon see that the capabilities of the country increase with the l
change. Any botanist desirous of collecting many rare Canadian plants
B in a small space must not fail to visit the Humber Plains and High Park, !
f Toronto, Queenston Heights, the Niagara River and Falls, Hamilton and {

B the district in that vicinity, and any other localities from Point Edward at |
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the foot of Lake Huron to Fort Erie at the head of the Niagara River. All
) than from Kingsville

points are interesting to the botanist, but none more
to Sarnia, taking in Pelee Island, where vineyards rivaling those of Europe
are seen in perfection. Amherstburg, Windsor, Chatham and Sarnia are
easily accessible, and at all these places rare and beautiful species can be
obtained.

Should the general flora of the northern forest be desired or the water-
plants (Potamogeton) of the country there is no other place so advantage-
ously situated as the Muskoka Lake district, where the diversified scenery
of lake, river, rock and forest-clad promotories will delight the heart of any
one, and where botanists of all grades can load themselves with treasures
by very little effort, and at the same time suffer neither from fatigue nor
lack of first-class hotel accommodation. While the shores of Lake Erie are
clothed with vegetation that needs a high winter temperature, the east and
north coasts of Lake Superior have a boreal species along the eliffs and
near the water that led the early travellers and Agassiz to earry away such
erroneous impressions of the Arectie elimate of the Lake Superior region: a
region which we now know is not climatically unsuited to agriculture. It
may not be uninteresting to know that the Great Lakes have, with the excep
tion of Lake Superior, a much earlier growth in spring on the north shores
than they have on the south

The fauna has been deseribed in many learned artieles in the Canadian
Journal, one of the latest (1888) by Mr. J. B. Tyrell, on the mammals being
specially comprehensive. In the inland forest the moose, the waskasew, the
common deer, the bear, wolf, wolverine, wild cat, the beaver, otter, mink,
fisher, martin, the wood-chuck, the skunk, the weasel, the ermine, the Cana-
dian hare, the squirrel, the wild turkey, goose, duck and partridge are to be
found, while in the lakes and streams are abundance of maskinonge,
sturgeon, lake salmon, salmon trout, trout, white fish, pike, pickerel, bass,
perch, catfish, eel pout, dace, chub, mullet, carp, sucker, dog fish, bull fish,

lamprey, silver eel, herring and sun fish.
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CHAPTER IL
NATURAL RESOURCES.

The natural wealth of Ontario is of vast proportions. The fisheries
produce a great industry, of economic value; about two thousand men are
employed in it, and the annual turnover is more than a million and a quarter
of dollars. But the inestimable supply has been but barely touched in the
past, and the supply, especially in the northern portion of the provinee and
west to the Lake of the Woods, is only limited by the market demand, and
the amount of capital which may seek investment, for the waters literally
teem with splendid fish of the most valuable species. The Hudson’s Bay
conneetion to the north also opens up the possibilities of the varied sea
fishing of that region, which with impending railway communication will
be accessible to the commercial enterprise of the Ontario merchant and
trader.

Tae Foresrt.

While the forest has receded before the settler’s axe in the old-settled
southern part of Ontario, there are stretches wide and long in the northern
part which furnish material to the immense lumber industry of the pro-
vinee, one of its great primary sources of wealth. The northern growth
belongs largely to the coniferous varieties such as the pine, spruce, balsam,
cedar, larch and hemlock, birch and poplar. There is still a large quantity
of white pine, although the inroads of fires and commeree have reduced the
supply greatly. Spruce is found almost ~verywhere in the north in large
quantities, extending over the height of _and to the shores of Hudson’s Bay,
and of a superior quality for the manufacture of pulpwood, for which a
rough estimate places the figures for the distriet of Nipissing, Algoma,
Thunder Bay and Rainy River at 288,000,000 cords. In the face of this
vast natural resource, it may be well to reproduce the protest of Professor
Macoun regarding the wanton waste of the old pine forest in this territory.
He says: ‘At the head of the streams flowing southward into the Ottawa
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and the great lakes are to be found the remnants of the noble forests that
supplied material for the devastation of the last half century. It is truly
appalling when the magnitude of the national interests at stake are consid-
ered, to view the spoliation which has been carried on quite recklessly under
the protection of permits and licenses. . . . If there had been any just
or proportionate return to the State from such operations the objections
might have less force, but when it is realized that for this splendid heritage
the people of Canada have directly received only a nominal return in dues
and bonuses, the responsibility for such a waste of resources, which should
be guarded for the present and future generations of Canadians, is indeed
grave. . . . It isnot yet too late to formulate a policy which will proteet
the sparse remains of this once dense forest and control them for the best
interests of the whole country; it is a policy which the present generation
demands and the negleet of such a plain duty on the part of our legislators
will only be an evidence of short-sightedness.”” Previous to this, however,
the Director of Forestry for Ontario, Mr. Thomas Southworth, urged the
importance of this phase of the question on his government. ‘‘There yet
remain,”’ he says, ‘‘in Ontario, still the property of the Crown, vast areas
of wooded land not taken up by the settler. Some of it is good, some of it
poor, and it has been or will be cut over by the lumberman. Government
may provide for future forestry operations and future revenue, as well as
to protect the climate and water supply of the region, by reserving from
settlement throughout the unsettled parts of this province, blocks of land
that are found to be not well adapted for agricultural purposes, or that are
the sources of streams, or that for climatie or similar reasons should be kept
perpetually in forest. . . . A large part of the provincial wood lands is
now under license to lumbermen, and it may be some time before forestry
on any extensive scale can be practised by the Government. As the licenses
are allowed to expire the reservations could come into effect, and I assume
that in the case of each reservation, there would be no license to stand in
the way or no other vested interest to prevent an operation so evidently in
the interest of the whole people.”

The outeome of this representation was the appointment in 1897 by the

Ontario Government of a Forestry Commission to enquire into the best
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means of restoring and preserving the growth of white pine and other
timber trees upon the lands of the province not adapted for agricultural
purposes or for settlement. The Commission consisted of E. W. Rathbun,
Chairman, Alexander Kirkwood, John Bertram, J. B. McWilliams and
Thomas Southworth, secretary, and a thorough enquiry was instituted. In
a preliminary report it was recommended that a strict system of fire rang-
ing be adopted; that for all unworked limits on which arrears of ground
rent had accumulated for two years the license be not renewed, but that the
berths be held by the Crown as forest reserves; and that the Government
take power by Order-in-Couneil to withdraw from sale or location and set
aside to be kept in permanent Crown forest reserves, such areas of terri-
tory as are generally unsuitable for settlement and yet valuable for growing
timber. These also were the main recommendations embodied in the final
report. Legislation followed on the preliminary report, enacting that the
Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council shall have power to set apart such portions
of the public domain as may be deemed advisable for the purposes of future
timber supplies, and thereupon such tracts of lands shall, by proclamation,
become permanent Crown Forest Reserves; and no lands within boundaries
of such reserves shall be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of. The immediate
aim in passing the statute being the reclamation of the waste areas of
Crown lands that had been burned over after lumbering operations had
taken place, and were unsuited for settlement, steps were at once taken in
this direction. The first Crown Forest Reserve made was of lands in the
townships of Abinger, Miller, Barrie and Clarendon in the counties of
Addington and Frontenac. A careful examination was made of the lands
and it was found that 24,500 acres in Abinger; 27,500 acres in Miller;
16,000 acres in Barrie; a lot of 7,000 acres contiguous to 4,000 acres, to-
gether 11,000 acres in Clarendon; in all 80,000 acres, were available for
forest reserve purposes. Accordingly these areas were set apart, and as they
constitute the first Crown Forest Reserve of Ontario the memorandum on
which the reservation was effected may be reproduced in full :—

““With respect to the proposed forestry reservation in the townships of
Abinger, Miller, Barrie, Palmerston and Clarendon, in the Counties of
Addington and Frontenae, the undersigned has the honor to state, for the
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information of the Commissioner, that a map has been prepared, showing
all the lots which it is proposed to include. He has also had the records of
the Sales and Free Grants Branch searched to see if any of the lots have
been sold, located, or leased under the Mining Act. A few of them appear
to have been leased, and there is correspondence as to a number of others,
although no sales or locations have been carried out.

“The undersigned is of opinion that there should be some person placed
in charge of the reserve who would be the channel of communication with
the Department as to matters of interest there, and who might be instructed
respecting any matter requiring supervision or attention. He is further
of the opinion that one or two fire rangers should be appointed during the
summer months to travel through the territory and inspeet the lots, in order
to make sure as to whether there is any squatting or improvements on any
of the lots proposed to be ineluded in the reserve, which information ought
to be had before the townships are finally proclaimed as a reserve under the
Forest Reserves Aet,

“Mr. Wood, of Plevna,, who is Crown Lands Agent, and who resides in
the centre of the township of Clarendon, might be a good man to appoint
as superintendent, as he is familiar with the country and active and
energetic

““P'he negotiations for the surrender of the territory having been com-
pleted, and the plans of the territory having been prepared, the under-
signed is of the opinion that the future management, protection and admin-
istration of the reserve should be assigned to the Clerk of Forestry, Mr.
Thomas Southworth.

“(Sgd.) Auvsrey Wite, Assistant Commissioner.
“May 25, 1899,

“Approved.—(Sgd.) J. M. Gibson, Commissioner of Crown Lands.”’

In the following year a small reserve of some 45,000 acres on the north
shore of Lake Superior was placed under the operation of the Act. Then
took place a notable advance. A reserve was made in the Distriet of Nipis-
sing, including 2,200 square miles of territory that had never been under
license, or on which no timber had been eut. This includes the famous Lake

Temagaminque region and contains a large quantity of white pine. In 1903
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a territory immediately west and north-west of this was added, comprising
3,700 square miles and was named the Western Temagami Reserve. In the
same year 3,000 square miles of land further west, lying between the main
line of the Canadian Pacific Railway and the Sault Ste. Marie branch of
the same railway, named the Mississaga Reserve, was placed under the Act;
and in 1905 the reserves were further added to by lands at Lake Nipigon
covering 7,300 square miles of territory. So that, apart from Algonquin
Park, which is scarcely a forest reserve in the sense that those under the
Act are reserves, there has been withdrawn from settlement and placed in
reservation under the provisions of the Forest Reserves Act, 16,395 square
miles or about 10,493,000 acres of land. It is estimated that lands of a
similar character suitable for reservation are available to the extent of
thirty million acres more, or more than forty million acres in all—mainly
pine-bearing country. It is estimated to contain several billions of feet of
pine timber at the present time.

The timber rights are vested in the provinee, and conditions are im-
posed by Government on the licenciate with the view of regulating opera-
tions and securing a small return for the public. Two of the main regula-
tions provide that the Commissioner of Crown Lands, before granting any
licenses for timber berths in the unsurveyed territory, shall, as far as prac-
ticable, cause the section of country where it is intended to allot such berths,
to be run out into townships, and each township when so surveyed, shall
constitute a timber berth, but the Commissioner of Crown Lands may cause
such township to be subdivided into as many timber births as he may think
proper, and that the berths or limits when so surveyed and set off, and all
new births or limits in surveyed territory shall be explored and valued, and
then offered for sale by publie anetion at the upset price fixed by such valu-
ation, at such time and place, and on such conditions, and by such officer,
as the Commisisoner of Crown Lands shall direct by publie notice for that
purpose, and shall be sold to the highest bidder for cash at the time of sale.

Tue Farm.

The general productiveness of the soil of Ontario so far as the older por-
tion is concerned has long been an established fact. Agriculture is its great
and paramount industry. Of the 220,000,000 square miles of territory com-
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prising the provinee, there is about twelve and a half million acres of
cleared land almost entirely devoted to field crops and pasture. At one
time winter wheat was the principal grain erop. Mixed farming has now
changed the character of the farmer’s vocation and live stock, dairying, ete.,
are largely followed. About a millon acres of land are annually given to
winter wheat which yield an average of about twenty bushels to the aere.
Of spring wheat between three and four hundred thousand acres are sown
with an average yield of about sixteen bushels to the acre. Over two million
acres of oats are sown every year and the average yield is about thirty
bushels per acre. Barley yields between twenty-five and thirty bushels, and
half a million acres are annually sown. About 750,000 acres of peas are
grown, yielding an average of twenty bushels. Root erops also thrive well.
The estimated area in orchard, garden and vineyard is 320,122 acres, and
the possibilities of horticulture are simply limitless,

By the building of the transcontinental line of the Canadian Pacifie
Railway some thirty years ago, access was given to the more southerly por-
tion of New Ontario. Settlers followed the railway and located wherever
land was found suitable to agriculture. This, in addition to the increasing
activity in lumbering operations in this region, resulted in considerable
development taking place. The more important farming sections are (1)
the district between Sturgeon Falls and Sudbury, in the valleys of the
French and Sturgeon Rivers; (2) the country adjacent to Port Arthur and
Fort William at the western end of Lake Superior; (3) the valley of the
Rainy River, west of Lake Superior and on the international boundary ; (4)
the Temiskaming Valley; and (5) the Wabigoon seetions.

The area of good land partly settled and yet to be settled in New
Ontario south of the height of land is estimated, approximately, at six
million acres, although it is probable that as development proceeds it will be
found to be considerably in excess of that amount.

In the sections above deseribed most of the surveyed land has already
been located by settlers, but the progress made in clearing the land and in
agricultural production has been somewhat slow. This is not due to any
lack of fertility in the soil, nor to the markets, but rather to the high wages

offered the settlers in all the new districts in mining and other enterprises.
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It is also in part due to the profits made by settlers from the timber on the
land. When this stage is passed, it may fairly be assumed that mixed farm-
ing, with dairying as the main feature, will characterize these settlements.

A few years ago the Government of the province undertook the con-
struction of a railway extending northward from the town of North Bay
on the Canadian Pacific Railway. This road, which is known as the
Temiskaming and Northern Ontario Railway, has already been built for a
distance of 200 miles, and it will eventually conneet with the projected
transcontinental line known as the Grand Trunk Pacifie, which will
traverse the province north of the height of land. Forty-five townships
of excellent land at the northern end of Lake Temiskaming have been sur-
veyed and are now being settled. The whole of the land in this section is
tillable, free from stone and productive, and although heavily timbered,
the timber is of comparatively small growth. This tract extends in a north-
westerly direction as far as the height of land.

Northward and westward from this region there extends across the
provinee an immense unbroken area of tillable land, 250 miles in length
from east to west, with an average depth from north to south of 100 miles
and comprising in all little short of 16,000,000 acres. This district, be-
cause of the nature of its soil, is commonly known as the Great Clay Belt,
and to its development attention is now being directed. Only such portion
of it, however, as is rendered accessible by the Temiskaming & Northern
Ontario Railway is at present available for settlement. The building of the
Grand Trunk Pacifie, which will pass through the Clay Belt from east to
west, will open a much larger territory to settlement, and there is little
doubt that other railways will be built in the near future. Some of these
are already projected to conneet the Grand Trunk Pacific system with roads
to the south.

The survey of 1900 has established that in the eastern part of the terri-
tory, north of the height of land there is an immense area of land, apparently
equal in fertility to any in older Ontario, with an equable and temperate
climate and an abundance of wood and water, which render the induce-
ments it presents to those in search of homesteads as good as those offered
anywhere else on the continent. The apprehension entertained by some
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that our forest resources were very limited has been contradicted by the
exploration and estimation of extensive pine areas on the southern slope,
as well as the location of great forests of spruce and other varieties of pulp-
wood north of the height of land, which will enable this province to take
a leading position in the commercial world as regards the growing and
remunerative pulp and paper-making industry. While the geological exam-
inations have not resulted in any new discoveries of economie minerals (and
it was scarcely expected they would), they have been of material service in
identifying and establishing the character of the different rock formations
and locating promising indications as a guide to closer investigations in the
future. Analyses of the peat taken from the extensive deposits in Nipissing
have conclusively shown its high qualities and economic utility, and estab-
lished the value of this great natural store of fuel, which will probably
make it useful in the industrial development of the country,

The great clay belt running from the Quebee boundary west through
Nipissing and Algoma Districts and into the District of Thunder Bay com-
prises an area of at least 24,500 square miles, or 15,680,000 acres, nearly
all of which is well adapted for eultivation. This almost unbroken stretch
of good farming land is nearly three-quarters as great in extent as the whole
settled portion of the province south of Lake Nipissing and the French and
Mattawa Rivers. It is larger than the States of Massachusetts, Conneeticut,
Rhode Island, New Jersey and Delaware combined, and one-half the size of
the State of New York. The region is watered by the Moose River, flowing
into James Bay, and its tributaries, the Abitibi, Mattagami and Missinabie,
and by the Albany and its tributaries, the Kenogami and Ogoke. Each of
these rivers is over 300 miles in length, and they range in width from 300 or
400 yards to a mile. They are fed by numerous smaller streams, and
these in turn drain numberless lakes of larger or smaller size, so that the
whole country is one network of waterways, affording easy means of ecom-
munications with long stretches fit for navigation. The great area of water
surface also assures the country against the protracted droughts so often
experienced in other countries. The southern boundary of this great tract
of fertile land is less than 40 miles from Missinabie Station on the Cana-

dian Pacific Railway ; and the country north of the height of land being one
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immense level platean, sloping off towards James Bay, the construction of

railways and wagon roads through every part of it would be a comparatively
casy matter,

In the small part of the District of Rainy River which was explored, the
proportion of good land is not so great, but the clay land in the townships
around Dryden was found to extend north in the valley of the Wabigoon
River, with an area of about 600 square miles, or 384,000 acres. There are
also smaller cultivable areas at various other points.

A point equalled only in importance by the existence of a vast area of
agricultural land in this country is the fact that it is largely covered with
extensive forests of spruce, jack pine and poplar. The value of this class of
timber, as everybody knows, is increasing every day and the market for it
is widening; and rich, indeed, is the country which has boundless resources
in these varieties of woods. In the District of Nipissing, north of the
C.P.R. line, there is estimated to be at least 20,000,000 cords of pulpwood ;
in the District of Algoma, 100,000,000 eords; in the District of Thunder
Bay, 150,000,000 cords; and in the District of Rainy River, 18,000,000
cords; a grand total of 288,000,000 cords. The pine region does not seem to
extend much beyond the height of land, but on this side, in the country
around Lakes Temagaming and Lady Evelyn, and to the north, an area of
red and white pine of fine quality was explored and estimated to contain
about three billions of feet B.M.

A feature of this region, which it is well to note from an industrial
point of view, is the existence of many falls on the rivers and streams,
These will no doubt be utilized with advantage in the ereation of economical
power when the country comes to be opened up.

An important fact established by the explorations is that the climate
in this northern distriet presents no obstacle to successful agricultural settle-
ment. The information obtained completely dispels the erroneous impres-
sion that its winters are of Arectic severity and its summers too short to
enable erops to mature. The absence of summer frosts noted by the ex-
plorers and the growth of all the common vegetables at the Hudson’s Bay
posts must disabuse the public mind of this erroneous impression. The 50th

3
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parallel of latitude passes through the centre of the agricultural belt, and
the climate is not much different from that of the Provinee of Manitoba,
lying along the same parallel, with this exception, of course, that the winter
is tempered by the great spruce forests and the presence of so large a pro-
portion of water surface. A comparison of the temperature records of this
country with those of Guelph in Southern Ontario show the mean tempera-
ture to be from 5 to 6 degrees higher at Guelph during the six summer

months. In the following table the temperatures for Edinburgh, Secotland,

are also included for the purposes of comparison.

MeaN SuMMER TEMPERATURES.

Edinburgh.  Abitibi Guelph.
May g 488 441 52.6
June 54.9 2 H8.3
July 58.0 64.9 67.8
August 575 9.5 63.2
September. : 52.9 52.2 58.9
October X . 46.1 36.2 46.1
Mean average temperature for year........ 38.3.

Winter temperatures are considerably lower than in Scotland, but no
lower than in many well settled portions of the provinee

[n rainfall, also, at Abitibi there was 25.77 inches; at Guelph there was
26.16. At Abitibi the 25 inches fell in 84 days; at Guelph the rainfall of

o the records, there was a

26 inches oceurred in 98 days, and, according
greater degree of sunshine at Abitibi than at Guelph

With regard to soil, while its character varies in different sections from
clay loam to stiff elay and from sandy loam to sand, reports and assays put
its richness beyond question, and class from 75 to 90 per cent. as good
agricultural land. Taken in consideration with this the fact that tomatoes
and similar crops will ripen at Hudson’s Bay posts, many miles farther
north, there seems to be every reason for assuming that the country is cap-
able of successful agricultural developments.

The conclusion therefore is that the provinee still possesses upwards
of 20,000,000 acres of good agricultural land which will prove, on develop-

ment, just as productive as the land already settled.




CHAPTER IIL
THE ABORIGINES—INDIAN TRIBES.

The early tribes inhabiting the territory now Ontario played an im.
portant part in the Indian history of the American continent. Without
entering into a statement of the views regarding their origin and tribal
relations, the territory they occupied may be indicated as follows :—

1. From the great lakes northward was the habitat of the Crees known
by early writers as the Klistenos, Cristeneaux, ete., the Maskegons and
Monsonisethnie divisions of the Crees, the Chippewas or Ojibwas, the Pota-
wotomis, the Ottawas originally divided into the Keinouche, Kiskakon,
Nassauaketon and Sable bands, the Miamis, the Nipissings, the Algonquins,
the Amikwas, and the Winnebagoes.

2. In the territory north of Lake Erie to Georgian Bay and east to the
Bay of Quinte were to be found the Iroquois, the Mississaugas, the Hurons,
a small part of the Ottawas, the Cherokees, the Eries, the Tionontatis or
Patuns and the Neuters,

3. East of this territory to the Quebee boundary was inhabited prin-
cipally by the Algonquins,

Beginning with the first of these groups of tribes in the north, one of
the most important members of the group was the Crees which formerly
inhabited the distriet to the south and west of Hudson’s Bay and hunted
game all over the region between the Moose and Churehill Rivers and as far
west and south as the Dakotas. As early as 1640 they were met by the
Jesuit missionaries in the neighborhood of James Bay, but were mentioned
in the Relations of 1661 and 1667 as residing more to the northwest.
Although mainly a woods’ people there were still many roving bands who
changed their locations from time to time according to the movements of
the big game.

The Ottawas, Chippewas and Potawotomis are believed to have sprung

from one stem, and tradition credits them with having been originally
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united at some point north of Lake Superior. Part of the Chippewas, the
Potawotomis and the Ottawas then migrated southward, the two first
named going across the border into what is now the State of Wisconsin,
while the Ottawas located on Manitoulin Island and on the northeast shore
of Lake Huron. Some of them travelled as far east as the Ottawa River
on trading expeditions and from them the river is believed to have obtained
In the course of events the Ottawas were driven by the lroquois
Here they

its name,
in 1646 as far west as the Mississippi in the State of Wisconsin,
were so harrassed by the Sioux that in 1670-1 they returned to their former
home on Manitoulin Island. Ten years later most of them had joined the
Hurons at Mackinaw, where they remained until about 1700, when the
Ottawas moved south and settled in various parts of the State of Michigan.
Here they remained until the war of Independence, when their loyalty to
the British Crown caused a part of the tribe to leave Michigan and settle on
Walpole Island in Lake St, Clair. The remainder of the tribe in Canada is
principally located on Manitoulin Island and mainland adjoining. The
total number of the tribe is believed to be 5,000, of which number about 1,000
are in Ontario.

The Chippewas are the only other member of this federation which
has to be dealt with, as the Potawotomies have long since made their abode
to the south of the great lakes. The territory originally covered by the
Chippewas was that lying between James Bay and Hudson's Bay on the
north and Lakes Superior and Huron on the south, though a part of the
tribe even went as far south as the State of V'isconsin. On account of their
far northern location and distance from the more travelled routes, they
were not much encountered by the whites in the early history of the
country. At the time of their greatest strength and prosperity, however,
they are known to have been the largest single tribe of Indians in North
America with the exception of Mexico. Sault Ste. Marie appears to have
been their headquarters about the year 1640, for in this year the earliest
authentic mention is made of them (in the Jesuit Relation) under the
name of Baouichtigonin, a tribe then found at the Sault. Two years later
they were again found at the Sault by the missionaries Jogues and Raym-

bault, at war with a western tribe, probably the Sioux. By reason of their
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remoteness from the frontier, the Chippewas took but little part in the
early colonial wars. While the southern division of the tribe was known to
be of warlike disposition, those to the north of Lake Superior were con-
sidered to be of a mild and peacable nature, so much so indeed, that they
were termed by their southern brethren ‘‘the rabbits.”’ In the north the
members of the tribe are deseribed as the ‘“men of the thick woods’’ and
the ‘‘swamp people,”’ terms used to designate the nature of the country they
inhabit. Numerically the tribe appears to have grown slightly since the
first estimate of 25,000 was made in 1764. A century later the figures were
about 30,000, and the total strength at present is believed to be between
30,000 and 32,000, of which 15,000 are in Canada and the remainder in the
United States,

The Nipissings were a small tribe according to the earliest records, but
by reason of their readily accessible location on Lake Nipissing near the
source of the Ottawa River, and the route of travel, they were known to
the earliest missionaries and explorers. In 1615 Champlain met them, and
previous to 1632 Jean Nicolet spent some time among them. In 1637 the
missionaries Garnier and Chastelain paid them a visit. Like all of the
smaller tribes, they suffered much at times from incursions by their more
powerful and warlike neighbors. In 1650 the Iroquois massacred a large
number of them and forced the remainder to seek safety in flight. They
went as far to the northwest as Lake Nipigon where they made their home
for seventeen years, returning at the end of that period to Lake Nipissing,
where the tribe, to the number of about two hundred, is now living on a
reservation. They are all Roman Catholies, and have a good church and a
school.

The Amikwas, or ‘‘Beaver nation,’’ were a minor Algonquin tribe, and
when first discovered by the French, were located on the north shore of
Lake Huron opposite Manitoulin Island. According to Bacqueville de la
Potherie, they once made their home with the Nipissings on the shores of
Lake Nipissing until decimated by disease and the Iroquois, when they
scattered, some to the French settlements, some to Lake Superior and others
to what is now the State of Wisconsin. In 1740 they settled on Manitoulin
Island.
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Coming next to the group of tribes located in the territory north of
Lake Erie, we find that the history and movements of the Iroquois tribe are,
in a measure, the history of all the tribes in this section (many of them,
indeed, belonging to the Iroquoian family), as their record from the earliest
times is largely one of war upon and conquest or extermination of their
less powerful neighbors. Theory and tradition are at variance as to their
original home, the former placing it vaguely in the northwest, while the
latter asserts that it was near the mouth of the St. Lawrence. Be that as
it may, they were early found in the region north of Lake Erie, which was
also the home of the Hurons. This, too, was the abode for a time of the
Eries and Cherokees, who subsequently crossed the lake into the distriet
now known as Ohio. Besides the Six Nations, the following tribes of the
Iroquoian family were early located in the Erie peninsula: the Hurons,
who oceupied the region immediately north of Lake Erie and extending
from Lake Huron almost to the Niagara River on the east; the Tionontatis
or Patuns (known also as the Tobacco nation), a sub.division of the
Hurons and lying immediately to the east of them; the Neuters, who
occupied both banks of the Niagara River, and so named on account of
their efforts to preserve a neutral attitude in the wars waged by
tribes on each side of them. The historian can chronicle nothing sadder
in the records of the Indians of Canada than the merciless warfare waged
by the Iroquois upon the Hurons, the Tionontatis and the Neuters, as a
result of which the two last named tribes were exterminated and the Hurons
were scattered east, west and south, after many of their number were
slanghtered through the barbarous ferocity of their enemies. Not only
were the Huron villages destroyed and the inhabitants massacred, but the
entire waterway between Georgian Bay and Montreal was literally turned
into a wilderness. To-day the Hurons residing in Canada number less than
500 and are located at Lorette, Que. A branch of the tribe known as
Wyandots, numbering about 360, resides in Indian Territory, U.S. The
Iroquois now residing in Canada number about ten thousand, and are dis-
tributed, in Ontario, principally at the Bay of Quinte, the Thames and
Grand River, and in Quebee chiefly at Caunawaga, St. Regis and Lake of

Two Mountains




HISTORY OF ONTARIO.

The Mississaugas, when first encountered by the French about the
middle of the seventeenth century, were living on Mississauga River north
of Lake Huron. Soon afterwards they emigrated to the south and took
possession of the territory formerly occupied by the Hurons. In 1746 they
were added by the Iroquois to the federation of Six Nations, but with
limited privileges, and the compact was sundered a few years later during
the French and Indian war. It was from the Mississaugas that the Iro-
quois purchased the site which they now occupy on the Grand River. The
latest figures obtainable, place their number in Ontario at about 1,100, dis-
tributed between Mud Lake, Rice Lake, Seugog, Alnwick and New Credit.

The attitude of the British Government was, at all times, a friendly
and paternal one. In the commissions of, and instructions to, the Gover-
nors-General, this was made elear, and the Governors carried out the
spirit of this policy as well as circumstances of the times permitted. The
earlier Land Boards received definite instructions to protect Indian lands
from the grasp of the speculator, and until arrangements had been made
between the Government and the Indians, no Indian lands were open for
settlement, while there are records of sales of lands by Indians to traders
having been eaneelled in order that no injury should acerue to the Indians.

This enlightened and humane policy has been followed to the present
day, and as the provinees opened up for settlement, treaties were made with
the Indians by which lands were reserved for their exclusive use known as
Indian reserves. These reserves were selected with an eye to the habits of
life of the redman in so far as waters and forests were concerned, which
would furnish fishing and hunting.

The statutes governing the settlement of Indian lands define clearly
who are entitled to be located on the reserves, and in the event of the death
of an Indian so located, provide that one-third of his goods and chattels
shall devolve upon his widow (if any), and the remainder upon his children
in equal shares. As each child attains the age of twenty-one years, or
becomes married before that age, it is provided that his or her share shall
be handed to him or her. Adequate provision is also made for the disposi-
tion of the property where no immediate heirs survive,

The statutes also provide that whenever any Indian man or unmarried
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woman of the age of twenty-one years obtains the consent of their tribe to
become enfranchised and have been assigned a suitable portion of land for
that purpose, such applicant shall, if after inquiry he or she is deemed to be
qualified to hold land in fee simple, be granted a location ticket as a pro-
bationary Indian.

On these reserves, the Indian customs were maintained for a consider-
able time in their pristine character, but gradually they have dwindled
away until the ‘““white dog’’ or the ‘‘potlach’’ are but memories with most
of the young of the present generation. The statutory mode for the election
of chiefs provides that at the discretion of the Governor-in-Couneil, they
shall be elected for a period of three years unless deposed for dishonesty,
intemperance, immorality or incompetency ; that they may be in the pro-
portion of one head chief and two second chiefs or councillors for every
two hundred Indians; provided also that no band shall have more than six
head chiefs and twelve second chiefs, but that any band of thirty Indians
may have one chief.

It is estimated that there are over twenty thousand Indians in the
Provinee of Ontario scattered over the various reserves. Each band has its
churches and schools, and, as a people, they show growing intelligence and
very gratifying regard for law and order, in fact, the native of the forest
is gradually being assimilated in the environment of present day civiliza-
tion, and dresses and conducts himself in the manner of his white brethren.

On many of the reserves there are comfortable dwelling houses and
fine outhouses for cattle and crops, and at the agricultural exhibitions the
products shown of field, fold and factory (though the latter but rarely of
entire native manufacture) give proof that the Indian has learned to derive
a comfortable living from the products of the soil, and is in a fair way to
develop as a producer in the industrial arts.

Particularly in the northern parts of the provinee, the hereditary
instinets of the redman for sport are still quite apparent, as shown by the
fondness with which they pursue their native occupations of hunting and
fishing, while the women of the tribes maintain their reputation as deft

workers in bead and wicker ware.
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The principal reserves in Ontario with the numerical strength of the
tribes located thereon and the acreage of each, is as follows:—

Grand River.—Six Nations, population (latest returns), 4,267 ; acreage,
43,696,

Bay of Quinte.—Mohawks, population, 1,297 ; acreage, 17,000,

Thames River.—Oneidas, population, 778; acreage, 5271.

Manitoulin Island.—Ojibwas and Ottawas, population, 648; acreage,
105,000.

Walpole Island.—Chippewas, population, 596; acreage, about 11,000,

Lake Nipigon.—Ojibwas, population, 499 ; acreage, 9,825.

Thames River.—Chippewas, population, 479; acreage, 8,702,

The total number of schools on the reserves in Ontario is 78, of which
37 or nearly one-half are undenominational, and the majority of the remain-
der Roman Catholie.

Of the twenty and odd thousand Indians on these reserves, 6,061 pro-
fess to be Roman Catholies, 5,253 to be Anglicans, 4,540 to be Methodists,
3,067 to be pagans and the remainder to be scattered among other leading

denominations.




CHAPTER IV.

UNDER THE FRENCH REGIME—ONTARIO MISSIONS,

The history of the French missions to the Indians of Canada begins
with the arrival of the Recollect or Franciscan Fathers at Quebee in the
summer of 1615. The pioneers of this Order to plant the standard of Chris-
tianity among the redmen were Fathers Joseph Le Caron, Denis Jamay,
John Dolbeau and Pacifique Duplessis. These men were sent at the request
of Champlain, then Governor of Canada, and with the sanction of the
Pope, and their names will forever remain indelibly associated with the
earliest effort to proclaim the gospel to the Indians, With the reputation

which the Indians then had for eruelty and viee, it required men of un-

bounded heroism, inspired by the noblest zeal and self-sacrifice to undertake
work like this,—and such were the men who were selected for these missions.
Half-hearted zeal or lukewarm determination could have accomplished
nothing in these pioneer days. But not only were the Recolleet and the
Jesuits men of great zeal and courage, they were often men of unusual
culture, scholarship and literary attainments, as well as of refinement and
noble birth. With such an equipment, it is no wonder their deeds have
passed into history and been handed down the ages for the admiration of
posterity.

On July 1st, 1615, Father Le Caron began his great journey westward
to the seene of his future labors among the Hurons or Wyandots and the
Tionontates on the Nottawasaga peninsula and what is now the County of
Simecoe.  Accompanied by a band of IHurons and Algonquins of the
Ottawa, he sailed up the St. Lawrence to Montreal, thence up the Ottawa
and Mattawa Rivers to Lake Nipissing. From Lake Nipissing, by way of
French River, they entered Georgian Bay, exactly a month before Cham-
plain reached the same point. Down the eastern shore of the Bay they
sailed, landing at the entrance to Matchedash Bay. The trail was then

followed on foot until his guides arrived at their destination, the Huron
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settlement of Otoucha. Le Caron's reception here was favorable and a
wigwam was erected for him at Caragouha near Nottawasaga Bay. The
Hurons at that time were estimated to number from ten to twelve thousand
persons, and consisted of four tribes, increased later to five by the addition
of the Tionontates,

At Caragouha he offered his first mass, and one month afterwards,
upon the arrival of Champlain, mass was again chanted and the Cross was
raised on the shores of the Georgian Bay. For six months Le Caron labored
at this point, proclaiming the gospel and studying the language, and his
estimate of the tribe at that time is interesting. In his opinion, the Hurons
were almost insensible to the influences of Christianity. The gratification of
the senses appears to have been their chief pursuit. *‘Their every inelin-
ation,”’ he wrote, ‘‘is brutal. They are naturally gluttonous, having their
farewell feasts, their complimentary feasts, war, peace, death, health and
marriage feasts,’’

Early in February, 1616, he paid a visit to the Tionontates or Tobacco
Nation, who were located on what is now the Townships of Collingwood,
Sunnidale and Nottawasaga. IHis reception, however, was so unfriendly
that he returned to Caragouha and spent the remainder of the winter in
acquiring the language and in compiling the first dictionary of the Huron
tongue. On May 20th, 1616, he bade good-bye to his red-skinned compan-
ions, and set off for Montreal, accompanied by a number of the tribe who
were on their way to Three Rivers to exchange their furs for the white
man'’s goods.

Seven years later Le Caron returned to the Hurons, accompanied by
Father Nicholas Viel and Brother Gabriel Sagard, and was cordially re-
ceived. His labors, as he says himself, now began in earnest. A chapel was
built for him at Ossosanee which he dedieated to St. Joseph, and here, religi-
ous exerecises were held and instruetion given daily.

““It would be diffienlt to tell you,”’ he writes at this time, ‘‘the fatigue
I suffer, being obliged to have my paddle in hand all day long, and run
with all my strength with the Indians. I have more than a hundred times
walked in the rivers over the sharp rocks which eut my feet, in the mud, in

the woods, where I carried the canoe and my little baggage, in order to avoid
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the rapids and frightful waterfalls. I say nothing of the painful fast
which beset us, having only a little sagamity, which is a kind of pulmentum,
composed of water and the meal of Indian corn, a small quantity of which
is dealt out to us morning and evening. Yet I must avow that amid my
pains I felt much consolation. For, alas! w hen we see such a great number
of infidels, and nothing but a drop of water is needed to make them children
of God, one feels an ardor which I cannot express, to labor for their con-
version, and to sacrifice for it one’s repose and life.”

To this record of hardships and trials, Brother Sagard adds: ‘‘Meat
was so rare with us, that we often passed six weeks or two whole months
without tasting a bit, unless a small piece of dog, bear or fowl, given to us
at banquets.”’

In the meantime, Father Viel had, by dint of great industry and per-
severance, made good progress in mastering the Huron language, but his
efforts to give the Indians religious instruction were not encouraging, and
he wrote for assistance to Father Le Caron (who was then in Quebee). The
latter promptly wrote to France, with the result that two years later, or
in 1625, the Jesuits appeared on the scene. Their advent practically closed
the chapter of the Recollect missions in this part of Canada.

Father Le Caron never returned to the Hurons, but went to France
and passed away in 1632, Father Viel, according to the historian Le Clereq,
was drowned by an Indian companion in a rapid of the River Des Prairies,
while en route to Quebee on business connected with the mission, and the

' Before his death,

rapid has since been known as the ‘‘Sault au Recollect.’
however, he completed the dietionary of the Huron tongue undertaken by
Le Caron and left other valuable memoranda at the Mission, which were
afterwards recovered. Sagard also returned to France and wrote a diction-
ary of the Huron language, as well as a number of sketches of his travels
which possess considerable historie, geographic and ethnographie value.

The mission to the Hurons on Georgian Bay was the only one estab-
lished by the Recollects in Ontario,

The first of the Jesuits to arrive at Quebee in response to the invita-
tion of Father Le Caron were Fathers Charles Lalemant, Enemond Masse

and Jean de Breboeuf who reached there about the end of May, 1625, Father
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Masse was the only one with experience among the Indians, having spent
some time among the Miemaes in Nova Scotia. Father Lalemant, for the
time being, remained at Quebec, whence he penned, in the following year,
the first of the now celebrated *‘ Relations of the Jesuits.””

To Jean de Breboeuf fell the lot of being selected to carry on the work
among the Hurons on Georgian Bay, so nobly established by the Recollects,
In preparation for his rigorous experiences, de Brebeuf spent the winter
of that year among a nomadie band of Montagnais, where he endured great
hardships, but obtained a considerable knowledge of their language. In the
spring, accompanied by Father Joseph de la Roche Daillon, a Recollect, he
started for the Georgian Bay with a band of Hurons who were returning
to their homes, after disposing of their trophies of the chase to the French
traders. The journey of nine hundred miles to the west, through forest
and flood, was a supreme test of endurance, but de Brebeuf was a man of
great physique and uncommon strength, and proved easily able to hold
his own with the best of the red men, hardened as they were by years of
such journeys. Fatigue seemed unknown to him, and many a time on the
toilsome march when his companion, Father Daillon, seemed overcome, he
would hasten to his relief and cheerfully bear the double burden for hours
at a time. Accustomed as the Hurons were to venerate physical prowess
rather than Christian virtues, these exhibitions served to invest ‘‘ Echon,””
as he was called by the Indians, with a peculiar prestige not enjoyed by
many of his companions,

Eventually the Mission of St. Joseph was reached and Father Viel's
chapel was found still standing. For three years they labored there unin-
terruptedly, with the exception of a visit paid by Father Daillon to the
Neutral or Attiwindaron tribe on the north shore of Lake Erie, stretching
from Detroit to the Niagara River. His reception, however, was so hostile
that he returned the same year and left no record of his visit. In 1629 on
the capture of Quebee by the English, the two priests were recalled and the
mission was abandoned until three years later when France again obtained
possession of the country.

‘When the way was again clear for the missionaries to return to their
posts in 1634, de Brebeuf set out onee more accompanied by Fathers Davost
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and Daniel, and after a month of supreme toil, hardship and danger,
reached their destination at Ihonatiria in the Huron country. Father

Brebeuf was received with every demonstration of weleome, the children

jumping about him and erying “‘Echon is come again.”’ At once the
Fathers began the erection of a log house which served them also as a
chapel, after which they entered upon their missionary work in earnest,
going about from village to village and from camp to camp, instrueting,
correcting and encouraging adults and children whenever the opportunity
offered. So successful, indeed, was Father Brebeuf in this erusade, that he
aroused the jealousy of the Medicine men or ‘‘sorcerers’’ of the tribe,
who openly charged himself and his companions with inducing a pro-
longed drought, and threatened to destroy the cross which was erected
before their dwelling. Brebeuf, with the courage which was characteristic
of him, boldly met the Medicine men in council, and sueceeded in eonvine-
ing them, by forcible arguments, that the drought was not due to their
presence nor was the eross responsible for it.

In 1635, the year after Father Brebeuf and his companions reached
Thonatiria, they were reinforced by the arrival of Fathers Pierre Pigard
and Francis Le Mercier, and were thus able to extend their operations.
Their lives at this time were one unceasing record of toil and trial, living as
they did with their dusky associates, entering into their mode of life and
oceupation, accompanying them on the chase and sharing generally in their
dangers and hardships. During an epidemie, of smallpox in particular,
their courage and fortitude was tried to the utmost, for they dwelt in camps
where sanitation was unknown, where the most repulsive habits were in-
dulged and which literally recked with decaying offal, garbage and human
bodies, turning whole villages into charnel houses. The trials encountered
by them, may best be studied in their own records which are now stored
among the Jesnit Archives. Brebeuf himself, has left on record this advice
to those who might follow in his footsteps (in a letter to the Superior of
his Order in France) : ““Let those who come here, come well provided with
patience and charity, for they will become rich in troubles; but where will
the laboring ox go when he does not draw the plough; and if he does not

draw the plough how can there be a harvest?"’
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A glimpse at the daily routine of the Fathers at this time (as recorded
by Charlevoix) is interesting. ‘‘All their moments,”” he writes, *‘were
marked by some heroie action, by conversions or by sufferings, which they
considered as a real indemnity when their labors had not produced all the
fruit which they had hoped for. From the hour of four in the morning
when they rose, till eight, they generally kept within; this was the time
for prayer, and the only part of the day which they had for their private
exercises of devotion. At eight each went whithersoever his duty called
him; some visited the sick, others walked into the fields to see those who
were engaged in cultivating the earth, others repaired to the neighboring
villages which were destitute of pastors. These excursions answered many
good purposes, for in the first place no children, or at least very few, died
without baptism; even adults who had refused to receive instruction while
in health, applied for it when they were sick. They were not proof against
the ingenious and indefatigable charity of their physicians.”

Notwithstanding their lives of supreme self-sacrifice, however, the
Fathers were charged by the Medicine men with bringing the disease upon
the tribe by the exercise of their religious ceremonies, and they were in-
formed that they were to be sacrificed.

Not for a moment, however, did Brebeuf’s fortitude desert him. Again
he strode fearlessly into the Counecil of the Chiefs and insisted on a hear-
ing. By this time he was thoroughly familiar with their language, and he
addressed them in their own tongue with such persuasive eloquence and zeal
that the sentence of death was revoked. About the same time, the malady
came to an end, and further hostility to the missionaries ceased.

Late in the year 1635 Fathers Davost and Daniel made a journey to
Quebee with three Huron boys whom they desired to have educated, and on
their way down the Ottawa River they passed Fathers Garnier and
Chatelain en route to the Huron country. Proceeding towards their destin-
ation, they were met at Three Rivers by Father Jogues not long out from

France, and destined in the near future to play so important a part in the

history of the early Jesuit missions. Father Jogues was much impressed
by the miserable and destitute appearance presented by the missionaries,
and in a letter to his mother says: ‘‘They were barefoot and exhausted,
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their underclothes worn out and their cassocks hanging in rags on their
emaciated bodies; yet their faces were expressive of content and satisfaction
with the life which they led, and excited in me, both by their looks and
conversation, a desire to go and share with them the crosses to which the
Lord attached such unction.”’

No later than the following summer, Father Jogues was invited to
accompany a band of Hurons to their distant western home, and set out
upon his dangerous and toilsome journey not altogether unprepared for the
difficulties he would encounter by reason of certain information received
from Brebeuf. The latter, indeed, presents the following graphie picture
of the trip from Quebec westward: ‘‘ Easy as the journey may appear, it
will, however, present difficulties of a formidable nature to the heart that is
not strengthened by self-denial and mortification. The activity of his
Indian companions will neither shorten the portages, make smooth the rocks,
nor banish danger. The voyage will take at least three or four weeks with
companions whom he perhaps never before met. He will be eonfined within
the narrow limits of a bark canoe, and in a position so painful and incon-
venient that he will not be free to change it without exposing the canoe to
the danger of being capsized or injured on the rocks. During the day the
sun will scorch him, and at night the mosquitoes will allow him no repose.
After ascending six or seven rapids, his only meal will be of Indian corn
steeped in water, his bed will be the earth, or a jagged and uneven rock.
At times the stars will be his blanket, and around him, day and night, per-
petual silence.”’

On his arrival at the Mission at Thonatiria on Sept. 11th, 1636, Father
Jogues was cordially received. Soon after this, by reason of the ravages
made by the smallpox at lhonatiria, the Mission was divided between the
two villages of Teanaustayae and Ossossane, that at the former village being
called “‘St. Joseph,”” and that of the latter ‘‘Conception.”” As their
work inereased, however, they were obliged to establish a permanent head-
quarters, and for this purpose selected a site on what is now the River Wye
in the Huron peninsula. Here a series of log buildings, suitable for their

needs was constructed, consisting of a commodious chapel, a hospital and a
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residence. The progress of construction was watched with the greatest
interest by the Attaronchronons, in whose country they were located.

The missionaries, now eight in number, had met with fair success in
most of the Huron villages. The seed had been sown and the missions were
growing surely, though slowly. It was then decided to enlarge their field
of operations, and in December, 1639, Fathers Jogues and Garnier, without
a guide, proceeded to make their way through a trackless wilderness to the
Tionontates or Tobacco nation (known to the French as the Petuns), at the
head of Nottawasaga Bay. After encountering perils and hardships unpar-
alleled, they reached their destination at the end of three days, but their
plight was in no way improved. The Tionontates had heard of the disas-
trous results of the plague among the Hurons, and the reputation of the
Fathers as ‘‘Black Sorcerers’’ had preceded them. Everywhere they were
received with hostility and curses, and only the fear in which they were held
saved them from being massacred. They were obliged to return, but their
mission was not entirely fruitless, as they learned something of the nature
of the tribe, and enabled Father Garnier in the following year, to establish
among them the Mission of the Apostles.

In the year 1641 the way was opened for the Fathers to extend their
labors to the northwest, among the Ottawas residing at Sault Ste. Marie
and along the shores of Lake Superior. Previous to this time, Father
Raymbault who was familiar with their language had paid them several
visits, but no permanent mission had been established among them. In
1641, however, a band from this tribe paid a visit to a number of their
Algonquin countrymen residing in the Huron country, in order to partici-
pate in their great Feast of the Dead. Upon their return on Sept. 17th of
that year, Fathers Jogues and Raymbault seized the opportunity to accom-
pany them, and had the distinetion of being the first whites ever known to
have passed through the Sault to Lake Superior. Referring to this
journey, Bancroft writes: ‘‘Thus did the religious zeal of the French bear
the Cross to the banks of the St. Mary and the confines of Lake Superior,
and look wistfully towards the homes of the Sioux in the valley of the
Mississippi, five years before the New England Eliot had addressed the

4
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tribe of Indians that dwelt within six miles of Boston harbor.”” The two
priests remained for some weeks among the Ottawas and prepared the way
for a permanent mission to be established there in 1660 by Clande Allouez

Several days’ journey to the south of the Huron country, dwelt the
Attiwandaron or Neutral tribe, located on both banks of the Niagara River
and on the Niagara peninsula. Of this tribe who then numbered about
twelve thousand persons, Father Daillon, who visited them in 1626, said he
did not see a single deformed person. But though almost physically perfect,
they were singularly cruel and licentious in their dispositions, surpassing in
their barbarous customs even their neighbors the Hurons and Iroquois.
Female prisoners were burned by them, a practice so revolting as to receive
the universal condemnation of neighboring tribes. Some of their habits,

too, were exceedingly repulsive, as in the matter of retaining dead bodies for

weeks in their wigwams until they were in an advanced stage of decay, when
the flesh was seraped from the bones and the latter were carefully put away
until the periodical Feasts of the Dead

To this tribe, Fathers Brebeuf and Chaumont prepared to pay a visit
in November, 1640. After a journey of almost ineredible hardship, they
reached their destination at the end of nine days. As in the case of the visit
of Fathers Jogues and Garnier to the Tionontates the year before, however,
they found that their reputation as sorcerers had preceded them. They were
received with the utmost hostility, not a door being opened to them for
fear lest the unfortunate inmates in whose cabin they set foot, should be
overwhelmed with curses and withering plagues. For months they pre-
severed in their efforts to establish a mission. Almost perishing from cold
and hunger, they went from town to town, only to have all their friendly
overtures rejected, and prepared to depart from the country. On the eve
of their departure, a singular phenomenon was presented to Brebeuf, which
in view of his martyrdom a few years later, is not without its significance,
Out of a clear sky a blood-red eross appeared moving toward him from the
direction of the Iroquois country.

““Was it large,”’ asked his companions, on his return to the mission on
the Wye.

“‘Large enough to erucify us all,”” he replied
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Steady progress was now made by the missionaries until in 1648 the
Fathers had the satisfaction of seeing the fruits of their labors in flourish-
ing churches and missions located in what are now known as the townships
of Tiny, Tay, Medonte, Sunnidale, Matchedash and North Orillia. These
missions of the Conception were known as Mary Magdalene, Holy Mary,
St. Michael, St. Joseph and St. Ignatius. Two missions—those of the Holy
Ghost and of St. Peter—were established among the Algonquins on Lake
Nipissing and the north shore of Lake Huron. Even among the Tionontates
two permanent missions were established. The Fathers—now eighteen in
number—were seeking for ways in which they might enlarge the seope of
their operations and influence. The Puants and Nation of Fire on the
shores of Lake Michigan had invited them to send missionaries, while plans
were also projected for reaching the Algonquins to the north and the
Dacotahs and Sioux to the west. Conversions were recorded daily. No less
than eighteen hundred persons were baptized in one year, and though the
labors of the missionaries at the more distant points were arduous and toil-
some to an extreme degree, it was only a matter of time when the entire
Huron nation would have been converted, but for events which preeipitated
their doom, and destroyed, almost at a blow, the patient work of years.

For many years previous to this period, a feud existed between the
Iroquois and Huron nations, so deadly as to amount to a war of extermina-
tion. The Iroquois at that time mostly resided south of Lake Ontario in
what is now the State of New York, as well as on both sides of the St.
Lawrence River. They were a particularly war-like and ferocious confeder-
acy made up of the six tribes, the Senecas, Oneidas, Mohawks, Cayugas,
Onondagas and Tuscaroras. They had long been in the habit of making
war-like raids upon their less powerful neighbors, and on one of these raids
in 1647 they had almost annihilated the Neutrals dwelling on the Niagara
peninsula.

Their lurking and implacable hatred of the Hurons found vent early
in the year 1648, when a large body of Troquois descended without warning
on the Huron village of St. Joseph (near the Town of Barrie), and with
barbarous ferocity, massacred the inhabitants, men, women and children, to
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the number of seven hundred, leaving nothing but a charred ruin in their
trail.

When the Iroquois attacked the village, Father Daniel had just cele-
brated mass in the chapel before a crowded audience of old men, women
and children, as the braves had all departed on the chase two days before.
Paralyzed with terror at the sudden onslaught of their foes, many of the
people fled headlong. All efforts to restrain their flight proved futile.
Baptizing these by aspersion collectively, and pronouncing absolution upon
those who had already received the sacrament, the priest’s parting injune-
tion was: ‘“My children, fly, and retain your faith until death.”” Not all
of them fled, however. A band of women and children remained with him,
and as the Iroquois approached the chapel the priest turned to them ex-
claiming: *“We will die here and shall meet again in Heaven."’

With these words, he strode calmly to the door and faced the foe alone.
For a moment the Mohawks were aghast with surprise at his temerity, but it
was only for & moment. With deadly aim the Indian archers drew their
bows, and like a cloud the arrows filled the air. The priest fell, pierced by
a hundred wounds, his last thoughts and words being of exhortation and
encouragement to his little flock. Thus was the first Jesuit martyr called
away from the scene of his eighteen years’ labor among the Huron Indians,
in the forty-eighth year of his age. The remainder of the winter passed
without further outbreaks, and the missionaries continued their zealous
efforts, utterly ignorant of their impending fate.

The first intimation the missionaries had that the disturbances were by
no means at an end, was on March 17th, 1649, when a Huron warrior
entered the Village of St. Mary’s and conveyed the terrible news that the
Iroquois had just captured the Village of St. Louis and massacred the in-
habitants, without regard to age or sex.

““ And where are Fathers Brebeuf and Lalemant,’’ asked Father Rague-
nean, who was in charge of the mission at St. Mary’s.

““They are dead,’’ replied the Indian, who knew the bloodthirsty nature
of the foe and feared the worst.

As a matter of fact, Fathers Lalemant and Brebeuf were not then

dead, but were captured and were being reserved for an appalling fate.
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The outbreak in this year began early in March, when the Iroquois to
the number of one thousand—chiefly of the Mohawk and Seneca tribes—
descended with their customary suddenness on the Huron Town of
St. Ignatius and murdered all the inhabitants. From St. Ignatius they
moved like a resistless avalanche, upon the neighboring Town of St. Louis.
The inhabitants, though taken by surprise, fought with grim determination
against their barbarous and relentless foes, but to no avail. On different
occasions while the fighting raged, the priests were urged to make their
escape by the only road still open, towards St. Mary's, but the propositions
were not entertained. ‘‘We cannot flee,”’ replied Brebeuf. ‘‘Where should
the priest be found but with his people.”” And so they continued their
Christian ministrations amid the hail of bullets and arrows, and braves
falling like autumn leaves around them. Finally their fort was captured
and set on fire, and the captives indiseriminately consigned to the seething
caldron of flames.

Breboeuf and Lalemant did not share the fate of their Indian eompan-
ions. Instead, they were taken, with a number of other prisoners, back to
8t. Ignatius, and here, a few hours later, Brebeuf was stripped and bound
to a stake. For hours he was made to endure tortures almost indeseribable,
but not once were his brutal captors able to wring from him any evidence
of weakness. ‘‘You do not seream, Echon,”’ they said. ‘“Why do you not
moan? We will make you,”” and their efforts were redoubled. But the only
reply of the priest was one of warning and condemnation of their course.
Unwilling to hear these statements, they cut off his tongue and his lips, but
still Brebeuf made no ery. Instead, he continued as well as he was able,
to warn them of the punishment to come, to which they replied by ribald
and derisive jests and songs, and cut kis fingers off joint by joint. Finally
they went through the mockery of baptism by pouring boiling water on his
head, yet the priest did not flinech. Despairing of eonquering such a nature
and marvelling at a courage so indomitable, they completed their fiendish
work by sealping him and tearing a great hole in his side from which many
drank the blood hoping to imbibe with it some of his supreme fortitude. No
doubt Brebenf was now beyond the reach of his enemies, but one chief, not
to be outdone in brutality, apparently, advanced with his knife, tore out the
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priest’s heart and began to devour it with evident zest. Thus ended the
career of Jean de Brebeuf, one of the noblest and most heroic missionaries
of any age or church, who labored zealously for twenty-four years among
trials and hardships as great as ever fell to the lot of man.

Of frailer and more delicate physique, Father Lalemant was incapable
of the same display of fortitude, yet his tortures were more prolonged if not
more atrocious. As he was himself being led to the stake, he beheld the
appalling fate of his companion, and, overcome with emotion, eried: *‘ My
God, we're made a spectacle to the world, to angels and to men.”” He was
then bound from head to foot in birch bark, and by a slow process extending
over seventeen hours, was literally roasted to death. All night long the
orgies lasted. Live coals were placed in the sockets of his eyes, and in other
ways the Iroquois amply maintained the reputation for brutality which
they had so well earned

All that could be collected of the remains of the martyred missionaries,
was gathered together and taken to Quebee, where the bones were carefully
preserved until their removal to France (with the exception of the skull of
Father Brebeuf which has been retained and may be seen at the Hotel Dien,
Quebec).

From the Dominion Archives (1885) the following document is taken :—

(Translation.)

[ Veritable aceount of the martyrdom and most happy death of Father

Jean de Breboeuf and of Father Gabriel L’Allemant in New France, in the

country of the Hurons, by the Iroquois, enemies of the Faith.]

Father Jean de Breboeuf and Father Gabriel L’Allemant had set out
from our cabin to go to a small bourg, called St. Ignace, distant from our
cabin about a short quarter of a league, to instruct the savages and the
new Christians of that bourg. It was on the 16th day of March, in the
morning, that we perceived a great fire at the place to which these two good
fathers had gone. This fire made us very uneasy. We did not know
whether it was enemies, or if the fire had taken in some of the huts of the

village. The Rev. Father Paul Raguenau, our Superior, immediately
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resolved to send some one to learn what might be the cause. But no sooner
had we formed the design of going there to see, than we perceived several
savages on the road coming straight towards us. We all thought it was the
Iroquois who were coming to attack us, but having considered them more
closely, we perceived that it was Hurons who were flying from the fight and
who had escaped from the combat. These poor savages caused great pity in
us. They were all covered with wounds, One had his head fractured ; another
his arm broken; another had an arrow in his eye; another had his hand
cut off by a blow from an axe. In fine, the day was passed receiving into

our huts all these poor wounded people, and in looking with compassion

towards the fire and the place where were these two good fathers. We saw
the fire and the barbarians, but eould not see anything of the two fathers.

Here is what these savages told us of the taking of the Bourg St. Ignace
and of Fathers Jean de Breboeuf and Gabriel L’Allemant :—

The Iroquois came to the number of twelve hundred men; took our vil-
lage ; took Father Breboeuf and his companion ; set fire to all the huts. They
proceeded to discharge their rage on these two fathers, for they took them
both and stripped them entirely naked, and fastened each to a post. They
tied both of their hands together. They tore the nails from their fingers.
They beat them with a shower of blows from cudgels, on the shoulders, the
loins, the belly, the legs, and the face, there being no part of their body
which did not endure this torment. They told us further: Although Father
Breboeuf was overwhelmed under the weight of these blows, he did not cease
continually to speak of God and to encourage all the new Christians who
were captives like himself, to suffer well, that they might die well, in order
to go in company with him to Paradise. Whilst the good father was thus
encouraging these good people, a wretched Huron renegade, who had
remained a captive with the Iroquois, and whom Father Breboeuf had
formerly instructed and baptized, hearing him speak of Paradise and Holy
Baptism, was irritated and said to him: ‘‘Echon,”’ that is Father Breboeuf’s
name in Huron, ‘‘thou sayest that baptism and the sufferings of this life
lead straight to Paradise, thou wilt go soon, for T am going to baptize thee
and to make thee suffer well, in order to go the sooner to thy Paradise.”
The barbarian having said that, took a kettle full of boiling water, which he
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poured over his body three different times, in derision of Holy Baptism.
And each time that he baptized him in this manner the barbarian said to
him with bitter sarcasm: ‘‘Go to Heaven, for thou art well baptized.”’ After
that they made him suffer several other torments. The first was t6 make
axes red hot and apply them to the loins and under the arm pits. They
made a collar of these red hot axes and put it on the neck of this good
father. This is the fashion in which I have seen the collar made for other
prisoners. They make six axes red hot, take a large withe of green wood,
pass the six axes through the large end of the withe, take the two ends
together, and then put it over the neck of the sufferer. 1 have seen no tor-
ment which more moved me to compassion than that. For you see a man
bound naked to a post, who, having this collar on his neck, cannot tell what
posture to take. For, if he lean forward, those above his shoulders weigh
the more on him; if he lean back, those on his stomach make him suffer the
same torment; if he keep erect, without leaning to one side or other, the
burning axes, applied equally on both sides, give him a double torture.
After that they put on him a belt full of pitch and resin and set fire to
it, which roasted his whole body. During all these torments, Father Bre-
boeuf endured like a rock insensible to fire and flames, which astonished all
the blood-thirsty wretches who tormented him. IHis zeal was so great that
he preached continually to these infidels to try to convert them. His execu-

tioners were enraged against him for constantly speaking to them of God

and of their conversion. To prevent his speaking more, they eut off both his

upper and lower lips. After that they set themselves to strip the flesh from
his legs, thighs and arms, to the very bone, and put it to roast before his
eyes in order to eat it.

Whilst they tormented him in this manner, these wretches derided him,
saying: ‘““Thou seest well that we treat thee as a friend, since we shall be
the cause of thy eternal happiness; thank us, then, for these good offices
which we render thee, for the more thou shalt suffer, the more will thy
God reward thee.”’

These villains seeing that the good father began to grow weak, made
him sit down on the ground, and one of them taking a knife, cut off the skin
covering his skull. Another one of these barbarians seeing that the good
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father would soon die, made an opening in the upper part of his chest, tore
out his heart, which he roasted and ate. Others came to drink his blood,
still warm, which they drank with both hands, saying that Father Breboeuf
had been very courageous to endure so much pain as they had given him,
and that in drinking his blood they would become courageous like him,

This is what we learned of the martyrdom and most happy death of
Father Jean de Breboeuf by several Christian savages worthy of belief, who
had been constantly present from the time the good father was taken till his
death. These good Christians were prisoners to the Iroquois, who were
taken into their country to be put to death. But our good God was gracious
enough to enable them to escape by the way, and they came to us to recount
all that I have set down in writing.

Father Breboeuf was taken on the 16th day of March, in the morning,
with Father L’Allemant in the year 1649. Father Breboeuf died the same
day of his capture about four o’clock in the afternoon. These barbarians
threw the remains of his body into the fire, but the fat which still remained
on his body extinguished the fire and he was not consumed.

I do not doubt that all which I have just related is true, and I would
seal it with my blood, for I have seen the same treatment given to Iroquois
prisoners whom the Huron savages had taken in war, with the exception of
the boiling water, which I have not seen poured on anyone.

I am about to describe truly what I saw of the martyrdom and of the
most happy death of Father Jean de Breboeuf and of Father Gabricl
L’Allemant. On the next morning, when we had assurance of the departure
of the enemy, we went to the spot to seek for the remains of their bodies, to
the place where their lives had been taken. We found them both, but a little
apart from one another. They were brought to our hut, and laid uncovered
upon the bark of a tree, where I examined them at leisure, for more than
two hours’ time, to see if what the savages had told us of their martyrdom
and death were true. I examined first the body of Father de Breboeuf,
which was pitiful to see, as well as that of Father L’Allemant. The body
of Father de Breboeuf had his legs, thighs and arms stripped of flesh to the
very bone; I saw and touched a large number (quantité) of great blisters,
which he had on several places on his body, from the boiling water which
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these barbarians had poured over him in mockery of Holy Baptism. I saw
and touched the wound from a belt of bark, full of pitch and resin which
roasted his whole body. I saw and touched the marks of burns from the
collar of axes placed on his shoulders and stomach. I saw and touched his
two lips which they had cut off because he constantly spoke of God whilst
they made him suffer. I saw and touched all parts of his body, which had
received more than 200 blows from a stick. I saw and touched the top of
his scalped (ecorchée) head; I saw and touched the opening which these
barbarians had made to tear out his heart. In fine, I saw and touched all
the wounds of his body such as the savages had told and assured us of ; we
buried these precious relics on Sunday, the 21st day of March, 1649, with
much consolation,

I had the happiness of earrying them to the grave and of inhuming
them with those of Father Gabriel L’Allemant. When we left the country
of the Hurons, we lifted both bodies from the ground and set them to boil
in strong lye. All the bones were well seraped, and the care of having them
dried was given to me. I put them every day into a little oven made of clay,
which we had, after having heated it slightly, and when in a state to be
packed, they were enveloped separately in silk stuff. Then they were put
into two small chests and we brought them to Quebee, where they are held
in great veneration,

It is not a doctor of the Sorbonne who has composed this, as you may
easily see it is a remnant from the Iroquois, and a person who has lived
more than thought, who is and shall be ever, Sir,

Your humble and very obedient servant,

CuristrorHE ReaNauT, Coadjutor Brother.
with the Jesuits of Caen, 1678, Companion of Fathers Breboeuf and L’Alle-
mant above mentioned.

Having entered upon their murderous erusade, the Iroquois did not
cease until they had practically exterminated the Tinmontates as well as
the Hurons. With the Tionontates perished Father Garnier, who was shot
and butchered while in the act of ministering to a dving warrior. Father
Chabanel who had been associated with him for some time, shared an
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equally violent death, at the hands, however, of a Huron traitor who mur-
dered him and threw his body into a river. He appears to have expected
some such fate, for he wrote to his brother that he had a premonition that
he would probably be burned to death by the Iroquois.

At last the warnings appear to have been sufficient, and what was left
of the once powerful tribe of Hurons, decided to abandon their homes and
seek safety with other nations. Prompt action was necessary, and in less
than two weeks the country was practically deserted. In their flight they
destroyed many of their towns, so as to afford their enemy as little cover
and protection as possible. In bands of twenty or thirty families, they
obtained temporary refuge among the Algonquins on the north shore of Lake
Huron, and among the Tionontates and Neutrals to the south. Even in
their new homes they were not always safe from the malignity of their foes,
who pursued them, in some instances as far as St. Joseph's Island, in the
neighborhood of the Sault, where a large party under the leadership of
Father Ragueneau, had taken up their residence.

These persecutions together with the rigors of the winter, to which were
added the horrors of famine and disease, eaused the St. Joseph's Island
party to undertake the long and arduous journey to Quebee. Along the
north shore of Lake Huron and all the way from French River to the
Ottawa River, where once dwelt the Huron nation, populous and prosper-
ous, all was now desolation and decay. On their way down the Ottawa
River in the spring, they encountered Father Bressani and a party of
Hurons on their way to the Island with supplies. On learning of the
situation, the latter turned back and proceeded with the refugees to the
City of Quebee. The entire party soon afterwards settled at Lorette, about
thirteen miles from Quebee, where are still located on a reserve, the repre-
sentatives of that once powerful nation.

But, disastrous as had been their experiences, the ardor of the mission-
aries in their cause, had not grown cold. Indeed, writing of their trials

at this time, Bancroft says: ‘‘It may be asked if these massacres quenched

enthusiasm. I answer that the Jesuits never receded one foot, but as in a
brave army new troops press forward to fill the places of the fallen, they
were never wanting in heroism and enterprise on beha!f of the Cross.”” The
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fortunes of the fathers for the next few years (between 1650 and 1657
is the best proof of this. Everywhere they were to be found accompanying
the fugitive Huron bands, encouraging and assisting them as much as pos-
sible in their new homes. Father Grelon, amid hardships innumerable, fol-
lowed his wandering flock over the rocky and desolate north shore. Father
Simon Lemoyne (who was the first European to ascend the St. Lawrence in
1654), undertook a mission to the Onondagas, one of the fierce Iroquois
tribes. A year later he was relieved by Fathers Pere Chaumonot and
Claude Dablon,

In 1656 Rene Menard boldly proclaimed the gospel to the Cayugas, and
in the same year, Fathers Leonard Garreau and Gabriel Druillettes both
with experience among the Indians, were captured by the Mohawks while
on their way to the Sioux nation. (Father Garreau was murdered by the
Iroquois in the same year while on his way to the Ottawas of the Lake
Superior region.) In 1657 Father Chaumonot furnished further proof (if
such were needed), that the true missionary spirit was not waning, by cour-
ageously taking up his abode in the midst of the savage Senecas. Thus
within nine years after the Iroquois had started upon their bloodthirsty war

of extermination—the most brutal that ever disgraced the pages of Indian

warfare—the Jesuit missionaries had fairly established themselves in the

midst of these monsters,

In 1660 Father Menard, though advanced in years, undertook the then
formidable journey to the Indians on the south shore of Lake Superior.
After weeks of prodigious hardship and danger, he reached his destination
and successfully established a mission among the few Hurons found in the
distriet. He then made an effort to visit an inland tribe, but is believed to
have perished in the attempt, as he was never heard from again. His work,
however, was taken up by Father Claude Allouez, one of the most remark-
able of all the Jesuits in the extent of the work accomplished by him. For
thirty years he roved the plains and forests with the redmen, taking part
in all their dangerous pastimes and pursuits. e it was who gave the name
““‘Ste. Marie’’ to the river connecting Lakes Huron and Superior, and estab-
lished there the first permanent mission on the site visited twenty-five years

before by Fathers Jogues and Raymbault. Missions were established by
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him during the course of his industrious and singularly successful career,
among no less than twenty different tribes, including the Chippewas, Win-
nibagoes, Potawatomies (of Lake Michigan), Illinois, Miamis, Menomonies,
Sacs, Saulteurs, Kickapoos and Foxes, as well as among scattered bands of
Ottawas and Hurons. In 1668 there were also engaged in the district south
of Lake Superior be veen Green Bay and Duluth, Fathers Marquette,
Dablon and Nicholas, who soon afterwards set out upon their perilous ex-
ploration of the Mississippi.

The downfall of the Huron nation, meant also, as an inevitable result,
the destruction and dispersion of the Tionontates, who were in a way, part
of the tribe, having become associated in 1630, At that time they
numbered about fifteen thousand persons and were located to the south and
west of Nottawasaga Bay. When the Iroquois entered upon their murder-
ous campaign of death and desolation, the missionaries had been making
fair progress in spreading the gospel among the Tionontates. Fathers
Garnier and Chabanel were in charge of the mission at St. John, while
Fathers Grelon and Garreau were performing similar duty at St. Matthias.
The fate of the priests at the first named mission has already been
recorded.

Then began a career of wanderings by the Tionontates, so pathetic and
desolate as to be without parallel in modern times. Through trackless forest
and desert plain for years they roved, a gradually diminishing band,
among wild beasts and wilder men, amid privations and sufferings indescrib-
able, meeting with repulses on every hand from tribes that should have
befriended them, but who feared, in some instances, that they might
thereby arouse the animosity of the Iroquois. In suceession they made their
pathetic appeal to the Puants of Green Bay, to the Illinois, to the Andastes
and to the Sioux, only to be ruthlessly driven away in each instance.
Finally, in 1665, they found a temporary home at Ashland Bay, Wisconsin,
where they were welcomed and assisted by Father Allouez. Shortly after-
wards, under the care of Father Marquette, they returned to the Mackinae
distriet, after twenty years of wandering through the wilds of America. A

few years of comparative peace were then enjoyed, after which they moved
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to Detroit and Sandusky, and subsequently taking part in the Pontiac
campaigns, their tribe became practically obliterated.

All through the disastrous experience of the Hurons, the faithful mis-
sionaries never ceased to minister to their spiritual welfare. In addition
to those already named, Fathers Pierson, Nouvel, De Carheil, Enjalran and
Marest were with them during the stormiest period of their career. Such
was their fidelity in the execution of their duty, that Sir William Johnson,
in writing to the Lords of Trade, declared that Protestant missionaries were
failures and would continue to fail in their enterprises, until they were able
to practice self-denial to the same degree as the priests were doing.

It is interesting to note that in 1748 a small remnant of the Tionontates
were still located at Sandwich, Ont., and that the first church was built for
them by Father Salleneuve in that year. Father Salleneuve was succeeded
by Father Marchand, a Sulpician, who was in charge of the mission from
1796 to 1825.

There remains only to be sketched, the history of the Bay of Quinte
mission. In the fall of 1668 a deputation of Cayugas (of the Iroquois con-
federacy) went to Montreal asking that missionaries be sent to Quinte dis-
trict, where a large body of them had settled in the previous spring from
western New York. In response to this appeal, Fathers Fenelon and Trouve
of the Sulpician Order were sent to them, the voyage from La Chine to the
Bay of Quinte taking nearly four weeks. Though hospitably received, the
priests made little progress in their work, except among the children. These
they were allowed to baptize, but the adults would only consent to this cere-
mony over their death-beds. During the winter they were joined by Fathers
Barthelmy and Dollier de Casson. At this time, the Cayuga settlement

included four villages about twenty-five miles from Lake Ontario, viz,

Canagora, Canohenda, Keint-he and Tiot-hatton. Secattered as these villages

were some miles apart, the labors of the missionaries were of the most ardu-
ous character, and in 1669, feeling the need of a rest Father Fenelon re-
turned to Quebee. Here he was kindly received by Bishop Laval, who asked
him how he could best preserve to posterity the record of his labors.

““My Lord,”” replied Father Fenelon, ‘““the greatest kindness you can

show us is to say nothing at all about our work.”’
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When he went back to the mission he took with him Father Lascaris
d'Urse. On their arrival at the Bay, they were waited upon by a depu-
tation of Cayugas from Gandasateiadon asking that a mission be established
in that village. Father Fenelon undertook this work himself, and spent
the next winter among the Indians at that point.

De Casson did not remain long at Quinte, but left for Lake Nipissing
where he spent a season or two with a nomadie band of Ottawas who were
camped upon its shores. Hearing from them of the existence of almost
countless tribes of Indians dwelling on the Mississippi, he returned to Mon-
treal to prepare, if possible, to reach those tribes. Accompanied by the
explorer La Salle and Father Galinee who was also an eminent mathema-
tician, they started upon their expedition on Sept. 30th, 1669. On reaching
as far west as the Grand River, Ontario, La Salle’s health failed and he
was obliged to return. De Casson and Galinee continued westward, how-
ever, and in the course of time arrived at the Detroit River, whose ascent to
Lake Huron they were the first to make, as far as known. Sault Ste. Marie
was reached on May 25th, 1670, and here they were cordially received by
Fathers Dablon and Marquette who were carrying on the work there. At
this point their journey came to a standstill, by reason of their inability
to obtain a guide or interpreter to take them further west, and they were
obliged to retrace their steps. The return journey was made by way of the
straits of Mackinae, and Montreal was reached on June 18th, 1670,

Meantime the work at the Bay of Quinte missions was progressing
steadily, although under very unfavorable circumstances. After years of
stupendous labor, permanent buildings were erected somewhat after the
style of those built at the mission of St. Mary’s on the Wye, several years
before. From this time on, however, it was found impossible to make any
further headway at the missions, largely on account of the roving habits of
the Cayugas, and a few years afterwards, the work was abandoned by the
Sulpicians.

Rather than see the work come to naught, however, and feeling that
possibly they might succeed where the Sulpicians had not, the Recollect

Fathers decided to enter the field. For years, noble work was done by

Fathers Louis Hennepin, Francis Wasson and Luke Buisset, but in 1687
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the Recollects too, left the district, which closed the history of the missions
to the Indians at that point.

Kalm, the celebrated early writer on Canada, gives the following esti-

mate of the Jesuits in his day: The Jesuits are commonly very learned,
studious, and are very civil and agreeable in company. In their whole
deportment there is something pleasing; it is no wonder that they captivate
the minds of the people. They seldom speak of religious matters, and if it
happens, they generally avoid disputes. They are very ready to do any-
one a service, and when they see that their assistance is wanted, they hardly
give one time to speak of it, falling to work immediately to bring about
what is required of them. Their conversation is very entertaining and
learned, so that one can not be tired of their company. Among all the
Jesuits I have conversed with in Canada, I have not found one who was
not possessed of these qualities in a very eminent degree. They do not
care to become preachers to a congregation in the town or country, but
leave these places, together with the emoluments arising from them, to the
priests. All their buisness here is to convert the heathen; and with that
view their missionaries are scattered over every part of the country. In
nearly every town and village peopled by converted Indians are one or
two Jesuits, who take great care that they may not return to paganism, but
live as Christians ought to do. Thus there are Jesuits with the converted
Indians in Tadousae, Lorette, Bécaneour, St. Francois, Sault St. Louis, and
all over Canada. There are likewise Jesnit missionaries with those who are
not converted, so that there is commonly a Jesuit in every village belonging
to the Indians, whom he endeavors on all occasions to convert. In winter
he goes on their great hunts, where he is frequently obliged to suffer all
imaginable inconveniences, such as walking in the snow all the day, lying
in the open air all winter, lying out both in good and bad weather, lying
in the Indian huts, which swarm with fleas and other vermin, ete. The
Jesuits undergo all these hardships for the sake of converting the Indians,
and likewise for political reasons. The Jesuits are of great use to their
king; for they are frequently able to persuade the Indians to break their
treaty with the English, to make war upon them, to bring their furs to the
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French, and not to permit the English to come among them. There is

much danger attending these excursions; for, when the Indians are in

liquor, they sometimes kill the missionaries who live with them, calling them

spies, or excusing themselves by saying that the brandy had killed them.
These are the chief occupations of the Jesuit in Canada.
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CHAPTER V.

UNDER THE FRENCH REGIME: CHAMPLAIN, LA SALLE,
FRONTENAC.

Of the French explorers who held the responsibility of command from
the days of Cartier, Samuel de Champlain’s name is the first to be associ-
ated with Ontario. He was born of a noble family of Brouage, in the Pro-
vinee of Saintonge, in France. IHe commanded a vessel, in which he made
a voyage to the East Indies about the year 1600, and gained experience as a
traveller. He accompanied Pontgravé, under De Chatte, in 1603, to Can-
ada, and ascended the St. Lawrence as far as Hochelaga, where they saw
no trace of the Indian village visited there by Cartier in 1535. Champlain
returned to France in the autumn of 1603. He was engaged by Sieur De
Monts (De Chatte’s successor) for another voyage to Canada, on which he
embarked in the spring of 1604, visiting Acadia, where he wintered.

Champlain had many voyages between Canada and France, and on
returning from a visit to the latter country in 1613, took up the project of
pushing his explorations with a view of discovering a northwest passage to
the Orient. This project was mainly entered upon with the object of prov-
ing or disproving the remarkable story of one Nicholas de Vignau, who had
on previous occasions accompanied Champlain on expeditions to the Indians
on the Ottawa River. Vignau asserted in France in 1612, on returning
from one of his Canadian expeditions, and stuck to his story with great
tenacity, that he had reached Hudson's Bay via the Ottawa River and port-
ages through unknown territory, and that he had there witnessed the
wreck of an English bark on the shores. The crew, eighty in number, had
all been murdered by the natives of that region, except one boy who was
still held a captive. The location of the wreck was described as fifteen days’
journey from the Sault St. Louis.

It was within the knowledge of Champlain that certain English vessels

had been wrecked on the Labrador coast, and in a general way the story
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tallied with certain information which Champlain had himself received
from the Indians, as to the far northern country. As a final test of the
truth of the narrative, and before committing himself to the enterprise,
Champlain had Vignau sign a declaration before two notaries, warning
him that capital punishment would be his fate should the declaration prove
to be false. Armed with this document, and also with the unanimous
approval of President Jeannin, Chancellor de Sillery and Marshal de
Brisae, whom he consulted, Champlain set out upon this expedition, taking
Vignau with him. Even at Montreal, the latter adhered steadfastly to his
story.

The Lachine Rapids were reached on May 21st, after which the journey
up the Ottawa was commenced with but one Indian guide and four of his
countrymen. The journey was attended by unusual dangers and hardships,
the woods being so dense in places that portages eould not be made and the
canoes and supplies had to be dragged at great risk through swiftly rush-
ing torrents which threatened to swamp everything. As they proceeded,

the difficulties inereased, until they were finally obliged to cache their sup-

plies and proceed with only guns and nets. To add to their difficulties, the
woods were more or less infested with prowling bands of Iroquois who
hampered their operations.

Eventually Allumette Island in Lake Allumette was reached, where
Champlain met Tessouat an Angonqin chief with whom he was acquainted.
Tessonat was surprised and delighted at the visit, but was even more sur-
prised when he learned the objects of Champlain’s mission. A council was
called and Champlain made known his wishes, viz., for four canoes to accom-
pany him to the land of the Nipissings, eight days’ journey to the north, on
the shores of Hudson’s Bay. The Indians would not undertake the expedi-
tion, whereupon Champlain, in order to dispose of their doubts and fears,
informed them that one of his own people, namely, Vignau, had visited these
people and returned unharmed. Vignau, on being called upon, hesitatingly
admitted that this was the case, whereupon the Indians emphatically and
unanimously declared the story to be false, and that Vignan had never
penetrated beyond the boundaries of their own country, where he then
stood.
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Convicted of his deception, the man confessed the entire story to be
untrue, that it had been hatched by him in the hope of being sent back to
(Canada, and that he had trusted to make his escape before the story was
investigated. The Indians blamed Champlain somewhat for having doubted
their word, but wished to torture and burn Vignau for his deception and
This, however, Champlain would not hear of, and Vignau

Before leaving the Island, Champlain

untruthfulness.
was brought back to the Sault.
planted upon it a white cedar cross bearing the arms of France, and in-
formed the Indians that if they protected it they would be preserved from
their enemies. He also promised to return the following year and assist
them in making war upon the Iroquois,

On his way back to Montreal, he met at the Sault, M. de Maisonneuve
with a license from the Prince of Conde for three vessels to ply between
France and Canada. On June 27th, accompanied by M. de Maisonneuve, he
gailed from Montreal and arrived at St. Malo on August 26th, 1613. In
France he found the influence of the Prince to be still supreme, and little
difficulty was experienced in organizing companies and equipping vessels at
Rouen, St. Malo and La Rochelle to carry settlers and supplies to the new
land.

At this time the prevailing opinions in the French Court were to the
effeet that religious teaching in the colony was necessary. Protestanism
was believed to be subversive of personal government, and the only effective
method of reaching the Indians was thought to be through the ecclesiastical
orders, Champlain was himself of this opinion, and moreover the patent
of the Prince of Conde called for some such instruction. In his efforts to
have this teaching established, Champlain was advised by the Sieur Louis
Houel of Brouage to enlist the services of the Recollects. Negotiations to
this end were carried on during 1614, but little progress was made until the
conference of the States General opened at Sens on Oct. 10th, of that year.
Several prominent ecclesiastics were present, and to them Champlain
anpealed personally. The project was thoroughly discussed and favorably
received by the Cardinals and Bishops in attendance, and also by the Pro-
vineial, du Verger. As a result, the undertaking was sanctioned, and the
sum of fifteen hundred livres was subscribed to defray the expenses of
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those who should embark upon the mission. The following February,
Champlain went to Rouen and reported to his associates, many of whom
were Calvinists, what had been accomplished. The project was cordially
endorsed, and it was decided to make provision for the maintenance of the
Recollects in Canada.

In March, 1615, the Recollects selected for the voyage, proceeded to
Honfleur where the necessary preparations were completed and purchases
made. The missionaries were four in number, viz, Fathers Jamay, Le
Caron and D’Olban and Brother Du Plessis. On April 24th, the vessel
sailed from Honfleur, and Tadousac was reached on May 25th. One of
the priests at once accompanied Champlain to Quebee, while the others
followed in a few days. Among the first acts accomplished by them was
the erection of a church at what is now known as Cul de Sac, which was
constructed so rapidly that mass was said there exactly one month after the
landing at Tadousac.

In his anxiety to be engaged at his labors, Father Le Caron set out for
the Sault ahead of Champlain. The latter, starting out soon afterwards,
met a number of his Algonquin Indian allies at the customary rendezvous,
the Lachine Rapids. He found them full of plans for raising a force of two
thousand men to make war against their enemy in the south and west.
Always anxious to learn all he conld of the ecountry, and being interested
partienlarly in strengthening and perpetuating the alliance with the Indians
who were at that time a valuable ally, Champlain at once resolved to accom-
pany the expedition and assist the Indians as much as possible. Before
doing so he found it necessary to return to Quebee, and on his way there
(at the junction of the Rivers des Prairies with the St. Lawrence), fell in
with Fathers Le Caron and Jamay. The day being the feast of St. John

the Baptist (June 24th), the entire party went ashore, erceted a temporary
altar and mass was performed for the first time in Canada. Champlain con-
tinued his journey to Quebee, and after the lapse of some days, started on

July 4th to return to the Sault. A short distance above Sorel he met Pont-
gravé, who informed him that the Indians had concluded that he was dead
or captured by the Iroquois, and had started on their expedition without
him. Champlain had himself told them, before going to Quebee, that he
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would only be absent four or five days, so after waiting ten days they con-
cluded that disaster had overtaken him, and had started west accompanied
by Father Le Caron and twelve Frenchmen. On reaching the Sault on
July 8th, Champlain was able to confirm these facts,

The long and arduous journey with the Indians was then entered upon.
Up the Ottawa River they went, Champlain referring in his narratives to
the soil, the timber and the abundance of blueberries and raspberries which
he found. On July 16th they camped at a point near Musk Rat Lake, and
between this camp and the lake (on Lot 12 of the Township of Ross), an
astrolabe was found in August, 1867, which there is every reason to believe
belonged to Champlain. Then by canoe ard portages they made the ascent
of the Mattawan River to Lake Nipissing, where they were received in a
friendly manner by a tribe of Indians numbering about eight hundred
persons, Here they remained two days before resuming their voyage down
the French River to Lake Attigouantan or Lake Huron. Down the eastern
shore of Georgian Bay they coasted till Matchedash Bay was reached, or
as some think, Nottawasaga Bay. Champlain himself says: ‘‘We crossed
a bay and made some seven leagues, until we arrived at the country of the
Attigonantan, at a village named Otouacha.”’ Judging from the distance
travelled and other reliable data, the village must have been in the locality
of Waubushene. Here they were warmly welcomed by a large party of their
Huron allies, who said that they were expecting reinforcements of western
Algonquins and other friendly tribes to the number of five hundred war-
riors. While waiting for these reinforcements, several days were spent in
the neighborhood, the Indians for the most part passing the time in feast-
ing and dancing, the usual preparation for their war expeditions.

Champlain seized the opportunity to explore the district and went from
village to village. At a place called Carhagouha he met Father Le Caron,
who was astonished to see him, thinking he had been lost. Ten days were
spent at Carhagouha, after which, there being no news of the reinforce-
ments, the party resumed their journey. By land and water they made
their way in a southeasterly direction through the midland counties, by
the chain of lakes and Trent River to Trenton on the Bay of Quinte. Down

the Bay they went till Lake Ontario was reached, and Champlain stood upon
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its shores, the first white man to gaze upon its vast expanse. Instinctively
he knew it to be a great inland sea, but aseribed to it an extent greater than
it really possesses. He appears to have encountered no human beings in
the country along the north shore, his explanation being that the country
had been abandoned by previous inhabitants by reason of the persecution
of powerful and cruel foes. In their route to the Bay of Quinte, however,
they obtained bear, deer of all sorts, and birds in abundance.

Having reached Kingston, and what are now the Thousand Islands,
Champlain was convinced by retracing his eourse, that he was then in the
waters of the St. Lawrence above Montreal, and this opinion he had
recorded in his narrative of the journey.

The expedition then erossed to the south shore of the lake, but just at
what point is a matter of conjecture. Champlain himself speaks of the voy-
age as being fourteen leagues, and mentions certain islands which were
met. It is probable that he erossed in the neighborhood of Amherst Island,
but whether above or below is unknown. At any rate the expedition
reached the site of what is now the Town of Oswego, and travelled for
four days into the interior till they reached a small lake in the Iroquois
country. Here they found a band of the Senecas (one of the Iroquois
tribes), strongly entrenched at a place which has since been considered to
have been Onondaga or in the vicinity of Lake Canandaigua. The Senecas
appear to have been expecting the attack, for their fort was strengthened
to an unusual degree with four rows of wooden palisades, and contained
besides, a pond from which water could be readily conveyed to any part of
the fort in case of fire. Notwithstanding their elaborate defences, the
Senecas appear to have been the aggressors and sallied forth boldly to meet
the enemy. They were fairly successful until the besiegers brought their
firearms to bear upon them, when they fled precipitately into the fort. From
here it was found impossible to dislodge them by ordinary means, as they
condueted a skilful and effective defence by means of arrows and stones.

Champlain now brought his ingenuity to bear and instracted the Algon-
quins how to build a cavalier out of planks, from the top of which they
could pour in such a fire as to drive the enemy from the outer defences and
thus enable them to set fire to the fort. The suggestion was quickly acted
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upon, and within a few hours the cavalier was constructed. Speedily it was
moved up close to the palisade, and the Senecas were soon all driven under
cover. It would now have been easy to fire the fort, but Champlain found
to his chagrin that it was one thing to instruct the Indians and another
thing to get them to follow instructions. Instead of pursuing the only effec-
tive course open to them, they preferred to shout defiance at the foe, and
to discharge clouds of arrows at the substantial enclosure. A few burning
brands were thrown in, but not enough to do any harm, while the Senecas,
perceiving the failure of their enemies to follow up their advantage, were
emboldened to attack again and succeeded in killing several of their adver-
saries. Champlain himself was twice wounded in the leg, whereupon his
allies lost heart, and withdrew their forces, alleging as excuse for their
course, the absence of the five hundred warriors who had failed to come to
their aid.

For two days a strong wind blew from a most favorable quarter for the
reduction of the fort, but nothing could induce the Algonquins to seri-
ously renew the attack. A few half-hearted attempts were made to dis-
lodge the enemy, but so ineffectual were these that they only excited the
derision and contempt of the Senecas who sneered at the Algonquins for
having to seek the aid of a foreign race in making war upon them.

Having now (about the end of October) decided to withdraw from the
scene and return home, the Algonquins conducted their retreat in a much
more masterly manner then they had their offensive operations. The
wounded were placed in the centre, and a strong guard of armed warriors
brought up the rear. In this way they were easily able to hold off the
Senecas, who pursued them for a short distance. The retreat, however, was
a very painful one for the wounded, including Champlain. He, with all
others who were disabled, was tied up in a cireular form like a ball, and
deposited in a basket where he could stir neither hand or foot. For twenty-
five or thirty leagues he was carried in this fashion, suffering intense agony.
An effort was made at this time by Champlain, but unsuccessfully, to return
to Quebee, the excuse given being that canoes could not be obtained. It was
seen, however, that the Indians desired to retain him among them for

purposes of their own.
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The return was made to the Huron country, but how they got there is
not quite clear. After crossing the end of the lake, Champlain states that
they followed a river for some twelve leagues, after which they made a port-
age to a lake ten or twelve miles in circumference. The country north of
Amherst Island does not answer this deseription very closely, but where-
ever the locality was, the party remained there hunting and fishing until
navigation closed on December 4th, when they resumed their journey over-
land. It is evident that the return was made by a different route from the
original journey.

Renewed efforts to obtain canoes to return to Quebee proving unavail-
ing, Champlain saw that there was no alternative but to spend the winter
among the Hurons. First of all, he sought out Father Le Caron, who was
industriously engaged in studying the language and in ministering to the
spiritual needs of the Indians wherever such ministrations were welcomed.
He then paid a visit to the Petuns and the ‘‘ Cheveux-releves,”” as he called
them, spending some time in trying to establish friendly relations with
them, and in studying their habits and eustoms. At some length he has
recorded his impressions of this tribe, which he found to be more cleanly
than their neighbors. In summer the men went about entirely naked, and
in the winter their sole garment was a long fur robe. Champlain remained
with the Hurons, hunting and fishing when he was not otherwise engaged,
until the end of April, when, accompanied by some friendly Indians, he
quietly took his departure for the east.

At the Sault he was warmly received by Pontgrave and the Recollects,
who had given him up for dead after a year’s absence and no word from
him. Quebee was reached early in July, and here the demonstrations of joy
at his return were renewed. A religious service was held and thanks were
returned to the Almighty for enabling them to meet together onee more. On
this trip, he had taken with him to Quebec an Indian chief named Arontal,
to furnish him an object lesson in the ways of the strange white race.
Arontal appears to have been a man of unusual discernment and observa-
tion, for he readily perceived the advantages of European civilization and
expressed a desire to conform to it. If this could not be accomplished in

his own time, he thought it could in the succeeding generation, and he
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advised that the experiment be made in a settlement at Sault St. Louis.
Even at this early period the geographical advantages of Montreal were
known, and the measures taken by Champlain, limited though they were,
to establish it as a commercial eentre, may be considered to be the founda-
tion of that ecity.

Champlain had now deeided to return to France, but before going, he
ordered the buildings at Quebee to be enlarged one-third in anticipation of
the growth of the colony. Father Le Caron accompanied him on this voy-
age, and the explorer also took with him some grain grown in the country
as an evidence of the fertility of the soil, to which he refers in enthusiastie
terms in his report of 1619. This display of Canadian grain was the first
proof to European eyes of the agrieultural possibilities of the country.

Returning in 1620 Champlain ruled at Quebee with varying fortunes
until the city was eaptured by Kirke in 1629, when he was taken prisoner to

England. After the peace between Fr

ance and Britain he was re-appointed
Governor and took up his post in 1632, He died at Quebec two years after-
wards in 1635, He had been married to a daughter of Nicholas Boulé, See-
retary of the Royal Household at Paris. She accompanied Champlain to
Canada in 1620, but returned to France in 1624, Champlain was the
founder of Quebee and merited the title which history has bestowed on
him of the *“Father of New France,”’ by thirty years of untiring efforts to
establish and extend French supremacy in Canada,

During the administration of M. De Montmagny, a peace was arranged
with the Iroquois, and the Indian name Ononthio (great mountain) was
conferred on the Governor. He was an able Governor, and was sueceeded
in 1647 by M. De Ailleboust, who, having been commandant at Three Rivers,
knew the conditions of the country. The massacre of the Hurons took place
during his government. M. de Lauson suceeeded him as Governor in 1651,
The Iroquois continued their war of extinetion against the Eries or Cat
tribe, whose hunting ground extended from Lake Ontario westward. The
Jesuit Father Simon Le Moyne figures in this regime as an emissary to the
Onondaga Irogquois. M. De Argenson, a brave young soldier, suceeeded de
Lauson, taking up his post in 1657. His tenure was marked by the heroie

sacrifice of Daulae and his brave companions to the Indians in order to
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save the settlement at Montreal, and by quarrels with the clergy. M. de
Avagour succeeded in 1662, A blunt, energetie gentleman, he fell foul of
the Jesuits, and offended Lersal, but kept peace for a time with the Indians.
In 1663 the memorable earthquake was felt, causing much damage and

excitement. De Mezy was appointed Governor for three yea At first

subservient to the clergy, he soon gave evidence of independence, bringing
on the inevitable confliet, and his own speedy recall. Then the Marquis de
Tracy appears on the seene in 1665 as plenipotentiary and vieeroy over all
the French possessions in the New World, and the Sieur de Courcelles, as
Lieutenant-General and Governor-General of New France. On the same
day Jean Baptiste Talon, an able and honorable man, was appointed Intend-
ant. The Intendants controlled all expenditures of the public money, pre-
sided over the Council and exercised great influence in the publie affairs,

On Sept. 12th, 1665, M. de Courcelles arrived at Quebee, accompanied
by M. Talon, but although nominally Governor, Courcelles was really sub-
ordinate to the Marquis de Tracy, who had arrived in Canada a few months
before, clothed with power over all Governors and Generals to investigate
difficulties which had arisen in the Colony. It was not till the fall of 1667
that de Courcelles assumed supreme authority, but the intervening two
years had been busily spent. The almost continuous warfare that was being
waged with the Iroquois, afforded excellent opportunity to test his qualities
as a gallant soldier and wise and able administrator. His policy was to
establish outposts in such close proximity to the enemy as would hold them
in check as well as serve for trading operations along the St. Lawrence, and
to the accomplishment of this policy he applied himself with promptness
and vigor.

Forts were at once constructed at Sorel and Chambly, which had the
effect of calling forth peaceable protestations from the Onondagas, the
Senecas and the Cayugas. The Mohawks and the Oneidas, however, were
still actively hostile, and foreible measures against them became necessary.
De Courcelles conducted two punitive expeditions against them into what
is now New York State. The first of these in January and February, 1666,

was unsuccessful, but the second, in the fall of the same year, accomplished
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its purpose. The Mohawks fled before the invading force, but their villages
and possessions were given to the flames and their entire country devastated.

Meantime the Jesuit missionaries had been making progress among
the Onondaga and Cayuga Indians, and the converts from these tribes were
established on a settlement of their own at Caughnawaga, an island at the
Lachine Rapids. Nicholas Perrot, an explorer and missionary, had also
been doing good work among the Indians of the upper lakes, whom he had
induced to give their allegiance to French authority in the Colony.

But while the Iroquois had been temporarily awed into peaceful rela-
tions with the French, they were by no means idle. A prolonged struggle
with two neighboring tribes had been terminated in 1671 by the Iroquois

incorporating into their confederacy what was left of their unfortunate foe,

and Courcelles at once recognized the necessity of taking effective measures

to prevent incursions of this kind into Canada. Accordingly, he selected
Cataraqui as a desirable site for a fort from which offensive operations
could be condueted when necessary, and which would also serve as a trading
post. The latter part of the project was explained to the Iroquois chiefs
in council, who approved of the plan.

On returning to Quebeec he found that his successor, the Count de
Frontenae, had arrived. To him he explained his purpose, which was favor-
ably entertained by the latter. Courcelles’ regime was now at an end. For
some time previous his health had not been good, and he had petitioned the
French King for his recall. In November, 1671, he departed with Talon,
after spending six years as Governor of the Colony. Courcelles carried with
him the affectionate regard of most of the people, to whom he had endeared
himself by his able, progressive and courageous administration of affatrs.
By the Iroquois also he was respected for his moderation and fairness, while
feared for his courage and firmness which invariably meted out to them
stern justice.

Talon, the Intendant, likewise left a record of duties well performed,
and departed conscious of possessing the esteem of the populace. As Inten-
dant he proved himself an able and an honest man, administering the legal

and financial affairs of the Colony with good judgment.
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De LA SaLLe,

Robert Cavelier, Sieur de la Salle, who was placed in command of the
first garrison at Fort Cataraqui, and who become proprietor of the fort and
surrounding land the following year (1674), was born of good family at
Rouen, in 1643, He came to Canada in 1666 and spent a few years in
clearing his property on Lake St. Louis and engaging in the fur trade with
the Indians. Possessing a good education and a keen intellect, as well as
courage, ambition and singular resolution of purpose, it is but natural that
he should have sought early to improve his econdition and prospeets. Find-
ing in him a kindred spirit, Frontenae became his fast friend, and so when
La Salle went to France in 1674 to apply for a grant of the fort. The appli-
cation was sustained by the Governor with strong recommendations to
Royal favor.

La Salle was entirely successful. He was granted letters of nobility,

was made Governor of Fort Frontenae (as the fort was then known for

the first time), and was given four leagues of land surrounding the fort,

together with adjacent islands. He was to reconstruet the fort of stone and
maintain a garrison there equal to that at Montreal ; to employ twenty men
for two years in clearing the land; to build a church in six years and main-
tain ecclesiasties, and to import into Canada property equal to the cost of
the land, viz., ten thousand livres. With the assistance of friends, La Salle
was able to meet the obligations assumed, and took possession of the fort.
In 1675 the original building was demolished, and a stone fort took 1its
place, with curtains and bastions. From that date forward, La Salle was
80 busy in pursuing his explorations that the fort seems to have been
neglected, and was practically deserted except when it became the rendez-
vous from time to time for expeditions. In 1677 when visited by de Fron-
tenae, the garrison consisted of the Governor, a major, surgeon, two Recol-
lects and four other persons.

Frontenac’s attention was now engrossed almost continually for several
years with diffieulties with subordinate officials, which in turn provoked a
conflict of authority between himself and the ecclesiastical Orders. The
troubles began upon his return from Cataraqui in August of 1673, when
Frontenac charged M. Perrot, Governor of Montreal, with participating
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illegally in the fur trade through the agency of the coureurs de bois, and

ordered the judge (d’Ailleboust) at Montreal to arrest all the coureurs de
bois he could lay hands upon. Perrot retaliated and the result was a pro-
longed and bitter controversy, in the course of which the Sulpicians, and
particularly Father Fenelon, took a conspicuous part against Frontenac.
The result was that in November, 1674, Perrot and Fenelon were sent to
France to have the matter adjusted (Perrot having spent ten months in
prison at Quebee, from January to November).

Fenelon was not allowed to return to Canada, Perrot was imprisoned
for three weeks in the Bastile and then restored to his position through the
influence of Talon to whom he was related by marriage, and Frontenac was
instructed to exercise more leniency and not to take eriminal proceedings
against the Sulpicians. Ilis authority was also curtailed by making the
couneil direetly responsible to the King, and the office of Intendant which
had been vacant for some time, was again filled by the appointment of M.
Duchesneau. The latter was to be responsible not only for the details of
the civil administration, but was instructed to note and report upon the
actions of the Governor,

As might naturally be expected with a man of Frontenac’s tempera-
ment, the situation instead of being improved, became more acute, and con-
tinuous and bitter were the recriminations which were exchanged between
the Governor on the one hand, and Duchesnean and Laval on the other. Each
had their allies at the French court, and between them Colbert had his
patience sorely tried many times. Repeatedly both parties were admonished
and warned with all the diplomaey that Colbert could bring to bear. Still
the confliet raged, until in the summer of 1682 the King could stand it no
longer, and Frontenac and Duchesneau were recalled,

To return to La Salle. Prior to his appointment to the command of
the first garrison at Fort Frontenac in 1673, the young man had given
indication of his interest in exploration and discovery by co-operating in
1669 with Fathers Dollier de Casson and de Galinée in an expedition which
was intended to reach the Mississippi, but which terminated, as far as La
Salle was concerned, at the Grand River in Western Ontario, This expedi-

tion which consisted of twenty-two Frenchmen and a few Senecas as guides,
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left Montreal early in July. Thirty-five days were required to ascend the
St. Lawrence, when the party arrived at a Seneca village believed to be in the
neighborhood of Irondequoit Bay. Here a halt was made, and at first the
party was received in a friendly manner. Efforts were made to obtain a
guide for the remainder of their journey, but unsuccessfully, the reason
given being that some of the tribe were away at Albany engaged in trading.
While waiting for the return of these men, La Salle and de Galinée paid a
visit to one of the neighboring villages. Now it had so happened that in
the spring of this year, a Seneca chief had been murdered on Lake St. Louis
by some soldiers, while on his way to Montreal with furs. The crime was
brought home to the soldiers, who were publicly shot, and presents were sent
to the Senecas and Oneidas by way of coneiliation. Notwithstanding these
measures the Senecas were not entirely placated, and as ill-fortune wounid
have it, the village which La Salle and de Galinée visited was inhabited by
the tribe to which the murdered Chief belonged. Their reception here vas
quite hostile. The Indians were much intoxicated with brandy brought
from Albany, and La Salle and de Galinée were forced to witness the bar-
barous tortures of some prisoners which they were powerless to avert. As
matters looked so threatening, they made a hasty retreat, but before doing so,
learned that the distance to the Ohio River was a six days’ journey of twelve
leagues by land, and thereupon abandoned the idea of making the trip by
land.

Embarking again in their canoes, they paddled up the lake for five
days past the mouth of the Niagara River within sound of the mighty
cataract, and beached their canoes in Burlington Bay. Five leagues inland

they journeyed to the village of Tinaonatona where a halt of three days

was made to enable the baggage to be brought up. Here they learned that
two Frenchmen had lately passed that way, and here also, La Salle was
prostrated with fever while out hunting game. Believing that this part of
the country had never been visited by whites, they were much surprised to
learn of the presence of the Frenchmen. Though pressed to remain at this
place by the Indians, they could not entertain the proposal, and resumed
their journey on the following day. After an arduous march they reached
the Grand River, and here they met Louis Jolliet on his way to Montreal
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from Lake Superior whither he had been sent to locate a copper mine, but
had failed. A halt of two or three days was made at this point, at the end
of which time La Salle stated that he would be unable to proceed farther on
account of his health, but would have to return to Montreal. Mass was cele-
brated on Sept. 30th, and La Salle returned to Lake Ontario, the others

proceeding westward. Before separating from his companions, La Salle

expressed the opinion that the expedition was doomed to failure, with star-

vation as the fate of those engaged in it.

From this date, October, 1669, till December, 1672, La Salle disap-
peared from civilization, and little is known of his movements. It has been
said that during this period he was, to all intents and purposes, a coureur
de bois. At any rate in 1670 he was seen by Nicholas Perrot, the interpre-
ter, on the Ottawa River, accompanied by six Frenchmen and ten or twelve
Iroquois. They were engaged in hunting about thirty-five miles above the
City of Ottawa, near the present site of the Village of Fitzroy. It is also
recorded of him, that on August 6th, 1671, ‘‘in great want and need’’ he
received merchandise from M. de Branssat valued at four hundred and fifty
four livres.

It has been said that during these three years when his whereabouts
were unknown, he discovered the Mississippi, but, writing in 1677, La Salle
makes no such claim himself. He did claim, however, to have explored a
large extent of territory south of the lakes, and to have discovered the Ohio
River. His deseription of the river is by no means accurate, and, except
his own statement, there is nothing to show that he descended the Ohio.

Coming to 1673, the part taken by La Salle in the founding of Fort
Frontenac and his subsequent possession of it, are already known. The
spirit of exploration was now fairly aroused within him, and he sought
means to gratify his ambition. With this object in view he went to Paris
in 1677 and obtained large sums of money, also permission to explore the
western portion of New France. The expedition was to be undertaken
entirely at his own expense, but in return, he was granted the monopoly of
the trade in buffalo skins, then considered to be very valuable, especially
in the Mississippi valley. He was forbidden, however, to trade with the
Indians who came to Montreal,
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On Sept. 15th, 1678, he arrived at Quebee, bringing with him about
thirty mechanies and much of the equipment necessary for rigging a vessel,
including anchors, together with the usual assortment of articles for the
Indians. He was accompanied also by Henri de Tonti, an Italian officer of
great bravery and resolution, who remained faithful to La Salle through
all his varying fortunes, and by the Sieur de la Motte, a man of intelli-
gence and fidelity. They were joined at Quebec by Father Hennepin, a
Recollect friar with a passion for travel and adventure. Preparations for
the expedition were made at Fort Frontenae, and La Motte and Hennepin
started first on Nov. 18th, in a small decked vessel with a crew of sixteen
men,

La Salle followed with de Tonti towards the end of December in a
twenty-ton vessel. They proceeded up the lake to Burlington Bay, landing
about Jan. Tth, at the same place he had visited nine years before with
Fathers de Casson and de Galinée. La Salle then made his way over the
former route to the Village of Tagarondies, the headquarters of the Senecas.
For some reason which is not known the Senecas did not desire that the
French should establish a fort at the mouth of the Niagara River, which La
Motte and Hennepin had sought to do. These objections La Salle succeeded
in removing in the plausible and convincing way which he frequently em-
ployed with excellent effect. At once La Salle re-embarked for the Niagara
River, but meeting with unfavorable winds when twenty-five miles from
their destination, he completed the trip with de Tonti on snowshoes. The
vessel was wrecked the same night in a sudden gale and everything was lost.
Thus began the series of almost unprecedented misfortunes which attended
La Salle’s expeditions, ceasing only with the death of the intrepid and
resolute explorer eight years later,

From Niagara, La Salle and de Tonti paddled up the river to Lewiston
and from there made their way to the mouth of Cayuga Creek, the spot
selected by La Salle to build the vessel with which to proeeed on his journey

up the lakes. Cayuga Creek is five miles above the Falls and ten miles from
Buffalo. While waiting here for La Motte and Hennepin, La Salle learned
of the wreck of his vessel, and made a hasty trip to the scene to see if any-

4
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thing could be recovered. He returned immediately, and on Jan. 22nd was
again at Cayuga Creek. Four days later the keel of the new vessel was laid.

The loss of the stores on the wrecked vessel now began to be felt to such
an extent that La Salle decided to return to Fort Frontenae to replace them.
When it is known that it was now the 1st of February, and that there was
no way of covering the two hundred and forty miles except on snowshoes,
the unconquerable spirit of La Salle, which invariably rose superior to all
obstacles, will be seen. De Tonti and Hennepin accompanied him to the
mouth of the Niagara River, where he outlined the fort on the site of the
present structure.

Leaving his companions engaged on the fort and in keeping the Senecas
in check, La Salle continued his journey to Cataraqui accompanied by two
men and a dog to draw the toboggan, following the coast around the head
of the lake, a distance of about two hundred and forty miles.

In the meantime the construction of the vessel proceeded, though not
smoothly. In La Salle’s absence the carpenters became dissatisfied, their
discontent being aggravated by the doubtful attitude of the Senecas and
their refusal to furnish supplies. Hennepin’s presence contributed to order
being observed, and by the month of May, ‘‘Le Griffon,’’ as the new vessel
was named, was completed. The name was a compliment to the Governor,
whose armorial bearings were supported by armed griffins. The launching

of the “‘first’’ vessel was attended with due ceremony in which the Indians

participated, and after touching at Squaw Island the waters of Lake Erie

were gained without accident,

At Cataraqui, La Salle was rejoined by Hennepin, and after adjusting
his business affairs, having been pressed with financial matters, he proceeded
to fulfil his desire to navigate the upper lakes. His expedition was accom-
panied by two Recollects, Gabriel de la Ribourde and Zenobie Membre, and
the party left for Niagara, followed a few days later by de La Salle himself,
who on reaching Niagara, set out with them to the place where Le Griffon
had been built. Their vessel was unloaded at what is now Lewiston, from
where the stores were carried to Lake Erie and placed on board Le Griffon.
La Salle, Hennepin and Father Gabriel visited the Falls and a proposal was
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made by Hennepin that a settlement be made there for the advancement of
trade and the conversion of the Indians.

De Tonti with five men, not remaining for the departure of the vessel,
had in the meantime proceeded to Detroit, there to await La Salle and his
party. With a favorable wind they sailed westward, advancing cautiously
and sounding as they went, because the lake had been reported as shallow
and dangerous. They proceeded close to the north shore, touching at Long
Point as they passed, which they called Point St. Francis. De Tonti and
his men were found at the mouth of the Detroit River, and the entire party
then proceeded northward and reached Lake St. Clair on the 10th of
August,

With considerable difficulty from unfavorable winds and the nature
of the channel, they succeeded in making Lake Huron, which they crossed
to the Michigan coast, and were becalmed at the Thunder Islands. Stormy
weather followed, and for twenty-four hours they made their way through
a gale to the straits of Mackinaw, and rounding Point St. Franeis, stopped
at the mission founded by Pere Marquette, where they found a few French-
men with the Ottawa and Huron Indians They received a warm welcome
and the vessel was greeted by a salvo of guns from the shore. Mass was
said and holiday prevailed. Here La Salle found four of the men who had
previously deserted from his Indian traders, and had them arrested, after
which he proceeded with Le Griffon up Lake Michigan as far as Le Grande
Baie, subsequently Green Bay.

At this point he found some of his traders who had remained steadfast
in his service, and who had collected about twelve thousand pounds of skins
from the Indians. These were loaded on Le Griffon, which was to return
with them to Fort Frontenae, and from the sale of the furs he expected to
discharge some of the debts owing by him there. His own purpose was to
continue his journey to the head of the lake and proceed down the
Mississippi.

Le Griffon left Green Bay on the 18th of September with her valuable
cargo of furs valued at ten thousand livres. Pilot Luc was in charge,
assisted by a supercargo and five sailors. On her second day out she encount-

ered a severe storm which lasted five days, and is generally supposed to
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have been lost in the storm. It has been stated, however, that she took
refuge at one of the islands at the northern end of the lake and was cap-
tured and destroyed by the Indians. But, however it came about, the
destruction of the vessel, either by storm or by Indians, was undoubted, and
La Salle suffered a heavy loss by her untimely fate.

The explorer then proceeded to the River St. Joseph to wait for de
Tonti, and here considerable delay occurred. In the month of December
the Illinois was reached and descended. On New Year's day, 1680, they
landed and celebrated mass. In the vicinity of the present City of Peoria
they met with Illinois Indians, and at first obtained a promise of their
friendship. This attitude was changed, however, a day or two later, when
the Indians strongly objected to the journey being pursued to the
Mississippi.

Desertions from his own men followed and La Salle determined to
return east to obtain additional supplies. At this time he was not aware
of the loss of Le Griffon. It was in the month of March in severe weather,
and the undertaking was no light one, but he had been inured to the hard-
ships of travel and did not flinch from the difficulties before him. Accom-
panied by four Frenchmen and his Mohegan attendant, he started east,
leaving the remainder of the party in charge of de Tonti. The fort at the
St. Joseph River was passed on the 24th of March, and on arriving at
Michilimackinae, La Salle was confirmed in his suspicion that Le Griffon
had been lost. Sending back two of his men to join de Tonti, he proceeded
with the remaining three across southern Michigan. Through an unknown
and unbroken wilderness he travelled safely to Detroit, guided only by his
compass. From Detroit the other two of his men returned to Michili-
mackinae, while La Salle proceeded by Lake Erie to Niagara, which he
reached on Easter Monday, 1680, continuing his remarkable journey, after
a short rest, to Cataraqui, and from there withont delay to Montreal, where
he obtained supplies.

On his return to Fort Frontenac, intelligence from de Tonti awaited
him to the effect that the men under him had mutinied and deserted in

force. These deserters and robbers La Salle was able to arrest and imprison

for their offence at Cataraqui, after which he set out for Lake Michigan with
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the object of relieving de Tonti, who was in distress on the Illinois. With
him were twenty-five men including a surgeon. This journey was varied
by ascending the Humber at Toronto, and proceeding by Lake Simeoe (then
Lake Toronto) and northern Lake Huron to Mackinaw, instead of by
Niagara and Detroit,

Upon reaching Fort Miami, La Salle divided his force, and with six
Frenchmen and an Indian went to the rescue of de Tonti. The search for
the missing lieutenant proved fruitless, and La Salle returned to the fort,

Meanwhile de Tonti, after having had serious trouble with his own men
and participating in a conflict between the Iroquois and the Illinois, in
which he was slightly wounded, had reached Green Bay and was hospit-
ably received by the Potawotomies.

During the winter of 1680-1 de La Salle remained at Fort Miami, and
in May of the latter year he returned again to Fort Frontenae. In passing
Michilimackinac he met de Tonti and Father Membre, and from them
heard the story of their troubles. At Montreal he obtained the assistance
necessary for the continued pursuit of his ambitious projects, and in the
autumn returned to Fort Miami with twenty-three Frenchmen and eighteen
Indians, with the latter being ten women and three children. The further
journey was made in canoes, the whole party ineluding fifty-four souls. The
Mississippi was reached on the 6th February, and with varying fortunes was
descended as far as the River Arkansas, where La Salle took possession of
the country for France. Continuing his deseent of the Mississippi, the Gulf
of Mexico was reached in due course, and here also La Salle took possession
of the territory in the name of France. On April 9th, 1682, the foundation
of Louisiana was laid.

On returning to Canada La Salle found that his friend Frontenae had
been recalled, that his seigniory had been seized by rivals in the fur trade,
and that charges were awaiting him to be answered at Quebee. He hastened
to France to defend himself, and easily convinced the King of his innocence.

His devotion to travel and exploration was now gratefully recognized,
and his project of fortifying the mouth of the Mississippi and capturing the
rich mines of Mexico from the Spaniards, was endorsed by the French
monarch, who placed four ships at his disposal. On the 1st of August, 1685,
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the expedition, numbering two hundred and eighty souls inclusive of
soldiers, crew and colonists, sailed from Rochelle. A month was spent at
St. Domingo, owing to La Salle being the victim of a serious attack of
fever. Resuming their voyage the expedition missed the mouth of the Mis-
sissippi and sailed some three hundred miles out of its course to Matagorda
Bay, where the prineipal storeship, the Aimable, was lost on a sandbar.
Every endeavor to reach the Mississippi failed, and La Salle, with his
unfailing enterprise, determined on an overland journey to Canada. His
followers, however, could not be persuaded to accompany him. Mutiny broke
out, and La Salle and his nephew were murdered by his own people. The
mutineers became the prey to hostile Indians and Spaniards, and those not
killed were sent to the mines to labor for the Spaniards. Seven men of the
entire expedition succeeded in making their way to Canada by way of the
Mississippi, the Illinois and the lakes, to unfold the story of their own hard-
ships and their leader’s tragic end.

La Salle’s career was one of resolute enterprise which refused to bend

under extraordinary misfortunes, and he remains a picturesque figure

among that wonderful band of eourageous explorers who carried the name

of France to the remotest frontiers of the far west.

FRONTENAC,

Louis de Buade Frontenae, Count of Palleau, came to Canada in Sep-
tember, 1672, with all the prestige of a noble and honored lineage, and a
distinguished military record. He was born a soldier and was a natural
leader. His military operations began at the age of fifteen years, and at
twenty-six he was a brigadier-general. Two years later he married a Paris-
ian leader of society who possessed considerable influence at court, which
she used continually in his behalf. Never a rich man de Frontenac soon
dissipated his patrimony, and came to Canada a poor man at the age of
fifty-two. But no time was wasted in vain regrets. With the adaptability
of his race, he accepted the altered situation and proceeded to make the
most of it. Bold, firm and resourceful, aceustomed to grappling with diffi-
culties and dangers, to rule and not be ruled, he was well fitted for the per-

formance of his new duties.
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Early in his career as Governor he encountered opposition from the
Sulpicians and Jesuits, and this conflict of authority never ceased during
his two terms. Writing to Colbert in 1673 he complained that ‘‘they had
spies in town and country ; that they abused the confessional, intermeddled
in families, set husbands against wives and parents against children; and
all, as they say, for the greater glory of God. And they will not even
civilize the Indians—so as to keep them in perpetual wardship—think more
of beaver skins than of souls, and their missions are pure mockeries.”” The
Jesuits became aware of these despatches, but feared Frontenac’s great
influence, hence the warfare,

Early in the year 1673 Frontenae prepared to construct the fort at
Cataraqui. The proposition was opposed by the merchants at Quebee, Three
Rivers and Montreal, who feared that it would divert the fur trade from
those points, but Frontenac was not to be dissnaded from his purpose.
Orders were given to the inhabitants to assemble at Montreal in their canoes
and to proceed in a body to Cataraqui. As the enterprise was to be of a

public nature, they were aware that they would receive no recompense for

their time and labor, and this was felt by many to be a hardship,
as they would probably be absent from their homes for a couple of
months and foreced to encounter all the rigors and privations of a toil-
some voyage. For the sake of greater display, Frontenac had two flat-bot-
tomed boats constructed, each capable of carrying sixteen men and cannon.
These were painted in bright colors and also sent to Montreal. Meanwhile
de La Salle had been sent to Onondaga to request the attendance of the
Iroquois chiefs at Cataraqui, the ostensible objeet being to establish more
friendly relations between themselves and the French. The few troops at
Quebec under Major Prevost, together with a number of the leading citizens,
were instructed to be present at Montreal on June 24th,

On June 3rd Frontenac left Quebee, arriving at Montreal on the 15th,
Here he personally organized the expedition. The road to Lachine was
improved to facilitate the embarkation of guns and supplies. Altogether
there were one hundred and twenty canoes containing a force of four
hundred men, including Indians. The expedition was accompanied by
Fathers d’Urfe and de Fenelon of the Sulpician Order. On June 28th the
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force moved up the river in military form, four abreast, and about July
12th they reached the River Cataraqui in imposing array.

Always dignified and courteous, Frontenac on this oceasion presented
his most polished manner, and quite captivated the Indians. He told them
of the power of France, pointing at the same time to his cannon and gaily
painted batteaux, and emphasized the value to be derived by them from the
establishment of a trading post at that point. Their pride was touched, and
awed somewhat by Frontenac’s imperious demecanor the Indians readily
gave their consent and assurance of their fidelity.

While the meeting was being held, the fort was being outlined.
Trenches were dug, timber was cut and squared, while the Indians looked on
wonderingly. On July 16th another meeting took place between Frontenae
and the chiefs, at which the former discoursed in a lofty tone on the super-
ior merits of Christianity as a religion, with reasons why they should accept
it. In conclusion he reminded them that they were under the protection of
France, and the first one who broke the peace would be hanged. On the
20th the Indians departed. Others came, but all were delighted and pro-
foundly impressed by their reception. Thus did Frontenae inspire at once
fear and respect in the hearts of his savage and formidable neighbors, and
for the remainder of his term as Governor dwelt at peace with them. In the
eyes of the Iroquois, Frontenac was by far the greatest of all the Ononthios
or Governors who had preceded him. The fort was finished in little more
than a fortnight, and leaving La Salle in charge with a force of men Fron-
tenae proceeded to Montreal, where he arrived on August 1st, 1673. Here
he continued administering the affairs of the eolony until 1682 when he was

recalled and succeeded by M. de la Barre. He was in continual strife with

the Sulpicians and with the Intendant, but condueted his government ably,

and, generally, his course received the endorsation of France. M. Laval
had become Bishop of Quebee, and a formidable opponent of the Governor
on matters of policy, especially on the question of the sale of brandy to the
Indians, the Bishop, who was supported by M. Duchesnau, the Intendant,
being strongly opposed to the nefarious and debauching traffic, and Fron-
tenac, opposed to any legal restriction thereon, in the interest of the fur

traders. A deplorable picture of the havoe produced by the sale of liquor
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to the Indians in their village homes is given by M. de Dudouyt, one of
Bishop Laval’s Grand Vicars, who was entrusted with a mission on the
subject to France in 1677. The Indian, says Dudouyt, drank to get drunk.
When liquor was brought by the coureurs de bois into an Indian bourgade,
men, women and children remained drunk until it was finished, even if the
drunkenness continued for a month.* The result of the representations
made on behalf of the Bishop and the Intendant was a modified restriction
of the traffic in brandy, which was prohibited to the extent that it was not
to be carried on among the Indians, in their haunts in the woods, openly,
but liquor still remained an article of commerce in the fur trade, and with
this compromise the agitation closed.

Friction oceurred in the relations between Frontenae and the Governor
of Montreal, M. Perrot, in which the famous M. de Fénelon played a
regrettable part, for which he eventually suffered disgrace in France. The
troubles with Laval and the priests, and with Duchesnau, the Intendant,
resulted in the recall of both in 1682. M. de la Barre, who succeeded
as Governor, found a disturbed situation on his arrival. The Iroquois were
troublesome and the British encroachments on the fur trade of the west and
north were threatening strained relations. The Governor was accused of
shaping his publie policy to suit his private interests in the fur trade, und
Meules, the Intendant, penetrating his motives withdrew his support. Other
complications arising, in addition to his surrender of Fort Frontenac to the
Indians, he was superceded by the Marquis de Denonville in 1685, The new
Governor at once became active in repelling the Iroquois and restraining
the ever-growing influence of the British colonies. His lieutenants were
successful in James and Hudson's Bay, but no permanent advantages
resulted. Indeed, misfortune seemed to dog his footsteps, and, while in
many respects an able and enterprising officer, disaster crowned his brief

regime, which ended in his recall in 1688. The conduet and experience of

the last two Governors convineed the King that a man of exceptional ability

was required to restore the prestige of France among the Indians and

guard her interests against the British traders. Ie turned to Count Fron-

tenac, then seventy years of age, and pecuniarily ruined. **I know that you
* Kingsford, Vol. 1,442,




90 HISTORY OF ONTARIO.

will serve me as well as you did before,”” said the King to him, ‘‘and I ask
nothing more of you.”” Frontenae took up the difficult task. Before this
had happened, a proposal was laid before the King by the Chevalier de
Calliéres, commandant at Montreal, that an army be sent to seize Albany
and thereafter proceed to New York, and with the assistance of a French
fleet operating against the town to capture it also, driving the British from
power on the Hudson River fur route. The King endorsed the proposal,
the carrying out to be under Frontenae, with Calliéres as lieutenant in the

land campaign. With this end in view Frontenae sailed, with characteristie

optimisin, in the month of July, 1689, to take up the Government of Canada

a second time. He was but poorly supported with troops and supplies for
so great an undertaking.

Notwithstanding Frontenae’s sense of his own powers and his confidence
in the successful issue of his undertaking, he had learned by his former
experience that his path was lined by many difficulties. He was alive to the
importance of being on good terms with the Indians, and in order to placate
them as much as possible, had arranged for the return of the survivors of
the Indian chiefs who had been impressed by Denonville for the French
galleys. Fifteen of these accordingly accompanied him on his return, one
of them, Oureouhare, being so charmed by Frontenac’s gracious and digni-
fied manners and the attention he bestowed upon him during the voyage
out, that he became a fast friend of the Governor and remained his firm
ally during the troubles which Frontenac encountered in his after dealings
with the Indians,

He arrived at Quebee in the month of October after a long and tempest-
nous voyage, and was greeted with the unpleasant news of the Indian
depredations at Montreal and the loss of Cataraqui and Niagara. This was
a discouraging commencement, but he courageously faced the situation.
Winter arrived and all that could be done during that season was to act on
the defensive. Frontenae, however, visited Montreal, reassured the inhabi-
tants, and came in touch with the allied Indians, at that time inclined to
negotiate terms with the Iroquois and the British traders. Of these, the
Ottawas were in negotiation with the Seneccas with a view of establishing

peaceable relations, and effecting the restoration of prisoners captured dur-
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ing the war, Notwithstanding the efforts of the French agents and mission-
aries, these negotiations had made considerable progress, and the French
were taunted with their inability to hold their own against the British.

This condition of affairs having been fully disclosed to Frontenac, he
resolved on vigorous action, and proceeded forthwith to assert the power
and authority of France by striking such a blow as should restore the mili-
tary reputation of the French with the native tribes, and overawe the
Iroquois. In the month of January he organized expeditions at Montreal,
Three Rivers and Quebee with the object of conducting offensive operations,
or, at least, of checking British aggression at various points. He also com-
municated with the commander at Mackinaw assuring him and the Indians
of the west of his determination to uphold the French supremacy and
regain lost ascendancy.

The force organized at Montreal had been designed for an attack on
Albany, but on the way, considering the number insufficient for that pur-
pose, the direction was changed and an assault made on the village of
Schenectady, which was surprised and given over to all the horrors of
Indian warfare. The French, laden with plunder, retired next day, fol-
lowed by a horde of Mohawks, now assisted by a contingent from Albany,
almost to the gates of Montreal.

The force organized at Three Rivers pillaged the Village of Salmon
Falls on the Piscataqua, and, returning with prisoners, chiefly women and
children, successfully attacked a fortified British post at Casco Bay, being
assisted by a party from Quebec which had joined them. The attacks at
Schenectady and Salmon Falls were regarded as little less than blood-
thirsty massacres, and de Frontenae was bitterly denounced for countenane-
ing the cruelties then wreaked on the inhabitants, but the stern old Governor

was not greatly moved by such considerations, having been thoroughly

inured to such acts of eruelty.

While he was engaged in subduing the Indians and carrying the terror
of French arms through their villages, he was well aware that, in order to
obtain satisfactory results, the relations between the tribes and the fur
traders must be placed on a more secure footing. The Indians found it
more profitable and easy to deal with the British than with the French
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trader. The prices, in whatever ecurrency paid, whether in brandy, merchan-
dize or ornaments, were higher, and transactions seemed to have been, as a
rule, speedily and satisfactorily effected between the born British trader
and the Indian, and the latter grew to appreciate what he considered the
advantage to him of this ready attitude. Frontenac saw the necessity of
counteracting this growing favor and directed his thoughts to this end.
The expedition to Mackinaw had good results. It ran the gauntlet of
an ambush by the Iroquois shortly after leaving Montreal, but the attack
was successfully resisted and Mackinaw was reached in safety just as a
delegation from the Ottawas was about to leave in order to negotiate a treaty
with the Iroquois. The arrival of the detachment which greatly strength-
ened the post, the valuable presents brought for distribution among the
Indians and the reports of the success of the French arms, had the effect
of satisfying the tribes who abandoned their proposed embassy to the fro-
quois. They renewed their allegiance to Frontenae, and, soon afterwards,
one hundred and ten canoes with a cargo of furs valued at one hundred
thousand erowns was despatched to Montreal as an evidence of restored
good-will. Frontenac happened to be at Montreal on the arrival of this large
fleet and extended a very cordial welcome to the escort, loading them with
presents and asking their continued assistance against the dreaded Iro-

quois. The whole incident had a good effect on the relations between the

French and their dusky allies. The Iroquois were not yet subdued, how-

ever, and the outlying posts and villages frequently suffered from the
brand and the scalping knife.

At this time Quebec was menaced by a powerful fleet of thirty-four sail
from Boston under the command of Sir William Phipps. The complete sub-
Jjugation of Canada had been decided upon, and the plan adopted was to
operate by land and sea. While a powerful fleet was to attack Quebec a
strong land force was to proceed from the west against Montreal. Both
attempts signally failed. Frontenae, being at Montreal, was informed that
a British expedition was being organized at Lake George with the object of
invading Canada. He immediately assembled the neighboring Indian tribes
to his assistance, and is said to have chanted the war song and danced the

war dance in their company to animate their courage, taking the other
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necessary steps for defence or attack. The British army, which was under
Winthrop, was, however, ill supplied with provisions, and had to retire to
Albany. An advance force under Schuyler reached La Prairie and cap-
tured the small fort there, compelling its garrison to retreat on Chambly.
Help arriving, the Canadians took the offensive and forced Schuyler to
retreat with considerable loss. Thus ended the attempt by land, and Fron-
tenac proceeded to Quebec entirely unaware of the approach to it of the
fleet from Boston under Phipps.

The Governor arrived at Quebec only two days in advance of the
appearance of the fleet, and resolutely prepared for the defence of the
town. Phipps summoned Frontenae to surrender. ITis messenger was blind-
folded and taken into the presence of Frontenae, who received him with
pomp and pageantry, evidently with the desire of making an impression on
him favorable to the strength of the garrison. The messenger delivered the
summons to surrender and asked an answer within an hour. Frontenac
replied that he did not acknowledge King William, that the Prince of
Orange was a usurper, and that he would answer Phipps by the mouth of his
cannon. Accordingly troops were landed from the vessels and proceeded
with the attack. Meeting with an unexpected fire they were repulsed. The
fire from the ships was ineffectual, while the guns of the garrison caused
much damage to the fleet. The bombardment became desultory, and by
noon of the second day the admiral was convinced that it was useless to
continue his attempt any longer, weighed anchor, and with the receding tide,

got beyond reach of the garrison’s artillery. The troops which had been

landed were commanded by Major Walley, and some severe skirmishing,

generally disastrous to the British, was engaged in. A council held on board
the admiral’s ship, econcluded to abandon the enterprise, and Quebec was
once more free from danger. General rejoicings prevailed, and the effect
was felt from the capital to the farthest posts, and was particularly notice-
able in the conduet of the Iroquois, who, by this time, adopted a balancing
policy between the British and the French. While they were hostile to the
French they learned that their interests would be better served by the pre-
sence of both powers as a check and countercheck upon each other, with an
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opportunity to make the inost advantageous terms to themselves as a result
of the differences between the whites.

Yet the Iroquois were irrepressible, for the following year (1691), a
large body of their warriors devastated the settlements in the vieinity of
Montreal, while smaller parties wrought havoe along the banks of the
Richelien. Frontenac was not the man to remain inactive under such pro-
vocation, and the militia was hastily summoned. Where the Iroquois were
found they were slain without merey and driven back. Still the guerilla
warfare went on, attacks followed by retribution and retribution by
reprisals.

Meanwhile the Abenaki and French harried the frontiers of Massachu-
sctts, while other troops cleared the district around the Bay of Quinte and
penetrated the Mohawk country, killing and burning as they went. The
Iroquois’ boast at this time was, that ‘‘their enemies should have no rest but
in their graves,”” but Frontenac’s vigilance and activity at last began to
wear them out and formal proposals of peace were again received from
them. These, however, had not the desired effect and hostilities were
renewed.

The Governor then repaired and garrisoned Fort Frontenae, although
such was contrary to instructions from the King, and with this as a basis
of operations, he menaced the Iroquois of the lake. They retaliated by a
descent upon Montreal in which they were defeated. Cadillac, the com-
mandant at Mackinaw, was successful in an inroad into the Seneca country,
and from the west, the Five Nations were attacked and defeated by Miamis
and French,

The dissatisfaction among the allied Indians with the high prices of
French merchandise and the corresponding low prices for their furs
deepened, and as a result the Ottawas and Hurons made peace with the
Iroquois so as to participate with them in the British trade. Frontenac was
considerably disturbed by this movement, and, not succeeding in detaching
his allies from the Iroquois in this matter, he resolved to invade the terri-
tory of the Five Nations and surprise the Iroquois.

With this object in view he moved with a force of fifteen hundred
regular troops, militia and Indians, and arrived at Cataraqui in the month
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of July, 1696. By way of the Oswego River and Onondaga Lake, he pro-
ceeded towards the fortified villages of the Onondagas and Oneidas. Though
now seventy-six years of age, he sturdily led the centre of his force, Cal-
liéres commanding the left wing and Vaudreuil the right. The Indians
were not deficient in the best tactics of such warfare. They burned and
abandoned their villages on the approach of the enemy and, retreating
into the forest where they could not be readily followed, they escaped the
invaders, who had to be contented with the lame, the halt and the blind left
behind in the villages. Beyond the destruction of crops and dwellings, the
Indian loss was trifling, while the army on its return march was greatly
harrassed by the Indians, who constantly attacked the rear guard and cut
off stragglers, as opportunity offered. The Five Nations were still unsub-
dued, nor was their spirit broken by the formidable demonstrations made
against them. They continued to infest the French settlements, and were a
source of unceasing harrassment to the habitant.

This year the Treaty of Ryswick terminated the war between Great
Britain and France, and permitted peace between the British and the
French colonies and their allies. The former at once proposed an exchange
of prisoners, both as regarded themselves and the Iroquois over whom they
wished to assume sovereignty. To evade this point, Frontenae dealt with
the British on the one hand and the Iroquois on the other independently of
each other, and in the negotiations he found no little jealousy among the
Iroquois at the British elaim on their allegiance, a feeling which Frontenae,
of course, sought to encourage.

Throughout Frontenac’s two terms as Governor, the conspicuous fea-
ture of his administration was his devotion to the supremacy of France in
Canada. An instance of this loyalty was exhibited when the question was
raised of the proposed abandonment of the French posts in the west.

Depleted by the demands of the war in Europe, a poliey of radical economy
was determined upon by the French government with respect to Canada.
It was considered that these outlying posts were the cause of the troubles
with the Indians, necessitating great expense in maintaining garrisons and
in organizing expeditions to suppress tribal disturbances, and the conclu-
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sion was arrived at that the forts should be abandoned and the Indians left
to find their way as best they could to Montreal, unprotected by the French.

Frontenac at once apprehended the danger that would result from this
policy, which would mean the abandonment of all territory oceupied by the
French west of Montreal, including Cataraqui, Niagara, Mackinaw, Miami,
and the Ohio and Mississippi regions, to the British, for as soon as the
French soldiers stepped out the British would step in to the fort and
obtain complete command of the west. It would then be a com-
paratively easy matter, with the fur trade destroyed, to reduce Montreal,
Three Rivers and Quebee, and drive the French from Canada.

Frontenae, stubborn in his opinions, as he was clear sighted, chose to
disregard this policy adopted by the French government, and determined
to hold all the more tenaciously to what his country had won and he had
preserved. Events justified his course, as they established the wisdom of
much of his own plans and projects for the good of his colony. His ser-
vices were not overlooked. While his natural greatness could not save him
from the jealousies of smaller men, and the antagonisms of those whose
interests conflicted with his own, he was nevertheless regarded as an invalu-
able officer by the King and his Ministers, who showed their recognition of
his signal services to his country by bestowing upon him the coveted decor-
ation of the Order of St. Louis.

Ever vigilant and energetic in the performance of his duties, Fron-
tenac’s death at his post in 1698 was almost universally felt to be a calamity
to the colony. Even those who differed widely from him in matters of
policy, and who did not hold him in personal regard on account of his proud
and austere manners, admitted his courage and ability, and the incalculable
services he had performed for the country whose interests were entrusted to

his care,
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CHAPTER VL
UNDER THE FRENCH REGIME: 1699-1763.

Frontenac's successor, the Chevalier de Calliéres, received his commis-
sion as Governor-General in 1699. He had been commandant at Montreal
and won the respect and confidence of the people, who rejoiced at his pro-
motion. Two outstanding events of his term were the peace effected with
the Iroquois and the founding of Detroit. The question at issue between the
French and British with respect to the peace was that of sovereignty over
the Iroquois. The British claim was disputed by Calliéres. The Earl of
Bellamont insisted that the exchange of Iroquois prisoners consequent on
the peace should be made at Albany, through the British thus securing an
acknowledgment of British sovereignty over the Five Nations. This
assumption Calliéres repelled, and succeeded in his diplomacy. The Onon-
dagas and the Senecas sent deputies to Montreal, and there the formalities
of peace were gone through. The hatchet was buried. A treaty was written
to which the Indian envoys attached the symbols of their tribes. The
Senecas and Onondagas signed by the drawing of a spider; the Cayugas
a calumet; the Onedias, a forked stick; the Mohawks, a bear; the Hurons,
a beaver; the Abenaki, a deer; and the Ottawas, a hare. This success
aroused the indignation of the British, and Calliéres knowing they would
try to undo his work sought to strengthen his hold on the western trade by
establishing a post at Detroit. The Iroquois remonstrated against this step,
regarding it as an encroachment, but the Governor persevered, holding that
Detroit was in French territory. Thus, in the month of June, 1701, Cadil-
lae, accompanied by a Jesuit missionary and one hundred Frenchmen, pro-
ceeded to Detroit and there founded a settlement. The colonization of Illi-
nois had already been begun by La Salle. Detroit, thus founded, was
destined to play an important part as the scene of international conflict and
convention, as it was to become the beautiful and prosperous city it is
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to-day. Though not now a part of Ontario its early connection with the
provinee renders a few references to its history appropriate. It was first
called Fort Pontchatrain in honor of Count Pontehatrain, the Colonial
Minister. It was first visited by the French explorers in 1610, In 1664 the
famous Carignan regiment came to Canada. It was officered by fifty or
sixty gentlemen of noble family, some of whom obtained eoncessions of land
o the Detroit country. The Detroit River offered many advantages to the
settler. It was a most important channel of communication and trade, an
important frontier post was on its banks, and both climate and soil were
favorable. Writing of it as early as 1701 M. De La Mothe, the French Com-
mandant there gives this graphic deseription of the place:

Detroit is, probably, only a canal or a river of moderate breadth, and
twenty-five leagues in length according to my reckoning lying north-north-
east, and south-southwest, about the 41st degree (of latitude) through which
the sparkling and pellucid water of Lakes Superior, Michigan and Huron
(which are so many seas of sweet water) flow and glide away gently and
with a moderate current into Lake Erie, into the Ontario or Frontenae, and
go at last to mingle in the River St. Lawrence with those of the ocean. The
banks are so many vast meadows where the freshness of these beautiful
streams keeps the grass always green. These same meadows are fringed
with long and broad avenues of fruit trees which have never felt the eareful
hand of the watchful gardener; and fruit trees, young and old, droop
under the weight and multitude of their fruit, and bend their branches
towards the fertile soil which has produced them. In this soil so fertile, the
ambitious vine which has not yet wept under the knife of the industrious
vine-dresser, forms a thick roof with its broad leaves and its heavy clusters
over the head of whatever it twines around, which it often stifles by embrac-
ing it too closely. Under these vast avenues you may see assembling in
hundreds the shy stag and the timid hind with the bounding roebuck, to
pick up eagerly the apples and plums with which the ground is paved. It
is there that the careful turkey hen calls back her numerous brood, and
leads them to gather the grapes; it is there that the big cocks come to fill
their broad and gluttonous erops. The golden pheasant, the quail, the part-

ridge, the woodecock, the teeming turtle-dove, swarm in the woods and cover
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the open country interseeted and broken by groves of full-grown forest-trees
which form a charming prospeet which of itself might sweeten the melan-
choly tedium of solitude. There the hand of the pitiless mower has never
shorn the juicy grass on which bisons of enormous height and size fatten,
The woods are of six kinds,—walnut trees, white oak, red bastard ash, ivy,
white wood trees and cotton wood trees. But these same trees are as straight
as arrows, without knots, and almost without branches except near the top
and of enormous size and height. It is from thenece that the fearless cagle
looks steadily at the sun, seeing beneath him enough to glut his formidable
claws. The fish there are fed and laved in sparkling and pellueid waters
and are none the less delicious for the bountiful supply (of them). There
are such large numbers of swans that the rushes among which they are
massed might be taken for lilies. The gabbling goose, the duck, the teal and
the bustard are so common there that, in order to satisfy you of it, I will
only make use of the expression of one of the savages, of whom 1 asked
before I got here whether there was much game there: *‘ There is so much,”’
he told me, ““that it only moves aside (long enough) to allow the boat to
pass.”’

Can it be thought that a land in which nature has distributed every-
thing in so complete a manner could refuse to the hand of a careful hus-
bandman who breaks into its fertile depths, the return which is expected
of it?

In a word, the climate is temperate, the air is pure, during the day

there is a gentle wind, and at night the sky, which is always placid, diffuses

sweet and cool influences which cause us to enjoy the benignity of tranquil

sleep. If its position is pleasing, it is no less important, for it opens or
closes the approach of the most distant tribes which surround these vast
sweet water oceans. It is only the opponents of the truth who are the
enemies of this settlement, so essential to the increase of the glory of the
King, to the spread of religion, and to the destruction of the throne of
Baal.

In 1701 when Fort Ponchatrain was established Cadillac built a church
which was named Ste. Anne, from the fact that the first mass celebrated

therein was on July 26, the day of the feast of that Saint. The church
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built by Cadillac was destroyed by the Indians, but was rebuilt shortly
afterwards in 1723, In 1805 fire destroyed the church and the famous
Father Richard obtained a deed to the ground on which to build a new one
The records of Ste. Anne’s Chureh have been carefully kept from 1701, when
the first baptism was entered, that of Thérése, daughter of La Mothe Cadil
lae. The signatures following the entries are interesting, giving a clue to
the social standing of the contracting parties, many of them belonging to the
old regime, bearing names high among the noblesse of France. Outside the
grants to Cadillac there were no seigneuries granted on the Detroit or along
the lakes, save one to the Chevalier Le Gardeur de Repentigny, at Sault
Ste. Marie, but instead were grants of land, at present called farms and
which were originally only given to prominent colonists.  Detroit went over
to Britain in 1763, and to the United States in 1783, but the latter did not
obtain possession until 1796, It was surrendered by Hull to the British in
1812 and recovered by the United States in 1813, It was the capital of the
State of Michigan from 1837 to 1847, when that honor was conferred on
Lansing

Calliéres died in 1703, to the regret of the people he had served so well
IHe was succeeded by the Marquis de Vaudreuil, who had been commandant
of Moutreal and had approved himself to the people and to Paris by his
conduet in that office. e was faced with difficulties arising from the out-
break of hostilities between Britain and France, taking advantage of which
the New York colonists sought to incite the Iroquois to revolt. The result
was, however, other than they had hoped for. The Indians not only refused
to break the peace, but went further and at last coneeded the sovereignty of
their country to the French. Hostilities broke out between the Ottawas and
the Illinois at Detroit, but Cadillae overawed the latter. Vaudreuil harassed
the New England settlements, the chief result of which was a determination
on the part of Britain to assist her colonists in retaliating, hence Sir Hoven
den Walker’s futile expedition by sea, and Nicholson’s failure by land,
until the Treaty of Utrecht, 1713, brought peace, territorially advantageous
to Britain to which was given Newfoundland, an influence in Nova Scotia,
the Hudson Bay region, and the nominal sovereignty of the Iroquois. These

concessions from France were owing, not to Vaudreuil’s weakness in Can-
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ada, but to Marlborough’s sweeping vietories in Europe. There were then in

Canada 4,480 inhabitants, between fourteen and sixty years of

re capable

of bearing arms and 628 regular soldiers, while the Governor computed the
strength of the British colonists, prepared for the field, at 60,000 men.

In 1721 the first mail was established between Montreal and Quebee,
the contractor, La Mouiller, obtaining a twenty years’ franchise of the
same. A fixed table of rates, according to distance carried was in foree.
In 1720 Charlevoix visited Canada and saw the prineipal settlements. Above
Montreal he found only trading posts, until he reached Frontenae, which he
deseribes as a small military post. At Niagara he met Joneaire with a few
officers and troops, but no permanent settlement. e furnishes an interest-
ing account of Detroit and the posts on the Upper Lakes, all of which were
small in size. After governing well for the long period of twenty-one years
Vaudrenil’s career was closed by death in 1725, There was general and
deep sorrow, and the highest tribute to his memory was found in the grati-
tude of the people whom he had served ably and faithfully to the end.

The Marquis de Beauharnois suceeeded. e assumed office in 1726
ITis attention was at once oceupied by affairs at Oswego and Niagara, at
the latter of which a stone fort, long famous, was erected under the diree-
tion of M. de Longueil. A stone fort was also built at Frontenae and the
place strengthened. At this time aliens were prohibited from settling in
Canada, and some British citizens resident in Montreal were obliged to leave
the country. Beauharnois also strengthened the French position by the
erection of a fort at Crown Point, on Lake Champlain. Thus several years
passed in comparative tranquillity, and the interests of the country made
a substantial advance. From 1725 to 1745 the population had grown from
twenty-two to fifty thousand souls, and the value of the exports to nearly
two and three-quarter million franes, but with prosperity came an era of
corruption, which sapped the life blood of the colony.

The fall of Louisbourg to the New England forces under Pepperell and
Warren was followed by the recall of the Governor, to whose place Admiral
La Jonquiere was appointed, but having been captured by the British off

Cape Finisterre, Count de la Galissoniere was appointed Governor, and in

1748 the Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle restored Louisbourg to Canada. Galis-
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soniere held statesmanlike views on the question of French expansion in the
west. He proposed that an engineer be sent out from France to construet
adequate forts from Detroit to the Mississippi and then that the territories
so protected be settled by ten thousand Frenchmen. This course would
have checked British advances west of the Alleghany Mountains, but it was
not taken up fully by the French Government, and the partial attempt to
carry it out only aroused the suspicion and alarm of the British colonists,
finally leading to the conflicts which ended with the Conquest of Canada.
As a matter of fact the Governor drew a boundary line immediately west
of the Alleghanies and marked its course by leaden plates bearing the arms
of France, being buried at different points on the line. The Governor of
Pennsylvania was notified and requested to govern himself accordingly.
The peace of Aix-la-Chapelle restored La Jonquiere to liberty, and he pro-
ceeded in 1749 to take up his commission as Governor of Canada, which
had not been cancelled. Bigot was the Intendant. The Governor enforced
the French claim to all land within the Galissoniere boundary and seized
three merchants who had trespassed beyond the line, bringing them for trial
at Montreal, where they were discharged, but the proceeding caused much
bitter feeling Meanwhile commissioners to delimit the boundaries sat at
Paris, but at once saw that the opposing claims to territory must come to
the arbitrament of the sword. The Governor foresaw war and did some-
thing to keep the forts at Frontenae, Toronto and Niagara in repair. A
French schooner rode on Lake Ontario and the Jesuit missionaries were
pitted against the influence of Sir William Johnson over the still war-like
Mohawks, while the Abbe Piequet, a Sulpician father who had organized
his military mission station at the Lake of the Two Mountains, was author-
ized to build a fort at Oswegatchie, which by 1751 had three hundred and
ninety-six inhabitants, and in 1753 was one of the most important Indian
settlements in Canada. In his travels on account of the impending war, he
passed over the country on the northern shore of Lake Ontario and notes the
growing traffic which had sprung up at Toronto. La Jonquiere invoked
the resentment of the Jesuits by interfering with their trading propensi-
ties, and aceusations of avarice, nepotism and corruption were formulated

against him. Ie desired to be recalled, but before effect had been given to
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his wish he died at Quebee in 1752, Marquis Duquesne was his successor.
He prepared for war by forming the militia into companies, and bringing
them under drill and discipline. Virginia encroached on Ohio and a
skirmish between a force from Detroit and the Miamis, who had sheltered
the intruders, forced the question on the attention of the British Govern-
ment, who upheld the Virginians. But that Government was cautious in
placing troops in the field for the extension of the territory of colonies
which were beginning to disregard the royal prerogative while insisting on
throwing the expenses of defence and expansion on the Crown. Virginia,
nevertheless, was aided in the emergency which had occurred. The British
colonies were drawing together on matters of common interest. Franklin
advocated a Federal union, voluntarily entered into by the colonists them-
selves. ‘‘It would be a strange thing,’’ said he, “‘if six nations of ignorant
savages should be capable of forming a scheme for such a union, and be
able to execute it in such a manner that it has subsisted for ages, and
appears indissoluble; and yet that a like union should be impracticable for
ten or a dozen English colonies, to whom it is more necessary, and must be

more advantageous.”” Thus early was the seed sown which blossomed in
the revolution. Duquesne sent a strong force in 1753 to man the western
posts and to establish forts in the Ohio valley. The Iroquois opposed the
latter project and their western allies were stirred up, but in face of their
opposition t.lu' new forts were erected,—at Erie, Waterford and Venango,
while preparations were made to oceupy the banks of the Mononganeta and
the Ohio. On these proceedings Washington reported to Virginia and
Governor Dinwiddie resolved on active resistance. Washington led the
troops: and then came the short action with the French on the way to Fort
Duquesne, and the affair at Fort Necessity, practically the first bloodshed
in the Canadian war. Governor Duquesne resigned and the Marquis de
Vaudreuil, son of the former Governor of that name, was appointed Gover-
nor-General. Events were erowding on the southern borders, Britain being

determined upon the restoration of the Ohio and other territory assumed by

France. On the Atlantic coast and the frontier at Lake Champlain the

British successes were substantial though hardly a sufficient satisfaction for

Braddock’s disaster and Shirley’s failure in the north and west. War
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between France and Britain was formally declared in 1756. Canada oceu-
pied the valley of the Ohio and the western lands, Niagara, Toronto, Fron-
tenae, Crown Point and Ticonderoga, three thousand trained troops, a sturdy
militia and the friendly Indian tribes. She was weak in war material, and
the British colonies were overpoweringly strong in men and the sinews
of war. Three men arrived from France at this juncture whose names are
destined to live in Canadian annals, Montealm, De Levis and Bourlemaque,
the former in command of a large body of troops, and prompt and vigorous
action was begun. The British generals were Loudon and Abercromby.
One of the first successes of the British was Bradstreet’s relief of Oswego
and his brush with Villier's detachment, but that place with booty and war
stores shortly afterwards fell to Montealm, who thus, by the end of 1756
had the complete control of Lake Ontario. From Fort Frontenac a body
of three hundred Frenchmen and Indians penetrated by the Black River
to the Mohawk valley, to the settlement at the German Flats which they
destroyed, killing forty men and capturing one hundred and fifty prisoners
and immense plunder. In the spring of 1757 Rigaud de Vaudreuil tried,

but failed, to capture Fort William IHenry; Bourlemaque strengthened

Crown Point and Ticonderoga, and Pouchot assumed command of Niagara,
which he fortified. When the campaign of 1757 opened Loudon began oper-
ations looking to the reduction of Louishourg and Cape Breton, leaving
Colonel Stanwyx with two thousand militia and some regulars to protect
the western frontier; Colonel Bouquet with about the same number was
stationed on the borders of Carolina; General Webb was entrusted with the
defence of New England and New York States; and Colonel Munro, with
about two thousand men, was at Fort Henry. These troops were supported
by the local militia, inured in forest hardship and rough and ready attack
and defence. Fort Henry fell before the troops of Montealm, and it was
then the horrible massacre of the surrendered British garrison took place,
by the Indians, described by Cooper in his novel, The Last of the Mohicans.
Loudon’s expedition against Louisburg was unavailing and Montealm's
suceess at Fort Henry struck terror into the hearts of the colonists. Mont-
calm was supreme in Canada, but with the need came hope to Britain by

the accession to power of the great Pitt. He selected his generals with
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prescience, Amherst, Whitmore, Wolfe and Lawrence were chosen ; Forbes,
Abereromby and Howe were also employed, and a comprehensive plan of
campaign arranged. In February of 1758 Amherst sailed from Portsmouth
with ten thousand men. At Halifax he met Admiral Boscowen, weary of
inaction and ready to begin operations against Louisbourg, and after a stub-
born contest in which Wolfe distinguished himself, the great fortress was
wrenched from the French, and with it Cape Breton and Prince Edward
Island. Following this success, however, came the regretable disaster to the
British arms at Ticonderoga under the fated Abercromby. Here in a pre-
liminary skirmish the brave Lord Howe fell. While Abercromby lay inac-
tive after his defeat, Bradstreet made an attack on Fort Frontenae which
he easily captured. The fort he found to be a quadrangle defended by

thirty guns and sixteen small mortars, with a garrison of one hundred and

twenty soldiers and forty Indians, under De Noyan, The spoils included
sixty pieces of cannon, sixteen small mortars, an immense supply of pro-
visions and ammunition, and all the shipping on the lake among which
were several vessels laden with rich furs.* The fort was blown up and
abandoned. During the summer it was, however, repaired by the French,
who felt the loss of the stores and provisions keenly. In the operations of
this time Major Rogers won the reputation of a redoubtable and resourceful
commander of Rangers. Forbes captured Ft. Duquesne, the modern Pitts-
burg. British success was gradually turning the balance in their favor.
The Indians began to turn with the tide. They captured three French
canoes on Lake Ontario and killed the crews.

Amherst was appointed Commander in Chief, Stanwyx was charged
with the duty of reducing the forts on the western frontier from Pittsburg
to Lake Erie; Prideaux was to reduce Niagara; Amherst had command of
the force designed to operate by Lake Champlain and the Richelien with
Montreal as the objective point. To Wolfe was given the command of the
expedition against Quebee. This great scheme contemplated the complete
reduction of Canada and the result justified the scheme,

Governor Vaudreuil and Montealm were fully alive to the gravity of

the situation, and what could be done they did. The Governor addressed
* McMullen, Vol. 1, p. 168.
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himself to the people, appealing strongly to their patriotism for support.

The Bishop, Henry de Pont Briant, issued a pastoral to his clergy, a remark-

of imminent danger, and reflecting on the habits which had been acquired

|

| | able communication, revealing the deep anxiety which prevailed in the face
[ |

|

by the people. Montealm took command of Quebee; Bourlemaque, of
Ticonderoga, Crown Point and Lake Champlain; and La Corne of the Lake
Ontario region. Pouchot was at Niagara, which was attacked by Prideaux,
who was killed in the trenches while giving orders. The eommand then
devolved on Sir Wm. Johnson, to whom the Fort yielded on liberal terms
{ | of surrender.

‘ Stanwyx occupied the forts from Pittsburg northward without opposi-

tion. La Corne failed in an attack on Oswego. Ambherst proceeded in four

columns, Bourlamaque falling on before him to Fort Carillon, which he
| . 2 .

11 abandoned on the arrival of Amherst’s superior force, retreating to Isle

! aux Noix, where he collected a foree of three thousand five hundred men,

one hundred eannon and four armed vessels commanded by naval officers.

Amherst went into winter quarters without advancing to attack this posi-

tion, the season being advanced. On the 26th of /une Wolfe reached Isle

i Orleans, landed his troops on the island next day and thus lay before
| Quebee, the vital spot in the campaign. With him were Brigadiers General
Carleton, Townshend and Murray. The accompanying fleet consisted of

twenty-two men of war and the same number of frigates and armed vessels,

il and was commanded by a capable officer, Admiral Saunders. With this

fleet, as the sailing master of a vessel, was James Cook, afterwards the cele-
fully

demonstrated. Operations proceeded until September, when on the morn-

brated explorer and navigator. Montealm’s eapacity as a general w

ing of the 13th the heights were scaled and the British battalions were

formed on the famous Plains of Abraham. The victory of the British was

L dearly bought by the death of Wolfe and of Montealm. The surrender of

t Quebee followed, and with it the Conquest of Canada was practically com-
i

plete, forever passing from France, after a constant oceupaney of more than

a century and a half.

De Levis and Bougainville were up the St. Lawrence and Montreal

was still untaken, and Amherst was wintering on the Champlain frontier.
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Thus the winter passed. On the 17th of April De Levis left Montreal, and
collecting all the available troops by the way made a descent on Quebee,

General Murray, commanding at Quebee, gave him battle on the Plains of

Abraham and suffered defeat. Retreating within the city Murray made a

resolute defence which he maintained against all odds until relieved by
the timely arrival of a British fleet. De Levis was obliged to retreat to
Montreal.

In the month of July Amherst assembled his troops at Oswego and pro-
ceeded down the river to Montreal, capturing Ogdensburg on the 25th of
August. He landed on the Island of Montreal on the 6th of September,
1760. Here came Murray from Quebee, and Haviland who had come by
Lake Champlain and the Richelien. The troops numbered about 16,000
men. Resistance was useless; and on the same day Governor Vaudreuil
signed the articles of eapitulation, the more important being:

Art. 3. The troops and militia who are in garrison in the Fort of Jacques
Cartier, and in the Island of St. Helen, and other forts, shall be treated in
the same manner, and shall have the same honors; and these troops shall go
to Montreal, or the Three Rivers or Quebec; to be there embarked for the
first sea port in France, by the shortest way. The troops, who are in our
posts, sitnated on our frontiers, on the side of Acadia, at Detroit, Michili-
mackinae, and other posts, shall enjoy the same honors, and be treated in
the same manner. ‘‘All these troops are not to serve during the present
war, and shall likewise lay down their arms, the rest is granted.”

Art. 4. The militia after evacuating the above towns, forts and posts,
shall return to their habitations, without being molested on any pretence
whatever, on account of their having carried arms. ‘‘Granted.”’

Art. 7. The magazines, the artillery, firelocks, sabres, ammunition of
war, and, in general, everything that belongs to his most Christian Majesty,
as well in the Towns of Montreal and Three Rivers, as in the forts and posts
mentioned in the third article shall be delivered up, according to exact
inventories, to the commissaries who shall be appointed to receive the same
in the name of his Britannic Majesty. Duplicates of the said inventories
shall be given to the Marquis de Vaudreuil. *‘This is everything that can

be asked on this article.””
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Art. 27. The free exercise of the Catholie, Apostolic and Roman reli-
gion, shall subsist entire, in such manner that all the states and the people
of the towns and countries, places and distant posts, shall continue to
assemble in the churches, and to frequent the sacraments as heretofore, with-
out being molested in any manner, directly or indirectly. These people shall
be obliged, by the English Government, to pay their priests the tithes, and
all the taxes they were used to pay under the Government of his Most
Christian Majesty. ‘‘Granted, as to the free exercise of their religion, the
obligation of paying the tithes to the priests will depend on the King’s
pleasure.”’

Art, 37, The Lords of Manors, the military and civil officers, the Cana-
dians as well in the towns as in the country, the French settled, or trading
in the whole extent of the colony of Canada, and all other persons whatso-
ever, shall preserve the entire peaceable property and possession of the
goods, noble and ignoble, moveable and immoveable, merchandizes, furs
and other effects, even their ships; they shall not be touched, nor the least
damage done to them, on any pretence whatever. They shall have liberty to
keep, let or sell them, as well to the French as to the British; to take away
the produce of them in bills of exchange, furs, specie or other returns, when-
ever they shall judge proper to go to France, paying their freight, as in the
26th article. They shall also have the furs which are in the posts above, and
which belong to them, and may be on the way to Montreal ; and, for this
purpose, they shall have leave to send, this year, or the next, canoes fitted
out to fetch such of the said furs as shall have remained in those posts.
““Granted, as in the 26th article.”’

Art. 39. None of the Canadians, Acadians, or French, who are now
in Canada, and on the frontiers of the colony, on the side of Acadia,
Detroit, Michilimakinae, and other places and posts of the countries above,
the married and unmarried soldiers remaining in Canada, shall be carried
or transported into the British colonies, or to Gireat Britain, and they shall
not be troubled for having carried arms. ‘‘Granted, except with regard to
the Acadians.”’

Art. 40. The savages or Indian allies of his most Christian Majesty,

shall be maintained in the lands they inhabit; if they choose to remain
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there; they shall not be molested on any pretence whatsoever, for having

carried arms, and served his most Christian Majesty ; they shall have, as

well as the French, liberty of religion, and shall keep their missionaries.

The actual Viears General, and the Bishop, when the Episcopal See shall

be filled, shall have leave to send to them new missionaries when they shall
judge it necessary. ‘‘Granted, except the last article, which has been already
refused.”’

Art. 46. The inhabitants and merchants shall enjoy all the privileges
of trade, under the same favors and conditions granted to the subjeets of
his Britannic Majesty, as well in the countries above, as the interior of the
colony. ‘‘Granted.”

Major Rogers, the celebrated Commandant of the Rangers, was des-
patehed to take over the French posts on the lakes. This he satisfactorily
accomplished. Amherst established a military government, dividing the
country into three districts—Quebee, with Murray as Military Governor;
Three Rivers, under Colonel Burton; and Montreal, with Brigadier Gage,
At each centre courts of justice were formed, composed of militia officers,
with summary jurisdiction in light offences. At length peace was declared
and the treaty was finally ratified on the 10th of February, 1763.




CHAPTER VIL
THE EARLY FUR TRADE.

Practically from the beginning of French discovery in Canada the fur
trade was the great source of commercial wealth. The rights and privi-
leges of the trade were granted as monopolies to charter holders, either
individuals, or associations formed of merchants in France. The trade
extended from the littoral on the Atlantic to points as far inland as the
intrepid traders could reach, or from which Indians could be attracted with
their flotillas of canoes, It was in connection with this extensive traffic that
the Coureurs des Bois, who became a distinet element of the population
sprang.

Perhaps no better account has been given of the “‘Coureurs de Bois™
than that by Sir Alex. MacKenzie. It requires less time, says MacKenzie,
for a civilized people to deviate into the manners and customs of savage
life than for savages to rise into a state of civilization. Such was the event
with those who thus accompanied the natives on their hunting and trading
excursions, for they became so attached to the Indian mode of life that they
lost all relish for their former habits and native homes. Hence they derive
the title of *‘Coureurs de Bois,”” became a kind of pedlars, and were
extremely useful to the merchants engaged in the fur trade who gave them
the necessary credit to proceed on their commereial undertaking. Three or
four of these people would join their stock, put their property into a birch
bark canoe which they worked themselves and would then either accompany
the natives in their excursions or penetrate at once into the country. At
length these voyages extended to twelve or fifteen months, when they
returned with rich cargoes of furs, followed by great numbers of the
natives. During the short time requisite to settle their accounts with the

merchants and procure fresh credit they generally contrived to squander

away all their gains, when they returned to renew their favorite mode of

life, their views being answered, and their labors sufficiently rewarded, by
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indulging themselves in extravaganee and dissipation during the short space
of one month in twelve or fifteen. This indifference about amassing pro-
perty and the pleasure of living free from all restraint soon brought on a
licentiousness of manner which could not long escape the vigilant observa-
tion of the missionaries, who had much reason to ecomplain of their being a
disgrace to the Christian religion by not only swerving from its duties
themselves, but bringing it into disrepute with those of the natives who had
become converts thereto, and consequently obstrueting the great objeet to
which these pious men had devoted their lives. They, therefore, exerted
their influence to procure the suppression of these people, and accordingly
no one was allowed to go up the country without a license from the French
Government.

But the imposition of the licenses was followed with but insignificant
results. The licenses were acquired by the fur merchants and others inter-
ested, and these employed the Coureurs de Bois as their agents. The mili-
tary posts on the upper lakes manned by soldiers did more to repress the
excesses of the wood runners than either license or remonstrance from
Quebee. It would be a mistake to suppose that the Coureurs de Bois was
composed entirely of the lowest class of settlers or of broken or desperate
men. The fur trade presented many inducements and opportunities to the
bold and ambitious adventurer, and educated men of good social standing,

daring and adventurous, were attracted to it by the excitement and freedom

of an open air life, and association with the Indians instead of being repug-

nant to many of them produced an opposite feeling and a strong attach-
ment which bound them by strong ties to their dusky friends.

M. de Denonville says that the youths of the colony were beyond
parental control. When big enough to shoulder a gun they took to the
forest and supplied the ranks of the Coureur de Bois, adopting the life of
the Indian born to the extent of going about naked. The sons of officers
were not better in this respeet than other boys. The men were tall, well-
made, robust, active and aceustomed to hardships and frugal fare. The
women and girls were pretty, but idle from want of suitable occupation.

The Coureurs de Bois rendered great service to Canada in 1693, at a




O ————

112 HISTORY OF ONTARIO.

eritical moment, by escorting successfully the large flotilla carrying furs
from Michilimackinae to Montreal under De Louvigny.

After the cession of Canada to Britain what became of these hardy
French voyageurs, whose employment by the fur traders provided them
with an occupation? They had become too much assimilated to the life of
the Indians, among whom the most of their time had been spent, to endure
the restraints of a civilization, and consequently they allied themselves with
the Indians, becoming absorbed in the savage tribes,

The attempt, by means of companies and associations to develop the
commerce of Canada had been marked by failure. In 1664 the original
““Cent Associés’ were replaced by a company known as the “‘Compagnie
Occidentale,”” but, in 1665, the trade in furs in the province was trans-
ferred to a Canadian combination of the inhabitants, on condition of the
annual payment of a million pounds of beaver skins for the enjoyment of
the privilege. The rights which the company reserved were confirmed by
de Tracy in 1667. For some period much activity was shewn, and the
company annually employed one hundred vessels in their operations. As
they assumed the responsibility of meeting much of the expense of the
government, the trade of Tadousac was retained by them. In 1674, this

company became bankrupt, and was suppressed. On Colbert’s recommenda-

tion the debts, amounting to 3,523,000 livres, were assumed by the King,
and the shareholders were paid the amount of their investments, 1,297,000
livres. The monopoly was transferred to the Oudiette Company, which
undertook to pay the same contribution for the support of the Government,
and the tax on the commerce of the country remained unchanged. All furs
were ordered to be brought to the stores of the company, the skins being
arbitrarily valued at four livres ten sols each. It was, however, discovered
that there were different qualities of fur; eventually they were divided into

classes one, two and three, ‘“cache-gras,”’ **demi-gras’’ and ““sec.”” Char-
levoix tells us that the term ‘‘dry beaver’’ was applied to skins which had
not been used, and that ‘‘cache-gras’’ had been worn by the Indians, after
having been treated on the inside with the marrow of animals, to render it
pliable. Several skins were sewn together to form a robe, which, during

winter, was worn next the skin, never to be removed. The consequence was
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that the long hair was worn off, and the fur that remained, obtained the

appearance of what is now known as ‘‘plucked beaver.”” Fourteen or
fifteen months were necessary to obtain this result. In 1675, Oudiette
retired. Two companies were successively formed, each of which accepted
the conditions on which Oudiette had declined to continue his operations,
each in turn to be ruined. They were followed by the fermiers généraur de
France, who gathered a number of skins, but could find no market for them,
and a million skins remained unsold in their stores. In 1700 another com-
pany was formed in Canada. France, however, could purchase only 150,000
skins, and the company was not allowed to send the furs elsewhere, from
fear of injuring the business of the Paris hat-makers. In 1706 this company
became bankrupt; its debts amounted to 1,812,000 livres. The monopoly
was then given to Aubert, Neyret and Gayot. In 1715 they failed

When, in 1718, the company of Aubert, Neyret and Gayot, came to an
end, their charter was transferred to Law’s company (the famous Paris
tinancial speculator), with the privilege until the last of December, 1742, of
receiving beaver skins in Canada to the exclusion of every one else. Except
the company, no one could purchase. A beaver skin on board a vessel was
sufficient to lead to her confiscation.®

The fur trade was carried on under licenses granted to old officers
and favorites, which were sold to the inland traders. *‘The amount of trade
allowed to each license was merchandise to the amount of one thousand
crowns, to carry which, and to convey the returns, the purchaser of the
license was bound to employ two canoes, with erews of six men in each. The
seller of the license had also the right of furnishing merchandise suitable
for this trade, to the amount before mentioned, at an advanee of fifteen per
cent, upon the market price, making, with the annual price of the license,
namely, six hundred erowns, a handsome income in those times of compara-
tive economy. A successful adventure under such a license, generally gave
to the merchant a profit of 400 per cent. on the merchandise, and 600 erowns
to each of the canoemen. The canoemen were not only entitled to provi-

sions and clothing, but interested in the result of the adventure, by having a

* Kingsford.
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| legal right to divide the surplus of the returns, after the cost of license,
|

! merchandise, and 400 per cent. profit to the merchant, has been reim-
| bursed.”” At this time the average price of beaver skins at Montreal in
money was 2 livres, 13 sous, or about 2s. 3d. sterling per pound. It will thus
be seen that the Indians were cheated to a considerable extent, and they

themselves becoming aware of the fact through their intercourse with the

ﬂ British, made incessant complaints; and this probably was one great cause

of their want of faith in the French.
A large annual fair was held at Montreal where the Indians resorted in
large numbers and disposed of their furs instead of going with them to

Albany (1743). Abbe Piequet in 1750 in the course of a journey along

| the northern shore of Lake Ontario remarks on the considerable traffie

which had grown up at Toronto as it was even then called and from which

the furs were conveyed by water to Oswego.

About the middle of the seventeenth century two men appear on the
seene destined to play an important part in the fur trade of Canada; the
two French Protestant adventurers, Radisson and Groseilliers. Pierre

Esprit Radisson was born near Meaux in Franee, and Medard Chouart

| ‘“Sieur des Groseilliers’ at St. Malo in Brittany, Radisson had been cap-

tured and adopted into one of the Iroquois tribes. Chouart was an assist-
| ant at a Jesuit mission, but left its quiet for the more stirring prospects of
| a trader’s life. On the death of his first wife, who had been a daughter
j of Abraham Martin, after whom the Plains of Abraham were named, he
| married again, the widowed sister of Radisson, and this relationship knit
| them together in their enterprises in after life. They explored and traded

in the far west. In 1758 they made a two years’ trip in the west, and

returning wintered at Lake Nipigon. In the account of this journey Radis-
son states that they had not reached Hudson Bay. In 1661 the two traders
went on a fourth journey, this time without a license, which the Governor

would only grant on very severe conditions. The journey lasted two years,

which were spent in exploring the north shore of Lake Superior, and
| French writers assert that during this time they penetrated overland to
i Hudson Bay. The accounts, however, conflict with one another, and as the

statement was made probably with the object of influencing the French
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claim to the territory of Hudson Bay, it has been supposed by some writers
not to be based upon fact. Had they accomplished this the feat would have
been of too important a character not to be emphasized by the explorers,
but the passage in Radisson’s journal does not lead one to suppose that the
partners reached the Canadian sea, and he says:—

““We went away with all haste possible to arrive the sooner at ye great
river. We came to the seaside, where we finde an old house all demolished
and battered with bullets. We were told yt those that came there were of
two nations, one of the wolf and the other of the long-horned beast. All
those nations are distinguished by the representation of the beasts and
animals. They tell us particulars of the Europeans. We know oursdlves
and what Europe is life, therefore in vaine they tell us as for that. We
went from isle to isle all that summer. We pluckt abundance of ducks as
of other sort of fowles; we wanted not fish nor fresh meat. We weare well
beloved and weare overjoyed that we promised them to come with such
shipps as we invented. This place has a great store of cows. The wild men
kill not except for necessary use. We went further in the bay to see the
place that they weare to pass that summer. That river comes from the lake
and empties itself in ye river of Sagnes (Saguenay), called Tadousack,
which is a hundred leagues in the great river of Canada, as where we are
in ye the Bay of the North. We left in this place our marks and rendezvous.
The wild men yt brought us defended us above all things, if we would come
quietly to them, that we should by no means land and so goe to the
river to the other side, that is to the north, towards the sea, telling us that
those people weare very treacherous.”

It has been pointed out that the words ‘‘we came to the sea side’” may
by no means refer to the Canadian Sea, as Radisson frequently used the

"

terms ‘‘sea and lake’’ interchangeably, while other passages of his journal
would lead to the conclusion that he had not seen the waters of Hudson Bay.

On the return of the explorers to Quebee Groseilliers was arrested for
illicit trading, and both he and Radisson were fined ten thousand pounds,

four thousand to be spent on the erection of a fort at Three Rivers and six

thousand to augment the general revenue. Against this sentence the part-

ners appealed to France, and while in Paris made fruitless efforts to inter-
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est the Government there in Hudson Bay trade. They returned to Quebec,
and finding no satisfaction there any more than they had found in Paris,
they made overtures to the British, going to Port Royal in 1664 and thence
to Boston. It is to be noted that they made no claim at Boston of having
been at Hudson Bay, but stated that while in the territory north of Lake
Superior they had been assured by the Indians that Hudson Bay could be
reached. This visit resulted in the fitting out of a ship in which they sailed
to the entrance of Hudson’s Straits when the expedition was abandoned.
While endeavoring to organize another expedition and meeting much dis-
appointment, they met the two Royal Commissioners sent out from Britain
to adjust disputes which had arisen between New England and New York.
Sir George Carteret was one of these Commissioners and by him Radisson
and Groseilliers were persuaded to go to London and organize an expedition
there. Sir (GGeorge was a man of considerable standing, being Vice-Cham-
berlain to the King and treasurer to the navy. He and the Frenchimen
sailed together for London and on the way were captured by a Dutch ship
from which they were landed in Spain and were consequently delayed from
reaching England. On the 25th of Oectober, 1666, Carteret’s influence pro-
cured for the two partners an audience with King Charles, who promised
them a ship with which to make a voyage to Hudson Bay. One year, how-
ever, and then another passed and for various reasons the expedition did not
set out. The interest of a number of influential merchants had been in the
meantime aroused and the influence of Prince Rupert, the King's eousin,
secured in the enterprise. Thus came into existence the famous Hudson's
Bay Company. The first stock book is dated 1667, and first on the list of
shareholders is the name of James, Duke of York, afterwards King. Second
is the name of Prince Rupert, each for £300. Among others whose names
appear on the first list are the Duke of Albemarle, the Earl of Craven, the
Earl of Arlington, the Earl of Shaftsbury, Sir John Robinson, Sir George
Carteret, Sir Robert Vyner, Sir Peter Colleton, all for substantial amounts.
The last named is eredited with £96 for cash paid to Radisson and Groseil-
liers on account of their having been the originators of the company. The

company having been thus organized sent two ships, the Eaglet’’ and the

«Nonsuch Ketch’’ on a trading expedition to the Bay. Groseillers was on the
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“‘Nonsuch’’ and Radisson on the ‘‘ Eaglet.”” The latter abandoned the trip
when approaching Hudson’s Straits, but the ‘‘Nonsuch Keteh’' made the
voyage, reaching the south end of the Bay on September 29th, 1668, and
landed on the River Nemisco, which in honor of their patron they named
Prince Rupert’s River. They held a conference with the native Indians,
and with their approval built a stone fort which they named Charles Fort
after King Charles. This was the first fort built on the shores of Hudson
Bay, and the beginning of the great fur trade by way of the northern route.
The party passed the winter in their quarters, and in April, 1669, returned
to London, calling at Boston on the way after a most successful voyage.
The company now applied for a charter, which was granted by the King
on 2nd May, 1670. Eighteen incorporators are named and the full title of
the company in the charter is ** The Governor and Company of Adventurers
of England’ trading into Hudson Bay.

Henry Hudson left the Thames on his famous voyage of discovery in
April, 1610, and in August of the same year he entered the great Canadian
sea, which has so long borne his name, and sailing south to James Bay
wintered there, and fell a vietim to his mutinous erew when about to return,
who cast himself and some of those who remained faithful to him, adrift in
a small boat, to perish.

James Bay, of special interest at present to Ontario, begins at Cape
Jones on the east side and Cape Henrietta Maria on the west, and runs
south about three hundred and fifty miles, with an average breadth of about
one hundred and fifty miles. The east side of Hudson Bay, including its
southern prolongation, is known as the Eastmain Coast. Between Cape
Jones and Cape Dufferin, on the Portland Promontory, and again in

approaching Cape Wolstenholme, at the northern termination of this coast

the land is high and bold, some parts attaining an dlevation of nearly two

thousand feet above the sea. The country on the southwest side of the
main bay as well as that lying to the west of James Bay, is low and gener-
ally level, with shallow water extending a long distanee out from the shore.
Both sides of Hudson’s Strait are high and rocky, but the northern is less
preeipitous than the southern. The monopoly of trade was given to *‘The
Jovernor and Company of Adventurers of England trading into Hudson
Bay.”
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According to Professor Bryce the correct designations of the company
and the Bay are *‘The Hudson’s Bay Company’’ and ‘‘ Hudson Bay.'' The
rights and privileges under the charter were comprehensive and ineluded
‘“the whole trade of all those seas, straights and bays, rivers, lakes, crecks
and sounds in whatsoever latitude they shall be that lie within the entrance
of the straights commonly called Hudson’s Straights, together with all lands,
countries and territories upon the coasts and confines of the seas, straights,
bays, lakes, rivers, creeks and sounds aforesaid which are not now actually
possessed by any of our subjects or by the subjects of any other Christian

Prince or State.”” The language of this charter covered a vast territory,
including that drained by the rivers passing through northern Ontario into
James Bay and in due course trading posts were erected within that portion
of their territory. The company received its extraordinary extent of land
in free and common socage, that is, as absolute proprietors, and had also the
power to make laws to govern all persons upon their lands, and the author-
ity to administer justice, whether civil or eriminal according to the laws of
Great Britain. The company was fully empowered to send ships of war,
men and ammunition into their plantations, to appoint and issue commis-
sions to the officers commanding such expeditions and within their territory

enjoyed ‘‘the whole entire and only liberty of trade and traffic.”” Antiei-
pating a little, Dr. Bryee’s summing up of this remarkable company may
be quoted: ‘‘The Hudson’s Bay Company was a keen trader as the motto
‘Pro Pelle Cutem’—*skin for skin'—clearly implies. With this no fault can
be found, the more that its methods were nearly all honorable British
methods. It never forgot the flag that floated over it, one of the greatest
testimonies in its favor was that when two centuries after its organization
it gave up, except as a purely trading company, its power in Canada, yet
its authority over the widespread Indian population of Rupert’s Land was
80 great that it was asked by the Canadian Government to retain one-twen-
tieth of the land of that wide domain as a guarantee of its assistance in
transferring power from the old to the new regime.”

The organization of this formidable company and the success attending

their ventures in Hudson Bay aroused the jealousy of the French in Can-

ada, and representations were made to Paris. Duchesnau, the Intendant,
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was instructed to challenge the right of the British to erect factories on
Hudson Bay. Radisson and Groseilliers, who had in the meantime returned

to the French service, were sent to Canada in 1681, when they organized

the Northern Company, and fitted out two small ships for Hudson Bay

in 1682, Radisson and Groseilliers accompanied the ships and appeared
before Charles Fort from which they passed to the west side of the bay and
entered the Hayes River, where they built Fort Bourbon, from which they
returned to Quebee in the following year with a shipload of peltries.
Governor Denonville did everything that lay in his power to encourage the
Northern Company, and set about to organize an overland expedition to
Hudson Bay with the object of destroying the British forts there. The
idea was gladly taken up and soon an expedition was organized under the
leadership of Lemoyne D'Iberville. The party left the St. Lawrence in
March, 1685, travelling by the streams running across the Laurentian range
and after nearly three months’ hard as well as tedions travel they reached
their destination. The first attack was made on the fort which had been
built at the mouth of Moose River. The place was fairly fortified, having
four bastions and manned by fourteen guns. It speedily fell before the
French, who also captured and threw down the fortifications of Charles
Fort at the mouth of Prince Rupert’s River. Fort Albany, with furs to
the value of fifty thousand erowns, surrendered after a slight resistance and
Port Nelson now remained the only post in the hands of the company. These
captures were made when France and England were nominally at peace
and were made the subject of negotiations between the two powers. Yet
although a treaty of neutrality was signed in 1686 the French did not
restore the forts, the occupancy of which changed hands according to the
ascendency of either power for the time being until in terms of the Treaty
of Utrecht in 1713 France restored the posts to the company and provided
that satisfaction should be given for damages inflicted by the French in time
of peace. The effect of the company's operations was to attract to itself the
fur trade which had hitherto gone from northern Ontario in the Lake Super-
ior region to Montreal by the St. Lawrence,

In 1717 M. de Vaudreuil sent Sieur de la Noue to the west to establish
a post at Kaministiquia and from that centre cultivate the fur trade and
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divert it as much as possible from the sea route. De la Noue found the
Indian still friendly to the French and ready to bring his furs to their
newly established post. The founding of the post of the Sioux took place
in 1727. The fort on Lake Nipigon was the rendezvous of many of the
Indians who gave up trading with Hudson’s Bay Company in favor of the
French. Then came Verandrye’s great exploration, his goal being a western
sea. His route lay by the Pigeon River, known as the Grand Portage,
which he entered and reached Rainy Lake in 1731, At the head of Rainy
River he built Fort St. Pierre. He then returned and wintered at Kamin-
istiquia. In the following year he passed Fort St. Pierre and descended the
Rainy River into the Lake of the Woods, then called Minitie, on the south-
west side of which he built Fort St. Charles, hoping to secure thereby trade
with the Sioux. From this point he passed on to Lake Winnipeg by the
River Maurepas in 1733. Then followed Verandrye’s great journey into
the heart of the prairies in 1738, the original account of which has been
sceured for the Canadian archives,

After the conquest new elements entered into the great Canadian fur
trade, the more prominent being a number of Seottish merchants in Mont-
real, including Alexander Henry, Thomas Curry and James Finlay, also
Benjamin and James Frobisher, two Englishmen who became famous
traders. By this time Nepigon and Kaministiquia had largely given place
to Grand Portage, where as early as 1783 about 500 men were employed by
the Montreal merchants in the fur trade. In 1784 the celebrated North-
West Company, composed of these Montreal merchants, was formed in
order to meet effectually the operations of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
Still another company of Montrealers was formed, which included the
famous Sir Alexander MacKenzie, the explorer. These two companies eon-
dueted a large and lucrative business, and were, generally speaking, on
fair terms, but their interests blended, and in 1787 a union between them
was effected, leading to the extension of business in the far west. In 1788
the gross trade of the united Montreal companies was forty thousand
pounds. Before the end of the century that amount was more than trebled,

A year’s production at that time would be about one hundred and six

thousand beavers, thirty-two thousand martins, eleven thousand mink,
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seventeen thousand musquash, not less than one hundred and eighty-four
thousand skins.

These united Canadian companies entered on their career practically at
the same time as Ontario became the Provinee of Upper Canada, and their
operations were condueted largely through Ontario routes, while their head-
quarters were in Ontario territory,

The Jay Treaty, of 1794, seemed to require the transference of all the
British forts in United States territory within two years, and as the Grand
Portage was on the side of the United States, the North-West Company was
considerably disturbed. It was then that David Thompson’s services were
taken advantage of.

David Thompson was born in London, and was educated at the Blue Coat
School there. Ile was a thorough mathematician and was a master in the
use of astronomical instruments. He had been in the service of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company and explored for it in the far west, but the work of
surveying, in which he was engaged for that company, having been dis-
continued, he resigned and took up a position in the service of the North-
West fur traders as astronomer and surveyor.

It is interesting to recall the special work assigned to him. (1) He was
structed to survey the forty-ninth parallel of latitude. This involved a
question which had greatly perplexed the diplomatists, viz., the position of
the source of the Mississippi. The fact that the sources were a factor in
the settling of the boundary line at this time made it necessary to have
cxpert testimony on the question such as could be furnished by a survey by
Thompson. (2) The surveyor was to go to the Missouri and visit the ancient
villages of the natives who dwelt there and who practised agriculture. (3)
In the interests of science and history, to inquire for the fossils of large
animals, and to search for any monuments that might throw a light on the
ancient state of the regions traversed. (4) It was his special duty to deter-
mine the exact position of the posts of the North-West Company visited by
him, and all agents and employés were instrueted to render him every assist-
ance in his work,

The observation for Grand Portage he found to be 48 degrees north

latitude and 89 deg. 34 (ncarly) W. long. He took up the duties of his
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position without delay and proceeding westward with a brigade of canoes he
traversed and took observations along Rainy River, Lake of the Woods,
Winnipeg River, Lake Winnipeg and westward, wintering at Belleaus
Fort. Early the next summer he journeyed southward and eastward to
Assiniboine House, where John MeDonnell, brother of Miles MeDonnell,
was in charge. Here he transeribed his journals in ink, made his maps,
wrote out his astronomical observations and crayon sketches.

He then explored the Mandan villages on the Missouri River in a
dangerous journey covering two hundred and eighty miles, the record of
which is most interesting. His next expedition was a survey of the Red
River, for which he left Assiniboine House about the close of February,
1798. In ten days he covered a distance of one hundred and sixty-mmne
miles along the Assiniboine River, reaching its junction with the Red
River at the point where the City of Winnipeg now stands, but then was not
even a site of a trading post. On the 7th of March he began the survey.
Seven days brought him to Penbima post near the 49th parallel, and he
marked the international boundary line so that the trading post might be
moved to the north of it when required. He then pushed southward and
continued his survey of the river, which having accomplished, he proceeded
to find the source of the great Mississippi River, passing by Turtle Lake on
his way. At the time of the Treaty of 1783 Turtle Lake was believed to be
further north than the northwest angle of the Lake of the Woods. Thomp-
son explains that this belief arose from the voyageurs counting a pipe to
a league at the end of which it was their custom to take a rest, The length
of time taken to smoke a pipe, however, was nearer two miles than three, so
that the head waters of the Mississippi had been counted one hundred and
twenty-eight miles further north than Thompson found them to be.
Thompson, however, was mistaken in thinking that Turtle Lake was the

source of the great river which was discovered in 1832 to be Lake Itasca,

about half a degree southwest of Turtle Lake.* Thompson thereafter oper-

ated onwards to Lake Superior and reported at Grand Portage after an
absence of two years, and his invaluable services were most cordially recog-
nized by the company.

* Dr. Bryce.




HISTORY OF ONTARIO. 123

In 1805 Thompson, in the employment of the now united company,
operated in the far west and crossed the Rockies in 1806, returning to
Grand Portage in 1808. In 1809 he explored southward on the Columbia
River, after which he, by forced journeys, went eastward as far as Rainy
Lake in 1810. He again returned that year, going to Athabaska, and dis-
covered Athabaska Pass. From July of the following year he began the
descent of the Columbia, and at the junction of the Spokane River he
erected a pole and claimed the country to the north of it for Britain. Con-
tinuing to the mouth of the Columbia he found the United States Company
settled at their post of Astoria. Disappointed at being thus forestalled, he
returned northward. Soon after this he abandoned western exploration and
settled at Terrebonne, Quebee, where he prepared the great map of the
country that is known by his name. For many years it hung on the walls
of the company’s banqueting room at Fort William, but it is now, with his
voluminous journals and papers, in the possession of the Ontario Govern-
ment. He lived for many years at the River Raisin, near Williamstown,
Ontario, and at the age of 87 died at Longueil in 1857. Not the least
important of his brilliant work was that done in defining the boundary
line between Ontario and the United States, in which his great ability as
an expert surveyor, combined with his natural shrewdness, his extensive
knowledge of Canadian water-ways and his never-failing vigilance in deal-
ing with the astute representatives of an aggressive power saved him from
weak compromise and the sacrificing of the interests of his own country
to the desires, and sometimes to the efforts, of the party of the second part.
Two extracts from his letters may not be out of place here as illustrating the
importance of this service and the capable manner in which it was per-
formed: *“ When the survey was undertaken to decide the place of the above
boundary line, several important questions arose not contemplated in the
Treaty, among which was that, as the middle of the river is a line an equal
distance from both banks of the river, this line would often intersect

islands which would give a boundary line on land, under circumstances very

inconvenient to each power, especially on civil and eriminal processes, illicit
trade, ete. It was, therefore, determined that to whatever power the greater

part of an intersected island should belong, that power should have the whole
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of the island, and thus avoid all the above evils. This decision was approved
and confirmed by the Foreign Office and at Washington. It may be said, by
following the middle of the greatest navigable channel, a boundary line
could have been readily established; but on my great surveys of this con-
tinent to the latitude of 60 degrees north, I examined almost all the great
rivers from their sources to the eastern seas or Pacific Ocean, and found them
all obeying the same physical law with the great rivers in Europe and in a
bolder manner. On this continent the deep channel for five miles out of
six miles will be found on the north side of the river. After the survey
was finished this truth was forced on the United States Commissioner, and
he insisted on the middle of the deep channel for the boundary line, but
was kept to the letter of the Treaty. . . . The Treaty of 1783 gave peace
to the United States, but their treasuries were exhausted. To raise money,
the State of New York sold to the Holland Company large tracts of land,
among which were all the islands of the River Cataraqui from St. Regis to
Lake Ontario, which, by the boundary to be drawn, should belong to the
State of New York. The several naval commanders who had been in charge
of Kingston Harbor, the vessels on the lakes, ete., had sent to the Admiralty
from time to time their opinions on the necessity of securing to Great
Britain certain islands for the protection of the navy, ete, at Kingston.
These were transmitted to the Foreign Office and forwarded to the British
Commissioners, and every place pointed out by the Admiralty for the safety
of our navy, ete., was obtained, the principal of which was Grande Isle
(Wolfe Island), opposite to Kingston. By the Treaty, this island belonged
to the United States, and on account of the Holland Company was con-
sidered hopeless, but at the time the division of the islands took place, cer-
tain peculiar eircumstances happened, which enabled the British Commis-
sioners to exchange Grande Isle above the Niagara Falls for Grande Isle
opposite Kingston on condition of indemnifying the Holland Company by
giving up British isles to make up 13,3594 acres, the difference in area
between the two islands. This will account for several islands in the River
Cataraqui being placed on the side of the United States.”

Meanwhile a new company sprang up in Montreal, and in a short time

entered on a career of aggressive rivalry with the North-West Company. It
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was formed in 1795 and came to be known as the X Y Company. It
shadowed its rival company at many points, building its trading house at
Grand Portage and afterwards at Kaministiquia, following the North-
Westers there. Eventually Sir Alex. MacKenzie threw in his lot with them
and until the removal of Simon MeTavish in 1804 the keenest competition
prevailed. McTavish’s death prepared the way for a union of the three
companies, and as the list of the partners of the new North-West Company
thus formed contains many names interesting in our early history, they are
here reproduced : Alex. MacKenzie, Thomas Forsyth, John Richardson, John
Inglis, James Forsyth, John Muir, John Forsyth, Alex. Ellis, John Haldane,
John Finlay, Duncan Cameron, James Hughes, Alex. McKay, Hugh Me-
Gillis, Alex, Henry, Jr., John MeGillivray, James MacKenzie, Simon Fraser,
John D. Campbell, D. Thompson, John Thompson, John Gregory, William
MeGillivray, Dunecan MeGillivray, Thomas Forsyth, Leith Jamieson & Co.,
John Ogilvie, P. D. Rochebalne, Alex. McKenzie (2), John Maecdonald,
James Leith, John Willis, William Hallowell, Rod. MacKenzie, Angus Shaw,
DI. MeKenzie, Wm. McKay, John McDonald, Donald MeTavish, John Me-
Donnell, Arch. N. MeLeod, Alex. MeDougall, Chas, Chaboillez, John Sayer,
Peter Grant, Alex. Fraser, Aeneas Cameron,

In a journey from the west to Upper Canada in 1797 Rod. McKenzie,
a cousin of Sir Alexander, was made aware by an Indian family near Rainy
Lake of a route suitable for large canoes a little farther north of Rainy
Lake. Following the course indicated he arrived at the mouth of the
Kaministiquia. The route was the old French route, although it had in the
interval been completely forgotten. In 1800 the North-West Company built
a fort called the New Fort at the mouth of the Kaministiquai, and in 1803
moved their headquarters thither from Grand Portage, and now, when the
North-West and X. Y. Companies had united, the name New Fort was
changed to Fort William in honor of the Honorable Wm. MeGillivray, the
leading member of the company. Fort William became the great head-
quarters of the western trade and was the scene of stirring ineidents con-
nected therewith for many years. It is of special interest at this interval
of time to read the description of it given by Franchere, a French Canadian
of respectable family, who had been engaged by the Astor Company at
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Astoria. In crossing the continent eastward he passed Fort William, and a
translation of his description is thus reproduced by Dr. Bryee:—

““Fort William has really the appearance of a fort from the palisade
fifteen feet high, and also that of a pretty village from the number of
buildings it encloses. In the middle of a spacious square stands a large
building, elegantly built, though of wood, the middle door of which is
raised five feet above the ground plot, and in the front of which runs a long
gallery. In the centre of this building is a room about sixty feet long and
thirty wide, decorated with several paintings, and some portraits in erayon
of a number of the partners of the company. It is in this room that the
agents, the clerks, and the interpreters take their meals at different tables.
At each extremity of the room are two small apartments for the partners.”

““The back part of the house is occupied by the kitchen and sleeping
apartments of the domestics. On each side of this building there is another
of the same size, but lower; these are divided lengthwise by a corridor, and
contain each twelve pretty sleeping rooms. One of these houses is intended
for the partners, the other for the clerks.

““On the east side of the Fort there is another house intended for the

same purpose, and a large building in which furs are examined and where

they are put up in tight bales by means of a p! Behind, and still on

the same side, are found the lodges of the guides, another building is of
grey stone, and roofed in with tin, In the corner stands a kind of bastion
or point of observation.

““On the west side is seen a range of buildings, some of which serve for
stores and others for shops. There is one for dressing out the employés;
one for fitting out canoes; one in which merchandise is retailed; another
where strong drink, bread, lard, butter, and cheese are sold, and where
refreshments are given out to arriving voyageurs. This refreshment con-
sists of a white loaf, a half pound of butter, and a quart of rum. The voy-
ageurs give to this liquor store the name ‘Cantine Salope.’

‘“‘Behind is found still another row of buildings, one of which is used
as an office or counting-house; and a third as a prison. The voyageurs give
to the last the name ‘Pot au beurre.” At the southeast corner is a stone

shed roofed with tin. Farther back are the workshops of the carpenters,
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tinsmiths, blacksmiths and their spacious courts or sheds for sheltering the
canoes, repairing them, and constructing new ones.

‘“‘Near the gate of the fort, which is to the south, are the dwelling-
houses of the surgeon and resident clerk. Over the entrance gate a kind of
guard-house has been built.  As the river is deep enough at its entrance, the
company has had quays built along the fort as a landing place for the
schooners kept on Lake Superior for transporting peltries, merchandise and
provisions from Fort William to Sault Ste. Marie and vice versa.

“There are also on the other side of the river a number of houses, all
inhabited by old French-Canadian voyageurs, worn out in the service of the
North-West Company, without having become richer by it. Fort William
is the principal factory of the North-West Company in the interior and a
general rendezvous of the partners. The agents of Montreal and the pro-
prietors wintering in the north nearly all assemble here every summer and
receive the returns, form expeditions and discuss the interests of their
commeree,

““The employés wintering in the north spend also a portion of the sum-
mer at Fort William. They form a great encampment to the west, outside
the palisades. Those who are only engaged at Montreal to go to Fort Wil-
liam or to Rainy Lake, and who do not winter in the north, oceupy another
space on the east side. The former give to the latter the name ‘mangeurs
de lard.” A remarkable difference is observed between the two camps,
which are composed of three or four hundred men each. That of the
‘mangeurs de lard’ is always very dirty and that of the winterers neat and
clean.”

Since these days a great transformation has taken place. Instead of
the canoe of the voyageur, with its load of furs, steam railways carry the
traffic not only of a western empire, but of that China a western passage to
which lured Columbus to immortality and was the lodestar of French
explorers in Canada and navigators of the Northern Sea for centuries, to
and fro by Fort William and its twin neighbor Port Arthur; while mighty
steamships traversing the Great Lakes lay their cargoes on its docks. Huge
elevators receive the world’s best cereals from the boundless prairies for
transhipment to the markets of the world, and it was but yesterday that

e
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having more than the requisite population the Legislature of Ontario con-
ferred upon Fort William, the pretty Village of Franchere, the dignity of a
city, an honor also bestowed at the same time on Port Arthur, its friendly
rival in the strenuous expansion and enlightened enterprise of trade and
commerce. Reverting to the times of the fur trade and the North-West
Company Fort William soon became a great trading centre and ranked with
the great stations of the Hudson’s Bay Company at York or Albany, and
from it the operations of the company in the far west were directed, the
success of which awakened opposition movements of a serious character,
one in which the celebrated Earl Selkirk played the leading part.

The story of the Hudson's Bay Company or of the North-West Com-
pany brings out the fact that many of those employed in the various grades
of the service were from the north or the Highlands of Secotland, Orkney
and Shetland, a hardy adventurous race which gave of its best to the famous
Highland Regiments, to the navy and to the fleets of commerce. The condi-
tion of things in their homeland had undergone a great change and emigra-
tion was rendered necessary in order to escape the operation of illiberal
land laws. Earl Selkirk, a Douglas of Borders, in his early years became
deeply interested in the problem presented by the social state of the High-
lands, and he believed he found a remedy in emigration on a large scale
to the fertile prairies of the Canadian west. Sir Alexander MacKenzie's
books had awakened his interest and he projected a scheme to carry his
views on emigration to Canada into execution. He considered the great
monopoly of the Hudson’s Bay Company as the chief obstacle to the settle-
ment of the prairies and his sympathies went out to the North-West Com-
pany. He said that if the Nor’ Westers were allowed the free navigation of
Hudson Bay they might extend their traffic from sea to sea and send home
more than double the value then derived from the trade. He made repre-
sentations to the British Government, but his project fell on deaf ears. He
thus began his connection with Canada and the fur trade from the patriotie
motive of helping the Highland erofters, and as a matter of faet, in 1803,
he organized a contingent of emigrants numbering 800 for Nelson River.

He was stopped by the British Government, who did not consider the far

west suitable for such a large settlement and compelled him to choose a
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location for his colony nearer the Atlantic. He selected Prince Edward
Island, and after some initial difficulties the settlers there became prosper-
ous. Selkirk visited them and went on to Montreal, where he was well
received by the fur merchants, and what he saw of them confirmed him as to
the great possibilities of the distant west, both for an expansion of the fur
trade and the settlement of farmers.

It may be stated here that Selkirk placed several settlements in Ontario,
one of over a hundred being founded at Bear Creek, in the County of Kent.
It was called Baldoon. Another was made at Moulton, Haldimand County,
near the mouth of the Grand River. Finding the Hudson’s Bay Company’s
monopoly an obstacle to settlements in the west, he set about to get control
of the company by purchasing its stock. But before doing so he obtained
an opinion from a number of the leading lawyers of the day *‘that the grant
of soil contained in the Charter is good, and that it will include ail the
country, the waters of which run into Hudson Bay, as ascertained by geo-
graphical observation.”” He then proceeded to obtain a controlling interest
in the stock. The Nor’ Westers became alarmed when their quondam friend
and guest had become Governor of their great rival company, and they
choose to regard his emigration schemes as having, not the improvement of
the social condition of the Highlands, but the expansion of the Hudson's
Bay Company’s trade as their impelling motive. Thus began the antagon-
ism so injurious in its results and so regretable in its course, Selkirk’s first
thought was colonization without a doubt, for when he had secured control
of the company his first act was to obtain a large tract of land on the Red
River for a crofter settlement, the hard experiences of which we need not
follow, nor the commercial warfare between the great companies and the
troubles it gave rise to in the west. It may be mentioned, however, that the
Nor’ Westers in their efforts to break up the settlement induced about 130
to abandon their new home and to accompany them to Fort William. About
one half of the number returned while the rest continued the hard and
hazardous journey to the settled portions of Ontario, and some of them in
1820 settled at West Gwillimbury, in the County of Simcoe; others went on
to the Township of Aldborough, in the County of Elgin, where they settled.

9
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After the fatal collision in 1816 when Governor Semple of the Hudson's
! Bay Company and others were killed, the little settlement at Red River was
" again seattered, and a few of them travelled eastward to southern Ontario.
‘ These troubles brought Selkirk himself out to Canada, and while at Sault
j Ste, Marie he heard of Semple’s murder, He had taken with him from
J Montreal, for the protection of his colony, eighty of the men who had been
‘i members of the De Meuron Regiment, and from Kingston twenty men of
| the De Watteville Regiment, These corps had been sent out to assist in the
1 war of 1812, and were made up of continental troops. When he heard the

news of the proceedings of the Nor” Westers on the Red River, he proceeded

to Fort William, and in his capacity as a magistrate in Canada arrested

l some of the Nor' Westers, to some extent using foree, and it would seem
without the due formalities of law. Ilis appearance at his settlement on the
| Red River restored confidenee and order, but the troubles between him and

I the North-West Company were of an extremely grave character, and it

became a matter of moment to both the Nor" Westers and the Hudson's Bay

Company that an arrangement should be effected whereby old scores should

| be wiped off and an honorable course of business pursued for the future.

This fact led in 1821 to the amalgamation of the companies. The Hon.

| Edward Ellice, a prominent Nor’ Wester, proved himself an influential and
able mediator, and the negotiations owed their successful termination in no
" small degree to the wise manner in which he conducted them.

After the union of the companies the headquarters were removed from
Fort William to Norway House on Lake Winnipeg, and so far as Ontario
is concerned the publie interest in the operations gradually diminished,
| except in so far as the northern portion of the provinece was drawn upon

from Moose Factory to which the stations in the north contributed.

| These stations now are: Michipicoten, Batchewana, Lake Nipigon, Fort
, William, Pigeon River, Lacloche, Little Current, Mississangie, Green Lake,
| Whitefish Lake, Sault Ste. Marie, Moose Factory, Abitibi, Temagaminque,
j J Mattawa, Biscolosing, Flying Past, Haileybury, Mattagami, Matachewan,
| f F't. Frances, Missinabi, Kenora, Brunswick House, Narrows of Lake Abitibi.
] The Canadian fur trade did not give to France the golden harvest

which Mexico gave to Spain but from its earliest days it gave a rich return
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to those engaged in it, it was interwoven for two centuries with the life of
the country as no other gredt branch of commerce was: adapting itself to
the changing circumstances of the times, from the modes of the haughty
Iroquois to the autoeracy of a Nor’ Wester and to the more orderly demands
of civilized commerce; and still the merging streams, rising in the fifteenth,
sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, flow on in one grand current, strong
and clear to u future possibly as distant as its past is remote.
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CHAPTER VIIL
UNITED EMPIRE LOYALISTS.

No one conversant with the true story of the United Empire Loyalists
will withhold a generous tribute to their memory. But the story itself has
not been fully told, and until recently there was a danger of that brightest
episode in the history of our people being all but forgotten. There were
several reasons for the seeming neglect. In the first place, in the hasty
departure from their old homes but few papers could be taken away, the
preservation of which would illumine the losses and privations they suffered,
and in the second place, after those who had found a resting place in Can-
ada had settled on British soil they had to face the task of hewing out new
homes for themselves in the unbroken forest, and there was little consonance
between the stern toil of the clearing, with its constant vicissitudes, and the
writing of past woes, however keenly felt. It was, consequently, some time
ere the story reached the public on the printed page, and when it did it was
bereft of many particulars material to the case and interesting to the narra-
tive. Of recent years the descendants of the Loyalists have been active in
the praiseworthy duty of rescuing papers, and recollections bearing on the
part played so nobly and well by their forefathers, and the accumulation
of this material aid in rendering justice to the brave men and women
who first risked their all for the sake of the prineiples they held sacred, and
having sunk in the struggle, faced the fate, rendered unnecessarily cruel by
greed and persecution, that was in store for them without flinching, and
with a heroism possible only in character of a high quality.

The causes which led to the revolutionary war were many, and some of
them of slow growth. It was not unnatural that as time passed on
the tie between the colonies and the mother land should weaken. It

was natural that a people mostly drawn from Great Britain should desire

self government in a measure consistent with their self respect and what
they considered the necessities of their commercial development, and such
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aspirations Great Britain would be the last to deny. There were others who
were tinged with the doctrines of red republicanism. There were those
who inherited hostility to Great Britain and her institutions, and others

again forming a not inconsiderable portion of the population, who cherished

what they considered the wrongs of their fathers and the oppression of the

Cromwellian wars and, of course, there were the political agitators ready to
make use of any ery which they could turn to momentary advantage. But
alongside of these and greatly predominating in numbers were men of a
different stamp; men who realized what Great Britain had done for the
colonies. IHow when the torpid colonial legislators had failed through
indifference or selfish greed, or both combined, to proteet their frontier
from the inhuman raids of the Indian, or their borders from the aggressions
of the French, British blood and treasure had been generously poured out
on their behalf. There were men who still cherished a love for the great
institutions of the Motherland, who believed in the monarchical form of
government, and whose loyalty to their sovereign could not be tainted. Not
that some of these did not share in the feeling of discontent which existed
with respect to the measures which pressed upon the colony and called for
a remedy, but while prepared to protest, it was with the object of persuad-
ing to better things in a constitutional manner than by resistance to con-
stituted authority. These men were actuated by high prineiples, and it was
to vindicate those principles that they stood by Great Britain in the struggle
known as the Revolutionary War.

A letter from Montealm, which enters into the literature of this subject
is of more than passing interest. He writes: ‘I console myself, neverthe-
less, for the prospeet of my own defeat, and of the loss of the colony, by my
firm conviction that this defeat will prove in the long run better than a vie-
tory for France, and that the conqueror, England, will find a tomb in her
own conquest. This may appear a paradox, but a little reflection and a
glance at the political situation in North America will prove the correctness
of my opinion. A large portion of the English colonists are the children
of men who left England during the period of the civil war, and betook
themselves to America to find a country where they might live and die in

freedom and independence. I know them thoroughly, not by hearsay, but
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|
by means of sure information and correspondence which I have arranged
myself, and which, if my life had been prolonged, I had meant to have
| turned to the advantage of France. In fact all the English colonists would
i I ‘ have shaken off the yoke long ago, and every one of them would have become
| an independent little republie had it not been for the fear of France at
| their doors. As between two masters they preferred their own fellow-
countrymen to foreigners, taking care, meanwhile, to render no more
obedience than they could help; but if Canada is conquered, and if the
Canadians and the English colonies become one people the very first occa-

and interfere with their interests, do

[ sion on which England will appe:
l you suppose the colonists will obey her?! What have they to fear if they
! revolt? I am so perfectly certain of the truth of what I have written that I

will only allow ten years after the conquest of Canada to see my predictions

accomplished. Now you see the reason which consols me as a Frenchman tor
the imminent danger France is incurring of seeing Canada lost forever.’’

Many of the Loyalists had taken part in the struggle for supremacy in
North America between Great Britain and Franee on the side of the former

power and shared in the glories of the British victories. The Conquest of

Canada took place only fifteen years before the colonies had decided to

i renounce their British allegianee, and the veterans who had helped to main-

tain the honor of the British arms at Louisburg, Quebee, and on other hard
I 2 " .

t i | fought fields, were not likely to lag behind when the British flag was again

unfurled.

But not only those who had been trained to arms, but men of all classes

| 111 and callings rallied to the cause which, above everything else, was supreme
|
J i to their conscience, their reason, and their hearts. It was the cause of the
| . : - . ;
a1l unity of the British race on the North American continent, and of the integ-

| rity of the British Empire. To them Imperial sentiment meant a great

deal ; by it they understood rehigious and political liberty and the blessings

which they associated with the great institutions of their race. In their
time Great Britain represented the higher blessings of eivilization more than

did any other nation or country on the continent of Europe, for no other

, and the

nation stood as Great Britain did sponsor for human prog

l ﬁ advancement of enlightened rule.  The time was also rife with great move-




HISTORY OF ONTARIO. 135

ments on the chessboard of the world. Kingdoms changed, and the destines
of nations were thrown in the uncertain alembic of fate. The men who
appreciated the vast sweep of the British empire understood the great pos-
sibilities of their own continent under the control of a united British race,

working in harmony and living in peace. No one now denies that the very

best elements of the population, the men of large views and high prineiples,

the men who could saerifice their all for their prineiples, speaking of the
people as a whole, were those who stood faithfully and loyally on the British
side. The line of division between the Loyalists and revolutionists
soon became marked, and the revolutionists beecame aggressive, expos-
ing the Loyalists to petty annoyance and sometimes even to the con-
fiscation of their property; and the Declaration of Independence
threw them into bitterly opposing camps, and the horrors of civil war
were loosened. No doubt there was some bad blood, attacks, and repri-
sals, for which the blame was equally shared, but the revolutionists were, as
a rule, the aggressive party of destruction. Popular meetings assumed the
powers of legislatures and of government, and disposed arbitrarily, and
illegally, of the property and persons of their fellow citizens who differed
from them. Liberty of speech, freedom of opinion, right of public meeting,
were denied to the Loyalists, their eivil rights were abrogated, and they,
themselves, treated as aliens and fugitives, Instead of the usages recog-
nized in eivil war by civilized nations, being observed, the eruelties with
which the Loyalists were visited and the hardships they were made to
endure, were of a very different character, and can best be explained as
emanating from breasts dead to pity, and feelings hardened by the treat-
ment meted out, on the one hand to the Indian, and to the negro on the
other; for the tide of human brutality did not rise higher in the bloody
career of Clavers on the Moss-hags, or in the stained footsteps of the alien
troopers in the runs of Ireland, than it did on the banks of the Monongahela
and the Susquehanna, The men who remained peaceably at their homes were
hounded and harrassed, and thrown into vile prisons, or murdered in their
tracks, as might more easily suit the convenience of their erstwhile neigh-
bors. Their wives and tender families were pitilessly turned out of their

dwellings, to seek shelter in their helplessness wherever pity had for them
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reserved a tear. Wives and daughters were made to feel the iron rod of
indignity and insult, nor were age nor youth spared. The records of the
times are filled with the harrowing tales of wanton injury, and of suffering,
borne with the courage of despair. The amount of property lost was
enormous, and beyond a fair caleulation, for the enemy obviously kept no
strict record of his plunder. To quote from Hildreth's History of the
United States: ‘‘ As the warmth of political feeling increased the Loyalists
had been exposed to the violence of mobs and to all sorts of personal indig-
nities, in which private malice, or a wanton and insolent spirit of mischief,
had been too often gratified. Under the guise of patriotism the barbarous
and disgraceful practice of tarring and feathering, and carting Tories—
placing them in a cart and carrying them about as a sort of spectacle,—had
become in some places a favorite amusement. Those who refused to acknowl-
edge the authorities were exposed to severe penalities, confiscation of pro-
perty, imprisonment, banishment and finally death.””

There might be a possible justification of some of these outrages during
progress of the war, but that persecution and cruelties should have been
systematically indulged in after the peace, would be, were the fact not indis-
putable, hard to believe. The treatment of the Loyalists from beginning to
end by the revolutionists places the latter in a light which reveals them as
being destitute of the first prineiples of humanity, and altogether insensible
to the idea of publiec or private honor, The insatiable greed which over-
stepped all barriers in the rush for the property of the Loyalists, might
possibly be explained as the outcome of inherited marauding propensities
which would yield to the eivilizing touch of time; but for the outrages
committed on helpless individuals, and the wanton persecution of them
which was a disgraceful feature of the war, no other reason can be assigned
than that they were an evidence of the elemental characteristics of primal
barbarity. It will not, of eourse, be supposed that this characterization is
intended to be applied to the revolutionists indiscriminately. There were
among them men of high character and amiable qualities, who regretted
(and expressed their regret in no measured terms) the unholy course
pursued in the atrocities which prevailed. But they were wholly unable to

modify the evils or to restrain the violence of their fellows,




HISTORY OF ONTARIO. 137

It is questionable whether the British people realized the extent to
which the Loyalists had been made to suffer, but there was no indifference
on the part of the Government, or of Parliament, as to their condition, nor
was there any desire to overlook their just elaims to special consideration. But
it was only common justice that in arranging the terms of peace, the inter-
ests of the Loyalists should be provided for. When Lord Cornwallis capi-
tulated he sought to obtain an indemnity for the loss incurred by the
colonists who had supported the British side. HHis efforts were unavailing.
Not only so, but he was obliged to give up the Loyalists who had taken
refuge in his eamp, to the unconditional merey of their countrymen. In
negotiating the treaty of peace the British Commissioners were entrusted
with the securing of equitable terms for the Loyalists, and the obtaming, if
possible, of some restitution for the property which had been taken from
them, and the banishment they had ineurred. The mephistophelian tacties
of Benjamin Franklin defeated this design.

““The Commissioners,”’ he said, ‘‘had no such power, nor had even
Congress.”” They were willing that Congress should, with eertain modifica-
tions, recommend those indemnities to the several States; and, as one of the
negotiators from England tells us, they to the last ‘‘continued to assert that
the recommendation of Congress would have the effect we proposed.”” The
British diplomatists persevered in their original demand, and at one time
there seemed a probability that the negotiations might break off, ehtetly on
this ground. Twice was Mr. Strachey, the Under-Secretary of State, an
able and experienced man, dispateched to Paris to aid Mr. Oswald with his
counsel and co-operation, But at last the mind of Franklin, ever ingenions
and fertile of resources, devised a counter scheme. IHe said that he would
allow the losses which the Loyalists had suffered, provided another account
were opened of the mischief they had done, as of slaves carried off, or
houses burned; new Commissioners to be appointed to strike a balance
between the two computations, At this formidable proposal, involving an
endless train of discussions and disputes, the negotiators from England
finally gave way.

By the fourth, fifth and sixth Articles of the Treaty it was engaged that

Congress should earnestly recommend to the several Legislatures to pro-
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vide for the restitution of all estates belonging to real British subjects who
had not borne arms against them. All other persons were to be at liberty
to go to any of the provinees and remain there for twelve months to wind
up their affairs, Congress also recommending the restitution of their
confiscated property, on their repayment of the sums for which they had
been sold. No impediment was to be put in the way of recovering bond fide
debts; no further prosecutions were to be commeneed, no further confisea-
tions made

Franklin was extremely active in his opposition to the demand that the
Loyalists should receive any compensation for their losses, and was resource-
ful enough to sueeced. It could not be denied that the claims of the
Loyalists to compensation for loss of property were just, indeed, the fact
that the Commissioners for the colonies consented to recommend that the
several states should make restitution, is conclusive of the fact; and Dr.
Andrews well remarks that it was so sustained by historieal precedents that
Congress could not possibly plead a want of foresight that it would be made ;
adding, that no other motive but that of the basest and most barbarous

revenge could induce men to express an averseness to so humane and nee

sary a measure. It was shown that when the Duteh provinees asserted their
independence of Spain they had agreed to an act of oblivion and even
restored to those who had adhered to the eause of Spain their property of

every denomination that had been confisca

«d or the full value of it, that
Spain had twice so treated the Provinee of Catalonia, that Britain had so
acted in Ireland in the case of those who had supported James the Second.
In these instances those who had broken with the government had been

restored to their property or otherwise compensated. The conelusion is

inevitable that the refusal of the colonial Commissioners and the reason

put forward in its support was a mere pretext invented by Franklin in order
to puzzle the British Commissioners who, strangely enough, did not seem to
pereeive that if Congress had power to restrain the various provinees from
continuing the confiscation of the property of the Loyalists, which had up
till then been left untouched, Congress had equal power to enforee compen-
sation,  Any one who carefully examines the proceedings of the peace

Commissioners, sitting at Paris, will not seriously impugn the verdiet
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passed by Dr. Ryerson upon it. “‘Dr. Franklin,”' he says, *‘the most

experienced and ablest of the American diplomatists was the most crafty
and overbearing against England. At the beginning of the negotiations for
peace he demurely proposed and half converted Mr. Oswald to his proposi-
tion to concede Canada (which at that time meant all British North
America) to the United States, though his commission related simply to the
independeney of the thirteen colonies, and when the British Cabinet vetoed
this extra-official and extravagant proposition, Dr. Franklin and his eol-
leagues over-reached the ignorance and weakness of the British diplomists
by carefully construeted maps for the purpose of making the boundary
lines between the proposed possessions of Great Britain and the United
States on their northern and northwestern frontiers.  These lines were so
ingeniously drawn as to take from Great Britain, and inelude in the Unrted
States, the immense and valuable territories, back settlements and the whole
country between the Alleghany Mountains and the Mississippi, which have
sinee become the States of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, lowa, Wisconsin, Mis-
souri, Michigan, Minnesota, ete., to not one foot of which the thirteen
American colonies had the slightest elaim—territories ample to compensate
Loyalists for their losses and banishment, but whose interest, together with
these most valuable possessions, were lost to Great Britain by the sub-
servieney of the British Commissioner, Oswald (a London and an American
merchant), who looked to his own interests and was the tool and echo of Dr.
Franklin. The above territories were a part of the domain of Congress,
irrespective of any State, and therefore at the absolute disposal of Congress.
Yet with these immense accessions of resources, the Commissioners pro-
fessed that Congress had no power or means to compensate the United
Empire Loyalists for the confiscation and destruetion of their property.
One knows not at which most to marvel—the boldness, skill and success of
the colonial Commissioners, or the cowardice, ignorance and recklessness
of the British diplomatists.”’

The Loyalists were thus thrown on the merey of the several States and
how they were to fare with them could have easily been foretold.  The
treatment they received is briefly summed up thus by Sabine :—

*“ At the peace, justice and good poliey both required a general amnesty,
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and the revocation of the acts of disability and banishment, so that only
those who had been guilty of flagrant crimes should be excluded from
becoming citizens. Instead of this, however, the State Legislatures gener-
ally continued in a course of hostile action, and treated the conscientious
and pure, and the unprineipled and corrupt, with the same indiscrimina-
tion as they had done during the struggle. In some parts of the country
there really appears to have been a determination to place these misguided
but then humbled men beyond the pale of human sympathy. In one legisla-
tive body, a petition from the banished, praying to be allowed to return to
their homes, was rejected without a division; and a law was passed which
denied to such as had remained within the State, and to all others who
had opposed the revolution, the privilege of voting at the elections or of
holding office. In another State, all who had sought royal protection were
declared to be aliens, and to be incapable of claiming and holding property
within it, and their return was forbidden. Other Legislatures refused to
repeal such of their laws as conflicted with the conditions of the treaty of
peace, and carried out the doctrines of the States alluded to above without
material modification. But the temper of South Carolina was far more
moderate, Acting on the wise principle that ‘when the offenders are numer-
ous, it was at times prudent to overlook their erimes,’ she listened to the sup-
plications made to her by the fallen, and restored to their civil and political
rights a large portion of those who had suffered under her banishment and
confiscation laws. The course pursued by New York, Massachusetts, and
Virginia was different. These States were neither merciful nor just; and it
is even true that Whigs, whose gallantry in the field, whose prudence in
the Cabinet, whose exertions in diplomatie stations abroad, had contributed
essentially to the success of the conflict, were regarded with enmity on
account of their attempts to produce a better state of feeling and more
humane legislation. Had these States adopted a different line of conduet,
their good example would not have been lost, probably, upon others, smaller
and of less influence; and had Virginia, especially, been honest enough to
have permitted the payment of debts which her people owed to British

subjects before the war, the first years of our freedom would not have been

stained with a breach of our publie faith, and the long and angry contro-
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versy with Great Britain which well nigh involved us in a second war with
her, might not have occurred.

‘““‘Eventually, popular indignation diminished; the statute book was
divested of its most objectionable enactments, and numbers were permitted
to occeupy their old homes, and to recover the whole or part of their pro-
perty; but by far the greatest part of the Loyalists who quitted the eountry
at the commencement of, or during the war, never returned, and of the many
thousands who abandoned the United States after the peace and while
these enactments were in foree, few comparatively had the desire or even
the means to revisit the land from which they were expelled.”

The course taken by the colonies was fully represented to the Britisn
government and met with a ready and liberal, if in the eircumstances, not
an adequate response, in the final adjustment of the indemnity; but as to
the genuineness of British sympathy there can be no doubt. Wilberforee
declared to the House of Commons that he felt himself conquered and his
country humiliated when he considered the case of the Loyalists, The faith
of the nation had been pledged to do justice to the Loyalists. Lord North
considered that in order to preserve the honor of Great Britain the Loyal-
ists must not be allowed to suffer unrequited. Lord Mulgrave character-
ized the article in the treaty concerning the Loyalists should be more
reproachful and derogatory to the honor and gratitude of Great Britain
than it appeared to be wanton and unnecessary. Secretary Townsend (Lord
Sidney) said the country was bound in honor to make them full compen-
sation for their losses. In Mr. Burke's opinion the nation’s honor was
pledged for their security at all hazards. The Lord Advocate stated that
the Loyalists merited every possible effort on the part of Britain. Mr.
Sheridan execrated the treatment of those unfortunate men who without
the least notice taken of their civil and religious life were handed over as
subjects to a power that would not fail to take vengeance on them for their
zeal and attachment to the religion and government of this country. As an

independent country gentleman Sir Peter Burrell gave vent to honest

indignation, saying that the fate of the Loyalists claimed the compassion of
every human breast. To Sir Wm. Bootle the abandonment of the Loyalists
to the various States appeared scandalous and disgraceful. Member after
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member of the House of Commons spoke in a similar strain, and a vote of
censure on the government passed the House because of the want of firm-
ness on their part to which was attributed the surrender of the United
Empire Loyalists’ rights in the treaty. Whereupon the Earl of Shelbourne,
the Prime Minister, resigned. Nor was the House of Lords less vehement in
its expression of indignation at what Lord Sackville regarded the aban-
donment of the Loyalists as a thing of so atrocious a kind that if it had not
been painted in all its horrid colors he should have attempted the ungraci-
ous task, but never should have been able to deseribe the eruelty in language
as strong and expressive as were his feelings. The government itself did
not for one moment seek to deny the justice of these statements, but pled
Jjustification for their own course, in what they termed the *‘necessities’’
of the situation, adding, that Parliament must take cognizance of the
matter and afford such “‘relief which reason, perhaps policy, certainly
virtue and religion required.”’

Instead of obtaining restitution from the States contumely and further
persecution were meted out with the exception of in the State of South
Carolina, where the Legislature and people were fairly reasonable. A joint
committee was appointed from the Senate and House of Representatives
of the State, to hear the petitions of the Loyalists who had incurred the
penalties of the confiscation, banishment and amercement laws resuiting in
favor of the great majority of the petitioners and the sentences against
them were withdrawn. Petitions from others were presented from year to
year, were considered until finally the most of them had their estates
restored and they were received back as citizens,

The refusal on the part of the other States to do justice resulted in
a movement to enlist the intervention of Great Britain on behalf of the suf-
ferers. The Loyalists organized an ageney appointing one delegate or agent
from each of the thirteen States on a committee which should present their
case before the British government. It is interesting to recall the names of
those agents. For the Massachusetts Loyalists, W. Pepperell was appointed.
For New Hampshire, J. Wentworth, Jun. For Rhode Island, George Rowe.
For New York, Jas. Delancey. For New Jersey, David Ogden. For
Pennsylvania and Delaware, Joseph Galloway. For Maryland, Robert Alex-
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ander. For Virginia, John R. Grymes. For North Carolina, Henry Eus-
tace MeCulloch. For South Carolina, James Simpson. For rgia, Wm,
Knox. In the ease prepared for the clients of these agents in 1783 the
claims are based on indisputable arguments. It is maintained *‘that
it is an established rule that all sacrifices made by individuals for the bene-
fit and accommodation of others shall be equally sustained by all those who
partake of it, and numerous cases are cited to show that the saerifices of the
Loyalists were embraced in this principle, also that in the case of territory
alienated or ceded away by one sovereign power to another the rule is still
applicable for that in the treaties of international law it is held that the
State ought to indemnify the subject for the loss he has sustained beyond
his proprtion. The elaimants had been ecalled by their sovereign when
surrounded by tumult and rebellion to defend the supreme rights of the
nation and to assist in suppressing a rebellion which aimed at their destrue-
tion. They had received from the highest authorities the most solemn
assurances of protection and even reward for their meritorious services and
that His Majesty and the two Houses of Parliament having thought it
necessary as the price of peace or to the interest and safety of the Empire,
or from some other motive of public convenience to ratify the Independence
of the United States without securing any restitution whatever to the
Loyalists they conceive that the nation is bound as well by the fundamental
laws of society as by the invariable and external principles of natural
Jjustice to make them compensation,*

The Loyalists in thus addressing themselves to Parliament were under
no misapprehension as to the reception their claims would receive at its
hands, for it was well known that Britain would readily shoulder the task,

which ought to have been undertaken by the United States, but repudiated

by them. At the opening of the Session of Parliament the King's speech

contained the words: *‘I have ordered enquiry to be made into the applica-
tion of the sum to be voted in support of the American sufferers, and I trust
you will agree with me that a due and generous attention ought to be shown
to those who have relinquished their properties or progressions from motives
of loyalty to me or attachment to the Mother Country.”” A bill was intro-
* Tract, reproduced by Dr. Ryerson.
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duced without opposition in June, 1783, appointing Commissioners to
enquire into the losses and services of all such persons who have suffered
in their rights, properties and professions during the late unhappy dissen-
tions in America in consequence of their loyalty to His Majesty and
attachment to the British Government. It was in the following terms:—

Whereas, during the late unhappy dissensions in America, many of
your Majesty’s faithful subjects have, in consequence of their loyalty to
your Majesty, and attachment to the British Government. and their obedi-
ence to your Majesty's proclamation, and various other proclamations and
manifestoes, issued by your Majesty’s Commissioners, generals, and Gover-
nors, suffered in their rights, properties, and professions, insomuch that
several well-deserving persons are reduced from affluence to cireumstances
so straitened as to require the aid of a temporary support, which has been
allotted to them by the Commissioners of the treasury, by annual allowances
made, and occasional assistance by sums of money given to them from the
revenues of your Majesty's eivil list, the amount of which has hitherto been
made good by Parliament; and your faithful Commons, not doubting but
that your Majesty's most earnest endeavors will be employed for procuring
from the United States of America restitution of or recompense for the
estates and effects of those who have thus unhappily suffered, and intend-
ing to give all due aid and assistance to those who may return to America
for the recovery of their former possessions under the Provisional Articles,
and to extend such relief to others who may, by particular circumstances,
be deprived of that advantage, as their respective cases may require, and
the publie afford; to which end, it is necessary that a diligent and impar-
tial enquiry should be made into the losses and serviees of all such persons
as may, within the time hereinafter limited for that purpose, ctaum or
request such aid or relief as is intended to be given: we pray your Majesty
that it may be enacted; and be it enacted by the King’s most excellent
Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Lords Spiritual and
Temporal, and Commons, in this Parliament assembled, and by the author-
ity of the same, that John Wilmot, Esquire, Daniel Parker Coke, Esquire,

Colonel Robert Kingston, Colonel Thomas Dundas, and John Marsh,

Esquire, shall be, and they are hereby constituted Commissioners for enquir-
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ing into the respective losses and services of all such person and persons who
have suffered in their rights, properties and professions during the late
unhappy dissensions in America, in consequence of their loyalty to his
Majesty, and attachment to the British Government.

Here it will be appropriate to refer to a part of the United Empire

Loyalists’ story which should never be forgotten. We have seen how the

Loyalists were actuated by principles of the highest patriotism and publie

spirit, but alongside the men of British or European blood there stood true
in the day of trial, the dusky sons of the forest, the Indians of the Six
Nations. Some Indians took the other side, but the Six Nations did not
forget their old alliance and their fidelity to the British cause as well as
their services were genuine and great. The progress towards civilization of
these Indians was remarkable. Writing of Sullivan’s desolating march
through their country, their homes are thus deseribed: *‘The valley of the
Genesee for its beauty and fertility was beheld by the army of Sullivan
with astonishment and delight. Though an Indian country, its rich inter-
vales presented the appearance of long cultivation, and were then smiling
with the harvests of ripening corn. Indeed, the Indians, themselves, pro-
fessed not to know when or by whom the lands on the stream were first
brought into cultivation. Instead of a howling wilderness, Sullivan and his
troops found the Genesee flats, and many other districts of the country
resembling much more the orchards and farms and gardens of ecivilized
life. But all was now doomed to speedy devastation. The Genesee Castle
was destroyed. The troops scoured the whole region round about, and
burnt and destroyed everything that came in their way. The Town of
Genesee contained 128 houses, mostly large and very elegant. It was
beautifully situated ; almost encireled with a clear flat extending a number
of miles over which extensive fields of corn were waving together, and
every kind of vegetable that could be conceived. But the entire army was
immediately engaged in destroying it, and the axe and the torch soon trans-
formed the whole of that beautiful region from the character of a garden
to a scene of sickening desolation. Forty Indian towns, the largest con-

taining 128 houses, were destroyed. Corn gathered and ungathered, to the

10
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amount of 160,000 bushels shared the same fate; the fruit trees were cut
down; and the Indians were hunted like wild beasts, till neither house nor
fruit tree, nor field of corn, nor inhabitant, remained in the whole country.
The gardens were enriched with great quantities of useful vegetables of dif-
ferent kinds. The size of the cornfields, as well as the high degree of culti-
vation excited wonder, and the ears of corn were so remarkably large that
many of them measured twenty-two inches in length.  So numerous were
the fruit trees that in one orchard they cut down 1,500.""

The Indians, who were learning to enjoy life in such comfort, were
compelled to abandon their homes like their white compatriots, and what
amends the British Government could make for their loss were cheerfully
made by grants of land at the Bay of Quinte and on the Grand River. In
this connection it is interesting to read a few extracts from the official
papers on the subject in the Ontario Bureau of Archives. In a letter from
Lord Dorchester to Sir John Johnson, of the 19th July, 1787, the lands
set apart on the Bay of Quinte are thus deseribed: **Situated on the north
side of the Bay of Quinte, containing about twelve miles in front and in
depth to the west boundary of the purchase made by the Crown from the
Mississauga Nation. Bounded in front on the south by the Bay of Quinte,
including a small island ecalled John's Island, which lies opposite the
Mohawk village, and on the west by the mouth of Angoasoka River (Shan-
non), and the Township of Thurlow, on the east by the mouth of Bowen's
Creek, and the Township of Richmond, and on the north by the west bound-
ary of the purchase made by the Crown from the Mississauga Nation.”

The land had been purchased in 1784 by Captain Crawford of the
Indian Department, by order of Sir John Johnson, from the Mississauga
Indians, and the Mohawks on crossing to Canada settled upon it.

On the 22nd of April, 1784, General Haldimand writes to Sir John
Johnson regarding a request made through Col. Claus from ‘‘John the
Mohawk’'—Captain Brant, for an augmentation of the land intended for
the Mohawk Nation at the Bay of Quinte, and the establishment of a school
in their village. ‘‘I have so often expressed to you the interest I take in

the welfare of the Mohawks, that it is unnecessary to say, that I shall

cheerfully as far as it is in my power, come into such measures as you,
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and they, shall consider the best caleulated for their happiness, with this
view, although I am partial to the situation, and the arguments urged by
Joseph for their settling at the Grand River in preference to the Bay of
Quinte yet, so desirous am I to prevent the Nation from separating (from
a convietion that a determined union and attachment can alone support,
their strength and consequence as well with the Six Natious as the Ameri-
cans) that I advised Joseph rather to yield to the general opinion, than
oppose it, if he should find the bulk of the Nation prepossessed in favor of
Quinte Bay as they ean, at any time, extend their settlement and form
such econnections with any of the Six Nations who may settle higher up, as
their mutual interests shall require. I have therefore only to acquaint you,
that you have my authority to acquaint the Mohawks who have decided for
Bay of Quinte, that it is not my intention to restrict them to the 7,000 acres
mentioned in their letter to Colonel Claus, and that whatever addition shall
be deemed necessary for their more comfortable and happy establishment,
shall be made. I speak of the Mohawk Nation, for I never will entertain
the idea of any distinction between their villages. I shall also in com-
pliance with their wishes allow them a schoolmaster. You have not said
anything of the person they recommend. I shall therefore rely entirely
upon your choice of a proper person, whose attachment to Government in
all situations must be the first consideration.”’

For the reserve on the Grand River land was secured from the Missis-
saugas, in connection with which this official paper is of interest :—

This indenture made at Niagara the twenty-second day of May in the

year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and eighty-four, between

Wabakanyne, Nannibosure, Poquan, Nanaghkaweskam, Peapamaw, Tanen-

dan, Sawarnenik, Peasanish Wapamonisschqua Wapeanghqua, Sachems
War Chiefs and Principal Women of the Mississauga Indian Nation on the
one part, and our Sovereign Lord, George the Third, by the Grace of God,
King of Great Britain, France and Ireland, Defender of the Faith, ete., ete.,
ete., on the other part, Witnesseth that the said Wabakanyne the above-
mentioned Sachems, War Chief and Principal Women, for and in consider-
ation of eleven hundred and eighty pounds seven shillings and four pence,
lawful money of Great Britain to them, the said Wabakanyne, the Sachems,
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War Chiefs and Principal Women in hand well and truely paid, at or before
the sealing and delivery of these presents, the receipt whereof they, the said
Wabakanyne, the Sachems, War Chiefs and Principal Women, doth hereby
acknowledge, and thereof and therefrom, and from every part or parcel
thereof doth acquit, release, exonerate and forever discharge His Britannie

Majesty, his heirs and successors and every of them, by these presents, haih

granted, bargained, doth grant, bargain, sell, alienate, release and confirm
unto His Britannie Majesty, and to his heirs and successors, all that tract or
pareel of land, laying and being between the Lakes Ontario and Erie begin-
ning at Lake Ontario, four miles southwesterly from the point opposite to
Niagara Fort, known by the name of Mississauga Point and running from
thence along said lake to the ereek that falls from a small lake into the said
Lake Ontario, known by the name of Waghquata, from thence a northwest
course until it strikes the River La Tranche, or New River; then down the
stream of said river to that part or place where a due south course will lead
to the mouth of Catfish Creek emptying into Lake Erie and from the
above mentioned part or place of the aforesaid River La t'ranch, following
the south course to the mouth of the said Catfish Creek, thence down Lake
Erie to the lands heretofore purchased from the Nation of Mississauga
Indians, and from thence along the said purchase to Lake Ontario at the
place of beginning as above mentioned, together with the woods, ways, paths,
waters, water courses, advantages, emoluments and hereditaments whatso-
ever, to the said tract or pareel of land, situated as above mentioned, belong-
ing or in any wise appertaining, or which to and with the same now are,
or at any times heretofore have been held, used, occupied, accepted, re-
ported, taken or known, as part, parcel, or member thereof, or any
part thereof, and the issues and profits of all and singular, the said premises
and every part and parcel thereof, with the appurtenances; and also all
the estate, right, title, interest, property claim, and demand whatsoever of
them the said Wabakanyne, the Sachems, War Chiefs and Principal Women
of, in and to all and singular the said premises above mentioned, and of,
in, and every part and parcel thereof, with the appurtenances; to have and
to hold all land singular the said tract or parcel of land, hereditaments and

premises in and by these presents released and confirmed, and every part
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and parcel thereof, with the appurtenances, unto His Britannic Majesty,
his heirs and successors for ever, and to and for no other use, intent or pur-
poses whatsoever; And the said Wabakanyne, the Sachems, War Chiefs and
Principal Women for themselves, their heirs and successors doth covenant,
grant, promise and agree, to and with His Britannic Majesty, his heirs and
successors, that they, the said Wabakanyne, the Sachems, War Chiefs and
Principal Women, now are the true, lawful and rightful owners of all and
singular the said tract or parcel of land, hereditaments and premises above
mentioned, and of every part or parcel thereof, with the appurtenances;
and the time of sealing and delivery of these presents, are lawfully and
rightfully seized in their own right of a good, sure, perfect, absolute and
indefeasible estate of inheritance in fee simple, of and in all singular the
said premises above mentioned, with the appurtenances, without any manner
of eondition, limitation of use or uses, or matter, eause or thing whatsoever
to alter, change, charge or determine the same; and also that His Majesty,
his heirs and successors, shall and may at all times for ever hereafter,
peaceably and quietly have, hold, oceupy, possess and enjoy all and singular
the said tract or parcel of land, hereditaments and premises aforesaid with
the appurtenances and every part or parcel thereof, without trouble, hind-
rance, molestation, interruption or disturbance, of them, the said Wabaka-
nyne, the Sachems, ete., their heirs or successors, or any other person or
persons lawfully claiming, or to elaim, by, from or under them, or any of
them, and that freed, discharged, and kept harmless and endemnified, of,
from, and against all former and other gifts or grants whatsoever,

In witness whereof we have hereunto set our hands and seals, the date
and date above mentioned.

Witness present: (Signed) Robt. Hayes, Majr. 34th Regt.; D. Forbes,
Capt. 34th Regt.; Joseph Brant, Thayendanegea; David Hill, Harongh-
voutye; R. Wilkinson, Acting Secretary Six Nation Dept.

his
(Signed) 1. TUEKINAGOSEY, .... 23?~ Chief.

mark.
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his

(Signed) 2. AQuSsHAWAY,

. SHUNADUCK,

. Wawisaug,

. MASHKEWAPO,

. KEWETASKINA,

mark.
his

. Nuawnaco, >-——- Chief

mark.

Captain Brant submitted a memorandum to the Governor-General
relating to the Grand River lands, the substance of which is as follows:
That His Excellency the commander in chief should give the superintendent
and inspector general of Indian affairs instructions and empower Lient.-
Colonel Butler to purchase from the Mississagas or proprietors, a tract of
land consisting of about six miles on each side of the Grand River called
Oswego, running from the River La Tranche into Lake Erie, for the use of
the Mohoeks and such of the Six Nations as are inclined to join them in
that settlement. Colonel Butler is fully acquainted with the views and
inclinations of Captain Brant and the Mohocks respecting this settlement,

and only waits the General’s approbation to make the purchase. The sooner
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this can be done the better, as they would remove this spring (3rd Feb,,

1791) time enough to plant corn, ete.,, and Captain Brant would propose

that some of his party be sent off upon this business, to Colonel Butler as
soon as he returns to Montreal. The above mentioned limits are only
meant for the Indians of the Six Nations who may settle there, but a more
considerable tract of land may at the same time be purchased on very
reasonable terms whereon to settle Loyalists, or for any future purpose.

The Governor-General endorsed this memorandum and Sir John John-
son was instructed to purchase the tract of country between the three iakes
—Ontario, Erie and Huron—out of which the land required by the
Mohawks, for the Six Nations, was to be granted to them by deed. The rest
was to be reserved for the Loyalists, or any future purpose.

On the 1st February, 1791, a meeting of the Land Board of Niagara
was held at which the following minute of business transacted was agreed
to: ‘A plan of the Grand River was laid before the Board, and having
called in Captain Joseph Brant, Tekarchokea, Shasiowanea, Ateweanookten,
Oghnasongoghton, Oghguarioseta, Ojageghte, Gonghsaneyonte, Kayendader-
hon, Chickheless, and several of the prineipal chiefs to aid the land board
with their advice and counsel, it was unanimously agreed upon and deter-
mined : that the bend of the river easterly, nearly two miles from its mouth
or issue into Lake Erie, and the Mohawk Village shall be the two fixed points
and that a line drawn straight from one of these points to the other shall
form the centre line of the Indian settlements or lands on the Grand River,
and that two parallel lines to this, six miles distant on each side of the
river shall form the bounds between them and the settlement of Nassau.

Signed on the plan: Jos. Brant, (x) Ojageghte, (x) Gonghsaneyonte,
(x) Atewanookte, (x) Oghsita, (x) Kayendaderhon, J. Butler, Peter Ten
Broeck, R. Hamilton.

Thus, were the loyal Indians provided for on two of the most beauti-
ful as well as most fertile portions of Ontario; they have thriven well, their
farms and homes showing the progress they have made since driven from
the delightful valley of the Genesee.

The policy of persecution adopted by the States reduced the Loyalists

to a deplorable plight. Driven from their homes, an exodus from the
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country was the only relief available to them. Britain, Nova Scotia and
Canada (Upper and Lower) and the West Indies received the devoted
fugitives. About 2,000 persons crossed the Atlantic to Britain between
1775 and 1785, but some of them came to Canada afterwards. From 1776
small parties began to locate in Nova Scotia, but after the peace the number
was enormous, so that shipping facilities were overtaxed. By December
of 1783 from 30,000 to 40,000 refugees had arrived in Nova Scotia and
New Brunswick, and they were locating at Halifax, Annapolis, Cumberland
Bay, St. John, Port Roseway, ete. Seven general routes were taken by the
Loyalists coming to Canada. Five of these were by the Hudson River to
points between Oswego to Montreal. Some went by the Atlantic and St.
Lawrence, and others by Western New York State. By 1782 a large num-
ber of families had reached Lower Canada. In 1783 about 10,000 Loyalists
arrived, it is stated, in Upper Canada; during the year following the popu-
lation had greatly increased, and by 1791 was estimated at 25,000, very
largely United Empire Loyalists. The hardships of travel were not miti-
gated by the attitude of the people they were leaving behind, nor was the
prospeet cheering for people who were, the most of them, leaving the secur-
ity of comfortable homes for the unbroken forest where neither hearth nor
homestead, however humble, awaited them. Some of the narratives of the
Loyalists or of their children who had the story from the lips of their
parents are striking and impressive in their very simplicity. The follow-
ing statement is given in Mr. Grass’ own words as related to a friend. The
Governor addressing Mr. Grass says :—

““Mr, Grass, I understand you have been at Frontenae, in Canada.
Pray tell me what sort of a country it is. Can people live there? What
think you?! My father replied: ‘Yes, your Excelleney, I was there a pris-
oner of the war, and from what I saw I think it a fine country, and that
people might live there very well.” ‘Oh! Mr. Grass,’ exclaims the Governor,
‘how glad I am to hear that, for the sake of these poor Loyalists. As they

cannot all go to Nova Scotia, and I am at a loss how to provide for them,

will you, Mr. Grass, undertake to lead thither as many as may choose w0

accompany you? If so, I will furnish a conveyance by Quebee, and rations

for you all till such time as you may be able to provide for yourselves.” My
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father requested his Excellency to allow him three days to make up his
mind. This was granted, and accordingly, at the expiration of the three
days, my father went to the Governor and said he would undertake it.
Notices were then posted up through the eity, ealling for all that would go
to Frontenac to enroll their names with Mr. Grass; so in a short time the
company of men, women and children was completed, a ship provided and
furnished, and off they started for the unknown and far distant region,
leaving the homes and friends of their youth, with all their endearing
recollections, behind them —the fruits of all their former toil and suffering
—a sacrifice to their loyalty. The first season they got no further than
Sorel, in Lower Canada, where they were obliged to erect log huts for the
winter. Next spring they took boats, and proceeding up the St. Lawrence,
at length reached Frontenae, and pitched their tents on Indian Point,
where the marine docks of Kingston now stand. Here they awaited the
surveying of the lands, which was not accomplished so as to be ready for

location before July. In the meantime several other companies had

arrived by different routes under their respective leaders, who were all
waiting the completing of the surveys. The Governor, also, who by this
time had himself come to Quebee, paid them a visit, and riding a few miles
along the lake shore on a fine day, exclaimed to my father: ‘Why, Mr.
Grass, you have indeed got a fine country! I am really glad to find it so.
While the several companies were together waiting for the survey, some
would say to my father: ‘The Governor will not give you the first choice of
the townships, but will prefer Sir John Johnson and his company, because
he is a great man.” But my father replied that he did not believe that for
if the Governor should do so he should feel himself injured and would leave
the country, as he was the first man to mention it to the Governor in New
York, and to proceed hither with his company for settlement,

““At length the time came, in July, for the townships to be given out.
The Governor came, and having assembled the companies before him, called
for Mr. Grass, and said : ‘Now, you were the first person to mention this fine
country, and have been here formerly as a prisoner of war, yon must have

the first choice. The townships are numbered first, second, third, fourth and

fifth, which do you choose?’ My father says: ‘The first township (King-
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ston).” Then the Governor says to Sir John Johnson, ‘ Which do you c¢hoose

for your company?’ He replies, ‘The second township (Ernestown).'’"*
Col. Rogers obtained the third, Major Vanalstine the fourth, and Colonel
MeDonell the fifth,

““The batteaux,’’ says the late Sheriff Sherwood of Brockville, ‘‘by
which the refugees emigrated were principally built at Lachine, nine miles
from Montreal. They were caleulated to carry four or five families with
almost two tons weight. Twelve boats constituted a brigade and each
brigade had a conductor with five men in each, one of whom steered. The
duty of the conductor was to give directions for the safe management of the
boats to keep them together, and when they came to a rapid they left a
portion of the boats in charge of one man. The boats ascending were
doubly manned and drawn by a rope fastened at the bow of the boat having
four men in the boat with setting poles; thus the men walked along the side
of the river, sometimes in the water or on the edge of the bank as cir-
cumstances oceurred. Having reached the head of the rapids the boats
were left with a man and the other men went back for the other boats; and
so0 they continued until the rapids were mounted. Lachine was the starting
place—a place of some twenty dwellings.”’

One who knew of the struggles and experiences of those early days well,
has thus deseribed them :—

The Loyalists were supplied with ‘‘clothes for three years, or until
they were able to provide these articles for themselves. They consisted of
coarse cloth for trousers and Indian blankets for coats, and of shoes;
besides, each received a quantity of seed grain to sow upon the newly
cleared land, with certain implements of husbandry. To each was atlotted
an axe, a hoe and a spade; a plongh and one cow were allotted to two
families; a whip and cross-cut saw to every fourth family; and, even boats
were provided for their use, and placed at convenient points’’; and *“‘that
nothing might seem to be wanting, on the part of the Government, even
portable corn mills, consisting of steel plates, turned by hand like a coffee
mill, were distributed among the settlers. We have learned they were also

supplied with nails, hand-saws and other materials for building. To every

* Ryerson.
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five families were given a ‘set of tools,” such as chisels and augers, of
various sizes, and drawing-knives; also pick-axes, and sickles for reaping.
But, unfortunately, many of these implements were of inferior quality.
The axe, with which the burden of the work was done, was unlike the light
implement now in use, it was but a short-handled ship axe, intended for
quite a different use from chopping trees and clearing land. Notwithstand-
ing these various implements, thoughtfully provided by Government, how
greatly must they have come short in meeting the varied wants of the
settler, in his isolated clearing, far separated from places whereat things
necessary could be procured. However, the old soldier, with his camp
experience, was enabled by the aid of his tools, to make homely and rude
articles of domestic use. And, in farming, he constructed a rough, but
serviceable plow, and harrow, and made handles for his seythe.”" *

Thus provisioned and rluthu«l,. and thus armed with implements of
industry, the old soldiers advanced to the attack of a last enemy, the wild
woods. Unlike any previous warfare, was this lifetime struggle. With
location ticket in hand, they filed into the batteaux to ascend the rapids.
A certain number of batteaux joined together, generally about twenty or
twenty-five, formed a brigade, which was placed under the command of a

suitable officer, if not one who had, in previous days, led them against the

foe. It is quite impossible to conceive of the emotions which found a place

in the breasts of the veterans as they journeyed along wearily from
day to day, each one bringing them nearer to the spot on which the tent was
to be pitched for the last time. Eagerly, no doubt, they scanned the thickly
wooded shores as they passed along. Curiously they examined the small
settlement clustering around Cataraqui. And, it eannot be doubted, when
they entered the waters of the lovely Bay of Quinte, the beauty of the
scene created a feeling of joy and reconciliation to their lot, in being thus
cast upon a spot so rich in natural beauty. These disbanded soldi at
least each family, had a canvas tent capable of accommodating in a certain
way, from ecight to ten persons. These were pitched upon the shore, at
first in groups, until each person had learned the situation of his lot, when
he immediately removed thereto. But there were by no means enough tents

* Canniff.
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to give cover to all, and many had only the friendly trees for protection.
The first steps taken were to clear a small space of trees, and erect a place
of habitation. We have seen what were the implements he had to work with
the materials he must use to subdue the forest tree standing before him.
‘“Here, at the very threshold of Upper Canadian history, was initiated

the ‘institution” of ‘bees.” ‘Each with his axe on his shoulder, turned
out to help the other,” in erecting a log shanty. Small and unpretending,
indeed, were these humble tenements first built along the shores of the bay.
The size of each depended upon the number to oceupy it. None were larger
than twenty by fifteen feet; and an old man tells me that his father, who
was a carpenter, built one fifteen feet long and ten feet broad, with a slant-
ing roof seven or eight feet in height. The back-woodsman’s shanty, which
may yet be seen in the outskirts of our country, is the counterpart of those
which were first built; but perhaps many of our readers may never have
seen one.  ‘Round logs’ (generally of basswood), roughly notched to-
gether at the corners, and piled one above another, to the height of seven
or cight feet, constituted the walls. Openings for a door, and one small.
window’ (always beside the door) ‘designed for four lights of glass, 7 x 9,
were cut out,” (Government had supplied them with a little glass and
putty); ‘the spaces between the logs were chinked with small splinters,
and carefully plastered outside and inside, with clay for mortar. Smooth
straight poles were laid lengthways of the building, on the walls, to serve as
supports of the roof. This was composed of strips of elm bark, four feet
in length, by two or three feet in width, in layers, overlapping each other,
and fastened to the poles by withs.” (The roof was sometimes of black
oak, or swamp oak, bark), ‘with a sufficient slope to the back, this formed
a roof which was proof against wind and weather. An ample hearth, made
of flat stones, was then laid out, and a fire back of field stone or small
boulders, rudely built, was earried up as high as the walls. Above this the
chimney was formed of round poles, notched together and plasterea with
mud. The floor was of the same materials as the walls, only that the logs
were split in two, and flattened so as to make a tolerably even surface. As

no board were to be had to make a door, until they could be sawn out by

the whip saw, a blanket suspended from the inside for some time took its
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place. By and by four little panes of plass were stuck into a rough sash,
and then the shanty was complete.*

The ordinary course of clearing land is pretty well known. At the pre-
sent day the autumn and winter is the usual time, when the wood is eut in
sleigh lengths for home use, or made into huge heaps, and in the following
season, when sufficiently dry, is burned up. Now, wood, except in the
remote parts, is very valuable, and for those who can part with it, it brings
a good income, But then, when the land was everywhere covered with wood,
the only thought was how to get rid of it. The great green trees, after
being eut down, had to lie until they had dried, or be cut to pieces and
removed. Time was necessary for the first. To accomplish the second
involved labor with the unwieldy axe; and there were at first, no beasts of
burden to haul the heavy logs. The arm of the pioneer was the only motor
power, and the trees had to be cut in short lengths, that they mighc be
carried. To overcome the more heavy work connected with this, the settlers
would have logging bees from place to place, and by united strength sub-
due the otherwise obstinate forees. Mainly, the trees were burned; the
limbs and smaller portion first, and subsequently the large trunk. The fire
would burn all that was flamable, leaving great black logs all over the
ground. Then came ‘logging,’ that is, piling these black and half burned
pieces into heaps, where, after a longer time of drying, they might be
consumed. A second, perhaps a third time the pieces would have to be col-
lected into ‘log heaps,” until finally burned to ashes. It was by such means
that slowly the forest along the St. Lawrence, and surrounding the Bay of
Quinte, as well in the adjacent townships melted away before the daily work
of the aggressive settler. Although deprived of all the comforts, which most
of them had enjoyed in early life in the Hudson, and Mohawk valleys, and
fruitful fields of Pennsylvania, they toiled on determined to conquer—to
make new homes; and, for their children at least, to secure comforts. They
rose early and toiled on all day, whether long or short, until night cast its
solemn pall over their rude quiet homes. The small clearing of a few acres
gradually widened, the sound of the axe was heard ringing all the day, and
the crash of the falling tree sent the startled wild beast to the deeper

* Croil.
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recesses of the wild wood. The toilers were not all from the same social
rank, but now, in the main, all found a common level; the land allotted to
the half pay officers was as thickly covered with wood. A few possessed
limited means, and were able to engage help to do some of the work, but
in a short time it was the same with all; men of education, and who held
high positions, rightly held the belief that it was an honor to be a refugee
farmer.*

The Government was solicitous for the welfare of the Loyalists, but
government machinery is frequently cumbersome, and delays happened both
with the necessary food supplies, and in the settlement of claims. Instrue-
tions from the King were transmitted to General Haldimand, the Governor-
General of Canada, in July, 1783, to give lands to them, the wording being :
Whereas many of our loyal subjeets, inhabitants of the colonies and pro-
vinees, now the United States of America, are desirous of retaining their
allegiance to us, and of living in our dominions, and for this purpose are
disposed to take up and improve lands in our Provinee of Quebee; and we
being desirous to encourage our said loyal subjects in such their intentions,
and to testify our approbation of their loyalty to us, and obedience to our
Government, by alloting lands for them in our said provinee; and whereas
we are also desirous of testifying our approbation of the bravery and loyalty
of our forces serving in our said provinee, and who may be reduced there,
by allowing a certain quantity of land to such of the non-commissioned
officers and private men of our said forees, who are inclined to become
settlers therein. It is our will and pleasure, that immediately after you
shall receive this, our instruction, you do direct our Surveyor General of
Lands for our said Provinee of Quebee, to admeasure and 'ay out suen a
quantity of land as you with the advice of our council shall deem necessary
and convenient for the settlement of our said loyal subjects, the non-com-
missioned officers and private men of our forces which may be reduced in
our said provinee, who shall be desirous of becoming settlers therein; such
lands to be divided into distinet seigneuries or fiefs, to extend from two or

four leagues in front, and from three to five leagues in depth, if situated

upon a navigable river, otherwise to be run square, or in such shape and in

* Canniff.
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such quantities, as shall be convenient and practicable—and in each seign-
eurie a glebe to be reserved and laid out in the most convenient spot, to
contain not less than 300 nor more than 500 acres; the propriety of which
scigneuries or fiefs shall be and remain vested in us, our heirs and sucees-
sors, and you shall allot such parts of the same as shall be applied for by
any of our said loyal subjects, non-commissioned officers and private men
of our forces reduced as aforesaid, in the following proportions; that it to
say:

To every master of a family, one hundred acres, and fifty acres for each
person, of which his family shall consist.

To every single man, fifty acres.

To every non-commissioned officer of our forees reduced in Quebee, two
hundred acres,

To every private man reduced as aforesaid, one hundred acres,

And for every person in their family, fifty acres.

With the opening of the spring of 1784 settlers took up locations on
the surveyed lands. The first townships were not named but numbered
consecutively from east to west, along the River St. Lawrence, from Pointe
au Baudet to Elizabethtown, 1-9; the second series westward began at King-
ston and numbered ten. Townships one to five above Lake St. Franecis were
occupied by 1,462 of the King’s Royal Regiment of New York, and those
from six to eight, by 495 of Jessup's Corps. Of the five townships of
Cataraqui, Captain Grass’s party of 187 took the first; 434 of Jessup's
Corps, the second; 310 of the King’s Royal Regiment of New York, and
Major Rogers, with 229 men, the third; Major Vanalstine and party and
some of Roger’s men, the fourth; and 303 soldiers of various regiments, a
part of the fifth; a total of about 3,800 married and single men. Butler’s
Rangers settled at Niagara and westward to Detroit River. By 1789 about
17,000 Loyalists had settled above Montreal, and in 1790 about 25,000. In
1785 there were fifty houses in Kingston,

Lord Dorchester issued instructions on the 4th June, 1787, that: *‘For
the encouragement of such settlers, who besides supporting their former

characters for loyalty to the King and attachment to the British Govern-

ment, and a peaceable, decent, deportment have, by their industry, in im-
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proving and eunltivating the lands already assigned to them, given cause to
presume that they will be good and profitable subjects, you are to add to
every head of a family of that deseription two hundred acres, exclusive of
what is allowed to the other members of it severally by the Royal instrue-
'i(l"\.“

On the 24th July, 1788, Lord Dorchester divided Upper Canada into
the four old distriets of Lunenberg, Mecklenburg, Nassau and IHesse, and
following the formation of these districts, Land Boards were appointed
receive and report upon applications for land from settlers. At a meeting
of the Governor's Counecil held in the Council Chamber, Quebee, on the
17th February, 1789, rules and regulations for the conduet of the Land
Office Department were enacted, among which was the following respecting
the United Empire Loyalists :—

The respective Boards shall, on petitions from Loyalists already settled
in the upper districts for further allotments of land under the instructions
to the Deputy Surveyor-general, of the 2nd of June, 1787, or under prior
or other orders for assigning portions to their families, examine into the
ground of such requests and claims, and being well satisf of the justice
thereof, they shall grant certificates for such further itities of land,
as the said instructions and orders may warrant.

General Haldimand’s instructions of 1783 e d 1,000 acres on
every field officer; 700 acres on every captain ; 50( ; on every subaltern,
stafl’ or warrant officer; 200 acres to every non-commissioned officer; 100
acres on every private soldier, and the same quantity on every head of a
family, being a Loyalist; 50 acres on every Loyalist a single man; 50 acres
on every individual of which the families of all the above deseribed persons
shall consist.

The Land Board of Nassau considered Lord Dorchester’s instructions
of 2nd June, 1787, as conferring 200 additional acres on all those settlers
who had already improved, so far as in their power, the lands before

granted them, and that this additional bounty extends as well to single men

improving their own lands as to the heads of families; that every discharged

soldier from his Majesty’s service is intitled to 300 acres, every non-com-

missioned to 400, and that every Loyalist, or other received good character
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settled prior to the date of the instructions of 17th February, 1789, is
intitled to 200 acres, together with 50 acres to each individual of which
their families shall consist; that after the date of these instrueti-ns persons
settling under the denomination of Loyalists, or all others who shall be
approven of by the Board, shall only receive 200 acres for themselves, leav-
ing the provision for their families to the commander in chief’s future
bounty, which will certainly follow their decent deportment, and their
improving with industry the grant now made them; that, as it appeared to
be the wish of Government to distinguish their active friends and adherents
by peculiar marks of attention—those only who had borne arms, or in some
other capacity had served Government during the war—should of right be
intitled to this 300 acres, or more in proportion to their rank; and that all
others should now only receive 200 acres, leaving the door open for future
application in their favor, as the merits of their case may require.

On the 9th of November, 1789, Lord Dorchester met his Council at
Quebee and intimated that it was his wish to put a mark of honor upon the
families who had adhered to the unity of the Empire, and joined the Royal
Standard in the colonies before 1783, and the Council accordingly ordered
that the several Land Boards preserve a registry of the ‘‘names of all
persons falling under the deseription aforementioned to the end that their
posterity may be discriminated, from future settlers, in the Parish registers
and rolls of the militia, of their respective districts, and other public remem-
brancers of the province, as proper objects by their persevering in the
fidelity and conduet, so honorable to their ancestors, for distinguished bene-
fits and privileges, that the Land Boards may in every such case provide
not only for the sons of those Loyalists, as they arrive to full age, but for
their daughters also of that age, or on their marriage assigning to each a
lot of two hundred acres, more or less, provided nevertheless that they
respectively comply with the general regulations, and that it shall satisfac-
torily appear that there has been no default in the due cultivation and
improvement of the lands already assigned to the head of the family of
which they are members.’”” Thereafter the Loyalists were entitled to affix
the letters U. E. to their names, alluding to their stand for the Unity of
the Empire.

11
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A proclamation by President Russell, of the 15th December, 1798, pro-
vides that all Loyalists whose names have been enrolled on the U, E. lists,
previous to the date of the proclamation, and their sons and daughters when

of age, or married, **to whom the King's bounty in lands has not been

|

|

|

|

|

|| already extended, may continue to consider themselves entitled to receive

! from this Government two hundred acres of land free from the payment

| of fees and all other charges; but that, except to the extent allowed by his

‘ Majesty’s instructions, neither U, E. Loyalists nor their children, ean be
considered as exempted from the standing fees, it having been ordered that

they shall be annexed to every further grant of land, to them as well as to

others, be its extent what it may."”’

In Upper Canada 3,200,000 acres were given to Loyalists who settled
there before 1787, About 730,000 acres went to militiamen, 450,000 to dis-
charged soldiers and sailors, 225,000 to magistrates and barristers, 136,000

to exeentive councillors, 50,000 to five legislative councillors, 37,000 to

elergymen, 264,000 to surveyors and helpers, 500,000 for schools, 93,000 to

E officers of the army and navy and smaller tracts to prominent persons, and
probably $4,000,000 was spent in surveys, official salaries, elothing, food,
i tools and stock, before the Loyalists in Upper and Lower Canada were estab-
1 lished on a self-supporting basis. But their sacrifices could not be reckoned

‘ ’ in money however large the amount.
1 I The Commissioners appointed by the Act of the British Parliament in
1 1783 to enquire into the losses of the Loyalists took up the duty entrusted
| to them without delay. The Commissioners classified the claimants aceord-
j ing to the nature of the elaim, into six classes, viz.: (1) Those who had
1! rendered services to Great Britain; (2) Those who had borne arms against
| the revolution; (3) Uniform Loyalists; (4) Loyalists resident in Great
Q Britain; (5) Those who took oaths of allegiance to the American States,
! but afterwards joined the British; (6) Those who armed with the Americans
q and later joined the British army or navy. Claimants had to state specifi-
i cally in writing the nature of their losses. Claims were first ordered to be
{ ‘«' presented by March 25th, 1784, but the time was later extended till 1790.

On the first date mentioned, 2,063 claims were presented representing a
loss of about $35,000,000 in real and personal property, $11,770,000 in debts
and $443,000 in incomes, making a total of nearly $47,250,000. Compensa-
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tion was not allowed for estates bought after the war, rents, incomes of
offices reeeived during the rebellion, anticipated professional profits, losses
in trade, labor, or by the British army, losses through depreciated paper
money, captures at sea and debts. By April, 1788, the Commissioners had
examined 1,680 elaims on which they allowed $9,448,000,

It soon became evident, that, to do justice to the Loyalists, Commis-
sioners must be sent to Canada and the United States. To Canada Col.
Thomas Dundas and Mr. Jeremy Pemberton came.  Mr. Pemberton was a
barrister of Lincoln’s Inn and had been appointed to fill a vacancy which
had oeceurred in the Commission. These two Commissioners had similar
powers as the Board sitting in London. Their work began on the 17th
Nov., 1785, and continued until 1789. Evidence was taken at Ialifax, St.
John, Quebee and Montreal, and six reports were made, showing that 1,401
claims were heard; and that 834 were, for various reasons, not heard. On
432 claims under the Aet of 1783, $1,061,000 was allowed, and on 969
claims under the Aet of 1785, $1,684,000 was allowed, making a total of

$2,745,000 passed for claims in Canada. Of the claims examined, nearly

two-thirds in number and value were from New York State. Many of those
who had large fortunes at stake went direetly to Britain to have their elaims
adjusted, and after the Commissioners left Canada, petitions were still sent
to London

The process of enquiry was neeessarily slow and the time limit for
receiving elaims and hearing evidence had to be from time to time extended.
I'he enquiry was carried on with great care and claimants were required
to furnish adequate evidence of loss and service in order to satisfy the Com-
missioners as to the genuineness of their claims. The evidence, therefore,
forms a body of invaluable data regarding the sacérifices made and the
sufferings endured by the Loyalists during and after the war and taken with
all the judicial reserve and safeguards the most of it, if not entirely all,
eannot be gainsaid.

The study of the subject but enlarges and strengthens the high estimate
to be placed on the character of the men and women who were loyal and
true amidst their enemies, and who when the day was lost came to Upper
Canada to lay the foundation true and lasting of the great Province of
Ontario.




CHAPTER IX.
UNDER BRITISH RULE.

| | | The ever growing strength of the white man was looked upon with
| suspicion by the Indian. Before the conquest by the British, he found

some satisfaction in the faet that he believed he held the balance of

|
|
|
f power between the two great opposing forces of Britain aud France. Now,
* however, he saw in the triumph of Britain his own abasement and the
probable relinquishment of his necessary hunting grounds and tribal terri-
tories in the west. There was also the natural disposition which held him
aloof from intimate friendship with the Anglo-Saxon, whom he viewed with
more or less distrust. On the other hand, the free and easy manners of the

| Frenchman, the readiness with which he entered into the life and sympathies

“ { j of the children of the forest, shared their hardships and festivities, inter-
i married with them and adopted their modes of life, had won the Indian’s
4 heart, and he viewed with no small misgivings what appeared to be the

| « utter ruin of his old and long tried friends.
; While disturbed by such reflections, a man arose among them

having all the qualities of a great native leader. IHe was shrewd, capable
and eloquent, and commanded both the confidence and the admiration of

the western tribes. He was chief of the powerful Ottawa nation which had

settled in the Detroit region, and was the controlling influence in the wide
it territory of which Detroit was the centre. He confronted Major Rogers
when the latter was on his expedition to take over the French lake posts,

and from him learned for the first time how Canada had been surrendered

| i to the British, and the French dispossessed of the land. He acted strictly

! | t ] correct with Rogers and was a party to the peaceable surrender of Detroit,
although he and his people saw with ill-concealed sorrow the Union Jack
raised where flew the Fleur-de-Lis.

Indian disaffection with British rule came to a head, and a vast con-

i spiracy was organized with Pontiac as the directing mind. The rising
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was on a large scale, even the Delawares and the Shawnees, the Senecas
and the tribes from the lake region to the Mississippi, entering into the
compact. Sir William Johnson was able to hold the allegiance of the
Iroquois tribes with the exception of the Senecas, but they only of the Five
Nations were hostile,

The first direct warning of the impending storm was given to Ensign
Holmes, who was in charge of the small post at Miami. He interrogated
the Indians who, however, denied and concealed their hostile designs.
Holmes reported the matter to his superior officer, Major Gladwyn, at
Detroit, and he transmitted the intelligence to General Amherst, who had
fixed his headquarters at New York. Little attention was paid to the rumor,
but it was considered wise to strengthen Detroit and some of the western
posts in case the warning should prove to be true. The fort at Detroit
was eleven hundred yards in eircumference with picket walls twenty feet
high. There was accommodation not only for the garrison, but for the
fur traders and the settlers, and outside the fort a number of white
settlers had taken up lands on the banks of the river.

Pontiac’s scheme was to combine all the western Indian tribes, drive
the British from all the posts, Detroit included, and maintain the region
west of Pennsylvania and the Iroquois hunting grounds, against British
encroachment—the policy of de Galissionere and other French Governors—
and trust to the ever varying fortunes of war in Europe or America as
to the final result. The capture of Detroit he reserved for himself. At
this time the garrison did not number more than one hundred and twenty-
eight rank and file and eight officers of the Eightieth Regiment of the line,
a few traders and hunters and the Canadians of the Settlement. The
artillery was weak, but the waterway was protected by two small armed
vessels. The massacre of this garrison had been decided upon at a council
of the tribes, and Pontiac’s plan was to seek a conference with Gladwyn
and his officers in attending which, he and sixty of his warriors, their
arms concealed, would obtain entrance to the fort. At a given signal a
general massacre would take place.

The great Indian pursued his plan with due caution, and, to disarm the

suspicion that a demand for such a conference might excite, he peaceably
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waited upon Gladwyn accompanied by a few of his followers and gave
expression to friendly feelings and goodwill, remarking, however, as he was
about to depart, that on the sixth day afterwards he desired to visit him

again, hold a solemn council and smoke the pipe of peace. Gladwyn, how-

ever, was not without suspicion regarding this proposal. IHe remembered
y I

the warning from Miami given by Ensign Holmes, and a friendly Canadian
likewise, had recently given him information as to the designs of the
Indians. By the time set for the council therefore Gladwyn was prepared
to receive Pontiac and his braves, who, on entering the fort found the gar-
rison armed and ready for action. Pontiae, however, proceeded to the
council chamber, delivered his oration, maintained a calm demeanor and
condueted himself with such masterly dissimulation that Gladwyn could find
no fault and was compelled to allow him to retire without charging him
with any breach of faith.

Two days afterwards Pontiac threw aside all disguise anid proceeded to
blockade the garrison, while the cruel work ineident to Indian warfare was
carried on outside the fort wherever British could be found. Pontiac’s
permanent camp was formed about two miles from Detroit near a small
ereck known as Bloody Run, and from here he carried on his attacks
against the fort. Gladwyn, not apprehending the extensive nature of Pon-
tiac’s design, sent friendly Canadians to him with overtures of peace.
Pontiac demanded a conference with the leaders of the fort, and Capt.
Campbell and Lieut. McDougall were, with much reluctance on Gladwyn'’s
part, because he suspected treachery, sent to Pontiac’s camp. They were
made prisoners, and next day Gladwyn was summoned to capitulate. The
garrison held out, though closely blockaded by land, and the besiegers were
greatly annoyed by the fire from the vessels in the river which covered the
waterfront of the fort and enabled friendly Canadians from the opposite
shore to supply food under cover of night. Pontiae’s large army, number-
ing about two thousand men, began to feel the want of provisions, and their
leader organized a regular commissariat.

A detachment sent from Niagara under Lieut. Kyle to relieve Detroit,
was surprised at night by the Indians and utterly defeated at the mouth of

the Detroit River, and their military stores and provisions seized. The
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prisoners were subjected to horrible eruelty, and this success stimulated the
Indians in their work of extermination at the outlying posts. The Delawares
and Shawnees raided Pennsylvania, the Senecas massacred the garrison at
Fort Venango and carried destruction along the Susquehanna.  Other
tribes devastated the frontiers in every direction, and the full fury of
Indian war was felt in the land.

Fort Pitt, however, held out, defended by Capt. Eeuyer, and the best
efforts of the attacking Indians were unavailing. Not being able to carry
the fort, the Indians tried what could be done by conference, in which the
Delaware chief endeavored to deceive the commandant by protestations of
friendship on the one hand, and on the other, by an alleged desertion from
the British of the Five Nation Indians. Ecuyer was not to be deceived,
however, and his assurance had the effect of depressing the eunning Indians.

At Detroit the seige went on, giving, on the whole, the advantage to
Pontiac. The arrival of the schooner Gladwyn, however, supplied the gar-
rison with ammunition, provisions and an addition of sixty men, and
enabled them to continue the defence with renewed hope. By the same
means, the garrison received the news of the final ratification of peace
between Britain and France.

Closely following upon this Major Dalzell, an aide-de-camp of General
Ambherst, with two hundred men from Niagara and a small body of Rangers
under Major Rogers, arrived at Detroit. Dalzell did not possess Gladwyn's
experience of the Indians, and he incautiously urged a night attack with
a view of erippling Pontiac. The wary chief obtained information of the
preparations that were being made with this objeet in view, and took
measures to receive the British force. When the attack was made by Dalzell
with a column of about two hundred and fifty men, they were received with
a murderous fire which threw them into disorder. Quickly re-forming, they
charged, but only to find that the Indians, supposed to be in front, had
disappeared. In retreating to the fort they were subjected to a severe fire
from the Indians in which Dalzell himself was shot dead. Capt. Grant took
command of the detachment, and after six hours’ continued fighting, reached
the fort with his shattered foree. This was the affair known as the **Bloody

Run,”’

a vietory to Pontiae which inspired the tribes with fresh courage,
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one result being renewed and determined efforts to reduce Fort Pitt, and

the continuance of the ravaging of the frontiers.

The colonial legislators were practically indifferent to the hardships of
their pioneer citizens, and Amherst, with only a few regular troops at his
disposal, found it difficult to take decisive action in the far west. Col.
Bouquet was instructed to operate for the relief of Fort Pitt, and every
available soldier was sent to him from New York. His relieving force did
not exceed five hundred men all told, many of them being of the Forty-
Second Highlanders. With this Bouquet moved forward, driving the
Indians before him. From Fort Ligonier he proceeded with a pack train of
350 horses. At a mountain stream called ‘‘ Bushy Run’’ he was attacked by
a large body of Indians, and then began a struggle which continued stub-
bornly for two days. Bouquet, by skilful movements of his men, led the
Indians to believe that he meditated retreat, and they rushed from their
cover. By this device he drew them into the open and their rout was soon
complete. Bouquet then proceeded, and after four days’ march reached
Fort Pitt, to find that his vietory at Bushy Run had so alarmed the Dela-
wares and Shawnees, that they had concentrated their forces and deprived
Pontiae of the aid which he expeeted from them.

The Senecas operated chiefly on the New York border settlements, their
most notable exploits being on the Niagara, where an empty return train
of wagons and pack horses with an escort of twenty-four soldiers was cap-
tured at the place known as the ‘‘Devil’s Hole,”’ the horses, wagons and
men being precipitated on the rocks below. Major Wilkins with a foree of
six hundred regulars ascended the Niagara to relieve Detroit, but met dis-
aster from a violent storm on Lake Erie in which seventy men perished,
together with all his stores and ammunition,

Pontiac abandoned the seige of Detroit for the winter. Fort Pitt was
held by Ecuyer, but these two posts were all that remained in British pos-
session in the great west.

In the spring of 1764 Pontiac reappeared before Detroit, but the attack
was desultory. Bouquet with a strong column, and Bradstreet with another

body of troops, moved against the Indians with the objeet of re-establishing
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the reduced posts, of relieving Detroit and of effecting the submission of
the tribes.

Sir William Johnson, also, was ineessant in his endeavors to detach the
Indians from Pontiac’s cause. He succeeded in indueing the tribes to send
delegates to Niagara to confer in this matter. When they all arrived the
great gathering numbered two thousand, and separate treaties were effected
with the various tribes,

On the 26th of July of the same year Bradstreet relieved Detroit, and
the surrounding tribes brought in their submission to him there. Following
this success, the Ottawas and Chippewas dismissed their old chiefs and
appointed new ones, who made treaties and placed themselves under British
protection, measures which restored peace among the northern tribes. The
Shawnees and Delawares still smarted under their defeat at Bushy Run
and sought revenge, but were effectually reduced by Bouquet, thus bringing
one of the most bloody, and, to the Indians disastrous, tribal wars to a close.

Murray, who had been appointed Governor-General of Canada under
the cession of 1763, assumed office on the 10th of August, 1763, and his
administration pertained largely to Lower Canada.

He was succeeded on the 12th April, 1768, by Lieut.-Governor Carle-
ton (Sir Guy Carleton), who assumed office on the 25th October of the same
year. Governor-General Carleton (afterwards Lord Dorchester), occupies
an exceptionally high place, the most eminent of all, among the personages
associated with the organization and early government of Canada. He was
no less distinguished as a soldier than as a statesman and the value of his
services to Canada can hardly be overestimated. He was born on the 3rd
September, 1724, at Strabane, Ireland, and after completing his studies,
entered the army and obtained speedy promotion. He accompanied Wolfe
to Canada, showed signal ability in the operations before Quebee, and
served at Belle Isle and Havana. He was appointed Lieut.-Governor and
Acting Governor-General of Quebee in 1766 and Governor-General in 1768.
He was in London prior to the passing of the Quebec Act of 1774 and
conferred with the British authorities respecting the measure. After the
passage of the Act he returned to Canada and took a deeply interested part

in bringing its provisions into operation, as well as rendering superior
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services in the field on the outbreak of the Revolutionary War. In 1777 he
withdrew to England, having been superseded in the command of the army
by General Burgoyne. The honor of knighthood was conferred on him
during this visit. In 1782 he was appointed Commander-in-Chief of the
forees in America in the place of Sir Henry Clinton, with headquarters at
New York. On returning to England in 1786 he was raised to the Peerage
as Baron Dorchester, and a pension of £1,000 per annum was bestowed upon
him for life and for the lives of his wife and two sons. In the same year he
was again appointed Governor-General and Captain General of Canada,
and he continued to govern the provinee until 1796. He married in 1772
Lady Maria, daughter of the second Earl of Effingham, by whom he had
many children. He died on the 10th Nov., 1808, at Stubbings, near Maiden-
head, England.

Enjoying peace, Canada gradually recovered from the devastations
of war, and, with the growth of trade and commerce, civil institutions
became a necessity, and the desire for a constitution ultimately resulted in
the Quebee Act of 1774, which was strongly debated in the British House
of Commons. The speeches contribute a great deal of information regarding
the condition of Canada, and reveal the views of the British Government
as to the relations between the French and British races, the religious privi-
leges accorded to each, and generally as to the future of the country, in
which respect the debates form interesting material in a study of Canadian
history.

The Act repealed all the provisions of the Royal proclamation of 1763,
annulled all the Aects of the Governor and Counecil relative to the eivil
government and administration of justice, revoked the commission of judges,
established new boundaries for the provinee which was now declared to
embrace all ancient Canada, Labrador, and the regions west of the Ohio
and Mississippi, released the Roman Catholie religion in Canada from all
penal restrictions, renewed their duties and tithes to its regular clergy from
members of their own church, and confirmed all classes with the exception
of the religious orders and communities, in full possession of their proper-
ties. The French laws were declared to be the rule for decision relative to

property and ecivil rights, while the English eriminal law was established
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in perpetuity. Both the civil and eriminal codes were liable to alteration by
the ordinances of the Governor and the legislative council appointed by the
Crown, and consisting of not more than twenty-three, nor less than seventeen
members. The power of this council was limited to levying local or muni-
cipal taxes and to making arrangements for the administration of the
internal affairs of the province, the rights of external taxation being
reserved for the British Parliament. Every ordinance of the council was
subject to the approval of the King.*

The Act alarmed the British settlers in the provinee, and raised a
squall of indignation in the British colonies of America, their interest
being the one of boundary to the west, the Aet depriving them of what they
had contended for against the Indians. On the other hand, the French
Canadians were overjoyed, and, on Governor Carleton’s return from Eng-
land at the later part of 1774, he was received with demonstrations of
popular gratitude and joy.

Affairs in the colonies were assuming a forbidding aspeet, and in 1775
the war of the Revolution was begun. Carleton became anxious regarding
the defences of the Canadian frontier, but the colonists were reluctant to
embark on another war and the Governor found but meagre support from
them. He proclaimed martial law and called out the militia, but without
much effect, Bishop de Briand issued a mandate to his clergy exhorting
the people to support the British by arms. On the other hand, Congress
made overtures to the French Canadians, and organized expeditions under
Schuyler and Montgomery to seize the forts and towns of Canada on the
St. Lawrence. Governor Carleton displayed both activity and eapacity in
his defensive measures, and there was general sympathy with him when he
was superseded in the chief command by General Burgoyne in 1777, Carle-
ton considered Burgoyne's appointment as unjust to him and he requested
his own recall, when he was succeeded by Sir Frederick Haldimand, a
native of Switerzland, who had rendered valuable services to the British
Government during the war of the conquest and subsequently,

Haldimand took up the reins of power in 1778, and discharged his

duties in the diffieult cireumstances in which he was placed, arising from

* McMullen.
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the progress of the revolution, prudently and with success. To him credit is
due for the voluminous collection of official papers which now forms part

of the Canadian Archives at Ottawa known as the Haldimand collection,

and for the important work in laying out settlements, especially in Ontario,

for the United Empire Loyalists. He was subjected, however, to strenu-
ous eriticism on account of what was considered to have been his arbitrary
measures, and he asked for his recall in 1783. It was two years later, how-
ever, before the Home Government, which had full confidence in his ability,
accepted his resignation.

He was suceeeded by Mr. Henry Hamilton, but as Lieut.-Governor
only, and in 1786 General Carleton, who had in the meantime become a peer,
was again appointed Governor-General and he assumed office the year fol-
lowing, the administration meanwhile being earried on by Col. Henry Hope,
a member of the Legislative Couneil.

The affairs of Canada were not in a satisfactory condition, jealousy
and friction existed between the contending races, which, with the large
accession to the English-speaking population of Upper Canada caused by
the influx of United Empire Loyalists, led to the proposal that Lower and
Upper Canada should be ereated into separate provinces, a measure embod-
ied in the Act of 1791,




CHAPTER X.

THE PROVINCE OF UPPER CANADA.

With the exception of the French settlers to be found in the neighbor-

hood of Detroit, the United Empire Loyalists were the first white people

to oceupy the Provinee of Ontario, they coming in, as we have seen, from the
routes diverging from the Hudson River and at the western entrance into
the Niagara peninsula. They were of various races and nationalities, and
into the warp and woof of our Ontario population there entered at this
early stage much diversity of blood. The foundation of our nationality,
so far as the Provinee of Ontario is concerned, included elements from the
composite people of the British Isles,—the English, Scottish, Irish and
Welsh,—also of the dominant races of Europe, such as the Dutch, German
and French, for France gave of its Huguenots as the Palatine provinces of
their people. The regiments raised locally which engaged on the British
side during the Revolutionary War, were composed of much the same ele-
ments. These origins, to some extent, explain the fidelity and devotion with
which the United Empire Loyalists adhered to their cherished principles
throughout the Revolutionary War. Their fathers had been tried in the
fiery furnace of persecution in the old Fatherlands beyond the sea, and the
descendants inherited the character with the blood of sires unbending and
resolute in matters of conscience.
TaE EARLY SETTLERS.

The story of the extraordinary emigration from the Palatine to Eng-
land, early in the eighteenth century, has been often told. Time has not
robbed it of its interest. The Palatine was a fertile as well as a beautiful
provinee, and its people were prosperous and attached to the soil. They had
adopted the Lutheran form of religion, and when the possession of their
country became an object of dispute between Louis XIV. of France and the
German Duchies, the people suffered persecution on account of their religi-
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ous views, as well as the devastating losses caused by war. General Montelas
overran the country in revenge for the shelter it afforded to the French Pro-
testants, after the revocation of the Edict of Nantes. The villages and towns
were burned, and the people were given three days to leave their homes.
The suffering caused by this drastic measure was extreme, and many of the
people perished of hunger, while those who survived were dispersed through
Europe. Then came the victories of Marlborough, and the British Natur-
alization Act of 1709, which made it easy for refugees to settle in Britain,
or in the British colonies. In 1708 a party of fifty-two Palatines, led by
their minister, landed in England, with a desire to be sent to America.
They were settled at Quassaitt Creek, where the City of Newburg now
stands. On the following year large number of the Palatines found their
way to London. They were quite penniless. The British Government was
willing to receive 5,000 of them, and provide ships for their passage to
America, but the immigration proceeded so rapidly that by the month of
June 7,000 had arrived, and in October the number reached 15,000; and
was only then stopped by the vigorous action of British agents sent to
Holland, and up the Rhine, to turn the people back. The populace as a
whole, seemed bent on abandoning their native province, going they did
not well know whither, but at least to a resting place from the horrors of
war, and where religious freedom could be found. The British ministers
had a difficult problem now on their hands, not to be easily solved. The
people, from the Queen and the nobility to the tradesmen, became intensely
interested in the refugees, The Queen allowed them nine-pence a day. Tents
were sent from the Tower to be erected on Blackheath for their accommoda-
tion. Empty warehouses in the city were placed at their disposal. Collections
on their behalf were made in parish churches and a bounty of five pounds
a head was offered by the Board of Trade, to parishes that would receive
and settle them. By this means a number, who were skilled artisans, became
absorbed in the English population. Three thousand eight hundred settled
in Munster, becoming prosperous colonists; and about one hundred families
went to the Carolinas, while many enlisted in the British army, and about

1,000 died in the encampment at Blackheath. There does not seem to have

been an effort on the part of the Government up to this time to send them
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to the American colonies, but it happened that four Mohawk chiefs were
then visiting London accompanied by Peter Schuyler and Colonel Nicholson,
and among other sights in their tour, saw the camp of foreigners at Black-
heath, then attracting national attention. The chiefs commiserating the
condition of the immigrants, bethought them of their own vacant lands at
home, and invited them thither, offering the Queen a grant of land on the
Schoharie River for their use. The offer was supported by Robert Hunter,
then on the eve of departing as Governor of New York, and it was accepted,
with the result that 3,200 set sail in March, 1710, in ten ships, nine of which
reached New York in June and July, of that year, one being wrecked on
Long Island. In a work entitled *‘The German Exodus to England,”” by F.
R. Diffenderfer, Lancaster, Pa., the following acknowledgment of Britain's
generous treatment to these people is made: *“ From first to last and during
every stage of its progress this remarkable episode proved a very costly
affair to the British Government. The records ave still accessible and from
them we learn the total cost was £135775. Ilere we have more than half
a million dollars paid out at a period when Britain was not so rich as she
is now and at a time too when she was engaged in costly foreign wars and
when money was worth much more than it is to-day. All Germans, and
more especially we Americans of German origin, owe a heavy debt of
gratitude to Great Britain,—the Government as well as her individual
citizens, for what they did for those forlorn and distressed Palatines.”” The
new-comers were left at Nuttan Island for five months waiting for lands to
be surveyed for them. Governor Hunter, of New York, considered that they
could be usefully employed on pine bearing lands in producing tar from
the pine, for the use of the royal navy, while at the same time clearing the
land for their homes, and it having been ascertained that there was very
little pine on the land granted by the Mohawk chiefs for them on thg
Schoharie, 6,000 acres of land were bought on the east side of the Hudson
River, which with 600 acres of Crown lands on the west side, formed their
first settlement. Thus, was settled a people from which, after the Revolu-
tionary War, came the German U. E. Loyalists to the Counties of Dundas

and Stormont in Ontario. But they did not remain on the selected land,

¢

finding the production of tar not profitable, and the l.nd itself too poor for
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I cultivation. Consequently discontent arose and the settlement broke up.
f Some families purchased land in the neighborhood, others founded the Town

of Rhinebeek, lower down the river, while others longed for the lands on

| j 14 the Schoharie granted to them by Queen Anne. They sent agents seeretly
0 } ’ “ to make arrangements with the Indians there for a settlement. The report
| being favorable a number settled in Schoharie during the winter of 1712-13,

and as they were unprovided for, were dependent on the kindness of the
Indians and of the Duteh, at Albany. A large settlement from Germany

had taken place in Pennsylvania and the Governor of that colony hearing

side their countrymen in his provinee. Fully two-thirds accepted this

i
|
|
I
r of the dissatisfaction of the Palatines invited them in 1722 to settle along-
/ [ offer, it being their third migration from the days when they sailed down the
I ;: Rhine, leaving the old Fatherland behind, secking rest and freedom.
I ‘ Those who remained on the Mohawk and Schoharie Rivers soon prospered
greatly, although they suffered severely in the final struggle for supremacy
in Ameriea between Great Britain and France. Many of them remained
loyal in the Revolutionary War, not forgetting the debt they or their
fathers owed to Great Britain. The hardships which they endured in that
trying time have elsewhere been touched upon. A very large number of
the men who eomposed Sir John Johnson'’s King's Royal Regiment of New

York, in its two battalions, were Palatines, some were also in Butler's

Rangers, Jessup’s Rangers, and Roger’s Rangers. It is stated that the
Palatines of these corps who settled in Dundas and adjoining counties were
about 600, irrespective, of course, of men not fit for service and the members
of their families or those who ecame in after the peace, but only the able
bodied soldiers who survived the campaign, in which the number killed and
who died in prison was considerable. From the sword to the plough and
axe was now their role, and their experience in clearing away the forest on

the Schoharie was serviceable to them, when the implements of war were

exchanged for those of husbandry, and soon their new homes arose on the
banks of a grander stream on British soil where at last they found the true
home of freedom.

Different in essentials, yet equally interesting with the story of the

Palatine settlers of Eastern Ontario is that of the Glengarry Highlanders.
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They did not fight for religious freedom in the land of their nativity, but
for their **rightful king,"" the Stuart line, and sought, in consequence,
refuge beyond the Atlantie.  Later on it was the elearing of the
glens by the landlords — unmindful of the devotion of the elans

which caused many a eruel evietion and many a shipload of emigrants
to leave for America, In the contests of 1689, under Dundee, ol
1715, under the Earl of Mar, and of 1745, when led by Prinee Charles
Edward, in person, the elans suffered severely for the Stuart cause through
the adverse fortunes of war, and each disaster sent mountaineers to the
colonies, many settling in Virginia and the Carolinas, who afterwards found
their way to Upper Canada, After the battle of Culloden the social condi-
tion of the Highlands changed, and the people left the country in thousands,

many settling in America and many joining the Highland regiments formed

in 17

7, and subsequently such as Montgomeries” Highlanders and Fraser’s
Highlanders, for service in the American war.  After the peace of 1763
these regiments were disbanded and many of the men settled in Quebee and
Nova Seotia, beeame members of the 84th Regiment of Royal Highland
Emigrants for service in the Revolutionary War and settled, at its close, in
Glengarry and other parts of Upper Canada. Others tried their best to
remain in peace in the land of their fathers, but fell before the large sheep-
farmer and flock-masters of the Scottish border counties, whose wealth
enabled them to offer high rents for large sheep runs ereated out of the
small holdings of the old tenantry. IFrom the Glengarry country large
numbers subjeeted to this treatment settled in northern New York under the
auspices of Sir William Johnson, the magnate of the Mohawk valley. Sir
William, though of Irish birth, himself, it is said elaimed to have been of
near Highland descent belonging to the branch of the Clan Maedonald
known as the Maelans or Johnsons, and was, in consequence, interested in
the Glengarry Highlanders, who were mostly Macdonells.  Among the lead-
ing men—men of ancient families and honorable lincage, who settled in
the Mohawk valley (Tryon County), were: Maedonell, of Aberchalder,
of Leek, of Cullachie, and of Scotos (Scot-house), nearly related to the

chief of their elan, but treated as if they had been strange In the Revo-
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lutionary War they fought as their fathers before them had fought their
battles, bravely and well; and adhering to the loyal prineciples of Crown
and country in which they had been reared, scorned to change their allegi-
ance. These formed the substantial nucleus of the settlers in the County
of Glengarry.

The Highland or Keltie element enters so largely into the population
of the provinee that a little attention may well be devoted to it here. The
Highlands of Seotland are of small area covering only ten counties, some of
them small, some of considerable size. The people there lived of old under
the elan system, which, while not recognized by the Crown, was the effective
system which governed social and public life. The clan and chief shared
the lands not as under the feudal tenure, but mutually. The clan as a
whole was superior to the chief, as the state is to the Crown, not only so far
as related to leadership in times of danger, but in all things, property,
succession to the chiefship, deposition, ete. The relationship was one of
blood, actual or implied; the chief was bound to protect and to provide
for the clansman, and his office was well understood. The welfare of the
clan was supreme, but that being provided the chief’s power was extensive.
Under this system a splendid race developed—independent, proud, intrepid.
The fall of the Stuart cause at Culloden hastened the end of a system grad-
ually giving way before the levelling influence of feudalism and commerce.
But the Highlands were far removed from the world of commerce and the
people did not understand the changes which substituted the landlord for
the chief, the persecutor for the protector, but they were now to learn.
They believed they had an ancient and inalienable right to the soil which
their own and their fathers’ good claymores had won and kept for the

clan. As Eglington’s translation of the Gaelie song, sung by the Glengarry-
men in Canada has it:—
When the bold kindred, in the time long vanished,
Conquered the soil and fortified the keep,
No seer foretold the children should be banished,
That a degenerate lord might boast his sheep,
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Come foreign raid? let discord burst in slaughter,
Oh, then, for clansmen true, and keen claymore,

The hearts that would have given their blood like water,
Beat heavily beyond the Atlantie’s roar.

Fair these broad meads—those hoary woods are grand;

But we are exiles from our fathers’ land.

They were eruelly and ruthlessly evieted from their homes, the homes
of eomfort, if not of luxury; the homes of happiness, refinement, and hospi-
tality ; of moral and religious prineiples, and a patriotie sentiment born of
strong attachment to the soil. United States writers have repeatedly cari-
catured the ITighlanders of the Mohawk valley as wild, Highland caterans,
whose conduct and ferocious appearance were as distasteful to the peace-
ful German settlers as was their religion. The Glengarry Highlanders were
Roman Catholies, devout and genuine, as much attached to their priest as
ever a Lutheran to his pastor, but the imputed savagery was born of the
imagination of vivid Americanism. It was as far from the truth as east is
from the west. In fact these Highlanders were in most comfortable eireum-
stances in their native land, and no inducement the American colonies
could offer would have led them to leave their homes. They were not free-
holders, and when deprived of their lands to make room for sheep, many of
them were ruined and found it necessary to begin colonial life under all the
disadvantages of pioneer days.

The history of the Highlands from the middle of the eighteenth to the
middle of the nineteenth eentury is full of interest to the student of the
Canadian people. That was the great period of transition in the Highlands,
of the great emigration of which Canada received so large a share under eir-
cumstances embracing the poetry and the pathos of romance. The people
were moral, religious and martial to an uncommon degree. Hugh Miller,
one of the most reliable witnesses, as he is one of the ablest writers
of English, thus describes the tenantry of Sutherlandshire from which
so many people have settled in Upper Canada. Before the evietions:
“There were very few among the holders of its small inland farms who
had not saved a little money. Their circumstances were such, that their
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moral nature found full room to develop itself, and in a way the world has

rarely witnessed. Never was there a happier or more contented people, or

in the altered eireumstances on which they were so rudely precipitated by

[

' a people more strongly attached to the soil: and not one of them now lives
E the landlord, who does not look back on this period of comfort and enjoy-
i

|

As to the change so ruthlessly brought

ment with sad and hopeless
about, Miller sums up the sad and shameful narrative thus: ‘A numerous
party of men, with a factor at their head, entered the district, and com-
menced pulling down the houses over the heads of the inhabitants. In an
extensive traet of country not a human dwelling was left standing, and then,

the more effectually to prevent their temporary re-erection, the destroyers

shelter, and left exposed to the elements. Many deaths are said to have
ensued from alarm, fatigue and cold. In this instance the vietory of the
1 lord of the soil over the children of the soil was signal and complete. In a
little more than nine years a population of fifteen thousand individuals were
| removed from the interior of Sutherland to its sea-coasts or had emigrated

[
' ]
[ l | set fire to the wreek. In one day were the people deprived of home and
\
|

to America. The inland distriets were converted into deserts through which

| the traveller may take a long day’s journey, amid ruins that still bear the
f | scathe of fire, and grassy patches betraying when the evening sun casts

aslant its long, deep shadows, the half-effaced lines of the plough.”

|
' A lady who well remembered the happy days in Sutherlandshire gave

the following deseription of the people, some years ago: “‘The chiefs here,

U
for many generations, had been ‘men fearing God and hating covetousness.’
Iniquity was ashamed and obliged to hide its face. A dishonorable action

exceluded the guilty person from the invaluable privilege enjoyed by his

equals in the kind notice and approbation of his superiors. Grievances of

every kind were minutely inquired into and redressed, and the humble

orders of the community had a degree of external polish and manly mild-

ness of deportment in domestic life that few of the present generation have
attained to, much as has been said of modern improvements,”’

What has, thus, been quoted furnishes a vivid picture of the kind of

e

e

life spent by the Highland mountaineers from whom Canada has drawn

largely for her population, but one testimony yet, must not be withheld. No
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representative man in the Northern Highlands could speak in the name of
his countrymen with more authority than the Rev. John Kennedy, D.D., of
Dingwall. In one of his books * he says: “* At the climax of their spiritual
prosperity, the eruel work of evietion began to lay waste the hillsides and
the plains of the north. Swayed by the example of the godly among them,
and away from the influences by which less sequestered localities were cor-
rupted, the body of the people in the Highlands became distinguished as the
most peaceable and virtuous peasantry in Britain. It was just then that
they began to be driven off by ungodly oppressors, to clear their native soil
for strangers, red deer and sheep. With few exceptions the owners of the
soil began to act as if they were also the owners of the people.

Families by the hundreds were driven across the sea . . . by wholesale

evietions wastes were formed for the red deer, that the gentry of the nine-

teenth century might indulge in the sports of the savages of three centuri
before. . . . Meanwhile their rulers, while deaf to the Highlanders’ ery
of oppression, were wasting their sinews and their blood on battle-fields,
that, but for their prowess and their bravery, would have been the scene of
their country’s defeat.”

Not far removed from the habitat of the Macdonells who followed Aber-
chalder and his kinsmen to the Mohawk valley is the Distriet of Morvern,
famous for its *‘ Fiunary,”’ the home of the Macleod family of celebrated
clergymen. The tenantry of Morvern and those of Glengarry were in
similar social cireumstances—those of Glengarry perhaps more comfortable
The famous Norman Macleod thus deseribes an average household of Mor-
vern: ‘‘Below these tacksmen (large tenants) were those who paid a much
lower rent, and who lived very comfortably, and shared hospitably with
others the gifts which God gave them. I remember a group of men, tenants
in a large glen, which now has not a smoke in it, as the Highlanders say,
throughout its length of twenty miles. They had the eustom of entertain-
ing in rotation every traveller who cast himself on their hospitality. The
host on the oeeasion was bound to summon his neighbors to the homely
feast.”” Macleod was present on one such occasion. ““We had a most

sumptuous feast—oat cakes, erisp and fresh from the fire; eream, yich and

* The Days of the Fathers of Ross-shire.
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thick, and more beautiful than nectar—whatever that may be; blue High-
land cheese, finer than Stilton; fat hens, slowly cooked on the fire in a pot
of potatoes, without their skins, and with fresh butter—‘stored hens,’ as
the superb dish was called; and though last, not least, tender kid, roasted
as nicely as Charles Lamb’s eracklin’ pig. All was served up with the
wtmost propriety, on a table covered with a fine white cloth, and with all
the requisites of a comfortable dinner, ineluding the champagne of elastie,
buoyant and exciting mountain air. The manners and conversations of
these men would have pleased the best bred gentlemen. Everything was
so simple, modest, unassuming, unaffected, yet so frank and cordial. The
conversation was such as might be heard at the table of any intelligent man.
Alas! there is not a vestige remaining of their homes. . . . The land is
divided between sheep, shepherds, and the shadows of the elouds.”” Dr.
John Macleod, Dr. Norman Macleod’s uncle, was minister of this parish.
““At one stroke of the pen,’” says Dr. John Macleod, ‘‘two hundred of the
people were ordered off. There was not one of these whom I did not know,
and their fathers before them; and finer men and women never left the
Highlands.” Such were the fathers and grandfathers of many of the
people of the Ontario of to-day. They were a race of which none need be
ashamed. Canada owes much to high character. The story of Glengarry,
of Sutherlandshire, of Ross, and of Morvern, could be repeated, both as to
the character of the people and the landlord’s eruel rapacity throughout
the length and breadth of the Highlands and Islands of Scotland, and the
list would be a long one. The origins of very many of our population would
be found in the Hebrides—Lewis, Harris, the Uists, Benbecula and Barra;
in the misty Island of Skye, in Iona, Tiree and Coll; in ‘‘Green, Grassy,
Islay,”” of fertile dales, and verdure-clad hills; in *‘Mull of the Bens,”” in
far Kintyre, and the mainland of Argyll; in the Cameron country, in lovely
Glenelg, Kintail of rich pasturage, Lochearron, Strathconon, Strathglass,
Stratherrick, Strathspey and the Black Isle; in the Glens of Athole, Ran-
noch and Breadalbane; in Glenorchy, and in other distriets, for no
country escaped the spoiler’s hand, and the number who settled in Canada

was almost beyond belief, considering the small area, and that a rural one,

from which they were drawn. But the Highlands, under the old system was
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capable of bearing a comparatively large population. Notwithstanding the
heavy emigration, the enormous number of 80,000, of as fine men as ever
drew sword, enlisted in the British regiments from 1760 to 1810. They it
was who renovated, and gave new life to the British army, ‘‘restored the
prestige of the country, retrieved its laurels and brought victory to erown
British banners in every quarter of the globe.”” In fact the military spirit
of the Highlanders and their readiness to fight their country’s battles in the
hour of danger, show the patriotism of the race. A partial record of one
county will illustrate this, the County of Sutherland. In 1745, 2,550
men obeyed the ecall of the chiefs; in 1760, in nine days 1,100 re-
sponded; in 1777, an equal number; in 1794, 1,800 men followed their
ehiefs to the field; in 1800, the 93rd Highlanders was raised 1,000 strong,
and 800 of them were from the county. The other counties had their regi.
ments, their Fencibles and their volunteers. Ross-shire its Mackenzies,
Munroes, Macraes and Maclennans; Inverness-shire, its Frasers, its Mae-
donells, its Mackintoshes, Grants, MacLeods and its Camerons; Perthshire,
its Campbells, its Stewarts, its Murrays, its Robertsons, and its Drummonds ;
Aberdeenshire, its glorious Gordons, its Forbeses, and its Farquharsons;
Argyllshire, its Campbells, of many ilks, its Macleans, its MaclIntyres, its
MacLachlans, MacArthurs and its MacAlpines. The clans gave themselves
to the army of Britain with the lavish generosity of patriotism and love;
and to the colonies of Britain under the compulsion of the dire necessity of
securing a home refused by the country whose battles they fought. In Bri-
tain’s treatment of the clans humanity and statesmanship were divorced.
There is no parallel to it in history, for it there is no palliation, no miti-
gating element enters into the case.  The elansmen who fought British
battles were deprived of their homes, and many of them who had not
recovered from their wounds, nor from the disease contracted on the battle-
field, or in the trenches, were driven from the only shelter they had or
could obtain, and were left destitute on the roadside to view the flames con-
suming what had been their all. In a few years a loyal peasantry was
destroyed, and those who had lived in comfort banished across the occan
to make room for the red deer and sheep.

From the Lowlands of Scotland emigration was voluntary and gradual.
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From Dumfries many families settled near Galt on the Dickson lanas,

| while the busy manufacturing towns of Hawick, Galashiels, particularly,

and others in the eastern counties sent skilled factorymen to nurse the
infant industries of the province. The County of Wellington drew upon
Aberdeenshire for farmers not surpassed in their day nor yet, by those of
any county in our banner provinee. The Counties of Bruce and Grey
were mostly settled by Scoteh and large numbers located in the Counties of
Renfrew, Vietoria, Ontario, Simeoe, Peel, Oxford, Middlesex, Huron, Elgin,
Lambton and Kent.
From Yorkshire and Devonshire came large numbers of stalwart Eng-
! lishmen settling mainly in the central counties and towns. Irish from the
north and south of the Emerald Isle contributed liberally to the population.
They seem to have preferred the towns—urban to rural life and form a
strong element in the urban population. Germans and Dutch spread, very
| early, over various parts of the province—Waterloo, York, Niagara, Oxford,
Norfolk, Elgin, Huron, Bruce, Wentworth, Grey and in north and south
Renfrew., French Hugenots figured among the U. E. L. settlers, the names
of many of whom are to be found in the lists of the Midland District, while

in the old townships from Cornwall westward very many settled.

Dwision or THE PROVINCE,

Quickly adapting themselves to their new mode of life when first trans-
planted from Europe the early settlers grew up sturdy lovers of free insti-

tutions, and had made substantial advances to local self-government. Their

”‘ townships had been organized, and in the town meeting the eitizens made
1
; their voice heard in their own immediate affairs, and the conditions with

which they were familiar in some of the colonies they brought with them
to Ontario, and it was natural that they should desire to have something
similar reproduced there as a part of the constitution of their new country.
This differed from the practice prevailing in Lower Canada where seigneur-
ial sway was still the rule.

The English speaking residents of Lower Canada, who had been
inereasing in number and held a position of prominence on aceount of
their large commereial interests, did not take kindly to the French system,

and, as their numbers inereased by the influx of the United Empire Loyal-
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ists who settled among them, they expressed a strong desire for constitu-

tional changes. This coincided with the desire of the settiers in Upper

Canada, who had sent a petition in 1785 to the British Government in
favor of the establishment of a separate district of government to the west
of the French Canadian seignories, in which they would enjoy **the bless-
ings of British laws and British Government and with exemption of French
tenure of property.”” This may be regarded as the starting point of the
separation between Upper and Lower Canada,

In 1788 Lord Dorchester formed five new judicial distriets in the Pro-
vinee of Quebee in order that, within these districts, the Loyalists might
have practical control of their own affairs. The districts were Gaspé,
where a few Loyalists had settled, and in Upper Canada; Lunenburg from
the River Ottawa to Gananoque; Mecklenburg from Gananoque to the River
Trent; Nassau, from the River Trent to Long Point, and Hesse, from Long
Point to Lake St. Clair—at the same time appointing a judge and sheriff to
administer justice in each distriet, while the settlement of land was con-
ducted under Land Boards working under regulations issued by the
Governor-General-in-Couneil at Quebec.

In the meantime, agitation was proceeding in Lower Canada for the
establishment of a House of Assembly, popularly elected, but not having in
view the separation of the Upper from the Lower part of the province. In
such an Assembly the English-speaking people, as a whole, would, it was
hoped, command a strong representation from the outset, and with the
increase of the population of Upper Canada, in the course of a short time it
might reasonably be expected that the control would pass from the French
Canadian element, This the French Canadians perceived, and did not
favor the proposal. The agitation gathered force and Mr. Lymburner, a
Quebee merchant of prominence, possessing ability, figures as a leader of
the English speaking residents of Lower Canada. It does not appear that
the inhabitants of Upper Canada approved of the proposal to continue
Upper and Lower Canada as one provinee, but thought they should be
separated. Mr. Lymburner proceeded to London and placed his view before

some of the merchants there with whom he had had trade relations, and

received considerable encouragement from them.
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Before Lymburner's departure it was known in Quebee that the
Government had informed Dorchester that there was no immediate prospect
of changing the Quebec Aet. But not long afterwards it was deemed oppor-
tune to effect a change and the following message was sent by the King to
both Houses of Parliament on the 25th February, 1791, ‘‘relative to a pro-
posed division of Canada and to the establishment of a Government in the
divided provinee,

““George R.
His Majesty thinks it proper to acquaint Parliament that it appears

to His Majesty, that it would be for the benefit of His Majesty's subjects
in his Province of Quebee, that the same should be divided into two separ-
ate provinees, to be called the Provinee of Upper Canada, and the Province
of Lower Canada; and that it is accordingly His Majesty’s intention so to
divide the same, whenever His Majesty shall be enabled, by Act of Parlia-
ment, to establish the necessary regulations for the government of the said
provinees. His Majesty therefore recommends this object to the considera-
tion of Parliament.

““His Majesty also recommends it to Parliament to consider of such
provisions as may be necessary to enable His Majesty to make a permanent
appropriation of lands in the said provinees for the support and maintenanee
of a Protestant c¢lergy within the same, in proportion to such lands as have
already been granted within the same by Iis Majesty: and it is IHis
Majesty's desire that such provision may be made, with respect to all future
grants of land within the said provinces respectively, as may best conduce

to the same object, in proportion to such increase as may happen in the

population and cultivation of the said provinees; and for this purpose His

Majesty consents that such provisions or regulations may be made by Par-
liament, respecting all future grants of lands to be made by His Majesty
within the said provinees, as Parliament shall think fit.”’

The power to divide territory and to ereate a provinece is here shown to
reside in the Sovereign, the Act of Parliament merely providing the machin-
ery of Government.

Lord Dorchester was invited to repair to London in order to confer

with the Ministry on the provisions of the Aet. He did not, however,




HISTORY OF ONTARIO. 187

arrive there until after the Act had passed into law. The bill was intro-

duced in the Tth of March, 1791, by Mr. Pitt, from whose speech it may be

gathered that the differences between the English and French speaking
inhabitants of Lower Canada would be composed by the establishment of

a Legislature, not evidently, apprehending that the main object of the Eng-

lish speaking body which so strongly advoeated an Assembly, was to secure

a dominating influence in the affairs of the provinee, which object they conld

scarcely hope to obtain by the division of Canada into two provinces.
When Lord Dorchester left for London on a summons from the Minis-
try there Sir Alured Clarke, the Lieutenant-Governor, assumed the

administration. He had a long and distinguished military career. His stay

in Canada was a short one. He suceeeded Col. Hope in 1790 as Lieutenant-

Governor of Quebee, and acted as administrator during the absence of Lord

As administrator he had the honor of issuing the proclamation of 18th

Dorchester in Great Britain. He was a careful and capable business man. |

Quebee into Upper and Lower Canada. Ie was born about 1745. He

|
l
l
|
|
|
|

November, 1791, bringing into operation the Aet dividing the Provinee of '

served in Germany under Lord Granby in 1759 and with Howe at New

York. He was Lieutenant-Governor of Jamaica 1782.90, After he left

Canada he reduced the Cape of Good Hope and won a knighthood. He was ! 1‘

appointed Commander-in-Chief of Madras in 1795, relinquishing that

important post in 1797 for the command and governorship of Bengal. e 1 I

was then Governor-General of India for a short time and in 1798 became Hi

commander-in-chief of the forees in India. In 1802 he was made a general in '

the army, having returned from India, and his long career was erowned |

|
{
|
in 1830 by his being raised to the rank of a field marshal. He lived until O I ﬂr
1832, 5

|
|
Mr. Adam Lymburner was the champion of the English element. ] j |

appeared at the bar of the House and stated his views with great clearness

|
|
When the bill was under consideration in the House of Commons he 1L
|
and ability. J

Kingsford notes that Mr. Lymburner was a native of Kilmarnock, Ayr-

shire. He was for many years a member of the Executive Council. Leav-
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ing Canada, he took up his residence in London, where he died in 1836, at
the age of 90,

The support of the London merchants which had been obtained by
Lymburner, took the form of a petition to the House of Commons against
the bill, and it was presented on the 4th of April. Their cause was espoused
by Fox, who was prominently opposed to the bill. He argued against separ-
ating the British and the French settlers and in favor of an elective conneil
with a higher electoral qualification than that necessary for the Lower
House. *‘By this means,’’ he said, ** Canadians will have a real aristocracy
chosen by persons of property from among persons of the highest intelli-
gence who would thus have that weight and independence necessary to
guard against the innovation of the people on the one part, or of the
Crown on the other.”

On the other hand, Edmund Burke warmly supported the bill. This
difference between Burke and Fox, who had so long been firm friends, led
to an alienation between them, and it is said the bridge was never after-
wards closed. Burke spoke again on the re-consideration of the bill on the
6th of May, and in that speech alluded to the Loyalists who had given such
proofs of their attachment to the British Crown and institutions that there
was no danger of their returning to their former homes, as it had been pre-
dicted they should do if the bill were to pass.

Messrs. Hussey and Powis opposed the division of the provinee, and

Mr. William Grant contributed to the debate, but it is more interesting to
note that one person was present as a member of the House and took part
in the debate on the bill who became a personage in Canadian history,
namely, J. Graves Simeoe. He was member for Saint Maw, Cornwall, and
rot only on account of his former connection with North America in the
war, but as prospective Lieut.-Governor of Upper Canada, the provisions
of the bill were of more than ordinary interest to him.

In support of the provision that the members in the Upper Canada Leg-
islature should be sixteen, Mr. Pitt stated that there were not ten thousand
inhabitants in the province at that time, including men, women and
children. At the same time Mr. Pitt introduced the clanse setting apart

lands to the extent of one-seventh part for the support of the Protestant
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clergy. Several of the clauses were sharply debated, Pitt, Fox and Burk
taking considerable part in the discussion.

Notwithstanding the lively opposition, the bill became law, and as it
constitutes what may be ealled Ontario’s charter, copious extracts are given
II. And whereas His Majesty has been pleased to signify, by his mes-
sage to both Houses of Parliament, his Royal intention to divide his Pro-

vinee of Quebee into two separate provinees, to be called the Provinee of

Upper Canada and the Provinee of Lower Canada: Be it enacted that there
shall be within each of the said provinees respectively a Legislative Couneil
and an Assembly, to be severally composed and constituted in the manner
hereinafter deseribed; and that in each of the said provinces respectively,
His Majesty, his heirs, and suceessors, shall have power during the eontinu-
ance of this Aect, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative
Couneil and Assembly of such provinees respectively, to make laws for the
peace, welfare and good Government thereof, such laws not being repug-
nant to this Aet; for the purpose of constituting such Legislative
Council, . . . the Governor or Lieutenant-Governor, or person adminis
tering the Government, shall summon to the said Legislative Council a
sufficient number of discreet and proper persons, being not fewer than seven,
to the Legislative Couneil for the Province of Upper Canada, and no fewer
than fifteen to the Legislative Council for the Provinee of Lower Canada;
it shall also be lawful for Ilis Majesty, his heirs or successors, from time to
time, by an instrument under his or their sign manual, to authorize and
direet the Governor or Lieutenant-Governor, or person admimstering the
Government in each of the said provinees respectively, to summon to the
Legislative Couneil of such provinee in like manner such other persons as
His Majésty, his heirs or suceessors, shall think fit; and that every person
who shall be so summoned to the Legislative Couneil of either of the said
provinees respectively, shall thereby become a member of such Legislative
Couneil, to which he shall have been so summoned.

IV. . . . No person shall be summoned to the Legislative Couneil,
in either of the said provinces, who shall not be of the full age of twenty-

one years, and a natural born subject of His Majesty, or a subject of His

Majesty naturalized by Aet of the British Parliament, or a subject of His
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Majesty having become such by the conquest and cession of the Province
of Canada.

V. . . . Every member of each of the said Legislative Councils shall
hold his seat therein for the term of his life, but subject nevertheless to
the provision hereinafter contained for vacating the same, in the cases
hereinafter specified.

VI. . . . Whenever Ilis Majesty, his heirs or suceessors, shall think
proper to eonfer upon any subject of the Crown of Great Britain, by letters
patent under the Great Seal of either of the said provinees, any hereditary
title of honor, rank or dignity of such provinee, descendible according to
any course of descent limited in such letters patent, it shall and may be
lawful for ITis Majesty, his heirs or successors, to annex thereto by the
said letters patent, if His Majesty, his heirs or successors shall so think fit,
an hereditary right of being summoned to the Legislative Couneil of such
provinee, deseendible according to the course of descent so limited with
respect to such title, rank, or dignity; every person on whom such right
shall be so conferred, or to whom such right shall severally so deseend, shall
thereupon be entitled to demand from the Governor, Lientenant-Governor,
or person administering the Government of such provinee, his writ of
summons to such Legislative Couneil at any time after he shall have attained
the age of twenty-one years, subjeet nevertheless to the provision herein-
after contained.

VIL . . . When and so often as any person to whom such hereditary
right shall have descended shall, without the permission of His Majesty, his
heirs or successors, signified to the Legislative Couneil by the Governor,
Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering the Government there, have
been absent from the said provinee for the space of four years continually,
at any time between the date of his succeeding to such right and the time
of his applying for such writ of summons, if he shall have been of the age
of twenty-one years or upwards at the time of his so succeeding, or at any

time between the date of his attaining the said age and the time of his so

applying, if he shall not have been of the said age at the time of his suceeed-

ing; and also when and so often as any such person shall, at any time

before his applying for such writ of summons have taken any oath of
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allegiance or obedience to any foreign prince or power, in any such case
such person shall not be entitled to receive any writ of summons to the Leg-
islative Council by virtue of such hereditary right, unless His Majesty, his
heirs or successors, shall at any time think fit, by instrument under his or
their sign manual, to direet that such person should be summoned to the
said council ; and the Governor, Lieutenant-Governor, or person administer-
ing the Government in the said provinees respectively, is hereby authorized
and required, previous to granting such writ of summons to any person
applying for the same, to interrogate such person upon oath, touching the
several particulars before such Executive Council as shall have been
appointed by His Majesty, his heirs or suceessors, within such provinee for
the affairs thereof,

VIIL. . . . If any member of the Legislative Couneil of either of
the said provinees respectively, shall leave such provinee, and shall reside
out of the same for the space of four years continually, without the per-
mission of Ilis Majesty, his heirs or successors, signified to such Legislative
Jouncil by the Governor, Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering IHis
Majesty’s Government there, or for the space of two years continually with-
out the like permission, or the permission of the Governor, Lieutenant-
Governor, or person administering the Government of such provinee, signi-
fied to such Legislative Council in the manner aforesaid; or if any such
member shall take any oath of allegiance or obedience to any foreign prinee
or power, his seat in such council shall thereby become vacant,

IX. . . . Inevery case where a writ of summons to such Legislative
Couneil shall have been lawfully withheld from any person to whom such
hereditary right, as aforesaid, shall have descended, by reason of such
absence from the provinee as aforesaid, or of his having taken an oath of
allegiance or obedience to any foreign prince or power, and also in every
case where the seat in such Council of any member thereof, having snch
hereditary right as aforesaid, shall have been vacated by reason of any of
the causes hereinbefore specified, such hereditary right shall remain sus-
pended during the life of such person unless His Majesty, his heirs or sue-

cessors, shall afterwards think fit to direct that he be summoned to such

Council ; on the death of such person such right, subject to the provisions
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herein contained, shall descend to the person who shall next be entitled
thereto, according to the course of descent limited in the letters patent by
which the same shall have been originally conferred.

X. . . . If any member of either of the said Legislative Councils
shall be attainted for treason in any court of law within any of His Majesty s
dominions, his seat in such Council shall thereby become vacant, and any
such hereditary right as aforesaid then vested in such person, or to be
derived to any other person through him, shall be utterly forfeited and
extinguished.

XL . . . Whenever any question shall arise respecting the right of
any person to be summoned to either of the said Legislative Councils respec-
tively, or respecting the vacancy of the seat in such Legislative Council of
any person having been summoned thereto, every such question shall by the
Governor or Lieutenant-Governor of the provinee, or by the person admin-
istering the Government there, be referred to such Legislative Council to
be by the said Council heard and determined ; and that it shall and may be
lawful, either for the person desiring such writ of summons, or respecting
whose seat such question shall have arisen, or for His Majesty’s Attorney-
General of such provinee in His Majesty’s name, to appeal from the deter-
mination of the said Council in such case to His Majesty in his Parliament
of Great Britain; and that the judgment thereon of His Majesty in his said
Parliament shall be final and conclusive to all intents and purposes what-
ever,

XII. . . . The Governor or Lieutenant-Governor of the said pro-
vinces respectively, or the person administering His Majesty’s Government
therein respectively, shall have power and authority from time to time to
constitute, appoint and remove the Speakers of the Legislative Councils of
such provinces respectively.

XIII. . . . For the purpose of constituting such Assembly as afore-
said in each of the said provinces respectively, it shall and may be lawful
for His Majesty, his heirs or snccessors to authorize and direct the Governor

or Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering the Government in each

of the said provinces respectively, within the time hereinafter mentioned,




e A R Tt . s P e I

R e

HISTORY OF ONTARIO. 193

and thereafter from time to time as occasion shall require to summon and
call together an Assembly in and for such provinee,

XIV. . . . For the purpose of electing the member of such Assemb-
lies respectively it shall and may be lawful for His Majesty, his heirs or
successors, to authorize the Governor or Lieutenant-Governor of each of the
said provinces respectively, or the person administering the Government
therein, within the time hereinafter mentioned, to issue a proclamation
dividing such provinee into districts, or counties, or circles, and towns or
townships, and appointing the limits thereof, and declaring and appointing
the number of representatives to be chosen by each of such districts, or
counties, or circles, and towns or townships respectively; and that it shall
also be lawful for Iis Majesty, his heirs or suceessors, to authorize such
Governor or Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering the Government,
from time to time to nominate and appoint proper persons to execute the
office of returning-officer in each of the said distriets, or counties, or cireles,
and towns or townships, and such declaration and appointment of the num-
ber of representatives to be chosen by each of the said districts, or counties,
or circles, and towns or townships, respectively, and also such nomination
and appointment of returning-officers in the same, shall be valid and
effectual to all the purposes of this Act, unless it shall at any time be other-
wise provided by an Act of the Legislative Council and Assembly of the
provinece, assented to by His Majesty, his heirs or successors,

XV. Provided, nevertheless, and be it further enacted by the authority
aforesaid, that the provision hereinbefore contained for empowering the

Governor, Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering the Government

of the said provinces respectively, under such authority as aforesaid from
His Majesty, his heirs or successors, from time to time to nominate and
appoint proper persons to execute the office of returning-officer in the
said districts, counties, circles and towns or townships, shall remain and
continue in foree in each of the said provinces respectively for the term of
two years from and after the commencement of this Act within such pro-
vinee, and no longer; but subject nevertheless to be sooner repealed or
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varied by any Aet of the Legislative Council and Assembly of the province,

assented to by Iis Majesty, his heirs or sue

CesSOrs,

XVL . . . No person shall be obliged to execute the said office of
returning-officer for any longer time than one year, or oftener than once,
unless it shall at any time be otherwise provided by any Act of the Legis-
lative Counecil and Assembly of the province, assented to by Ilis Majesty,
his heirs or suceessors.

XVII. . . . The whole number of members to be chosen in the Pro-
vinee of Upper Canada shall not be less than sixteen, and the whole number
of members to be chosen in Lower Canada shall not be'less than fifty.

XVIIL. . . . Writs for the election of members to serve in the said
Assemblies respectively shall be issued by the Governor, Lieutenant-
Governor, or person administering His Majesty’s Government within the
said provinces respeetively, within fourteen days after the sealing of such
instrument as aforesaid for summoning and calling together such Assembly,
such writs shall be directed to the respeetive returning-officers of the said
distriets, or counties, or circles, and towns or townships, such writs shall be
made returnable within fifty days at farthest from the day on which they
shall bear date, unless it shall at any time be otherwise provided by an
Act of the Legislative Council and Assembly of the provinee, assented to by
His Majesty, his heirs or successors; writs shall in like manner and form be
issued for the clection of members, in the case of any vacancy which shall
happen by the death of the person chosen, or by his being summoned to the
Legislative Council of either provinee, such writs shall be made returnable
within fifty days at farthest from the day on which they shall bear date,
unless it shall at any time be otherwise provided by any Act of the Legisla-
tive Council and Assembly of the provinee, assented to by His Majesty, his
heirs or successors; in the case of any such vacancy which shall happen by
the death of the person chosen, or by reason of his being so summoned as
aforesaid, the writ for the election of a new member shall be issued within
six days after the same shall be made known to the proper officer for issuing
such writs of election,

XIX. . . . All and every the returning-officers so appointed as
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aforesaid, to whom any such writs as aforesaid shall be direeted, shall, and
they are hereby authorized and required duly to execute such writs.

XX. . . . The members for the several districts, or counties, or
cireles of the said provinees respectively shall be chosen by the majority of
votes of such persons as shall severally be possessed, for their own use and
benefit, of lands or tenements within such district, or county, or circle, as
the case shall be, such lands being by them held in freehold, or in fief, or
in roture, or by certificate derived under the authority of the Governor
and Couneil of the Provinece of Quebee, and being of the yearly value of
forty shillings sterling or upwards, over and above all rents and charges
payable out of or in respeet of the same; the members for the several towns
or townships within the said provinces respectively shall be chosen by the
majority of votes of such persons as either shall be severally possessed for
their own use and benefit of a dwelling house and lot of ground in such
town or township, such dwelling house and lot of ground being by them held
in like manner as aforesaid, and being of the yearly value of five pounds
sterling or upwards, or as, having been resident within the said town or
township for the space of twelve calendar months next before the date of
the writ of summons for the election, shall bond fide have paid one year’s
rent for the dwelling house in which they shall have so resided, at the rate of
ten pounds sterling per annum or upwards.

XXI. . . . No person shall be capable of being elected a member to
serve in either of the said Assemblies, or of sitting and voting therein, who
shall be a member of either of the said Legislative Councils to be established
as aforesaid in the said two provinees, or who shall be a minister of the
Church of England, or a minister, priest, ecclesiastic or teacher, either
according to the rites of the Church of Rome, or under any other form or
profession of religious faith or worship.

XXIL . . . No person shall be capable of voting at any election of

a member to serve in such Assembly, in either of the said provinces, or of
being elected at any such election who shall not be of the full age of twenty-
one years, and a natural born subject of His Majesty, or a subject of His
Majesty naturalized by Act of the British Parliament, or a subject of His

‘2?—_——
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Majesty having become such by the eonquest and cession of the Province of
Canada.

XXIIL. . . . No person shall be capable of voting at any election
of a member to serve in such Assembly in either of the said provinees, or
of being elected at any such election, who shall have been attainted for trea-
son or felony in any court of law within any of His Majesty’s dominions,
or who shall be within any deseription of persons disqualified by an Act of
the Legislative Council and Assembly of the province, assented to by His
Majesty, his heirs or successors.

While the bill was under consideration, Simcoe submitted his views on
the policy which he considered best for Upper Canada.

In June of 1791 he submitted to Dundas, the Secretary of the Colonies,
a detailed statement of what he considered to be the requirements of the
new provisions, and suggested the appointment of a Bishop as of import-
ance, also the formation of a service corps to be employed within the pro-
vince. This corps was, in the course of time, formed as the Queen’s

Rangers.




CHAPTER XI.
LAYING THE FOUNDATIONS.

The Quebee Act having become law Colonel John Graves Simeoe was
in due course appointed Lieutenant-Governor for Upper Canada. As the
first ruler of the province and the important part he played in laying its
foundation, special interest attaches to his career and personality. Ie was
born in 1752 at Cotterstock, England, and was the son of Captain John
Simeoe, Commander of HM.S, ‘‘ Pembroke,”’ who was killed at Quebee in
1759. John Graves was the elder of two sons, and his brother was drowned
shortly after his father's death. Young Simecoe was educated at Exeter, at
Eton and at Merton College, Oxford. In his nineteenth year he joined
the army with an ensigney in the 35th regiment of the line, and left for
North America almost immediately, He served as Adjutant of the 35th
and then purchased a captainey in the 40th regiment. In 1777 he obtained
the command of the Queen’s Rangers, a mounted infantry partisan corps
recruited in and near New York. Under him the corps became famous for
gallant exploits. At the close of the war he returned to England, and
not long afterwards married Miss Guillim, a distant relative. In 1790 he
was elected Member of Parliament, for St. Maw’s, Cornwall, but resigned on
his appointment as first Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada in 1791.
He was accompanied to his new post by his wife and young family. They
landed in Quebec in November, 1791, and wintered there. On the 8th of
July he arrived in Kingston, and proceeded at once to organize his govern-
ment. From Kingston he went to Newark, the provincial capital, and there
remained until the seat of government was removed to Toronto. Under his
governorship the first Parliament of Upper Canada was opened on the 17th
September, 1792. In 1794 he was promoted to the rank of Major General
in the army. In 1796 he was, at his own request, recalled, and was snb-

sequently appointed Governor of San Domingo. In 1798 he becams a

Lieutenant-General, and in 1806 was appointed successor 1o Lord Lake as
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Commander-in-Chief of India, but died at Torbay before going cnt te
He left a lasting impression on Ontario and is
His name

India to assume command.
held in high esteem as a far-seeing and enlightened statesman
has been perpetuated in important place-names in Ontario, and an heroie
statue in bronze has been erected in his honor at Toronto.

Before leaving London he applied to have his local military rank raised
to that of Major-General. He had been offered regular promotion in the
army to the rank of Brigadier-General, but as Prince Edward, afterwards
the Duke of Kent, was stationed in Canada at the time and had only the

rank of Colonel, Simeoe declined the offer of promotion.

To the Prince, Simeoe carried with him a letter of introduetion, and on
his arrival he was warmly weleomed and took his position at once in the
social eireles of the anecient capital. He arrived at Quebee in the fall of 1791
and took up his quarters at the Falls of Montmoreney in the house that had

been oceupied by Haldimand. Ile was the bearer of the instructions to the

acting Governor-General regarding the establishment of the separate pro-
vinees, in accordance with the Constitutional Aect. At the same time Sir
Alured reccived a new eommission as Licutenant-Governor of Lower Can-
ada. The important duty of proclaiming the newly formed provinees
therefore fell to Sir Alured Clarke, and on the 18th of November, 1791, he
issued his proclamation, the division taking effect on the 26th of December,
1791,

Chief Justice William Smith pointed out that so soon as (eneral
Clarke’s proclamation was issued for the division of the provinees, Clarke
himself as Lieutenant-Governor of Lower Canada would have no powers in
the civil government of the other provinee, and that his duties in that
respect would be confined to his own government and as the officer in chief
command. There was no majority of the council present at Quebee to
administer the oaths, and as Simcoe could not be sworn in, he could not
legally act. IHe had no power as Lieutenant-Governor to appoint ex-officio
any of the legislative councillors, and accordingly he brought the matter to

the attention of the Home Government, recommending that Jacques Baby

of Detroit should be so named, and that authority be given to supply the

—
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other two required by the Aet, which provided the minimum number as

seven. Subsequently John Munro, of Matilda, was appointed, and in

August, 1792, Richard Cartwright, Robert Hamilton and Richard Duncan

were added.* ;I | :

It appears that Dorchester had recommended Sir John Johnson for the [ f.
position of Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, and the latter was dis- ‘1
appointed at Simeoe’s appointment,  When at Quebee, Simeoe was able i
to remove Sir John’s feeling of disappointment and established harmony I
and pleasant relations with him

Simeoe remained through the winter and spring of 1792 at Quebee, and
on the Tth of February, 1792, he issued an important proclamation regard
ing the sale of Crown lands in Upper Canada |

FirsT GOVERNMENT oF UpPER CANADA |

On the 8th of July, 1792, Simecoe reached Kingston and immediately
took the oath of office, proceeding next day to form his Executive Couneil i

William Osgoode, James Baby and Peter Russell were sworn in as iy
members on the 9th of July, 1792, and Alexander Grant on the 11th ! ”\ 'f
Thereafter the council met continually until the 16th of July when the :ﬂ»i;
important proclamation was issued in which the provinee was divided into *"! ‘
nineteen counties, and provision made for the selection of sixteen members ‘ ‘“‘:
for the Legislature from these counties. The minutes of these interesting ! E|]
proceedings are given in the Canadian Archives for 1891 l'i 1

William Robertson does not seem to have taken his seat as a member \‘I‘ |
of the council, and he was replaced on the 21st of June, 1793, by Aeneas } i
Shaw, an officer of the Queen’s Rangers and a personal friend of General I h

Simcoe,

It may here be fitting to give a few personal notes regarding some of

the men by whom Simeoe was surrounded in the work of

administering the affairs of the provinee at its commencement

|
I
legislation and H
l

Hon. Chief Justice Osgoode was born in 1754, and at the age of fifteen

was admitted as a commoner of Christ Church, Oxford, graduating in 1777.

He was a distinguished student, and a learned lawyer, noted for the extent

* Kingsford.
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and accuracy of his legal knowledge. He was appointed Chief Justice of

Upper Canada on its organization and sailed for his new sphere in April

of 1792. Simeoe placed much reliance on his judgment ; deservedly so, for

|
|
{
|
|
|
|
|
1|
f | e he was distinguished for integrity as well as for ability. His talents marked
| him for promotion to the more important Chief Justiceship of Lower Can-
, ada, but his memory has been preserved in Upper Canada in place names
| ‘ ‘; v and in “‘Osgoode Hall,”’ the home of the law courts of the provinee. In 1801
’ he returned to England on his official pension and retired to private life.
! He died in 1824,
Hon. Alexander (irant was the fourth son of Grant of Glenmorriston,
Inverness-shire, Seotland. He was born in 1734, In early youth he entered

the merchant service, and then in a man of war as a midshipman. He left

|
| ‘ WiE the navy for the army on the raising, in 1757, of Montgomerie’s Highlanders
(the seventy-seventh) in which corps he obtained an ensigny and accom-
] panied the regiment to Canada, taking part in the expedition against Fort
du Quésne, with Brigadier-General Forbes. He came under Amherst’s
" . i I notice in 1759 on Lake Champlain, and his naval experience was made use
|

of by being given command of a sloop of sixteen guns. He was afterwards

i | placed in charge of the vessels between Niagara and Mackinaw, with head-
quarters at Detroit, hence his title of commodore. In 1780 a large dock-

yard was maintained at Detroit. Altogether he was in the service of the

i Crown fifty-seven years. He was a member of the first Land Board for
the District of Hesse, and of Simeoe’s Executive Council. On the death

! ! of Lieutenant-Governor Hunter he became Administrator of the Govern- [t

ment in 1805 until the arrival of Francis Gore. He married Theresa Barthe

I | a French Canadian lady of Detroit, and had a large family. His only son

i was Colonel Grant, of Brockville. Mr, Grant died in 1813, at Grasse Point,

‘ L Lake St. Clair, |
Peter Russell was deseended from a collateral branch of the family of

the Duke of Bedford resident in Ireland. His father was Capt. Richard

i i Russell, of the 14th Regiment of Foot. He studied at the University of

1 I Cambridge, having in view the church as a profession, but abandoning that

|
i |

I i idea, entered the army under the patronage of General Henry Braddock
|

H | | and Lord Albemarle. He served two years as ensign, became a lieutenant,
i
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and after twenty-six years of service, obtained a captainey. He acted in
the capacity of secretary to Sir Henry Clinton during the Revolutionary
War, having previously relinquished his eaptainey in the 64th Regiment.
The reason given for leaving his regiment was to enable him to help his
father, who was deeply burdened with debt, and to make some provision for
his sister Elizabeth to whom he was devotedly attached, and who later on
accompanied him to Upper Canada.

At the close of the Revolutionary War, through Sir Henry Clinton’s
influence, he received an appointment in Upper Canada under Simcoe as
inspector-general of the province,

The following very interesting reference to the Hon. Jacques Baby is
made in the Canadian Magazine for 1883 : ‘‘ James Baby was born in Detroit
in 1762. His family was one of the most ancient in the colony; and it was
noble. His father had removed from Lower Canada to the neighborhood
of Detroit before the Conquest of Quebee, where, in addition to the enlti-
vation of lands he was connected with the fur trade at that time, and for
many years thereafter, the great staple of the country. James was educated
at the Roman Catholiec Seminary of Quebee, and returned to the paternal
roof soon after the peace of 1783. The family had ever been distinguished
(and indeed all the higher French families) for their adherence to the
British Crown; and to this, more than to any other cause, are we to attri-
bute the conduet of the Provinee of Quebee during the Revolutionary War.”’
The loyalty of the Baby family necessitated the abandoning of their pro-
perty at Detroit, and removing to the east side of the river, to Canadian
territory. On the division of the provinece M. Baby became an executive
and a legislative councillor, for Upper Canada. He and his family suffered
severely in the war, and when the office of inspector-general became vacant
he received the appointment to it as a compensation for his losses. The last
seventeen years of his life were spent at York, where he died, highly
respected, in 1833, His sons were Jacques, a lawyer of Toronto; Raymond,
sheriff of Kent, and William, of Sandwich.

Hon. Richard Cartwright was born at Albany N.Y, on the 2nd Febru-

ary, 1759. His father was an emigrant from England and his mother was

of a loyal Duteh family, Ie received a liberal education, and intended to
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enter the church, but before his studies had been completed, the Revolu-
tionary War broke out and he changed his views of a career by ranging him-
self on the British side. Ie accompanied his parents to Canada, and acted
for a time as seeretary to Colonel John Butler, of the Queen’s Rangers. At
the conclusion of the war he settled at Cataraqui and engaged in business,
forming a connection with Robert Hamilton. When the latter went to
Niagara Mr. Cartwright remained at Kingston and beeame its most influen-
tial eitizen. Though his tastes were those of a student and scholar, he pros-
pered in business and was able to devote considerable time to publie affairs
in which he proved a wise and able counsellor. His letters show a grasp of
affairs, and one or two which have been published contain interesting
information regarding the duties of the Land Boards of Upper Canada, he,
himself being a member of that for Mecklenburg. He was appointed a
member of the first Legislative Council, a judge of the Court of Common
Pleas, a County Lieutenant, and was a Colonel of Militia. e declined fre-
quent offers of a seat at the Executive Couneil of the provinee, Ie died
in 1815, He left two sons, John 8. Cartwright and the Rev. Robert Cart-
wright, the father of the Hon, Sir Richard J. Cartwright, Minister of Trade
and Commerce,

The name of Richard Duncan is first on the list of the names of the
members of the Land Board of Lunenburg (named after Lunenburg in
Germany). e was a leading settler in the district, who, after having given
valuable service to the Loyalist cause in the field, took an active part in the
arduous work of a pioneer. Ie was born in Berwick-on-Tweed, Scotland,
and came to America in 1755 with his father, John Dunecan, who was then
in the 44th Regiment. e served as an ensign in the 55th Regiment, and
in 1755 was residing at Scheneetady. e obtained a captainey in Sir John
Johnson’s corps in 1776 and joined Burgoyne in 1777 at Saratoga. Ile had
acquired a large area of land in Charlotte County, Vermont ; at Lake Cham-
plain, in Cherry Valley, Little Falls, Schoharie, and at various points on
the Mohawk River. At the close of the war he settled in Williamsburg, his
headquarters being at Mariatown, named after his wife, Maria Fraser,
sister of Captains Thomas and William Fraser. A great deal of property

stood in his name in the new distriet. Croil says of him that he was gener-
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ous and humane and occupied almost all the local publie offices. e was
a magistrate, and a member of the first Legislative Council of the provinee.
What was said to have been imprudent business transactions necessitated a
residence at Schenectady, where he died before the War of 1812,

William Robertson was one of the most active members of the Hesse
Land Board. He settled at Detroit in 1782, engaging in general business as a
merchant, e was appointed one of the justices of the Court of Common
Pleas in 1788. He appeared before the Conneil in Quebee in that year on
behalf of the inhabitants of Detroit who memorialized the Governor-General
on matters touching the administration of justice. Ile was appointed a
member of Simeoe’s first Executive Couneil, but had by that time settled in
England and does not appear to have returned to Canada again

The Hon. Robert Hamilton was descended from a distinguished Scot
tish family and first settled at Kingston, U.C., where he carried on an
extensive business as a merchant. e and the Hon. Richard Cartwright
entered into partnership and while the latter remained at Kingston, Mr
Hamilton moved to Queenston, on the Niagara River. His residence there
became the centre of hospitality, famous when hospitality was the general
rale.  He became interested in Canadian shipping and his name is num-
bered among its suceessful pioneers on the St. Lawrence route. A leading
citizen, and a capable man of affairs, he was ineluded in Simecoe’s first
Legislative Couneil,

John Macdonell, the Speaker, was the eldest son of Alexander Mac-
donell IV, of Aberchalder, Scotland. Alexander Macdonell was an aide-de-
camp to Prince Charles Stuart in 1745, Emigrating with his brother Angus
in 1773, they settled in Tryon County, near Johnstown, in the Provinee of
New York, and both served as captains in the King's Royal Regiment of
N.Y. 1st Batt. John Macdonell was a subaltern in the 84th Royal Higk-
lend Emigrants in 1775, and then became a captain in Butler's Rangers,
serving with them for nearly six years. He was Lieutenant-Colonel com-

wadian Volunteer Regiment, the

manding the 2nd Battalion of the Royal C:
first regiment raised in Upper Canada (1796). The first battalion was

commanded by Lieut.-Colonel J. De Longueuil. The first battalion gar-

risoned Lower Canada and the second battalion Upper Canada, until dis-
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charged in 1802 at the peace of Amiens. John Maedonell was a member
of the first Land Board of Lunenburg; was elected member for Glengarry
in 1792 for the first Legislature of Upper Canada, of which he was elected
Speaker. He was also appointed Lieutenant of the County of Glengarry.
He married Helen, daughter of Henry Yates, Governor of New York, and
had an only son, Alexander, who was a Major in the Lancaster Regiment
of Glengarry, and served in 1837.

John White, the Attorney-General, was allowed to be a man of high
legal attainments and personal character. In 1800 owing to an unfortunate
misunderstanding between him and Mr, John Small, Clerk of the Executive
Couneil, they fought a duel in which White was fatally wounded. Small
was tried before Judge Alleock and a jury, of which Wm. Jarvis was the
foreman. He was aequitted. His second was Sheriff Macdonell, that of
White, Baron De Horn. A press notice of the sad affair says: ‘‘The loss is
great; as a professional gentleman, the Attorney-General was eminent, as
a friend, sincere; and in whatever relation he stood was highly esteemed;
an honest and upright man, a friend to the poor; and dies universally
lamented, and we here cannot refuse to mention, at the particular request
of some who have experienced his goodness, that he has refused taking fees,
and discharged suits at law by recommending to the parties and assisting
them with friendly advice, to an amicable adjustment of their differences;
and this is the man we have lost!”’

Major Edward Baker Littlchales, Simeoe’s seeretary, and Major of
Brigade, was descended from an old family of landowners seated for many
centuries at Dawley, near Bridgenorth Co., Salop, England. e proved an
efficient seeretary and an invaluable official. He evidently returned to Eng-
land with Simeoe. He was promoted to be Lieutenant-Colonel and for his
civil and military services was ereated a baronet in 1802. In 1801 he was
appointed Under-Secretary for Ireland, during the Lieutenaney of the
Marquis of Cornwallis, and remained in office for seventeen years. In 1805
he married Lady Elizabeth Mary Fitzgerald, daughter of the 2nd Duke of
Leinster, and had eight children by her. e assumed by sign-manual, in
1817, the surname of Baker only. He died in March, 1825,

The Hon. D. W. Smith, the Surveyor-General, had taken an active part
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in the settlement of the province and was one of its busiest officials. His
father was Lieutenant-Colonel John Smith, of Salisbury, who died as com-
mandant at Niagara in 1795, At an early age D. W, Smith was appointed
to an ensigney in his father's regiment, the Fifth Foot, and gradually
advanced to the rank of captain. He was the second seeretary of the Land
Board of the Distriet of Hesse. His eivil appointments were numerouns. e
was member of the three first Parliaments and Speaker of the House of
Assembly in two of them and a member of the Exeentive Couneii. He was
called to the bar of Upper Canada with the rank of Deputy-Judge-Advocate.
On his return to England he became agent for the Duke of Northumber-
land and proved himself an able man of business, He was created a baronet
in 1821,

The name of Jarvis has been long and intimately conneeted with Upper
Canada. The family had been of importance in England and offshoots
settled in the American colonies. William Jarvis and his eousin Stephen
(the Registrar), were officers in the incorporated colonial militia before
the outbreak of the War of the Independence. Bishop Jarvis, of Conneeti-
cut, was a relative. They came to Canada as U.E. Loyalists. Mr, William
Jarvis became Seeretary of Upper Canada, and Stephen, Registrar. Mr.
Samuel Peters Jarvis, after whom Jarvis Street, Toronto, was named, was
a son of Mr. William Jarvis, the Provinecial Secretary.

Mr. Angus Macdonell, the first Clerk of the Assembly, was of the Cul-
lachie Macdonells, who settled in the Mohawk valley before the revolution-
ary war and came with the U.E. Loyalists to Upper Canada. He was the
oldest son of Captain Allan Macdonell, of Cullachie, and as such V. of that
ilk. Ilis brother, the Hon, Alexander Maedonell, was an officer in Butler’s
Rangers, member for Glengarry County, sheriff of the Home District from
1792 to 1805, Speaker in 1804, and the occupant of other offices. Angus
Macdonell was member of the Legislature for Durham, Simcoe and the
East Riding of York. He was treasurer of the Law Society of Upper Can-
ada from 1801 to 1804, and was one of the officials on board of the schooner
““Speedy’” when it was lost with all on board on Lake Ontario.

The first Legislature assembled at Niagara on the 17th of Sep-

tember, 1792. Newark, as Niagara then was called, was selected as a
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convenient place for holding the meeting, but was not regarded by Simcoe
as suitable for the permanent capital of the provinee. In his sketch of the
second Legislature of Upper Canada, Mr. C. C. James, F.R.8.C., makes the
following interesting note regarding the place of meeting: ““The five ses-
sions of the first House were all held at Newark, and the four sessions of
the second House were all held at York. The typewritten copies of the
journals and the earliest printed statutes confirm this. The little settlement
on the left or west bank of the river was variously known Niagara, West
Niagara, Butlersburg, Lennox, Nassau and Newark. The official name was
Newark at the times of the sessions of the first Legislature. Lieutenant-
Governor Simeoe in his proclamation of July, 1792, named the township
Newark after Newark in Lincolnshire, England. . . . The Lieutenant-
Governor’s proclamations and announcements, as a rule, were dated from
Navy Hall or Couneil Room, Navy Hall, as though the little group of build-
ings near the wharf containing the provincial executive officers, were a
place apart from the people’s settlement of Niagara or Newark.”

Meeting on the 17th of September, 1792, the Parliament continued until
the 15th of October. As already noted, Mr. John Maedonell was elected
Speaker and the following were the members, according to their constitu-
encies: First session, 1792-1796: Glengarry, 1st Riding, Hugh Macdonell ;
Gilengarry ; 2nd Riding, John Maedonell ; Stormont, Jeremiah French; Dun.
das, Alexander Campbell; Grenville, Ephraim Jones; Leeds and Frontenae,
John White; Addington and Ontario, Joshua Booth; Prince Edward and
Adolphustown, Philip Dorland (seat vacated), Peter Vanalstine; Lennox,
Hastings and Northumberland, Hazelton Spencer; Durham, York and 1st
Lincoln, Nathaniel Pettit; 2nd Lincoln, Benjamin Pawling; 3rd Lincoln,
Isanc Swayzie; 4th Lincoln and Norfolk, Parshall Terry; Essex and Suf-
folk, David Wm. Smith; Kent (two members), William Macomb, Francis
Baby. Philip Dorland, the member from Prince Edward County, stated that
as a Quaker he could not take the oath as member, but was willing to affirm.
Affirmation was not considered as being legal and Dorland’s seat was

declared vacant, and in the election which succeeded, Major Van Alstine

was returned and he took his seat at the second session of the Legislature.
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There seems to have been a prejudice against the selection of half-pay
officers; the majority of the members of the Assembly were farmers and
business men, and the proceedings of the House showed that they were
fully aware of the legislative needs of the provinee,

Eight statutes were passed. The ancient laws of Canada were abro-
gated and English civil law introduced. Trial by jury was established. A
statute was passed concerning the recovery of small debts, and another to
regulate the toll to be taken in mills, the millers being restricted to one-
twelfth as their proportion for grinding and bolting. Provision was made
for building a jail and court house in each of the four distriets into which
the provinee had been divided, the names now being changed from those
given by Dorchester to the Eastern or Johnstown distriet, the Middle or
Kingston district, the Home or Niagara district and the Western or Detroit
distriet. Other measures were also passed.

The provision made for the officers of the House, considering the con-
dition of the country, was liberal. A proposal to impose a tax of six
pounds per gallon on wine and spirits was carried by the Lower House but
thrown out by the Council, and a tax on land was rejected as tending to
discourage immigration. The question of validating the marriages which
had been irregularly performed, gave rise to considerable discussion and
a bill was introduced, but the provisions being considered of very great
importance the bill was withdrawn on the understanding that a measure
should be carefully prepared during the recess and submitted to the Home
authorities. The question was somewhat difficult. While the law required
the marriage ceremony to be performed by a regularly recognized clergy-
man, in many places, there being no clergyman, a military officer read the
marriage ceremony, but the issue of such marriages were, by law, illegiti-
mate. Sometimes the ceremony was performed by a justice of the peace, and
the moral character of the relationship was never challenged, but the legal
right of the offspring was jeopardized. The object of the legislation asked
for was to place the legality of those irregular marriages beyond doubt and
to make provision for the validity of all such marriages in the future.

Mr. Richard Cartwright, reporting on the subject, makes this interest-
ing statement: ‘‘In the Eastern district, the most populous of the provinee,
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there is no Chureh clergyman. They have a Presbyterian minister, formerly
Chaplain to the 48th Regiment, who receives from the Government fifty
pounds a year. They have also a Lutheran minister who is supported by
his congregation, and the Roman Catholic priest settled at St. Regis occa-
sionally officiates for the Scots Highlanders settled in the lower part of the
distriet, who are very numerous and all Catholies. There are also many
Dutch Calvinists in this part of the province who have made several attempts
to get a teacher of their own seet, but hitherto without success. In the
Midland district where members of the Church are more numerous than in
any other part of the province, there are two Church clergymen who are
allowed one hundred pounds sterling a year by each government and fifty
pounds each by the Society for the Propogation of the Gospel. There are
here also, some itinerant Methodist preachers, the followers'of whom are
numerous, and many of the inhabitants of the greatest property are Dutch

Calvinists who have for some time past been using their endeavors to get a

minister of their own sect among them. In the Home district there is one

clergyman, who has been settled here since the month of July last. The

Scots Presbyterians who are pretty numerous here, and to which sect the
most respectable part of the inhabitants belong, have built a meeting house
and raised a subseription for a minister of their own, who is shortly expected
among them. There are here also, many Methodists and Duteh Calvinists,
In the Western district there are no other clergymen than those of the
Chureh of Rome. The Protestant inhabitants here are principally Presby-
terians.”’

A fact of interest was the issue at Niagara of the official journal, viz.,
The Upper Canada Gazette or American Oracle, which appeared on the 13th
of April, 1793, and continued to be published there until 1798, by Louis Roy.
It has been stated that Simcoe did not regard Newark as the permanent
location for the provincial eapital, and learning that Fort Niagara was
among the military posts to be handed over to the United States, he lost
no time in taking steps to select a suitable site for his capital. The advan-
tages of the district through which the River Thames flows, had been
brought to his attention at Quebec shortly after his arrival there, and, judg-
ing from the study of a map then submitted to him, he seems to have been
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impressed with the suitability of that distriet. One point in its favor was
its convenient communication with Lake Huron, but he also recognized the
advantages of Toronto from its being situated on the direct line of com-
munication from the seaboard. But Simecoe seems to have been predisposed
in favor of some point on the Thames as possessing water communication
with the western lakes, and the further advantage to be derived from an
inland location. Accordingly he made a tour of the western country, tra-
velling overland to Detroit, which was then occupied by the 24th Regiment.
On the return journey he halted for a day to examine a site proposed for
the future capital of the province where now the flourishing city of Lon-
don stands. He believed that the river was navigable for boats from its
mouth to near its source, and considering the site in every way suitable,
favored its selection. He at once began a military road from Burlington
Bay to the forks of the River Thames, and named it Dundas Street
after the Right Honorable Henry Dundas, Secretary of State for the colon-
jes. On the construction of the road, an officer and 100 men of the Queen’s
Rangers were employed during the summer and fall of 1793, and in the
autumn of 1794 it was completed as far as the Grand River, and was
designed by Simeoe to form a link between London and York.

Simeoe’s desire to establish the capital at London was frustrated later
on by Dorchester, and finally York, or Toronto, was decided upon. It was
part of Simeoe’s plan for the defence of Upper Canada to establish a for-
tified post at Toronto, another on Lake Erie near Long Point and another at
Matchedash Bay. One reason why Simeoe so stoutly adhered to his plan of
defence was, that he believed military posts so established would form the
nuecleus of towns, to the vicinity of which immigration would be attracted,
thus strengthening and building up the country at the same time.

Dorchester did not approve of these measures, evidently on the ground
that the forces at his command were not sufficiently large to contribute so
much to the defence of Upper Canada, when he had, in view of his belief
that war with the United States was imminent, to regard as a first duty the
defence of the British North American provinces as a whole. Dorchester
therefore wrote to Simcoe as follows: ‘I must request you will be pleased
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to consider the extensive frontier of Upper Canada, the number of posts
there are under very peculiar circumstances together with the inadequate
force for their defence, and you will, I hope, perceive that in augmenting
the number of posts you must increase the demand for troops, yet not-
withstanding this want of troops, should hostilities commence, the war could
not be confined to Upper Canada, and the greatest part of the forces may
eventually be drawn from thence, whatever may be the inconvenience to
that province.”” At the same time, Simcoe was directed to pay great atten-
tion to the militia, as the defence of the province might have to depend
largely on them. The strength of the militia as given for 1794 was: Eastern
distriet, 1,730 men; Midland district, 1,074 men; Home district, 828 men;
Western district, 1,084 men.

As a rejoinder to Dorchester, Simcoe explained that the settlement of his
provinee had been retarded on account of general sickness at Philadelphia,
but pointed out that the soil in the neighborhood of Lake Simcoe was suit-
abl for settlement, and that he had obtained a route from Lake Onatrio to
Lake Huron which would obviate the passing westward by Niagara and Lake
Erie, and that it was now possible to send troops from eastern Canada by
the Ottawa to Matchedash Bay and thence to Toronto. He regarded a strong
fort on the Thames as more important than Detroit, and he recommended
the reduction of the garrison at Niagara, instead of at which the troops
could be employed to better advantage at York and Long Point.

Jay’s Treaty of 1794 removed the apprehension of war with the United
States, but the friction between Dorchester and Simecoe remained, and as
Simeoe considered that he had Dundas’s approval of his plans regarding
Upper Canada, he requested Dorchester to enable him to carry them out.
The latter replied that he considered himself under no obligation to inter-
fere. If he must act, he must be directed by his own judgment or ‘‘by
distinet and precise orders from those whose station may qualify his obedi-
ence.”” He stated that his intention was, as soon as the evacuation of the
principal posts took place, to remove the forces from Upper Canada, with
the exception of the Queen’s Rangers and some of the Royal Artillery to
take charge of the ordnance stores. He would station 100 of the Rangers
at the Detroit River opposite Bois Blane Island, and 100 at Niagara, or
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about the same number of troops as were stationed in Upper Canada in
1786, exclusive of Kingston. This clear statement of Dorchester’s inten-
tions was particularly disappointing to Simcoe, who replied that he had
followed the directions of Secretary Dundas with respect to the site of the
capital at London, and he regarded the proposed withdrawal of the troops
as most injurious to the province. To these representations Dorchester,
however, did not give way.

Simeoe met his second Parliament on the 31st of May, 1793. The sit-
tings were continued until the 9th of July. Eleven bills became law, the
more important being the Marriage Act, the Abolition of Slavery Aect, an
Act to Encourage the Destruction of Wolves and Bears, and a Road Act. A
measure imposing a duty on wine and spirits, the revenue from which would
go towards meeting the expenses of the Legislature, was not coneurred in by
the Upper House. In the Militia Act provision was made for the appoint-
ment of Lieutenants of Counties, and of Deputy Lieutenants, possessing
considerable local military authority. A very interesting Act bearing on
our municipal institutions was that concerning the nomination and appoint-
ment of parish and town officers,—elerks, assessors, collectors, overseers of
the highways, poundkeepers, wardens, high constables, constables, ete. Two
of the justices of the peace were to issue their warrant to the constable for
the township to assemble the inhabitants for the purpose of electing the
officers. An important Act was passed providing for the levying and
collecting of assessments and rates; and to provide for the ‘‘payment
of wages'’ to the members of the House of Assembly, not exceeding ten
shillings a day. The Marriage Bill referred back for careful preparation at
the last session of Parliament was passed at this session. It legalized mar-
riages irregularly contracted prior to its passage of persons publicly married
before any person in public employment ; and for the recording of such mar-
riages a form of oath was prescribed to be taken by the contracting parties
before any magistrate of the district in which they resided, and on the mag-
istrate’s attestation an entry was to be made by the clerk of the peace in a
register kept for the purpose. As to the future, marriages could be solemn-
ized before a justice of the peace in certain ecircumstances, the form of
service of the Church of England to be followed, but if a Church of Eng-
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land clergyman resided within eighteen miles of the persons wishing to be
married, then a magistrate could not officiate. The Act to prevent the
further introduction of slaves, and to limit the terms of servitude, met
with much opposition, but was strongly supported by the Lieutenant-Gover-
nor. Writing to a friend the year before, he says: ‘‘From the moment that
I assume the government of Upper Canada, under no modification will I
assent to a law that discriminates by dishonest policy between the natives
of Africa, America or Europe.”” There were many slaves at the time in
Upper Canada and the scarcity of labor gave their services exceptional
value. Hence the opposition, and it required Simcoe’s great influence to
carry the measure. By it no negro slave could, after its passage into law,
be brought into the provinee; no slave could be bound by a contract extend-
ing longer than nine years, and the ownership of slaves and the birth of
children of slaves had to be recorded. A Court of Probate and Surrogate
Courts were established.

After the prorogation of the second session at Niagara, Simeoe removed
his headquarters to Toronto, to which he gave the name of York in honor
of the Duke of York, the King's Son.

The Executive Council met at the Garrison in August of 1793, It
appeared to the Lieutenant-Governor that the fur traders of the north and
west should be encouraged to bring their peltries to York, and in order to
open communication between Lake Ontario and Lakes Simcoe and Huron
via York, he set out in October, 1793, on a tour of exploration northward.
He was accompanied by a party of officers and acquired minute knowledge
of the territory, the result being that in January, of 1794, he instructed
Augustus Jones to survey a road from York to Lake Simcoe. The construc-
tion of the road was carried out by the Queen’s Rangers, and, in honor of
Bir George Yonge, Secretary of War, in 1791, the road was named Yonge
Street.

At the third Parliament, which met on the 2nd of June and continued
to the 7th of July, 1794, twelve Acts were passed, including a Militia Act;
an amended Road Act; an Act establishing Courts of King’s Bench and of
Appeal, an Act laying a duty on stills; an Act for Regulating Liquor
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Licenses; and one for the selection of jurors. Civil government at this date
cost $24,400.

Both Dorchester and Simeoe believed that although the Treaty of Paris
had confined the boundaries of Canada within a given limit, it did not
make any cession to the United States of the Indian lands south of that
boundary. The Indians themselves claimed that the dividing line should
follow the Ohio to the Mississippi, leaving the territory to the north in their
possession. The territory in dispute was contained between the Canadian
boundary and the Ohio, extending to that river. The settlers entering on
this territory from Kentucky, refused to acknowledge this limit, and
foreibly took possession of land north of the Ohio, arousing the hostility
of the Indians by what they considered a spoliation of their soil. The forts
within this territory being still held by British garrisons, Indian agents were
present to restrain the Indians as much as possible in the interests of peace.
The policy of the British government was to guard against the selling by
the Indians of their lands to either Canada or the United States.

In May, of 1794, three commissioners from the United States appeared
at Niagara for the purpose of making a treaty of peace with the Indians.
They were well received by Simeoe, and they asked the presence of British
officers during their negotiations with the Indians. This Simecoe conceded,
and Major Smith, Capt. Bunbury and Major Littlehales were accordingly
appointed. The Indians desired the presence of the Indian agents, Butler
and McKee, and Simcoe accordingly granted them this permission, the duty
of the British officers being not to act as meditators, but to explain to the
Indians the offer of the United States commissioners, and generally to
watch the Indian interests. At this conference, Timothy Pickering, one of
the United States commissioners stated, with the authority of the President
of the United States, that the United States ‘‘claim no lands but what
belong to the nations that sold to us. We claim not a foot of the lands of
any nation with whom we have yet held no treaty.”

The negotiations showed clearly that the views of the Commissioners
and of the Indians were diametrically opposed to one another. The confeder-
ated Indians submitted that the boundary of the Ohio must be accepted by
the United States, and the Commissioners replied that it was not possible
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to accept that river as the boundary. On the 13th of August a general
eouncil of the Indians was held and a statement drawn up and sent to the
Commissioners to the effect that if their demand of the Ohio as the bound-
ary were granted, they would consider this a proof that the United States
desired to act justly in the matter, but if this were refused, it were useless
for any further meeting to take place. The Commissioners refused and the
negotiations thus terminated. Many in the United States charged the
failure to British intrigue, the object of which, it was alleged, being to
embroil the Indians in war with the United States, and the charge was
used to further inflame anti-British feeling in the United States.

In February of 1794 a deputation of the Miamis waited on Lord Dor-
chester and requested his support in securing for them the territory which
they claimed. Dorchester’s speech was couched in forcible language against
the United States, and having been extensively published, gave umbrage
in the United States, and was connected with the failure of the negotiations
at Niagara. Dorchester in replying to the Miamis, said in part: “‘You
remind me on your part of what passed at the council fire held at Quebee
just before my last departure for England, when I promised to represent
their (the Indian deputies) situation and wishes to the King, their Father,
and expressed my hope that all the grievances they complained of on the
part of the United States, would soon be done away by a just and lasting
peace. I remember all very well. I remember that they pointed out to me
the line of separation which they wished for between them and the States
and with which they would be satisfi-d to make peace. . . . I have waited
long and listened with great attention, but I have not heard one word from
them (the States). Since my return I find no appearance of the line
remaining, and from the manner in which the people of the States push on
and act and talk on this side, and from what I learn of their conduct
towards the sea, I shall not be surprised if we were at war with them in
the course of the present year, and if so, a line 1rust then be drawn by the
warriors. You ask for a passport to go to New Yurk. A passport is use-
less in peace. It appears therefore that you expect we shall be at war with
the States before your return. You shall have a passport, that whether
peace or war, you may be well received hy the King’s warriors. What
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further can I say to you? You are witness that on our part we have acted
in the most peaceable manner and borne the language and conduet of the
people of the United States with patience, but I believe our patience is
almost exhausted.””

By the instructions of Dorchester, Simeoe erected a fort at the foot of
Miami Rapids about fifty miles from Detroit in territory claimed by the
United States as theirs, but disputed by the British. Simecoe left York on
this journey in March, 1794, by the Thames route, returning by Lake Erie
and Niagara early in May. The United States authorities asserted that the
erection of the fort was to encourage the Indians in their opposition to the
United States, and to countenance an outbreak on their part, but
Simecoe clearly showed that in ‘‘re-occupying a fort on the Miami
River within the limits of those maintained by the British forces at the
peace of 1783 upon the principle of self-defence against the approaches of
an army which menaced the King’s possessions,’’ there was no invasion of
United States territory in intention or in faet.

After Wayne had defeated the Indians he placed himself in the neigh-
borhood of the British fort at Miami as if intending to attack it. The gar-
rison under Major Campbell, of the 24th, was well defended by cannon.
Campbell was ordered by Wayne to withdraw, the latter claiming the fort
as being within United States territory. Major Campbell promptly refused
to abandon the post without instructions from his superior officers.

The Jay Treaty of 1794 having been concluded, it was agreed that the
western posts should be surrendered to the United States on the 1st of
June, 1796. The residents in the neighborhood were to have the choice of
removing with the garrisons to British soil or to become United States citi-
zens. Peace between the United States and the Indians was secured ten
months before the posts were given over, as a result of Wayne’s vietory
over the latter.

The retention of the posts had been adhered to by Great Britain on the
ground that the treaty was not being carried out in the matter of debts due
to English creditors, and that unnecessary and insurmountable impedi-
ments were thrown in the way of their collection. The following detach-
ments were present at the several posts at the period of the transfer:
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Michillimackinae, 1 officer, 20 men ; Detroit, 1 captain, 2 subalterns, 50 men ;
Niagara, 1 captain, 2 subalterns, 50 men ; Oswego, 1 officer, 20 men.

During the winter of 1794-5 Simeoe, who had made his headquarters
a year before in the neighborhood of the old Fort at the entrance to the
harbor at York, was making arrangements for the erection of public build-
ings for the accommodation of officials and for the meeting of the Legisla-
ture there. He resided for a time in a tent or canvas house which had been
used by Captain Cook in his voyage around the world, and in the meantime
proceeded with the erection of a residence on the banks of the Don, which he
named Castle Frank, after his oldest son and heir, Frank Simcoe. He had
been promoted to the rank of Major-General in 1794,

The fourth session of Parliament met on the 6th of July, 1795, and
was prorogued on the 19th of August. Five Acts were passed,—one relat-
ing to the eligibility of persons for members of Parliament, one adjusting
the import duties as between Upper and Lower Canada, one for the regis-
tration of deed, one to regulate the practice of medicine, and one amending
the statute respecting the Superior Courts.

No person was permitted to practice medicine, as a physician, or to
retail medicines unless licensed, and to obtain a license it was necessary
that the applicant should pass an examination in medicine before a board
of duly qualified doctors, one of whom to be the surgeon of Iis Majesty’s
hospital, for the time being. Residence in the province and British citizen-
ship for at least seven years were made conditions of qualification for mem-
bership in the House of Assembly.

An agreement was entered into between the commissioners appointed
by Upper and Lower Canada that one-eighth of the net proceeds of the
taxes collected, should be paid to Upper Canada as the proportion due, and
that no duty should be laid upon articles entering Upper Canada. This
agreement was to be valid until the last day of December, 1796,

In June, of 1795, the Duke de Rochefoucauld-Liancour paid a visit
to Canada, and proceeded by way of Lake Erie and Niagara to visit Simeoe,

He was not permitted to descend the St. Lawrence, Dorchester upholding

the Alien Act. The Duke was the guest of Simcoe while waiting for Dor-
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chester’s answer, and his impressions of the place and of Simecoe’s house-
hold, are now of great interest.

Simeoe, himself, he deseribes as a man ** just, active, brave, frank, pos-
sessing the confidence of the country, of the troops, and of all those who
were joined with him in the administration of public affairs.”” Of his
gifted consort, a Miss Guillim (after whom the Township of Guillimbury
was named ), the Duke says that she was then about thirty-six years of age,
‘‘she is bashful and speaks little, but is a woman of sense, handsome and
amiable, and fulfils all the duties of a mother and wife with the most serupu-
lous exactness, carrying the latter so far as to act the part of private secre.
tary to her husband, her talent for drawing enabling her to be extremely
useful with respect to maps and plans.”” She left many sketch books of
Canadian scenery of value and great interest.

In the month of March, 1796, the Presbyterians of the County of
Grenville petitioned the Governor against the Marriage Aet, taking excep-
tion to the fact that their ministers were not empowered to perform a legal
marriage. The petition recites that no one had deserved better of the House
of Hanover than the Presbyterians for they had steadily co-operated since
1668 in the establishment of the constitution, but that nevertheless, since
that date they had been constantly persecuted by high churchmen. They
claimed for themselves and for the ministry of every other denomination,
the power to perform the marriage rite,

Simcoe’s reception of this petition was somewhat remarkable. He
regarded it as an act of disloyalty to the government, and intimated to those
interested that he looked upon their petition as the product of a wicked
head and disloyal heart. This was taking a very strong Church of England
position, and relief was not coneeded until 1830 when it became lawful for
any clergyman or minister of church, society or religious community, of
persons professing to be members of the Church of Scotland, Lutherans,
Presbyterians, Congregationalists, Baptists, Independents, Methodists, Tun-
kers or Moravians, to celebrate marriages. At the same time, all former
marriages were confirmed, the preseribed conditions having been observed.

The Parliament of 1796 (the fifth session of the first Parliament of
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Upper Canada) was the last held under Simcoe'’s regime and was opened
on the 16th of May, continuing until the 3rd of June.

In the opening speech, after referring to the ratification of Jay's Treaty
which involved the surrender of the western posts, he drew attention to the
fact that the wheat exported went by the St. Lawrence route as the natural
channel for the country bordering on the lakes. At this session, seven Acts
were passed,—one repealing the Act for the destruction of wolves and bears,
the increase of the population evidently rendering its enforeement unneces-
sary, an Act providing for the times and places for holding Quarter Ses-
sions, an Act appointing Commissioners to act with those of Lower Canada,
a license law, imposing a penalty of twenty pounds for illegal sale; an Act
limiting and establishing the current value of silver coin, an Act amend-
ing the Judicature Act, and an Aect providing for the wages of the members
of the House of Assembly, and for the levying of local rates.

Simcoe was singularly well qualified for the position he so ably filled.
His services in the Revolutionary War brought him in contact with men
who as U.E. Loyalists had settled in the province. They knew him and had
full confidence in his ability and in his unswerving integrity. His patriotism
and publie spirit inspired the people, his high character impressed them,
and his devotion to their welfare touched their hearts. He was a builder
that meant to build well, and brief as was his stay in Upper Canada, frus-
trated as were his purposes in some things, ere he gave over the administra-
tion of affairs he could say that the foundations were ‘‘well and truly

laid.”’
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CHAPTER XIL
RUSSELL AND HUNTER—1797-1805.

After the departure of Lieutenant-Governor Simecoe, Peter Russell
acted as Administrator until the arrival of General Hunter as Lieutenant-
Governor in August, 1799. During this period he was also President of the
Council. His official intercourse with Simcoe was of a very intimate char-
acter, and in some things he closely adhered to Simcoe’s views in the work
under his own administration. He has been charged, even recently, with
having been a ‘‘land grabber,”” but an examination of the circumstances
fails to establish any wrong doing in this respect on his part. As an official
he was entitled to participate in the land grants made to the higher officials
by the British government, and the fact that as Administrator he had the
conveyance of those lands which had to be made by him as Administrator
to himself as the recipient from the British government, doubtless gave rise
in later times, to the opinion that he took advantage of his position to un-
duly take possession of Crown lands. What he added to the government
allowance was entirely a matter of private concern, for he stood in that
respect in the same position as others at the same time, of investing his own
means in the manner calculated to bring him the best returns, and there
does not seem to be more than this in his land transactions,

Lieutenant-Governor Simecoe had left instruetions with President Russell
that the second Parliament of the provinee should be called together at
York, and on Russell’s installation as Administrator, he acted on those
instructions. Parliament accordingly met at York on the 1st day of June,
1797, and prorogued on the 3rd day of July following. Chief Justice Elms-
ley objected to the change from Newark to York on the ground that there
was no suitable accommodation at York for the legislators and officials, and
that those that attended must live in tents or be erowded in huts, and he
doubted if he would be able to form a jury there. The Parliament build-
ings were two one-story frame buildings 40 x 25 feet at the foot of Berkeley
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Street. In one building the Assembly met, and in the other the Legislative
Couneil. They were one hundred feet apart,

Seventeen Acts were placed on the statute book, all of them showing
the progress made by the provinee, and its growing requirements. The first
made provision for the ‘‘better securing the province against the King's

"

enemies,”” in which aliens were prohibited from residence except under
specified conditions. The second was to enable the inhabitants of the Town-
ship of York to assemble for the purpose of choosing and nominating parish
and town officers. The third dealt with the titles to lands, difficulties having
arisen in the matter of the Land Board certificates. The fourth regulated
the practice of the Court of King’s Bench. The fifth dealt with the regula-
tion of the militia. Others dealt with the proceedings of the Distriet Court
and Court of Requests, the question of dower, the enrollment of deeds of
bargain and sale, the enlarging of the time between the issuing and open-
ing of commissions of Assize and nisi prius for the Home district, the regu-
lation of ferries, the accounting more regularly for the revenues of the pro-
vinee, the appointment of commissioners to co-operate with commissioners
of the Provinee of Lower Canada regarding the imposing of duties on
articles coming into Upper Canada, for the better regulating the practice of
the law, the arrest of eriminals, the regulation of trade between Upper
Canada and the United States by land or by inland navigation, and for the
better division of the County of Prince Edward into townships.

President Russell continued the attitude adopted by Simcoe towards the
Indians, and took steps to protect their interests against attempted eneroach-
ments on their rights,

The second session of the second Provinecial Parliament met at York on
the 5th day of June, 1798, and remained in session until the 5th day of July
following. Among the Aects passed was an important measure regarding the
boundary lines of the different townships of the provinee, and one confirm-
ing and making valid certain marriages which had been contracted in the
provinee and to provide for the solemnization of marriages in the future,
an Act for the better division of the province (as given below), and mea-
sures to establish a Superior Court of civil and eriminal jurisdiction, to
regulate the Court of Appeals, and to alter the method of performing
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statute duty on the highways and roads within the provinee, in which it was
provided that every inhabitant h holder on the t roll of any
parish or township rated at not more than 100 pounds would contribute
statute labor not exceeding six days; if at more than 100 pounds and not
more than 200 pounds, eight days; if at more than 200 pounds and not more
than 300 pounds, ten days; if more than 300 pounds, twelve days, which
was the maximum imposed.

The third session is stated to have met at Newark on the 12th day of
June and to have sat until the 29th day of the same month, 1799, but this
is a mistake, as the proceedings of the Assembly and Council are dated from
York, and the statutes passed by that session of Parliament are also dated
from York, with the exception of those contained in Thompson and McFar-
lane’s Kingston edition of 1831. The legislation adopted at this session
deals with the better securing of the provinee against the King’s enemies,
the securing of titles to lands, to enable persons holding the office of Regis-
trar to be elected members of the House of Assembly, and an Act concern-
ing the work of the Joint Commission of Upper and Lower Canada regard.
ing the imposition of duties. It is interesting to note that at this session
there was also an Act passed to provide for the education and support of
orphan children not otherwise supported, making it lawful for the town
wardens and justices of the peace to bind the said children as apprentices
up to the age of twenty-one years in the case of males and eighteen in the
case of females, This was the last session over which Peter Russell presided,
Lieutenant-Governor Hunter having then arrived.

Early in Russell’s administration, difficulties arose respecting the
Indians which caused some anxiety. It was evidently feared that agents
employed by Adet, the French emissary, had been among them with the
object of arousing discontent, and Russell, to some extent, doubted their
loyalty. -Although Brant maintained the contrary, Russell still con-
sidered that the Caughnawagas and some of the other Canadian Indians
were in the French interest. This belief led him to ask Prescott for troops
to enable him to establish posts between York and Lake Simeoe as a pre-
cautionary measure of defence.

On Nov. 3rd, 1798, Russell writes to Portland that he had submitted his
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letter desiring an allotment for de Puisaye before the Council, so as to
have arrangements made for the reception of the French Loyalists. He has
been informed by de Puisaye himself of his arrival at Quebee accompanied
by officers and two ladies, forty in all. Russell suggests to him to remain
at Kingston, or to send some of his party to Newark, there being a better
prospeet of accommodation in these two old settlements than elsewhere.

De Puisaye drew up a plan for an extensive settlement of French
immigrants in the southern part of Canada. He proposed that the immi-
grants should receive sufficient land to provide for their maintenance with
all expenses for the first three years advanced by government, to be repaid
by one-seventh of their crops yearly till full payment of the advance was
made. It was proposed that the work of clearing the land should be done
by soldiers, the force to consist of two battalions—200 men to do military
service, the rest to clear the land, construect buildings and barracks. Two
hundred pounds sterling was to be provided for each farm for building,
tools, furniture and clearing the land (20 acres), and it was expected that
the immigrants for the first year would not exceed 300 or 400 men. The
colonel of the regiment was to be at the head of the colony under the
Governor-General.

This plan, whether ever seriously considered or not, did not mature.
De Puisaye arrived at Quebee with a party of forty persons. In October, of
1798, he arrived at Montreal, and on the 29th of the same month, at Kings-
ton. Russell reports to the Duke of Portland on the 21st of November,
1798, that he had selected the vacant land with de Puisaye’s approbation,
between York and Lake Simcoe as a situation equally distant from Lower
Canada and the French settlements at the Detroit River, and had directed
the surveyor-general to lay out four townships north of Markham, Picker-
ing and Whitby. The district was called Oak Ridges.

The Count, writing from Windham, near York, on the 17th of Janu-
ary, 1799, stated that some progress had been made in the settlement, that

the land was every day being cleared of the trees, and that in the course of

a month a village had been built which he hoped would become a consider-
able town, and he wished to name it Hunter in honor of General Hunter.
On the map of 1798 a range of nine lots on each side of Yonge Street
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is marked French Royalists, and in one of the letters of Surveyor Jones, a
spot is marked as Puisaye’s farm. The Count settled on the Niagara River
between Queenston and Fort George, and the Mississauga Indians, through
Brant, offered to cede an area of 69,120 acres of land, stretching five miles
along the lake, on condition that it be granted to de Puisaye and be paid
for at one shilling and three pence Halifax currency per acre, but the pro-
posal was not accepted by the government. He bought the land on which
the government house at Newark stood, 300 acres of which were salt wells,
from which his heirs sold salt during the war at $10 per barrel.

Writing to General Hunter in 1801 from Niagara, he expressed his
intention to leave towards the end of the autumn for England, and stated
that until then he would be occupied with the composition of a work of
some extent which should be made public,—a work supposed to be a history
of the French Royalist party during the revolution. In 1803 he was in
England. At that time he expected, in the course of a year, to return to
Canada, but there is no trace of him having done so. He was not permitted
to return to France during the short peace of 1814, and consequently
became naturalized in England, and died in 1827 at Blythe House near
Hammersmith, aged 73. His property in Canada went to William Smithers
Kent, his brother-in-law (his wife's maiden name being Susanne Smithers),
and to another brother-in-law who went to India.

General Hunter, who succeeded Lieutenant-Governor Simeoe and
assumed office in 1799, was descended from an old Scottish family, and at
an early age entered the army. He saw much active service and fought in
the Revolutionary War. As commanding officer of the 60th Rifle Regiment
he was stationed at Niagara, and was a member of the Land Board of the
Distriet of Nassau, constituted by Lord Dorchester on the 13th of October,
1788. He became Colonel of the 60th Regiment and finally obtained the
rank of Lieutenant-General. He held the dual position in Canada of Com-
mander-in-Chief of the forces and Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada,
and his interest in the military condition of the country seems to have been
greater than his personal interest in the civil administration of his provinee,

His military duties also necessitated frequent absences from York for the

inspection of the forces in garrison, and on account of these absences he
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formed a committee consisting of the Chief Justice, the Hon. Peter Russell,
and the Hon. Alexander Grant to carry on the administration for him when
not personally present at headquarters. This he did for the more expedi-
tious despatch of public business. It has been stated that, having availed
himself of the services of this committee, he allowed himself to be guided
too much by their views of affairs, which he followed perhaps too readily,
but there is no evidence that such was the case, for from the rather meagre
records that remain, it is apparent that Hunter was not only active as a
soldier, but prompt and resolute in his civil duties,

He arrived at Quebec on the 13th of July and remained until Prescott’s
departure, not reaching York until the 15th of August when he assumed the
government, His services in the Revolutionary War made him a familiar
figure with many of the veterans then residing in Upper Canada, and
these men determined to accord a worthy reception to him which took the
form of a public address by the citizens on his arrival, congratulating him
on his safe journey and on his appointment. The manner of the man may
be judged from the reply to this address, which was in the following words:
“‘Gentlemen,—Nothing that is within my power shall be wanting to con-
tribute to the welfare of this colony.”” This brevity was characteristic of
the man. He was prompt and indefatigable in the discharge of his duties,
and insisted that his subordinates in the military and civil service should
also strictly attend and promptly discharge their duties. On this account he
probably gave offence to some of those holding publie office, and these being
fluential el t in the ity, their murmurings

at that time an i
may have given rise to the opinion that he was brusque and tactless in his
dealings with men.

Shortly after his arrival at York he visited the garrison at Niagara
from where he left by water to Kingston, and after inspecting the garrison
there, proceeded to Lower Canada, whence he did not return until the fol-
lowing spring.

On the 2nd day of June, 1800, he met his first Parliament. It was the
fourth session of the second Parliament of Upper Canada and met at York,
sitting until the 4th day of July. Six Acts were passed during the session,
two of them being of considerable importance, viz., that for the more equal
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representation of the Commons of Upper Canada in Parliament, and for
better defining the qualification of electors. By the first of these Acts provi-
sion was made that the Counties of Glengarry and Prescott together should
be represented by two members: Stormont and Russell, together, by one
member; Dundas, Grenville, Leeds, Frontenac and Prince Edward, each
by one member; the incorporated Counties of Lennox and Addington
together by one member; Hastings and Northumberland, together, by one
member; Durham, the east riding of York and Simcoe, together, by one
one member; the west riding of York, the first riding of Lincoln and Haldi-
mand, together, by two members; the second, third and fourth ridings of
the County of Lincoln, together, by two members; Oxford, Middlesex and
Norfolk, together, by one member; Kent, by one member; Essex, by two
members. Another Act of general interest was one for making temporary
provision for the regulation of trade with the United States by land or
inland navigation. This measure made provision for the establishing of
ports of entry for the collecting of duties upon articles imported from the
United States by land or inland navigation, such as the same would be
liable to if imported at Quebec. Before this measure was passed goods
from the Um. d States were admitted at a lesser duty than goods from
Great Britain, and the effect of the legislation was to equalize the imposi-
tions. A measure was passed for the summary convietion of persons selling
spirituous liquors by retail without license, one for the regulation of special
juries, and an Act for the further introduction of the criminal law of Eng-
land and a more effective punishment of certain offenders, in which there
is the following clause: ‘‘ Whereas the punishment of burning in the hand
when any person is convicted of felony within the benefit of clergy, is often
disregarded and ineffectual and sometimes may fix a lasting mark of dis-
grace and infamy on offenders who might otherwise become good subjects
and profitable members of the community, be it therefore enacted that .

when any person shall be lawfully convicted of any felony within the benefit
of clergy for which he or she is liable to be burned or marked in the hand,
it shall and may be lawful for the court before which any person shall be
so convicted . . . instead of such burning or marking, to impose upon

15
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such offender such a moderate pecuniary fine as, to the court in its discre-
tion, shall seem meet, or otherwise it shall be lawful, instead of such burn-
ing or marking in any of the cases aforesaid (exeept in the ease of man-
slaughter), to order and adjudge that such offender shall be, onee or oftener
but not more than three times, either publiely or privately, whipt, such pri-
vate whipping to be inflicted in the presence of not less than two persons
besides the offender and the officer who inflicts the same, and in the case of
female offenders, in the presence of females only.”’

The first session of the third Provincial Parliament met at York on the
28th of May, 1801, and prorogued on the 9th of July following. Twelve
Acts were passed, among them being one to empower the Commissioners of
the Peace for the Midland distriet to establish and regulate a market for
the Town of Kingston and district, where ‘‘butcher’s meat, butter, eggs,
poultry, fish and vegetables shall be exposed for sale, and to appoint such
days and hours for that purpose and to make such other orders and regu-
lations relative thereto, as they shall deem expedient.”” There was also an
Act passed to provide revenue to meet the inereased civil expenses, by the
imposition of duties or imports, peltries being excepted. Authority was
given to the Governor, Lientenant-Governor or Administrator to appoint